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General and administrative expenses were $31.5 million for fiscal 2005, an increase of $5.6 million, from 
$25.9 million for fiscal 2004. The increase in fiscal 2005 reflects $5.3 million of added costs related to tiie acqufred 
operations resulting from the acquisition of assets in the ACN Energy Transaction and $2.6 million in increased 
severance costs related to the settlement of the employment contracts of the former executive officers. These higher 
costs were partly offset by a decrease of $2.0 million in costs related to termination of our ownership of Summit and 
investment in PEC during fiscal 2004. 

Reorganization and initial public listing expenses 

We incurred costs of $3.4 million in fiscal 2004 related to our reorganization into a Delaware holding company 
stmcture and the initial public listing of our common stock on the American Stock Exchange. We incurred no such 
expenses in fiscal 2005. 

Recovery of (provision for) impairment on investments 

We have investments in two energy technology companies: Encorp Inc., or Encorp, a developer of software 
and hardware for energy and facility management, and Power Efficiency Corporation, or PEC, a manufacturer of 
induction motor efficiency products to reduce energy consumption. These two investments and our investment in 
Turbocor B.V., or Turbocor, sold in July 2005, were previously held by Summit Energy Ventures, LLC, or Summit, 
which we formed in July 2001. 

In fiscal 2004, we consolidated Summit and its majority interest in PEC into our financial results. Effective in 
May 2004, our equity interest and contractual relationship with Summit were terminated and we acquired direct 
ownership in the three companies previously held by Summit. As a result of terminating our relationship with 
Summit, we no longer consoUdated Summit and PEC. Our ownership interest in PEC was 15% and 14% as of 
July 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. As of July 31, 2005 and 2006, we held a 1.9% interest in Encorp. 

In fiscal 2004, we recorded a provision of $7.1 million for impairment on investments previously held by 
Summit. Such provision included $4.1 million related to our remaining investment in Turbocor and resulted in no 
investment basis in Turbocor as July 31, 2004. On July 29, 2005, we sold our ownership interest in Turbocor for 
$2.0 million. 

Initial formation litigation expenses 

In fiscal 2005, we incurred $1.6 million of initial formation litigation costs related to Commonwealth Energy 
Corporation's formation, the same amount as fiscal 2004, Initial formation litigation expenses include legal and 
litigation costs associated with the initial capital raising. 

Loss on termination of Summit 

In fiscal 2004, we recorded a loss on the termination of our interest in Summit of $1.9 million. The loss 
included contractually owed management fees and transaction costs of $1,6 million and a reduction of our 
ownership interest from 75,9% to 39.9% in PEC to reflect settlement and the termination of our interest m Summit. 
We incurred no such expenses in fiscal 2005. 

Minority interest share of loss 

Minority interest share of loss represents that portion of PEC's post-consolidation losses that were allocated to 
the non-Summit investors based on their aggregate minority ownership interest in PEC. For fiscal 2004, the 
minority interest share of loss was $1.2 million. We incurred no such losses in fiscal 2005. 

Interest income, net 

Our interest income, net was $0.9 million for fiscal 2005, an increase of $0.4 million from $0.5 million in fiscal 
2004. The increase in interest income was primarily due to higher market yields realized on short-term investments. 
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Income before Provisions for Income Taxes 

The loss before provision for income taxes was $6.1 million for fiscal 2005, a decrease of $16.6 million, 
compared to a loss of $22.7 million for fiscal 2004. 

The Company currently has no provision for income taxes for fiscal 2005 compared to a benefit from income 
taxes of $1.0 million for fiscal 2004. Our effective income tax rate was 0.0% for fiscal 2005, compared to an 
effective income tax benefit rate of 4.5% for fiscal 2004. The fiscal 2005 decrease in our effective income tax rate 
was attributable to an increase in the valuation allowance equal to the net deferred tax asset due to the uncertainty of 
future realization of the remaining net deferred tax as of July 31, 2005. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Our principal sources of liquidity to fund ongoing operations have been existing cash and cash equivalents on 
hand and cash generated by operations. In June 2006, we entered into a three-year credit facility with a lender to 
increase operational liquidity and cash availability. Based upon our current plans, level of operations and business 
conditions, we believe these sources will be sufficient to fund expected capital expenditures and to meet our 
working capital requirements along with other cash needs over the next twelve months. Cash provided by operating 
activities for fiscal 2006 was $6.1 million, compared to cash used in operations of $3.6 nullion in the prior year. For 
fiscal 2006, cash provided by operating activities was comprised primarily of an increase of $8.4 million in prepaid 
expenses and other assets offset by a decrease of $2.8 million in accounts receivables, net of the provision for 
doubtful accounts. 

Cash used m investing activities was $4.7 million in fiscal 2006, as compared to $28.0 million provided by 
investing activities in fiscal 2005. The cash used in investing activities in fiscal 2006 was primarily for the upgrades 
in our key customer billing, risk management and customer contact platforms. The cash provided in fiscal 2005 
reflects the benefit from a $43.3 million decrease in short-term investments partly offset by $14.5 million of cash 
used for the purchase of assets in the ACN Energy Transaction. 

Cash used in financing activities during fiscal 2006 was $ 11.7 million, as compared to cash used in financing 
activities of $1.9 million during fiscal 2005. In fiscal 2006, restricted cash increased by $8,9 million which was 
primarily due to requirements of our new credit facility. 

Credit terms from our suppliers often require us to post collateral against our energy purchases and against our 
mark-to-market exposure with certain of our supptiers. As of July 31,2006, we had $17.1 million in restricted cash 
in connection with a $ 10 million requirement of our new credit facility and to secure a $6 million letter of credit to 
the state of Pennsylvania that was satisfied with an unsecured bond in fiscal 2005. We also have $2.5 million in 
deposits pledged as collateral to our energy suppliers in connection with energy purchase agreements. 

As of July 31, 2006, cash and cash equivalents decreased to $22.9 million compared with $33.3 million at 
July 31, 2005. This decrease of $10.4 million was partly offset by increases of $2.1 million at July 31, 2006 in 
restricted cash, cash equivalents and deposits. Restricted cash and cash equivalents at July 31, 2006 was 
$17.1 million, compared to $8.2 nullion at July 31, 2005, while cash deposits totaled $2.5 nullion at July 31, 
2006, compared to $11.3 million at July 31, 2005. These changes reflect the impact of changing banks and energy 
supplier credit requirements, implementation of the recent $50 million credit facility, described below, wherein we 
are choosing to rely more on letters of credit rather than cash deposits as collateral. 

Credit Facility 

On June 8, 2006, we entered into a Loan and Security Agreement, or credit facility, with Wachovia Capital 
Finance Corporation (Western), or Agent, for up to $50 million. The three-year credit facility provides for issuance 
of letters of credit and for revolving credit loans which we may use for working capital and general corporate 
purposes and is secured by substantially all of our assets. The availability of letters of credit and loans under the 
credit facility is limited by a calculated borrowing base consisting of the majority of our cash, receivables and 
natural gas inventories. As of July 31,2006, the Agent and The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc., or the Lenders, had 
issued $17.6 million in letters of credit in our favor, and there were no outstanding borrowings. Fees for letters of 
credit issued are 1.75 percent per annum, if Excess Availability, as defined in the credit facility, is less than 
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$25 million, and 1.50 percent, if greater We also pay an unused fine fee equal to 0.375 percent of the unutilized 
credit line. Generally, outstanding borrowings under the credit facility are priced at a domestic bank rate plus 
0,25 percent or LIBOR plus 2.75 percent. 

The credit facility contains covenants, subject to specific exceptions, restricting Commerce Energy, the 
Company and their subsidiaries to: (a) incur additional indebtedness; (b) grant certain liens; (c) dispose of certain 
assets; (d) make certain restricted payments; (e) enter into certain other agreements; and (f) make certain 
mvestments. The credit facility also restricts our ability to pay cash dividends on our common stock; restricts 
Commerce Energy from making a cash dividend to us without the Lenders' consent and limits the amount of our 
annual capital expenditures to $3.5 million without the consent of the Lenders. We must also maintain a minimum 
of $10 million of Eligible Cash Collateral, as defined in tiie credit facility, at all tunes. 

On September 20, 2006, the Company entered into an amendment of the credit facility, or the First 
Amendment, through which the Lenders waived prior or existing instances of non-compliance by Commerce 
Energy with covenants contamed in the credit facility relating to maintenance of a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, as 
defined in the credit facility, maintenance of Eligible Cash Collateral, capital expenditures and the notification to 
the Lenders of the grant of certain liens to a natural gas supplier Through the Furst Amendment, the Lenders also 
agreed to certain prospective waivers of covenants in the credit facility to enable Commerce Energy to consummate 
the HESCO Acquisition in compliance with the credit facility, including the requirement that all of our assets be 
pledged under the credit facility, the prohibition against us agreeing to guarantee any other party's obhgations, the 
need for us to maintain certain levels of Excess Availability and Eligible Cash Collateral as of the date of the 
HESCO Acquisition and the requirement that Commerce Energy provide at least 30 days prior written notice of the 
HESCO Acquisition. 

On October 26, 2006, the Company entered into a second amendment of the credit facility, or the Second 
Amendment, through which the Lenders waived prior or existing instances of non-compliance by Commerce 
Energy with covenants contained in the credit facility relating to the maintenance of a minimum Fixed Charge 
Coverage Ratio and a minimum amount of Excess Availability. The Lenders also agreed in the Second Amendment 
to (a) defer prospective compliance with the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio covenant and (b) reduce the minimum 
amount of Excess Availability that Coinmerce Energy will be required to maintain for a period of time in the future. 

Planned capital expenditures 

Our planned capital expenditures for fiscal 2007 are approximately $4.0 million and are comprised of 
carryover expenditures related to key upgrades of our risk management, customer billing and customer load 
forecasting systems that began in fiscal 2006, and other information systems and hardware upgrades related to 
improved customer order entry and mcreased customer service. These expenditures are expected to be pro rata 
throughout the year and funded out of working capital. 

Off-Balance sheet arrangements 

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements and have no transactions involving unconsolidated, limited 
purpose entities. 

Contractual obligations 

As of July 31, 2006, we had commitments of $51.5 million for energy purchase, transportation and capacity 
contracts. These contracts are with various suppliers and extend through December 2007. 

Our most sigiuficant operating lease pertains to our corporate offiice facilities. All of our other operating leases 
pertain to various equipment, technology, and secondary office facilities. Certain of these operating leases are non-
cancelable and contam clauses that pass through increases in building operating expenses. We incurred aggregate 
rent expense under operating leases of $0.93 million, $1.2 million and $0.93 million during fiscal 2006, 2005 and 
2004, respectively. 
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The following table shows our contractual cormnitments for energy purchase and operating leases as of July 31, 
2006 (dollars in thousands): 

Payments Due by Period 
Less Than 

lYear 

$49,366 

1,088 

$50,454 

1-3 Years 

$2,143 

1,138 

$3,281 

3-5 Years 

$ -
— 

$ -

More Than 
5 Years 

$— 
— 

$— 

Contractual Obligations Total 

Energy purchases $51,509 
Operating leases 2,226 

Total $53,735 

Additionally, as of July 31, 2006, $17.6 million of letters of credit has been issued to energy suppliers and 
others pursuant to the terms of our credit facility. 

Seasonal Influences 

Demand for electricity and natural gas are continually influenced by both seasonal and abnormal weather 
pattems. To the extent that one or more of our markets experiences a period of unexpected weather, we may be 
required to either procure additional energy to service our customers or to sell surplus energy in the open market. 
Generally, unexpectedly high or lower than normal energy demand from our customers increases the relative cost of 
our energy supplies. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and operating results are based on our 
consolidated financial statements. The preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K requires us to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of our financial statements, and the reported amount of revenue and expenses during the 
reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates and assumptions. In preparing our financial 
statements and accounting for the underlying transactions and balances, we apply our accounting policies as 
disclosed in our notes to the consolidated financial statements. The accounting policies discussed below are those 
that we consider to be critical to an understanding of our financial statements because theu application places the 
most significant demands on our ability to judge the effect of inherently uncertain matters on our financial results. 
For all of these policies, we caution that future events rarely develop exactiy as forecast, and the best estimates 
routinely require adjustment. 

• Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities — We purchase substantially all of our power 
and natural gas under forward physical delivery contracts for supply to our retail customers. These forward 
physical delivery contracts are defined as commodity derivative contracts under Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standard, or SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities". 
Using the exemption available for qualifying contracts under SFAS No. 133, we apply the normal purchase 
and normal sale accounting treatment to a majority of our forward physical delivery contracts. Accordingly, 
we record revenue generated from customer sales as energy is delivered to our retail customers and the 
related energy cost under our forward physical delivery contracts is recorded as direct enei^y costs when 
received from our suppliers. We use financial derivative instmments (such as swaps, options and futures) as 
an effective way of assisting in managing our price risk in energy supply procurement. For forward or fiiture 
contracts that do not meet the quaUfying criteria for normal purchase, normal sale accountmg treatment, we 
elect cash flow hedge accounting, where appropriate. 

We also utilize other financial derivatives, primarily swaps, options and futures to hedge our commodity 
price risks. Certain derivative instmments, which are designated as economic hedges or as speculative, do 
not qualify for hedge accounting treatment and require current period mark to market accounting in 
accordance with SFAS No. 133, with fair market value being used to determine the related income or 
expense that is recorded each quarter in the statement of operations. As a result, the changes in fair value of 
derivatives that do not meet the requirements of normal purchase and normal sale accounting treatment or 
cash flow hedge accounting are recorded in operating income (loss) and as a current or long-term derivative 
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asset or liability. The subsequent changes in the fair value of these contracts could result in operating income 
(loss) volatility as the fair value of the changes are recorded on a net basis in direct energy costs in our 
consolidated statement of operations for each period. 

As a result of a sale on January 28, 2005 of two significant electricity forward physical delivery contracts (on a 
net cash settlement basis) back to the original supplier, the normal purchase and normal sale exemption under 
SFAS No. 133 was no longer available for our Pennsylvania niarket (PJM-ISO), Accordingly, for the period from 
Febmary, 2005 through July, 2006, we designated forward physical delivery contracts entered into for our 
Pennsylvarua electricity market (PJM-ISO) and certain other forward fixed price purchases and fmancial deriv­
atives as cash flow hedges, whereby market to market accounting gains or losses are deferred and reported as a 
component of Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) until the time of physical delivery and the fair value of the 
contracts is recorded as a current or long-term derivative asset or hability. Subsequent changes in the fair value of 
the derivative assets and liabilities are recorded on a net basis in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) and 
subsequently reclassified as direct energy cost in our consolidated statement of operations as the power is delivered. 
To ±e extent that the hedges are not effective, the ineffective portion of the changes in fair market value is recorded 
currentiy in duect energy costs. 

• Utility and independent system operator — Included in direct energy costs, along with the cost of energy 
that we purchase, are scheduling costs. Independent System Operator, or ISO, fees, interstate pipeline costs 
and utility service charges. The actual charges and certain energy costs are not finalized until subsequent 
settlement processes are performed for all distribution system participants. Prior to the completion of 
settlements (which may take from one to several months), we estimate these costs based on historical trends 
and preliminary settiement information. The historical trends and preliminary information may differ from 
actual information resulting in the need to adjust previous estimates. 

• Allowance for doubtful accounts — We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses 
resulting from non-payment of customer billings. U the financial conditions of certain of our customers were 
to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be 
required. 

• Net revenue and unbilled receivables — Our customers are billed monthly at various dates throughout the 
month. Unbilled receivables represent the estimated sale amount for power delivered to a customer at the end 
of a reporting period, but not yet billed. Unbilled receivables from sales are estimated based upon the amount 
of power delivered, but not yet billed, multiplied by the estimated sales price per unit. 

• Inventory — Inventory consist of natural gas in storage as required by state regulators and contracted 
obligations under customer choice programs. Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market. 

• Customer Acquisition Cost — Direct Customer acquisition costs paid to thfrd parties and directiy related to 
specific new customers are deferred and amortized over the life of Uie initial customer contract, typically one 
year. 

• Legal matters — From time to time, we may be involved in litigation matters. We regularly evaluate our 
exposure to threatened or pending htigation and other business contingencies and accme for estimated losses 
on such matters in accordance with SFAS No. 5, "Accounting for Contingencies." As additional information 
about cuzreni or fiiture litigation or other contingencies becomes available, management will assess whether 
such information warrants the recording of additional expense relating to our contingencies. Such additional 
expense could potentially have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and financial position. 

Recent Accounting Standards 

SFAS 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement of APR 20 and FASB Statement No. 3 
(SFAS 154), applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principles and to changes requued by an accounting 
pronouncement in instances where the pronouncement does not include specific transition provisions. APB 20 
previously required that most voluntary changes in accounting principle be recognized by including in net income 
of the period of the change the cumulative effect of changing to the new accounting principle. SFAS 154 requires 
retrospective application to prior periods' financial statements of changes in accounting principle, unless it is 
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impracticable to do so. This statement is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2005. No such changes have been made by us in fiscal 2006. 

In Febmary 2006, tiie FASB issued SFAS 155, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 (SFAS 133), 
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, and No. 140 (SFAS 140), Accounting for Transfers 
and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. SFAS 155 amends SFAS 133 to allow 
financial instruments that have embedded derivatives to be accounted for as a whole, if the holder elects to account 
for the whole instrument on a fair value basis, and provides additional guidance on the applicability of SFAS 133 
and SFAS 140 to certain financial instruments and subordinated concentrations of credit risk. SFAS 155 is effective 
for all hybrid financial instmments acquired or issued by the company on or after January 1,2007. We are currently 
evaluating the impact SFAS 155 will have on its consolidated financial statements, but does not expect that the 
impact will be material 

In September 2005, EITF Issue No. 04-13, Accounting for Purchases and Sales of Inventory with the Same 
Counterparty. This consensus concludes that an entity is required to treat sales and purchases of inventory between 
the entity and the same counterparty as one transaction for purposes of applying APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting 
for Nonmonetary Transactions, as amended, when the transactions are entered into in contemplation of each other 
In addition, non-monetary exchanges whereby an entity transfers finished goods inventory in exchange for receipt 
of raw materials or work-in-process inventory within the same line of business will be recognized at fair value if 
certain conditions pertaining to fair value determination are met. The consensuses will be applied to new 
arrangements entered into, or modifications or renewals of existing arrangements, in the first interim or armual 
reporting period beginning after March 15, 2006. 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk. 

Our activities expose us to a variety of market risks principally from the change in and volatility of commodity 
prices. We have established risk management policies and procedures designed to manage these risks with a strong 
focus on the retail nature of our business and to reduce the potentially adverse effects these risks may have on our 
operating results. Our Board of Directors and the Audit Committee of the Board oversee the risk management 
program, including the approval of risk management policies and procedures. This program is predicated on a 
strong risk management focus combined with the establishment of an effective system of intemal controls. We have 
a Risk Oversight Committee, or ROC, that is responsible for establishing risk management policies, reviewing 
procedures for the identification, assessment, measurement and management of risks, and the monitoring and 
reporting of risk exposures. The ROC is comprised of all key members of senior management and is chaired by the 
Vice President, Risk Management. 

Commodity Risk Management 

Commodity price and volume risk arise fix>m the potential for changes in the price of, and transportation costs 
for, electricity and natural gas, the volatility of commodity prices, and customer usage fluctuations due to changes in 
weather and/or customer usage pattems. A number of factors associated with the stmcture and operation of the 
energy markets significantiy influence the level and volatility of prices for energy commodities. These factors 
include seasonal daily and hourly changes in demand, extreme peak demands due to weather conditions, available 
supply resources, transportation availability and reliability within and between geographic regions, procedures used 
to maintain the integrity of the physical electricity system during extreme conditions, and changes m the nature and 
extent of federal and state regulations. These factors can affect energy commodity and derivative prices in different 
ways and to different degrees. 

Supplying electricity and natural gas to our retail customers requires us to match the projected demand of our 
customers with contractual purchase commitments from our suppliers at fixed or indexed prices. We primarily use 
forward physical energy purchases and derivative instruments to minimize significant, unanticipated earnings 
flucmations caused by commodity price volatility. Derivative instmments are used to limit the unfavorable effect 
that price increases will have on electricity and natural gas purchases, effectively fixing the future purchase price of 
electricity or natural gas for the applicable forecasted usage and protecting the Company from significant price 
volatility. Derivative instmments measured at fair market value are recorded on the balance sheet as an asset or 
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liability. Changes in fair market value are recognized currently in earnings unless the instmment has met specific 
hedge accounting criteria. Subsequent changes in the fan: value of the derivative assets and liabilities designated as a 
cash flow hedge are recorded on a net basis in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) and subsequently reclassified as 
direct energy cost in the statement of operations as the energy is delivered. While some of the contracts we use to 
manage risk represent commodities or instmments for which prices are available from external sources, other 
commodities and certain contracts are not actively traded and are valued using other pricing sources and modeling 
techniques to determine expected future market prices, contract quantities, or both. We use our best estimates to 
determine the fair value of commodity and derivative contracts we hold and sell. These estimates consider various 
factors including closing exchange and over-the-counter price quotations, time value, volatility factors and credit 
exposure. We do not engage in trading activities in the wholesale energy market other than to manage our direct 
energy cost in an attempt to improve the profit margin associated with the requirements of our retail customers. 

With most electricity and natural gas customers, we have the ability to change prices with short notice; and, 
therefore, the impact on gross profits from increases in energy prices is not material for these customers. However, 
sharp and sustained price increases could result in customer attrition without corresponding price increases by local 
utitities and other competitors. Approximately 22% of our electricity customers and 28% of oiur natural gas 
customers are subject to multi-month fixed priced unhedged contracts and, accordingly a $10 per megawatt hour 
increase in the cost of purchased power and a $1.00 per mmbtu increase in the cost of purchased natural gas could 
result in an estimated $860,000 decrease in gross profit for power, and an estimated $540,000 decrease in gross 
profit for natural gas, respectively, for fiscal 2007. 

Credit Risk 

Our primary credit risks are exposure to our retail customers for default on theu* contractual obligations. Given 
the high credit quality of the majority of our energy suppliers, credit risk resulting from failure of our suppliers to 
deliver or perform on their contracted energy commitments is not considered significant. 

The retail credit default or nonpayment risk is managed through established credit policies which actively 
require screening of customer credit prior to contracting with a customer, potentially requiring deposits from 
customers and actively discontinuing business witii customers that do not pay as contractually obligated. Retail 
credit quality is dependent on the economy and the ability of our customers to manage through unfavorable 
economic cycles and other market changes. If the business environment were to be negatively affected by changes 
in economic or other market conditions, our retail credit risk may be adversely impacted. 

Counterparty credit risks result primarily from credit extended to us for our purchases of energy from our 
suppliers. Favorable credit terms from our suppliers make it easier to procure wholesale energy to service our 
customers; however, adverse market conditions or poor financial performance by us may result in a reduction or 
elimination of available unsecured counterparty credit lines. Additionally, we have significant amounts of energy 
commitments to our contracted term customers that we have hedged forward, often for several months. A 
significant decrease in energy prices could adversely impact our cash collateral requirements. 

Interest Rate Risk 

Since we had no short or long-term debt outstanding at July 31, 2006, our only exposure to interest rate risks is 
limited to our investment of excess cash balances in interest-bearing instmments. We generally invest cash 
equivalents in short-term credit instmments consisting primarily of high credit quality, short-term money market 
funds and insured, re-marketable government agency securities with interest rate reset maturities of 90 days or less. 
We do not expect any material loss from our investments and we beUeve that our potential interest rate exposure is 
not material. As our practice has been, and currentiy continues to be, to only invest in high-quality debt instruments 
with maturities or remarketing dates of 90 days or less, we currentiy are not materially susceptible to interest rale 
risks. 

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. 

The financial statement information, including the reports of the independent registered public accounting 
firms, required by this Item 8 is set forth on pages F-1 to F-32 ofthis Annual Report on Form 10-K and is hereby 
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incorporated into this Item 8 by reference. The Quarterly Financial Information required by this Item 8 is set forth 
on page F-32 (Note 18 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and 
is hereby incorporated into this Item 8 by reference. 

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 

None. 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. 

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded, based on their evaluations of the end 
of the period covered by this report, that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) or 
15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) are effective to ensure that all information 
required to be disclosed by us in the reports filed or submitted by us under the Securities Exchange Act is recorded, 
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's mles and forms and include 
controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in such reports is 
accumulated and communicated to our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 

Changes in Internal Controls. 

In connection with the above-referenced evaluation, no change in our intemal control over financial reporting 
occurred during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 tiiat has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 
affect, our intemal control over financial reporting. 

Item 9B. Other Information. 

Amendment to Credit Facility 

On October 26, 2006, Commerce Energy, Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation (Western), as agent, for the 
lenders, or the Lenders, and The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc., as co-Lender, entered into a Second Amendment 
to Loan and Security Agreement and Waiver, or the Second Amendment, amending the Loan and Security 
Agreement, or the credit facility, dated June 8, 2006 among Commerce Energy and Wachovia Capital Finance 
Corporation (Western), as agent, which was first amended on September 20, 2006. Through the Second Amend­
ment, the Lenders waived prior or existing instances of non-compliance by Commerce Energy with covenants 
contained in the credit facility relating to the maintenance of a minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio and a 
minimum amount of Excess Availability, as such terms are defined in the credit facility. The Lenders also agreed in 
the Second Amendment to (a) defer prospective compliance with the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio covenant and 
(b) reduce the minimum amount of Excess Availability that Commerce Energy will be required to maintain for a 
period of time in the future. 

The foregoing summary of the Second Amendment is not complete and is qualified in its entfrety by reference 
to the actual Second Amendment, which is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.91 and incorporated herein by reference. 

PART III 

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant. 

Information About Our Directors 

Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws provide for a "classified" Board of Directors, The number of 
authorized directors is currently six. At present, there are two Class I directors, whose terms expire at the annual 
meeting of stockholders to be held after the completion of fiscal 2007; two Class II directors, whose terms expire at 
the Company's annual meeting of stockholders to be held after the completion of fiscal 2008; and two Class ID 
directors, whose terms expire at the upcoming annual meeting of stockholders to be held after the completion of 
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fiscal 2(X)6. The following table sets forth information regarding our directors, including their ages as of October 13, 
2006, and business experience during the past five years. Each of our directors has served continuously as one of our 
directors since the date indicated in his biography below. 
Name and Position Age Principal Occupation and Other Information 

Class I Directors 
Steven S. Boss 60 

Gary J. Hessenauer 51 

Mr Boss was appointed to the Board of Directors on July 22, 
2(X)5 and appointed Chief Executive Officer of Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc. in August 2005. Since August 2005, 
Mr Boss has also served as a director and President of 
Commerce Energy, Inc., and as a director and the Chief 
Executive Officer of Skipping Stone Inc. From 2003 to 
August 2005, Mr. Boss was an attomey in private practice 
specializing in the representation of energy companies and 
commercial energy users. From 2000 to 2003, Mr Boss 
served as president of Energy Buyers Network, LLC, an 
energy consulting firm that provided regulatory representation 
and stmctured direct access energy transactions for 
commercial energy users. From 1999 to 2000, he served as 
president of botii Sierra Pacific Energy Company and Nevada 
Power Services, non-regulated energy services operating 
subsidiaries of Sierra Pacific Resources. Prior to that, 
Mr Boss served in various legal and senior management 
positions in a number of energy companies and practiced law 
in private practice. From 1984 to 1992, Mr Boss served as 
president and chief executive officer of Sunrise Energy 
Services, Inc., an independent natural gas marketing company 
with shares listed on the American and London Stock 
Exchanges. Mr. Boss received a Bachelor of Science in 
Aerospace Engineering from the University of Texas and a 
Juris Doctor from the University of Southem Califomia, He 
has been a member of the State Bar of California since 1974. 

Mr Hessenauer has served as a director of Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc. since August 29, 2005. Mr. Hessenauer is a 
member of the Compensation Committee and serves as the 
Chair of the Strategic Opportunities Committee of the Board. 
Since 2003, Mr Hessenauer has been an investor and advisor 
to early stage companies. From 2002 to 2003, Mr Hessenauer 
served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Sixth 
Dimension, an energy technology company that developed 
solutions for real-time monitoring and control of dispersed 
energy assets. From 2000 to 2001, he served as Senior Vice 
President of Sempra Energy Solutions, a retail energy 
services provider that also provided non-regulated energy 
marketing and trading services. Sempra Energy Solutions was 
a subsidiary of Sempra Energy, a large distributor of natural 
gas and electricity that is listed on the New York Stock 
Exchange. Prior to that, he served in management positions 
with a number of public and private companies. These 
positions included Vice President, Marketing and Sales for 
the retail energy services subsidiary of Edison International 
from 1996 to 1997 and Corporate Area General Manager of 
multiple business unit development operations for the General 
Electric Company from 1988 to 1994 and Regional Sales 
Manager for General Electric Company's Electrical 
Distribution and Control business unit from 1984 to 1987. 
Mr Hessenauer holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in 
Mechanical Engineering from the United States Naval 
Academy and completed Stanford University's executive 
business program. 
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Name and Position 

Class II Directors 
Mark S. Juergensen 

Age 

46 

Charles E. Bayless 63 

Principal Occupation and Other Information 

Mr. Juergensen has served as a director of Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc. since December 2003. Mr Juergensen is a 
member of the Audit, Compensation, and Strategic 
Opportunities Committees of the Board and is the Chair of 
the Nominating and Corporate Govemance Committee. He 
also has served as a director of Commerce Energy, Inc. from 
May 2003 to August 2005 and as a director of Skipping 
Stone Inc. and Utilihost, Inc. from August 2005 to January 
2006. Mr Juergensen has served as Vice President of Sales 
and Marketing for Predict Power, an energy solution software 
company he co-founded, since May 2000. Mr Juergensen 
also is a director of Sterling Energy Intemational, Inc., a 
private management service company in the power generation 
industry, and an investor and advisor to various early-stage 
technology and energy companies. From Febmary 1995 to 
June 2000, he served m multiple leadership positions, 
including as a Commercial Manager, for Solar Turbines, 
Caterpillar's gas turbine division. From Febmary 1992 to 
Febmary 1995, he served as Director of Management 
Services for Sterling Energy Intemational, a power generation 
management consulting firm he co-founded. Mr Juergensen 
received a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical 
Engineering from the Uruversity of Southern Califomia. 

Mr. Bayless has served as a director of Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc. since July 2004. Mr Bayless is a member of the 
Audit and Nominating and Corporate Govemance 
Committees of the Board. Mr Bayless has been the President 
of the West Virginia Uiuversity Institute of Technology since 
April 2005. Mr Bayless held the position of Chief Executive 
CMficer and President of Illinova and Illinois Power from July 
1998 until September 1999 and served as Chairman of 
Illinova and Illinois Power from August 1998 until his 
retirement in December 1999. Prior to that, he was Chairman, 
President and Chief Executive Officer of Tucson Electric 
Power Mr Bayless served as a Director of Illinova and 
Illinois Power from 1998 until the closing of the merger with 
Dynegy Inc. in Febmary 2000, and served as a director of 
Dynegy Inc. from Febmary 2000 until May 2006. Mr Bayless 
received his Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical 
Engineering from West Virginia Institute of Technology. He 
eamed a Master of Science degree in Electrical Engineering 
with a focus in Power Engineering, and in 1972 received his 
law degree, both from West Virginia University. Mr Bayless 
also holds an MBA degree from the Graduate School of 
Business Administration at the University of Michigan. 
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Name and Position 

Class III Directors 
Dennis R. Leibel. . 

Age 

62 

Principal Occupation and Other Information 

Mr Leibel has served as a director of Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc, since December 2005. Mr Leibel is a member of 
the Audit and Strategic Opportunities Committees of the 
Board and is the Chair of the Compensation Committee. 
Mr Leibel served as a founding partner of Esquire Associates 
LLC, a financial consulting business since 1998. Mr Leibel 
is also a private investor and a retired financial and legal 
executive. Mr Leibel has served on the board of directors of 
Microsemi Corporation since May 2002 and as its Chairman 
since July 2004. Mn Leibel has served on the board of 
directors of DPAC Corporation since Febmary 2006 and 
chairs their audit committee. Mr Leibel holds a Bachelor of 
Science degree in accounting from Brooklyn College, a Juris 
Doctor degree from Brooklyn Law School and an LL.M. 
degree in taxation from Boston University School of Law. 

Mr Perkins has been the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. since May 2005. 
Mr Perkins has served as a director of Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc. since December 2(X)3 and was a director of 
Commonwealth Energy Corporation from 1999 to January 
2006. Mr. Perkins is a member of the Compensation, 
Nominating and Corporate Govemance and Strategic 
Opportunities Committees of the Board and is the Chair of 
the Audit Committee. Mr. Perkins has served as Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer of Hospital Management 
Services, a provider of financial and management consulting 
services to hospitals and similar institutions since June 1969, 
Mr Perkins received his Bachelor of Science degree in 
accounting from Bob Jones Uruversity. 

There are no arrangements or other understandings pursuant to which any of the persons listed m the table 
above was selected as a director or nominee. 

Robert C. Perkins 67 

Information with Respect to Our Executive Officers 

Information regarding our executive officers is included m Item IC of Part I of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K under the caption "Executive Officers of the Registrant," and is hereby incorporated herein by reference. 

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance 

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors and executive officers, and persons who beneficially 
own more than 10% of a registered class of our equity securities to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and 
reports of changes in ownership of our common stock and other equity securities. Officers, directors and beneficial 
owners of more than 10% of our common stock are required by SEC regulations to furnish us with copies of all 
Section 16(a) forms they file. 

To our knowledge, based solely on review of the copies of such reports furnished to us and written 
representations that no other reports were required during fiscal 2006, and except as disclosed in the following 
paragraph, our officers, directors and beneficial owners of more than 10% of our common stock complied with all 
Section 16(a) filing requirements during fiscal 2006. 

The following person made a late filing of a report under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act tiiat related to a 
transaction that occurred during fiscal 2006: Lawrence Clayton, Jr., our Chief Financial Officer, filed a late Form 4 
in connection with the purchase of our common stock in December 2(X)5. 
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Code of Ethics 

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our directors, officers and 
employees including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer and 
all of our other officers and employees. In the event that we make any amendment to, or grant any waiver of, a 
provision of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, principal 
financial officer or principal accounting officer, we intend to disclose such amendment or waiver by including such 
information as an exhibit in future filings. 

Audit Committee and Audit Committee Financial Expert 

Charles E. Bayless, Mark S. Juergensen, Dennis R. Leibel and Robert C. Perkins are the members of our Audit 
Conunittee. Our Board of Directors has detennined that each member of the Audit Committee is "mdependent" as 
defined under the rules of the SEC and the American Stock Exchange. Furthermore, the Board of Directors has 
determined that Mr Perkins, the Chairman of the Audit Committee, is an "audit conunittee financial expert" as 
defined under the mles of the SEC. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation. 

Compensation of Executive Officers 

We are required by the SEC to disclose compensation paid by us during the last three fiscal years to (a) any 
person who served as our principal executive officer during fiscal 2006; (b) our four most highly compensated 
executive officers, other than the principal executive officer, who were serving as executive officers at the end of 
fiscal 2006; and (c) up to two additional individuals for whom such disclosure would have been provided under 
clause (b) above but for the fact that the individual was not serving as an executive officer at the end of fiscal 2006; 
provided, however, that no disclosure need be provided for any executive officer, other than the principal executive 
officer, whose total annual salary and bonus does not exceed $100,000. Accordingly, we are disclosing information 
regarding compensation paid by us during the last three fiscal years to (a) Steven S. Boss, our Chief Executive 
Officer; (b) Thomas L. Ulry, our Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing, and Lawrence Clayton, Jr, our Chief 
Financial Officer, the two most highly-compensated executive officers, other than the chief executive officer, who 
were serving as executive officers at the end of fiscal 2006 and whose salary and bonus exceeded $ 100,000; (c) Peter 
Weigand, our former President, who served as the Company's chief executive officer in fiscal 2006; and (d) Richard 
L. Boughrum, our former Chief Financial Officer, for whom disclosure would be required as one of our most highly-
compensated executive officers, but for the fact that he was not serving as an executive officer of the Company at the 
end of fiscal 2006. All of these officers are referred to in this Annual Report as the "Named Executive Officers." 
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Summary Compensation Table 

The following table sets forth for each of tiie past three fiscal years, all compensation received for services 
rendered in all capacities by the Named Executive Officers. 

Long Term Compensatioii 
Awards 

Annual Compensation 

Name and Principal PosiUon 

Stevens. Boss(l) 
Chief Executive Officer 

Lawrence Clayton, Jr.(2) . . . 
Chief Financial Ojficer 

Thomas L. Ulry(3) 
Sr. VP. Sales & 
Marketing 

Peter T. Weigand(4) 
Former President 

Richard L. Boughrum(5) . . . 
Former Chief Financial 
Officer, Senior Vice 
President and Secretary 

Fiscal 
Year 

. . 2006 
2005 
2004 

. . 2006 
2005 
2004 

. . 2006 
2005 
2004 

. . 2006 
2005 
2004 

. 2006 
2005 
2004 

Salary 

$405,001 

$176,960 

$227,476 
$ 83,462 

$127,752 
$400,000 
$130,769 

$121,215 
$350,000 
$114,423 

Bonos 

— 

— 

$25,000 

— 

— 

Other Annual 

Securities 
Restricted Underlying 

Stock Options^ 
Award(s) SARs 

$300,000(7) 300,000 
— 50,000(9) 

72,000(7) 120,000 

45,600(7) — 
— 100,000 

Payouts 

LTIP All Other 
Payouts Compilation 

$ 1,889(10) 

— 600.000 

$288,000(8) 500,000 

$566,667(11) 

$499,874(11) 

(1) Mr. Boss was appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Company on August 1, 2005, 

(2) Mr. Clayton was appointed interim Chief Financial Officer and Secretary of the Company on August 4, 2005 
and became the Chief Financial Officer and Secretary of the Company effective December 1, 2005. 

(3) Mr. Ulry was appointed Senior Vice President, Sales and Operations on March 1, 2005. 

(4) Mr. Weigand joined the Company on April 1, 2004 and served as the Company's President until October 8, 
2005. 

(5) Mr Boughrum joined the Company on April 1, 2004 and served as the Company's Senior Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer until October 8, 2005. 

(6) The aggregate amount of perquisites and other benefits paid did not exceed the lesser of $50,000 or 10% of the 
total annual salary and bonus of the Named Executive Officer for the periods covered, 

(7) The Restricted Stock Awards value was calculated using the closing market price on the date of the award. 
Mr Boss was issued 200,0(X) shares of restricted stock valued at $1.50 per share, Mr. Clayton was issued 
45,000 shares of restricted stock valued at $ 1.60 per share and Mr Ulry was issued 40,000 of restricted stock 
valued at $1.14 per share. 

(8) Represents the value on the date of grant of 150,000 shares of restricted stock awarded to Mr. Boughrum, 
based upon an estimated valuation of $1.92 per share of common stock as of the date the restricted stock was 
awarded. There was no market value for our common stock prior to our public listing on the AMEX in July 
2004. This valuation was made by our Board of Directors for accounting and financial reporting purposes and 
does not reflect actual transactions. In October 2005, as a result of tiie termination of Mr. Boughrum's 
employment, without cause, all 150,0(X) shares of restricted stock became fully vested. 

(9) Prior to being appointed the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on August 1,2005, Mr Boss served as a 
non-employee director of the Company. In connection with his appointment as a director on July 22, 2005, 
Mr. Boss was granted an option to purchase 50,000 shares of common stock pursuant to the non-employee 
directors' compensation policy in effect at the time. 

(10) Represents compensation paid to Mr. Boss as a non-employee director 

(11) Represent severance payments made to Mr Weigand and Mr Boughrum pursuant to settlement agreements 
dated November 17, 2005. 
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stock Options 

Stock Option Grants 

The following table shows stock option grants to the Named Executive Officers during fiscal 2006. 

Option/SAR Grants in Last Fiscal Year 
Potential 

Realizable Value at 
Assumed Annual 

Rates of Stodi Price 
Appreciation 

Individual Grants for Option Term(4) 

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (H (g) 

Perc^itage 
of Total 

Number of Options/SARs 
Securities Granted to 

Underlying Employees Exercise 
Options/SARs in Fiscal or Base 

Granted Year Price Expiration 
Name (#)(!) (%K2) ($/Sh)(3) Dale 5% ($) 10% ($) 

I Steven S. Boss 300,000 62.5% $1.80 8/01/2015 $156,090 $426,248 

Lawrence Clayton, Jr 120,000 37.5% $1.68 12/01/2015 $ 81,654 $243,749 

Thomas L. Uhy ~ — — — — — 

Peter T. Weigand — — — — — — 

Richard L. Boughrum — — — — — — 

(1) Options were granted on August I, 2005 to Mr Boss pursuant to an Employment Agreement dated August 1, 
2005 between Mr Boss and the Company. Mr. Boss's options have an exercise price equal to $1.80 per share, 
with vestmg as to 100,000 shares upon hire and as to 100,000 shares on each of tiie first two anniversaries 
thereafter Options were granted on December 1, 2005 to Mr. Clayton pursuant to an Employment Agreement 
dated December 1, 2005 between Mr Clayton and the Company. Mr Clayton's options have an exercise price 
equal to $1.68 per share, with vesting in equal amounts on each of the first three anniversaries of the date of the 
grant. Mr Boss's and Mr Clayton's options exphe on or prior to the ten year anniversary of the date of grant, 

(2) Based on an aggregate of 420,000 options granted to all employees during fiscal 2006. 

(3) All options were granted at an exercise price equal to the cash value of the Company's common stock on the 
date of grant, determined by dividing (a) the sum of the Company's cash, restricted cash and deposits by (b) the 
number of shares of common stock outstanding, in each case as reported in the Company's most recent Annual 
Report on Form 10-K or Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, a 
price higher than the fair market value on the date of grant. 

(4) The Company is required by the SEC to use 5% and 10% assumed annualized rate of appreciation over the ten 
year option term. This does not represent the Company's estimate or projection of the future common stock 
price. If the common stock does not appreciate, the Named Executive Officers will receive no benefit from the 
options. 

44 



option Exercises/Fiscal Year End Value. 

The following table shows stock option exercises by the Named Executive Officers during fiscal 2006 and the 
value of unexercised stock options held by the Named Executive Officers during fiscal 2006. 

Aggregated Option/SAR Exercises in Last Fiscal Year 
and FY-End Option/SAR Values 

Shares Acquired 
on Exercise 

(#) 

Value 
Realized 

($) 

$— 

Number of Securities 
Underlying Unexercised 

Options/SARs at 

Value of Unexercised 
In-the-Money 

Options/SARs at Fiscal 
Year-End 

($) 
Exercisable 

250,000 

40,000 

100,000 

Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable 

100,000 

80,000 
$ -

Name 

Steven S. Boss 

Lawrence Clayton, Jr 

Thomas L. Ulry 

Peter Weigand — — — — — 

Richard L. Boughrum — — — — — 

Employment Agreements 

Steven S. Boss. On August 1, 2005, Commerce entered into an employment agreement with Steven S. Boss 
as our Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to the employment agreement, the Company also entered into a stock 
option agreement, a restricted stock agreement and an indemnffication agreement with Mr Boss. 

Under the employment agreement, Mr Boss will receive base salary of $412,000 per year, and is eligible for 
consideration for an incentive bonus in fiscal 2006 calculated between 50% and 150% of base salary based upon 
achievement of objectives established by the Compensation Conunittee. For fiscal 2007 and each fiscal year 
thereafter, Mr Boss will participate in an incentive bonus program to be established by the Company as part of a 
comprehensive incentive bonus plan. Mr. Boss was granted an option to purchase 300,000 shares of our common 
stock at an exercise price equal to $1.80 per share, with vesting as to 100,000 shares upon hire and as to 
100,000 shares on each of the first two anniversaries thereafter Mr Boss was also granted 200,000 shares of 
restricted stock, which vest 50,000 shares on the first anniversary of hire and 50,000 shares upon the achievement of 
performance targets for fiscal years 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. The employment agreement has no specific 
term and is subject to termination by either the Company or Mr Boss without cause upon 60 days written notice. 

The employment agreement provides that if Mr. Boss is terminated without cause or if he resigns for good 
reason, Mr Boss will be entitled to severance equal to 12 months of his then-current base salary payable over a 
12-month period, plus 12 months accelerated vesting of outstanding unvested stock options and restricted stock. In 
the event of a change of control of the Company, Mr Boss may resign for good reason, as defined in the agreement, 
within 180 days after the change of control. 

Under the employment agreement, Mr Boss agreed not to solicit the Company's employees, customers, clients 
or suppliers during the term of his employment and for a period of one year after any period in which severance 
payments are received, and not to compete with the Company during the term of his employment and any period in 
which severance payments are received. Finally, in accordance with the employment agreement, we agreed to 
indemnify Mr Boss pursuant to our standard form of indemnification agreement. 

Lawrence Clayton, Jr. On August 1,2005, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with Lawrence 
Clayton, Jr, whom the Company appointed as interim Chief Financial Officer and Secretary on August 4,2005. The 
consulting agreement provided that Mr Clayton serve as an mdependent contractor and provide finance, accounting 
and financial oversight services to the Company. Under the consulting agreement, Mr. Clayton was paid $200 per 
hour (with a maximum of $1,500 per day and $7,500 per week). 

On December 1, 2005, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr Clayton as the Company's Chief 
Financial Officer Under the terms of the employment agreement, Mr Clayton will receive an annual base salary of 
$275,000 and will be eligible to receive an incentive bonus for the fiscal 2006 if the Company reaches financial 
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objectives determined by the Board. For fiscal 2007 and each fiscal year thereafter, Mr Clayton will participate in 
an incentive bonus program to be established by the Company as part of a comprehensive executive incentive bonus 
plan. In addition, on December 1,2005 (a) pursuant to the terms of the employment agreement and the stock option 
agreement, we granted to Mr Clayton an option to purchase 120,000 shares of our common stock, which option will 
vest in equal amounts on each of the first three anniversaries of the date of the grant; and (b) pursuant to the terms of 
the employment agreement and the restricted stock agreement, we issued to Mr Clayton 45,000 shares of restricted 
common stock of the Company, subject to a Company repurchase right which will lapse as to one third of the 
restricted shares on the first anniversary of the date of issuance and as to one third of the restricted shares on each of 
the next two fiscal years based upon the achievement of performance targets. Mr. Clayton also is entitled to 
reimbursement of actual relocation expenses not to exceed $100,000. The employment agreement has no specific 
term and is subject to termination by either the Company or Mr. Clayton without cause upon 60 days written notice. 

The employment agreement provides that if Mr Clayton's employment is terminated by the Company without 
cause or if he resigns for good reason, as defined in the agreement, Mr. Clayton will be entitled to severance, as long 
as Mr. Clayton does not accept other employment, equal to 12 months base salary, payable in six equal installments 
commencing on the first business day after six months from the date of the termination, or the severance period, plus 
reimbursement of the cost of continuation coverage under COBRA for 12 months and 12 months accelerated 
vesting of outstanding options and restricted stock. In the event of a change of control of the Company, as defined in 
the employment agreement, Mr Clayton may resign for good reason within 180 days after the change of control. 

Under the employment agreement, Mr Clayton agreed not to solicit customers or employees of tiie Company 
during his employment with the Company and for a period of one year after the end of the Severance Period. The 
employment agreement further provides that Mr. Clayton will not accept employment with, or otherwise engage in, 
any business that competes with the Company during his employment or any period during which he is receiving 
severance payments from the Company. Finally, in accordance with the employment agreement, we indemnified 
Mr Clayton pursuant to the Company's standard form of indemnification agreement. 

Thomas L. Ulry. On February 28,2005, we entered into an at-will employment letter agreement with Thomas 
Ulry, our Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing. The agreement provided for an annual base salary of 
$190,000, subject to adjustment based upon the results of a independent compensation study commissioned by the 
Compensation Committee, an annual discretionary bonus, as determined by the Compensation Committee, a grant 
of options to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $3.50 per share, vesting equally 
over four years, a relocation bonus of $100,000 and reimbursement of actual relocation expenses not to exceed 
$40,000. The agreement also provided for other standard employee benefits including medical, dental and 
insurance benefits and the right to participate in our 401(k) Plan, Finally, the agreement provided for a severance 
benefit of one year's annual base salary if we terminated Mr Uhy without cause, as defined in the agreement, prior 
to March 2, 2006. On May 31, 2005, we entered into a second at-will employment letter agreement with Mr Uhy 
which superseded the February 28, 2005 letter agreement. Pursuant to the May 31, 2005 agreement, Mr Ulry's 
annual base salary was increased to $225,000, the $100,000 relocation bonus was deleted and the severance benefit 
was amended to state that if we terminated Mr Ulry without cause, as defined in the agreement, during the first year 
after May 31, 2005, Mr Ulry would be entitled to one year's annual base salary, and if we terminated him without 
cause at any time thereafter, an amount equal to his monthly salary for up to six.months or until he finds other 
employment, whichever is first to occur All other terms set forth in the February 28,2005 at-will employment letter 
agreement remained the same. On October 19, 2006, the Compensation Committee increased Mr Ulry's annual 
base salary from $225,000 to $250,000, effective October 1, 2006 and awarded him a $25,000 discretionary bonus. 

Peter T. Weigand. We entered into an emplo3mient agreement with Peter Weigand on April 1, 2004. The 
agreement provided for an initial three year term with automatic extensions for successive one year periods, unless 
superseded by a notice of termination. Under his employment agreement, Mr. Weigand was entitied to a base salary 
of $400,000. Mr Weigand also was eligible to participate in our bonus program at the discretion of the Board on the 
same basis and terms as are applicable to other senior executives. Pursuant to his employment agreement, we 
granted to Mr Weigand an option to purchase 600,0(X) shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $ 1.92 per 
share, expiring on March 11, 2014 with 150,000 options vested immediately, 150,000 options vestmg on each of 
March 29, 2005, 2006 and 2007 and immediate vesting upon termination of Mr Weigand's employment without 
cause, for good reason, as defined in his employment agreement, or following a change of control not approved by 
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the Board, provided that in each case Mr Weigand was required to agree not to engage in certain prohibited 
competitive activities for six months following the termination of employment. 

On August 4, 2005, our Board of Directors decided to terminate witiiout cause the employment of 
Mr Weigand. In accordance with the terms of his employment agreement, the termination of Mr Weigand's 
employment became effective on October 8, 2005. On October 8, 2005, Mr Weigand entered into an Agreement 
Not to Engage in Prohibited Activities, under which he agreed not to directly or indirectly engage as an owner, 
employee, consultant or agent of any retail commodity marketing entity or entity that markets energy efficient 
products or back office services for a period of six months following his termination. Pursuant to the terms of his 
employment agreement, entering into the Agreement Not to Engage in Prohibited Activities entitied Mr Weigand 
to receive severance payments equal to his base salary, $400,000 annually, for the remaining term of his 
employment agreement (i.e., until April 1, 2007). On November 17, 2005, the Company entered into a Settlement 
Agreement and General Release with Mr Weigand. The Settlement Agreement with Mr Weigand provides for the 
Company to make a settlement payment to Mr Weigand on April 10, 2006 in the amount of $566,666.67 in cash, 
less customary payroll deductions required by law, replacing the severance payments which otherwise would be 
made under his employment agreement. In addition, Mr Weigand agreed to sell to the Company 994,479 shares of 
common stock of the Company held by him for a price $1.50 per share, or $1,491,718.50, in the aggregate, payable 
in several installments. In connection with the sale of his shares of common stock, all 6(X),000 options to purchase 
shares of the Company's common stock were cancelled. Tlie Settlement Agreement entitled Mr Weigand to receive 
12 months of COBRA coverage. Also see Part III, Item 13, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, herein, 
for a description of the sale by Mr Weigand of his remaining 120,000 shares of common stock of the Company. 

Richard L. Boughrum. We entered into an employment agreement with Richard Boughrum on April 1,2004. 
The agreement provided for an initial three year term with automatic extensions for successive one-year periods, 
unless superseded by a notice of termination. Under his employment agreement, Mr Boughrum was entitied to a 
base salary of $350,000. Mr Boughrum also was eligible to participate in our bonus program at the discretion of the 
Board on the same basis and terms as to other senior executives. Mr Boughrum had the right to purchase up to 
150,000 shares of our common stock for a purchase price of $1.92 per share at any time until 10 days after 
consummation of the reorganization. Mr Boughrum exercised this option on April 2, 2004. We also granted to 
Mr Boughrum an option to purchase 500,000 shares of common stock at an exercised price of $1.92 per share 
expiring in March 2014, with 125,000 vested inunediately, 125,(X)0 options vesting on each of March 29, 2005, 
2006 and 2007. We also granted Mr Boughrum a restricted stock award of 150,000 shares of common stock, which 
were subject to repurchase by the Company at $0,001 per share upon termination of Mr Boughrum's employment. 

On August 4, 2005, our Board of Directors decided to terminate without cause the employment of 
Mr Boughrum. In accordance with the terms of his employment agreement, the termination of Mr Boughrum's 
employment became effective on October S, 2005. On October 8, 2005, Mr Boughrum entered into an Agreement 
Not to Engage in Prohibited Activities, under which he agreed not to directly or indirectiy engage as an owner, 
employee, consultant or agent of any retail commodity marketing entity or entity that markets energy efficient 
products or back office services for a period of six months following his termination. Pursuant to the terms of his 
employment agreement, entering into the Agreement Not to Engage in Prohibited Activities entitled Mr Boughrum 
to receive severance payments equal to his base salary, $350,000 annually, for the remaining term of his 
employment agreement {i.e., until April 1, 2007). In addition, all 150,000 shares of Mr Boughrum's restricted 
stock immediately vested. On November 17,2005, tiie Company entered into a Settlement Agreement and General 
Release with Mr. Boughrum. The Settlement Agreement with Mr Boughrum provided for the Company to make a 
settlement payment to Mr Boughrum on April 10, 2006 in the amount of $495,833 in cash less customary payroll 
deductions required by law, replacing the severance payments which otherwise would be made under his 
employment agreement. In addition, Mr Boughrum agreed to sell tiie Company 300,000 shares of common stock 
of tiie Company held by Mr Boughrum for a price of $1.50 per share or $450,000, in tiie aggregate payable in 
several installments. In connection with the sale of his shares of common stock, all 500,000 options to purchase 
shares of the Company's conunon stock were cancelled. The Settlement Agreement entitied Mr Boughrum to 
recover 12 months of COBRA coverage. 

47 



Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation 

Executive compensation is determined by a Compensation Committee appointed by our Board of Directors. 
During fiscal 2006, the Compensation Committee was comprised of Gary J. Hessenauer, Mark S. Juergensen, 
Dennis R. Leibel and Robert C. Perkins. None of tiie Compensation Committee members is or has been an officer or 
employee of Conunerce Energy or any of its subsidiaries. None of our executive officers serves as member of the 
Board of Durectors or compensation committee of any entity that has one or more executive officers who serve on 
our Board of Directors or our Compensation Committee. 

Compensation of Directors 

Directors who also are our employees are not paid any fees or remuneration, as such, for their service on the 
Board of Directors or on any Board committee. In May 2006, our Board adopted tiie following directors' 
compensation policy with respect to the Company's non-employee directors. These policies were adopted by 
the Board, and may be changed from time-to-time by the Board. 

Cash Compensation. Each non-employee director is paid a quarterly retainer of $8,000, a fee of $1,000 for 
each Board meeting which the Board member attends in person and a fee of $750 for each Board meeting which the 
Board member attends telephonically. The non-executive Chairman of the Board also receives a supplemental 
quarterly retainer of $4,000. Directors who served on Board committees (other than the chairman of such 
committee) are paid $750 for each committee meeting the Board member attends in person and a fee of $500 
for each Committee meeting which the Board member attends telephonically. Committee chairpersons are paid 
$1,000 for each committee meeting the chairperson attends, whether in person or telephonically. In addition, each 
non-employee director is entitled to receive reimbursement for reasonable travel expenses in accordance with the 
Company's travel expense policy with respect to each Board or Board committee meeting that such non-employee 
director attends in person if the director resides 25 miles or more from the site of the meeting. 

Equity-Based Awards. Following the initial appointment or election of each non-employee director to the 
Board, he or she will be (a) issued 10,000 restricted shares of common stock pursuant to the Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, or the SIP, or any successor plan, and such shares will vest in full on the first 
day of the month in which the one year anniversary of the date of issuance occurs with any unvested shares being 
forfeited to the Company if the Board member's service is terminated, and (b) granted an option to purchase 
20,000 shares of common stock pursuant to the SIP or any successor plan. 

In addition, on or following the date of each annual meeting of stockholders at which durectors are elected, each 
non-employee director who is either re-elected as a non-employee director or who continues in office as an 
incumbent non-employee director, will be (a) issued 10,000 shares of restricted common stock pursuant to the SIP 
or any successor plan and such shares will vest in full on January 1 of the next succeeding calendar year after the 
date of issuance with any unvested shares being forfeited to the Company if the Board member's service is 
terminated, and (b) granted an option to purchase 20,000 shares of common stock pursuant to the SIP or any 
successor plan. 

Any options granted to non-employee directors under this policy have the following terms and conditions: 
(a) the options are subject to all terms and conditions of the SIP or any successor plan; (b) the options vest quarterly 
at a rate of one quarter {%) of the amount of the grant on each three-month anniversary of the date of grant, with any 
unvested options being forfeited if the Board member's service is terminated; (c) the options have a term of 6 years 
from the date of grant; (d) any vested options may be exercised during the time the Board member is serving as a 
director or after he or she ceases to be a director prior to the expiration of the term of the option; and (e) the exercise 
price per share is 100% of the fau market value of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. 

On May 12, 2006, die Board acting pursuant to the foregoing policies granted nonqualified stock options and 
issued shares of restricted common stock under the SIP to Charles E. Bayless, Gary J. Hessenauer, Mark S. 
Juergensen, Dennis R. Leibel and Robert C. Perkins, each a non-employee director of the Company, Each non-
employee duector was issued 10,000 shares of restricted common stock pursuant to the SIP, which will vest in full 
on January 1, 2007; and granted an option to purchase 20,000 shares of common stock pursuant to the SIP at an 
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exercise price per share of $1,17 per share, equal to 100% of the fair market value of the common stock on the date 
of grant. 

On August 29,2005, pursuant to a Board Compensation policy in effect at that time, the Board granted to Gary 
J. Hessenauer an option to purchase 50,000 shares of common stock pursuant to the Commonwealth 1999 Equity 
Incentive Plan following his initial appointment to the Board. The exercise price per share was $ 1.80, equal the cash 
value of a share of our common stock on the date, a price in excess of the fair market value on the date of grant. The 
option vests quarterly at the rate of 12,500 shares on each three month anniversary of the date of grant. The option 
has a term of ten years, from the date of grant. 

Item 12, Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder 
Matters. 

The information with respect to each person specified is as supplied or confirmed by such person, based upon 
statements filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or based upon our actual knowledge. 

Beneficial Ownership Table 

The following table sets forth certain information about the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of 
October 16, 2006 by: 

• each person known by us to own beneficially more than 5% of our outstanding common stock; 

• each of our current directors; 

• our chief executive officer and the other officers named in the Summary Compensation Table set forth under 
the caption "Compensation of Executive Officers" (we refer to these officers as the "Named Executive 
Officers"); and 

• all of our current directors and executive officers as a group. 

Beneficial ownership is detennined in accordance with the rules of the SEC based upon voting or investment 
power over the securities. 

Shares and share percentages beneficially owned are based upon the number of shares of common stock 
outstanding on October 16,2006, together with options, warrants or other convertible securities that are exercisable 
for such respective securities within 60 days of October 16,2006 for each stockholder. Under the rules of the SEC, 
beneficial ownership includes shares over which the named stockholder exercises voting and/or investment power 
Shares of common stock subject to options, warrants or other convertible securities that are currently exercisable or 
will become exercisable within 60 days of October 16, 2006 are deemed outstanding for computing the respective 
percentage ownership of the person holding the option, warrant or other convertible security, but are not deemed 
outstanding for purposes of computing the respective percentage ownership of any other person. Unless otherwise 
indicated in tiie footnotes below, we believe that the persons and entities named in the table have sole voting and 
investment power with respect to all shares beneficially owned, subject to applicable community property laws. The 
inclusion of shares in the table does not constitute an admission that the named stockholder is a direct or indirect 
beneficial owner of the shares. The information with respect to each person is as supptied or confirmed by such 
person, based upon statements filed with the SEC or based upon the actual knowledge of the Company. 
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Common Stock 
Amount and Nature of 
Beneficial Ownership 

Number of 
Shares Right to Percent of 

Name Owned Acquire(l) Class 

Principal Stockholders: 

Daniel Zeff(2),. 2,958,071(3) — 10,0% 

Ian B. Carter(4) 250,000 2,500,000 8.4% 

Directors and Named Executive Officers: 

Steven S. Boss 225,000 250,000 1.3% 

Lawrence Clayton, Jr 80,359 40,000 * 

Thomas L. Ulry 40,000 100,000 * 

Robert C. Perkins 215,000 460,000 2.2% 

Richard L. Boughrum — — * 

Gary J. Hessenauer 10,000 60,000 * 

Mark S, Juergensen 30,000 147,500 * 

Dennis R, Leibel 10,000 10,000 * 

Peter Weigand — — * 

Charles E. Bayless 112,000 110,000 * 

All Directors and Executive Officers as a group (8 persons). . . 722,359 1,177,500 6.2% 

* Indicates beneficial ownership of less than 1% of the issued and outstanding class of securities. 

(1) Represents shares of our common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options or upon conversion of other 
convertible securities held by such persons that are exercisable within 60 days of October 16, 2006. 

(2) Daniel Zeff includes: Zeff Holding Company LLC, Zeff Capital Partners, LLP, and Zeff Capital Offshore Fund, 
The mailing address of such stockholder is c/o: Zeff Holding Company, LLC, 50 Califomia St., Suite 1500, 
San Francisco, CA 94111, 

(3) Represents holdings as of June 14, 2006 as disclosed in a Schedule 13G/A filed witii tiie SEC under tiie 
Exchange Act. 

(4) The mailing address of such stockholder is: PO, Box 538, 1100 Irvine Blvd., Tustin, Califomia 92780. 

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plan 

The Company has two equity compensation plans, the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive 
Plan and the Commonwealth 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, both of which have been approved by our stockholders. 
We do not have any other equity compensation plans, with the exception of one-time grants of warrants or options 
made by our Board of Directors from time to time. 
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The following table sets forth information regarding the number of shares of our common stock that may be 
issued pursuant to our equity compensation plans or arrangements as of the end of fiscal 2006. 

(a) (b) (c) 

Plan Category 

Equity compensation plans approved by 
security holders 

Equity compensation plans not approved 
by security holders 

Total 

Nnmber of Securities 
to be Issued Upon 

Exercise of 
Outstanding Options, 
Warrants and Rights 

4,923,666(1) 

2,820,000(3) 

7,743,666 

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price of 

Outstanding Options, 
Warrants and Rights 

$2.25 

$2,43 

$2.32 

Number of Securities 
Remaining Available For 
Future Issuance Under 

Equity Compensation Plans 
(Excluding Securities 

Reflected in Column (a)) 

1,353,334(2) 

1,353,334 

(1) Represents shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to outstanding options granted under the 
Commonwealth 1999 Equity Incentive Plan and the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, 

(2) Represents shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to options available for future grant under the 
Commonwealth 1999 Equity Incentive Plan and the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, 

(3) Represents shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to options available for future grant under the 
following individual plans: options to purchase 2,500,000 shares granted to Ian B, Carter, the Company's 
former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer; options to purchase 100,000 shares granted to Robert C. Perkins, 
the Company's Chairman; options to purchase 120,000 shares granted to Vivian Anderson, a former du^ctor of 
the Company; and options to purchase 100,000 shares granted to Brad Gates, a former director of the Company 
(See Note 15. Stock Options to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions. 

On April 1,2004, the Company acquired Skipping Stone, an energy consulting and technology firm. Skipping 
Stone was a privately-held company that was principally owned by Peter T. Weigand, our former President and 
former director of the Company. In connection with the acquisition of Skipping Stone, each of the former holders of 
Skipping Stone common stock, including Mr Weigand and Eric G. Alam, agreed to place 20% of the Common­
wealth shares issued to him in the merger in an escrow for a period of six months. The stockholder escrow shares 
were subject to forfeiture, at $1.92 per share, based upon a ''true up" calculation, defined in the merger agreement. 
As a result of the holding company reorganization in July 2004, the Commonwealth shares in escrow became a right 
to receive the same amount of shares of common stock of the Company. Commonwealth's name has been changed 
to Commerce Energy. 

On November 17, 2005, the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiary. Commerce Energy, counsel to the 
Company and Commerce Energy, Eric G. Alam, Bruno Kvetinskas, Greg Lander and Peter Weigand entered into an 
Agreement and Release dated November 17, 2005 regarding an aggregate 322,215 shares of the Company's 
common stock being held in an escrow account relating to the acquisition of Skipping Stone by the Company in 
April 2004. As a result of the settlement, all such shares of common stock were distributed to Mr Alam (34,985), 
Mr Kvetinskas (33,295), Mr Lander (36,199) and Mr Weigand (217,736). Messrs. Alam, Kvetinskas, Lander and 
Weigand all were shareholders of Skipping Stone prior to the acquisition. Messrs. Lander and Kvetinskas are 
currently employees of a subsidiary of the Company. Mr Alam was an executive officer of the Company and 
Commerce Energy; he resigned effective December 1, 2005. 

On November 17, 2005, the Company, Conunerce Energy and Eric G. Alam, Senior Vice President of Sales 
and Marketing of the Company, entered into a Settlement Agreement and General Release Agreement which 
became effective on November 25, 2005. Pursuant to the Settiement Agreement and General Release, Mr Alam 
voluntarily tendered his resignation as an executive officer and an employee of the Company and Commerce 
Energy, effective December 1, 2005, and the Company, Commerce Energy and Mr. Alam agreed to mutual general 
releases of all claims that the parties may have against each other Mr. Alam agreed to sell to the Company all 
174,926 shares of the Company's common stock held by him for $1.50 per share (an aggregate price of $262,389) 
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payable by the Company one-half on November 28, 2005 and the other half (without interest) on the first business 
day 90 days after the fust payment was made. In connection with the purchase of his stock, all of Mr Alam's 
133,333 options to purchase shares of the Company's common stock were cancelled. 

In connection with his sale of shares of the Company's common stock to the Company pursuant to the terms of 
the Settlement Agreement and General Release by and among Peter Weigand, our former President, the Company 
and Commerce Energy, Inc., dated November 17, 2005 (the "Settlement Agreement"), Mr. Weigand sold his 
remaining 120,000 shares of common stock in separate transactions to two of the Company's independent directors, 
Mr Charles E. Bayless (100,000 shares) and Mr. Mark S. Juergensen (20,000 shares) at $1.50 per share, the same 
price per share that the Company purchased shares from Mr Weigand pursuant to the Settlement Agreement. 
Messrs. Bayless and Juergensen paid Mr. Weigand for the shares in one lump sum on November 28, 2005, the first 
business day after the effective date, as defined in the Settlement Agreement. The transactions to purchase the 
shares of the Company's common stock held by Mr Weigand by Messrs. Bayless and Juergensen were approved by 
the disinterested members of the Board of Directors and were consummated at the same time as the purchase of 
Mr Weigand's shares by the Company. A more detailed summary of the Settlement Agreement is set forth herein in 
Part III, Item 11. Executive Compensation, under the caption "Employment Agreements." 

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services. 

The following table sets forth the fees billed to us by our independent registered public accounting firms for 
each of the last two fiscal years, respectively. 

Fiscal Year 
2006 2005 

Audit Fees $454,000 $583,920 

Audit-Related Fees — 197,304 

Tax Fees — 46,685 

All Other Fees — ^ 

$454,000 $827,909 

Audit Fees: This category includes the audit of our annual consoUdated financial statements, the review of 
financial statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and services that are normally provided by the 
independent registered public accounting firm in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements 
for those fiscal years. 

Audit Related Fees: This category consists of assurance and related services that were reasonably related to 
the performance of the audit or review of our financial statements and which are not reported above under "Audit 
Fees." 

Tax Fees. This category consists of professional services rendered for tax services, including tax compliance, 
tax advice and tax planning. 

AU Other Fees. This category consists of fees for other advisory services. 

The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors has established a practice that requires the Committee and, 
under certain limited circumstances, the Chairman of our Audit Committee, to pre-approve any audit or permitted 
non-audit services to be provided to us by our independent registered public accounting firm, Hein & Associates 
LLP, in advance of such services being provided to us. 

Under the SEC rules, subject to certain de minimis criteria, pre-approval is required for all professional 
services rendered by our independent registered public accounting firm. We are in compliance with these SEC rules. 
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PART IV 

Item IS. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules. 

(a)(1) Index to Consolidated Financial Statements: 

Report of Hein & Associates LLP, independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year ending 
July 31, 2006 F-1 

Report of Emst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal years ending 
July 31, 2005 and 2004 F-2 

Consolidated statements of operations for the three years in the period ended July 31, 2006 F-3 

Consolidated balance sheets at July 31, 2005 and 2006 F-4 

Consolidated statements of stockholders' equity for the three years in the period ended July 31, 2006 . . . F-5 

Consolidated statements of cash flows for the three years in the period ended July 31, 2006 F-6 

Notes to consolidated financial statements F-7 

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules 

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is presented in the 
consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto. 

(b) Exhibits. The exhibits listed below are hereby filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
(the "Commission") as part ofthis Annual Report on Fonn 10-K. We will furnish acopy of any exhibit upon request, 
but a reasonable fee will be charged to cover our expense in furnishing such exhibit. 
Exhibit Description 

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, by and among American Energy Group, Inc, CEC Acquisition 
Corp. and Commonwealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on July 6, 2004 as 
Exhibit 2.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form 8-A and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated March 29,2004 by and among Commonwealtii Energy Corporation, 
Skipping Stone Acquisition Corporation, Skipping Stone Inc. and the holders of Skipping Stone Inc. 
common stock previously filed with the Commission on April 5,2004 as Exhibit 2.2 to Amendment No. 3 
to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-4 and incorporated herein by 
reference. 

2.3 Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of February 9, 2005 by and among Commonwealth Energy 
Corporation, ACN Utility Services, Inc., ACN Energy, Inc., ACN Power, Inc. and, as to certain 
sections thereof only. Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and American Communications Network, Inc., 
previously filed with the Commission on February 10, 2005 as Exhibit 2.1 to Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed and incorporated herein by reference. 

2.4 Transition Services Agreement dated as of Febmary 9, 2005 by and between American Communications 
Network, Inc. and Commonwealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on 
Febmary 10, 2005 as Exhibit 2.2 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

2.5 Sales Agency Agreement dated as of Febmary 9,2005 by and among Commonwealtii Energy Corporation, 
Coinmerce Energy Group, Inc. and American Communications Network, Inc., previously filed with the 
Commission on Febmary 10, 2005 as Exhibit 2.3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on 
Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

2.6 Escrow Agreement dated as of Febmary 9,2005 by and among Commonwealth Energy Corporation, ACN 
Utility Services, Inc., ACN Energy, Inc., ACN Power, Inc., Commerce Energy Group, Inc., American 
Communications Network, Inc. and Computershare Tmst Company, Inc., previously filed with tiie 
Conunission on Febmary 10, 2005 as Exhibit 2.4 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report 
on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Conunerce Energy Group, Inc., previously filed 
with the Commission on July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 3.3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration 
Statement on Form 8-A and incorporated herein by reference. 
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Exhibit Description 

3.2 Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc. dated July 1,2004, previously filed with the Commission on July 6,2004 as Exhibit 3.4 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form 8-A and incorporated herein by reference. 

3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the Commission 
on July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 3.6 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form 8-A and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

4.1 Rights Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2004, entered into between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and 
Computershare Tmst Company, as rights agent, previously filed with the Commission on July 6, 2004 as 
Exhibit 10.1 to Coinmerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form 8-A and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

4.2 Form of Rights Certificate, previously filed with the Commission on July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 10.2 to 
Coinmerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form 8-A and incorporated herein by 
reference. 

Material Contracts Relating to Management Compensation Plans or Arrangements 

Employment Agreement dated January 1, 2000, between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and Ian B. 
Carter, as modified by an Addendum to Employment Agreement dated as of November 1,2000, previously 
filed with the Commission on August 9, 2001 as Exhibit 10.12 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation's 
Registration Statement on Form 10 and incorporated herein by reference. 

Consent and Waiver Agreement dated March 12, 2004 between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and 
Ian B. Carter, previously filed with the Commission on March 16, 2004 as Exhibit 10.1 to Commonwealth 
Energy Corporation's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended January 31, 2004 and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

Second Amendment to Emplojmient Agreement dated March 16, 2004 between Commonwealth Energy 
Corporation and Ian B. Carter, previously filed with tiie Commission on March 16, 2004 as Exhibit 10.2 to 
Commonwealth Energy Corporation's (Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended January 31, 
2004 and incorporated herein by reference. 

Employment Agreement dated November I, 2000, between Conunonwealth Energy Corporation and John 
A. Barthrop, previously filed with the Commission on November 14,2001 as Exhibit 10.15 to Amendment 
No. 1 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation's Registration Statement on Form 10/A and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2004 between Commonwealth Energy 
Corporation and John A. Barthrop, previously filed witii die Commission on April 5, 2004 as 
Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group's Registration Statement on Form S-4 
and incorporated herein by reference. 

Executive Employment Agreement dated April 1, 2004 between Commonwealtii Energy Corporation, 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Peter Weigand, previously filed with the Commission on April 5,2004 
as Exhibit 10.6 to Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group's Registrant's Statement on Form S-4 
and incorporated herein by reference. 

Executive Employment Agreement dated April 1, 2004 between Commonwealth Energy Corpomtion, 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Richard L. Boughmm, previously filed with the Commission on 
April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 10.7 to Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group's Registrant's Statement 
on Form S-4 and incorporated herein by reference. 

Commonwealth Energy Corporation 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, previously filed witii die Commission on 
October 8, 2003 as Exhibit 4,1 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation's Registration Statement on 
Form S-8 and incorporated herein by reference. 

Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to Commonwealtii Energy Corporation 1999 Equity Incentive 
Plan, previously filed witii the Commission on November 15, 2004 as Exhibit 10.9 to Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

Confidential Severance Agreement and General Release between Richard L. Paulsen and Commonwealth 
Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on June 14, 2004 as Exhibit 10.1 to 
Commonwealth Energy Corporation's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended 
April 30, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.1 

10.2 

10.3 

10.4 

10.5 

10.6 

10.7 

10.8 

10.9 

10,10 
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Exhibit Description 

10.11 Confidential Severance Agreement and General Release dated as of Febmary 21,2004 between James L. 
Oliver and Commonwealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on March 16,2004 
as Exhibit 10.3 to Conunonwealth Energy Corporation's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly 
period ended January 31, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.12 Settlement Agreement and Release dated as of August 29, 2003 between Robert C. Perkins and 
Commonwealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Conunission on November 15, 2004 as 
Exhibit 10.12 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Aimual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by 
reference. 

10.13 Stock Option Agreement dated as of August 29, 2003 between Robert C. Perkins and Conunonwealth 
Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on November 15, 2004 as Exhibit 10.13 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.14 Stock Option Agreement dated as of August 29, 2003 between Robert C, Perkins and Commonwealth 
Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on November 15, 2004 as Exhibit 10.14 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.15 Stock Option Agreement dated as of July 8, 1999 between Ian B. Carter and Conunonwealth Energy 
Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on November 15, 2004 as Exhibit 10.15 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.16 Indemnification Agreement dated as of November 1, 2000 between Commonwealth Energy Corporation 
and Ian B. Carter, with Schedule attached thereto of other substantially identical Indemnification 
Agreements, which differ only in the respects set forth in such Schedule, previously filed with the 
Commission on November 15,2004 as Exhibit 10.16 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on 
Form lO-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.17 Indemrufication Agreement dated as of July 1, 2004 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Ian 
Carter, with Schedule attached thereto of other substantially identical Indemnification Agreements, which 
differ only in the respects set forth in such Schedule, previously filed with the Commission on 
November 15, 2004 as Exhibit 10.17 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K 
and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.18 Confidential Settlement Agreement and General Release dated as of April 21, 2(X)5 by and among Ian B, 
Carter, Commerce Energy, Inc. and Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the Commission 
on April 22, 2005 as Exhibit 10.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

10.19 Executive Employment Agreement dated August 1, 2005 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and 
Steven S. Boss, previously filed with the Commission on August 2, 2005 as Exhibit 10.1 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.20 Stock Option Agreement dated August I, 2005 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Steven S. 
Boss, previously filed with tiie Conunission on August 2, 2005 as Exhibit 10.2 to Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.21 Restricted Stock Agreement dated August 1, 2005 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Steven S. 
Boss, previously filed with tiie Commission on August 2, 2005 as Exhibit 10.3 to Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.22 Indemnification Agreement dated August 1, 2005 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Steven S, 
Boss, previously filed with the Commission on August 2, 2005 as Exhibit 10.4 to Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.23 Agreement for Consulting Services dated as of August 1,2005 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc, and 
Lawrence Clayton, Jr, previously filed with the Commission on August 5, 2005 as Exhibit 10.1 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report filed on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.24 Extension of Agreement for Consulting Services between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Lawrence 
Clayton, Jr dated as of September 29, 2005, previously filed with the Commission on September 30,2005 
as Exhibit 10.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by 
reference. 
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Exhibit Description 

10.25 Agreement Not to Engage in Prohibited Activities dated as of October 8, 2005 by and among Peter 
Weigand, Commerce Energy, Inc. and Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the 
Commission on October 13, 2005 as Exhibit 10.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report 
on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.26 Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy, previously filed with the Commission on December 8, 
2004 as Exhibit 10.2 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

10.27 Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Amended and Restated 2005 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, previously 
filed with the Commission on Febmary 1,2006 as Exhibit 99.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current 
Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.28 Summary of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Management Bonus Program for 2005, previously filed with 
the Commission on March 1, 2005 as Exhibit lO.l to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on 
Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.29 Employment Offer Letter Agreement between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Thomas Ulry dated 
Febmary 28,2005, previously filed with the Commission on March 7, 2005 as Exhibit 99.1 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.30 Employment Offer Letter Agreement between Conunerce Energy Group, Inc. and Thomas Ulry dated 
May 31, 2005, previously filed with the Commission on October 31, 2005 as Exhibit 10.30 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc.'s Armual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.31 Letter from Thomas Ulry to Conunerce Energy Group, Inc. dated October 28,2005 regarding tiie May 31, 
2005 Employment Offer Letter Agreement, previously filed with the Commission on October 31, 2005 as 
Exhibit 10.31 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by 
reference. 

10.32 Confidential Settlement Agreement and General Release dated as of April 21, 2005 by and among Ian B, 
Carter, Commerce Energy, Inc. and Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the Commission 
on April 22, 2005 as Exhibit 10,1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

10.33 Stock Option Agreement dated April 29,2005 by and between Ian B. Carter and Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc., previously filed with the Commission on October 31, 2005 as Exhibit 10.33 to Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.34 Agreement Not to Engage in Prohibited Activities dated as of October 8, 2005 by and among Richard L, 
Boughmm, Commerce Energy, Inc. and Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the 
Commission on October 13, 2005 as Exhibit 10.2 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report 
on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference, 

10.35 Settiement Agreement and General Release dated November 17, 2005 by and among Peter Weigand, 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Commerce Energy, Inc, previously filed with the Commission on 
November 23, 2005 as Exhibit 99.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

10.36 Promissory Note dated November 17, 2005 by and between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Peter 
Weigand, previously filed with the Commission on November 23, 2005 as Exhibit 99.2 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.37 Voting and Standstill Agreement dated November 17, 2005, by and between Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc, and Peter Weigand, previously filed with the Commission on November 23, 2005 as Exhibit 99.3 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference, 

10.38 Amendment No. 1 to Executive Employment Agreement dated November 17, 2005, by and among 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc., Commerce Energy, Inc, and Peter Weigand, previously filed with the 
Commission on November 23, 2005 as Exhibit 99.4 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on 
Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.39 Amendment No. 1 to Agreement Not to Engage in Prohibited Activities dated November 17, 2005 by and 
among Commerce Energy Group, Inc., Commerce Energy, Inc. and Peter Weigand, previously filed with 
the Commission on November 23,2005 as Exhibit 99.5 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report 
on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 
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10.40 Amendment No. 1 to Agreement Not to Compete dated November 17, 2005 by and among Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc., Commerce Energy, Inc. and Peter Weigand, previously filed with the Commission on 
November 23, 2005 as Exhibit 99,6 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

10.41 Agreement and Release dated November 17, 2005, by and among, Commerce Energy Group, Inc., 
Commerce Energy, Inc., Paul, Hastings, Janofsky & Walker LLP, Eric Alam, Bmno Kvetinskas, Greg 
Lander and Peter Weigand, previously filed with the Commission on November 23,2005 as Exhibit 99.7 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.42 Settiement Agreement and General Release dated November 17, 2005 by and among Richard L. 
Boughmm, Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Commerce Energy, Inc., previously filed with the 
Commission on November 23, 2005 as Exhibit 99.8 to Coinmerce Energy Group, Inc's Current 
Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.43 Promissory Note dated November 17, 2005 by and between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Richard L. 
Boughmm, previously filed with the Commission on November 23, 2005 as Exhibit 99.9 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.44 Voting and Standstill Agreement dated November 17, 2005, by and between Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc. and Richard L. Boughmm, previously filed with the Commission on November 23, 2005 as 
Exhibit 99.10 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and mcorporated 
herein by reference. 

10.45 Amendment No. 1 to Executive Employment Agreement dated November 17, 2005, by and among 
Coinmerce Energy Group, Inc., Commerce Energy, Inc. and Richard L. Boughmm, previously filed with 
the Commission on November 23, 2005 as Exhibit 99.11 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current 
Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.46 Amendment No. 1 to Agreement Not to Engage m Prohibited Activities dated November 17, 2005 by and 
among Commerce Energy Group, Inc., Commerce Energy, Inc. and Richard L. Boughmm, previously filed 
with the Commission on November 23, 2005 as Exhibit 99.12 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current 
Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.47 Settiement Agreement and General Release dated November 17, 2005, by and among Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc., Commerce Energy, Inc and Eric Alam, previously filed with the Commission on 
November 23, 2005 as Exhibit 99.13 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K 
and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.48 Settlement Agreement and General Release dated December 23, 2004 by and among Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc., Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Ian Carter, Robert Perkins, Brad Gates, Joseph P. Saline, 
Patricia E. Saline and Joseph Ogundiji, previously filed with the Commission on December 27, 2004 as 
Exhibit 10.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by 
reference. 

10.49 Employment Agreement dated December 1, 2005 between Lawrence Clayton, Jr and Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc., previously filed with the Commission on December 6, 2005 as Exhibit 99.1 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc's Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.50 Stock Option Agreement dated December 1, 2005 between Lawrence Clayton, Jr and Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc., previously filed with the Commission on December 6, 2005 as Exhibit 99.2 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference, 

10.51 Restricted Stock Agreement dated December 1, 2005 between Lawrence Clayton, Jr and Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the Commission on December 6, 2005 as Exhibit 99.3 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference, 

10.52 Indemnification Agreement dated December 1, 2(X)5 between Lawrence Clayton, Jr and Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc, previously filed with the Commission on December 6, 2005 as Exhibit 99.4 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.53 Settiement Agreement and General Release by and among Andrew V. Coppola, Commerce Energy, Inc. 
and Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the Commission on April 18,2006 as Exhibit 99.1 
to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herem by reference. 
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10.54 Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy, previously filed with the 
Commission on December 8, 2004 as Exhibit 10.2 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on 
Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.55 Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy, 
effective January 27, 2006, previously filed with the Commission on Febmary 1, 2006 as Exhibit 99.3 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.56 Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy, 
effective March 10, 2006, previously filed with the Commission on March 16, 2006 as Exhibit 99.1 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ending January 31, 2006 
and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.57 Commerce Energy Group, Inc Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy, 
effective May 12, 2006, previously filed with the Commission on May 18, 2006 as Exhibit 99.1 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.58 Form of Subscription Agreement for the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Amended and Restated 2005 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, previously filed with the Commission on April 20, 2006 as Exhibit 4.7 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-133442) and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

10.59 Form of Notice of Withdrawal for the Commerce Energy Group, Inc Amended and Restated 2005 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, previously filed with the Commission on April 20, 2006 as Exhibit 4.8 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-133442) and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

10.60 Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed with the Commission on 
Febmary 1, 2006 as Exhibit 99.2 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

10.61 Form of a Stock Option Award Agreement for U.S. Employees pursuant to the Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed with the Commission on April 20,2006 as Exhibit 4.10 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-133442) and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

10.62 Form of a Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors pursuant to the Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed with the Commission on April 20, 2006 as 
Exhibit 4.11 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-133442) 
and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.63 Form of a Restricted Share Award Agreement for U.S. Employees pursuant to the Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed with the Commission on April 20, 2006 as 
Exhibit 4.12 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-133442) 
and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.64 Form of a Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement pursuant to tiie Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 2006 
Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed with the Commission on April 20, 2006 as Exhibit 4.14 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-133442) and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

10.65 Form of a SAR Award Agreement pursuant to the Commerce Energy Group, Inc 2006 Stock Incentive 
Plan, previously filed with the Commission on April 20, 2006 as Exhibit 4.15 to Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-133442) and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.66 Form of Performance Unit and Performance Stock Award pursuant to the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 
2006 Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed with the Commission on April 20, 2006 as Exhibit 4.16 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-133442) and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

10.67 Form of Deferral Election Agreement for Deferred Share Units to the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 
pursuant to the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed with the 
Commission on April 20, 2006 as Exhibit 4.17 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement 
on Form S-S (File No. 333-133442) and incorporated herein by reference. 
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Amended and Restated Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement (for Non-Employee 
Directors) pursuant to the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed with 
the Commission on May 18, 2006 as Exhibit 99.2 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on 
Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.69 Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement (for Non-Employee Directors) pursuant to the Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed with the Commission on April 20,2006 as 
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May 18, 2006 as Exhibit 99.4 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and 
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Other Material Contracts 
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Peter Weigand, Greg Lander, Eric Alam and Bmno Kvetinskas, previously filed with the Commission on 
April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 2.4 to Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc's Registration 
Statement on Form S-4 and incorporated herein by reference. 
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Form S-4 and incorporated herein by reference. 
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Amendment to tiie Limited Liabihty Company Agreement of Summit Energy Ventures, LLC, dated 
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herein by reference. 

10.75 Second Amendment to the Limited Liabihty Company Agreement of Summit Energy Ventures, LLC, 
previously filed witii the Commission on April 3, 2002 as Exhibit 10.19 to Amendment No. 2 to 
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by reference. 

10.76 Consent to Sublease and Sublease Agreement dated May 28, 2004 between E*Trade Consumer Finance 
Corporation and Commonwealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on 
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and incorporated herein by reference. 
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Summit Energy Ventures, LLC, Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Steven Strasser and Northwest 
Power Management, Inc., previously filed with the Commission on June 14, 2004 as Exhibit 10.5 to 
Commonwealth Energy Corporation's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended 
April 30, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.78 Confirmation of Transaction between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and DTE Energy Trading, Inc. 
dated July 25, 2002, previously filed with the Commission on March 17, 2004 as Exhibit 10.23 to 
Amendment No. 1 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation's Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2002 
and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.79 Exelon Generation Company, LLC Confirmation Agreement dated July 22,2003, previously filed with die 
Commission on March 17, 2004, as Exhibit 10.20 to Amendment No. 1 to Commonwealth Energy 
Corporation's Form lO-K/A for the year ended July 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference. 
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Commission on March 17, 2004 as Exhibit 10.21 to Amendment No. 1 to Commonwealth Energy 
Corporation's Form 10-K/A for the year ended July 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference. 
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10.84 Revised Operating Agreement dated October 27, 2004 between DTE Energy Trading, Inc. and 
Commonwealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on November 15, 2004 as 
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reference. 
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Group, Inc., as Guarantor, and Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation (Western), as Agent, and the 
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Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.86 Guaranty dated June 8,2006 by Commerce Energy Group, Inc., as Guarantor, to Wachovia Capital Finance 
Corporation (Western), as Agent, previously filed with the Commission on June 12,2006 as Exhibit 99.2 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference, 

10.87 First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement and Waiver dated September 20, 2006 among 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc., Commerce Energy, Inc., Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation 
(Western) and The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc., previously filed with the Commission on 
September 26, 2006 as Exhibit 99.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K 
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10.88 Asset Purchase Agreement dated September 20,2006 between Houston Energy Services Company, L.L.C. 
and Commerce Energy, Inc, previously filed with the Commission on September 26, 2006 as Exhibit 2.1 
to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.89 Transition Services Agreement dated September 20, 2006 among Commerce Energy, Inc and Houston 
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10.91 Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement and Waiver dated October 26, 2006 among 
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23.2 Consent of Emst & Young, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm. 

31.1 Principal Executive Officer Certffication required by Rule 13a- 14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934. 

31.2 Principal Financial Officer Certification required by Rule I3a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has 
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

By: /s/ STEVENS. BOSS 

Steven S. Boss 
Chief Executive Officer 

Date: December 12, 2006 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the 
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Title Signature 

/s/ STEVEN S. BOSS 

Steven S. Boss 

/s/ LAWRENCE CLAYTON, JR. 
Lawrence Clayton, Jr 

/s/ KENNETH L. ROBINSON 

Kenneth L. Robinson 

/s/ CHARLES E, BAYLESS 
Charles E. Bayless 

/s/ DENNIS R. LEIBEL 
Dennis R. Leibel 

/s/ GARY J. HESSENAUER 

Gary J. Hessenauer 

/s/ MARK S. JUERGENSEN 
Mark S. Juergensen 

/s/ ROBERT C. PERKINS 

Robert C. Perkins 

Chief Executive Officer and a Director 
(Principal Executive Officer) 

Chief Financial Officer (Principal 
Financial Officer) 

Corporate Controller (Principal 
Accounting Officer) 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Date 

December 12, 2006 

December 12, 2006 

December 12, 2006 

December 12, 2006 

December 12, 2006 

December 12, 2006 

December 12, 2006 

Chairman of the Board and a Director December 12, 2006 
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REPORT OF 
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Commerce Energy Group, Inc.: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. as of July 31, 
2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for the year ended 
July 31, 2006. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the 
Company's intemal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of intemal control over 
financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of Commerce Energy Group, Inc as of July 31, 2006, and the consolidated 
results of their operations and their cash flows for the year ended July 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles. 

/s/ HEIN & ASSOCIATES LLP 

Irvine, Califomia 
October 27, 2006 
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP 
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Commerce Energy Group, Inc.: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. (formerly 
Commonwealth Energy Corporation) as of July 31, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, 
stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended July 31, 2005. These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opiiuon on these 
financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards reqube that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the 
Company's mtemal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of intemal control over 
financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's intemal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We beUeve that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opiiuon. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in aU material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. at July 31, 2005, and the consolidated results 
of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended July 31, 2005, m conformity with 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP 

Orange County, Califorrua 
October 25, 2005 

F-2 



COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

Fiscal Years Ended July 31, 
2006 2005 2004 

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 

Net revenue $247,080 $253,853 $210,623 

Direct energy costs 218,289 225,671 191,180 

Gross profit 28,791 28,182 19,443 

SeUing and marketing expenses 5,231 4,081 4,063 

General and administrative expenses 26,939 31,504 25,857 

Reorganization and initial public Usting expenses ^ ^ 3,393 

Loss from operations (3,379) (7,403) (13,870) 

Other income and expenses: 

Initial formation litigation expenses — (1,601) (1,562) 

Recovery of (provision for) impairment on investments — 2,000 (7,135) 

Loss on termination of Summit — — (1,904) 

Minority interest share of loss — — 1,185 

Interest income, net 1,140 890 549 

Total other income and expenses 1,140 1,289 (8,867) 

Loss before benefit from income taxes (2,239) (6,114) (22,737) 

Benefit from income taxes ^ ^ (1,017) 

Net loss $ (2,239) $ (6,114) $(21,720) 

Loss per common share: 

Basic and diluted $ (0,07) $ (0.20) $ (0.77) 

Shares used in computing loss per common share: 

Basic and diluted 30,419 30,946 28,338 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC, 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

July 31, 
2006 2005 

(In thousands, except per 
share amounts) 

ASSETS 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents $22,941 $ 33,344 
Accounts receivable, net 30,650 27,843 
Inventory 4,578 4,561 

Prepaid expenses and other current 6,827 3,542 

Total current assets 64,996 69,290 

Restricted cash 17,117 8,222 

Deposits 2,506 11,347 

Property and equipment, net 5,866 2,(X)7 

Goodwill 4,801 6,801 

Other intangible assets 3,790 4,965 

Total assets $99,076 $102,632 

LIABILrriES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Current liabiUties: 

Accounts payable $26,876 $ 25,625 

Accmed liabihties 5,867 6,946 

Total current liabilities 32,743 32,571 

Commitments and contingencies — — 

Stockholders' equity: 

Common stock— 150,000 shares authorized with $0,001 par value and 29,632 and 
31,436 shares issued and outstanding in fiscal 2006 and 2005, respectively 58,849 62,609 

Other comprehensive income 2,271 — 
Retained earnings 5,213 7,452 

Total stockholders' equity 66,333 70,061 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $99.076 $102,632 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consoUdated financial statements. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 

Commonwealth Energy Corporation 
Series A and 

Other 
Commonwealth Convertible Commerce Other 
Common Stock Preferred Stock Common Stock Retained Comprehensive 

Shares Amount Sliarw Amount Shares Amount Earnings Income Tbtal 
(In thousands) 

Balance at July 31,2003 27,645 $ 56,853 961 $ 855 — $ — $ 35,309 $ — $ 93,017 
Exercise of stock options 102 27 — — — — — — 27 
Issuance of stock in connection 

with Skipping Stone 
acquisition 1,614 3,100 _ _ _ _ _ _ 3,100 

Issuance of stock 219 344 40 10 — — — — 354 
Compensation charge related to 

settlement of disputes — 636 — — — — — — 636 
Repurchase of dissenter's rights 

stock (604) (1,159) _ _ _ _ _ _ (1,159) 
Issuance of restricted stock 150 288 — — — (288) — — — 
Amortization of unearned 

restricted stock — — — — — 32 — — 32 
Cumulative unpaid dividends on 

convertible preferred stock . . . — — — 23 — — (23) — — 
Payment of dividenck on 

preferred stock — — _ (181) _ _ _ _ (igl) 
Conversion of preferred stock 

into common stock 1,393 707 (1,001) (707) _ _ _ _ _ 
Conversion of Commonwealth 

Energy Corporation common 
stock into Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc. common stock . . . (30,519) (60,796) — — 30,519 60,796 _ _ _ 

Net loss — — — — — — (21.720) — (21,720) 
Balance at July 31,2004 — _ _ _ 30,519 60,540 13,566 — 74,106 
Exercise of stock options — — — — 102 54 — — 54 
Repurchase of common shares . . — — — — (120) (251) — — (251) 
Issuance of stock — — — — 5 10 — — 10 
Amortization of unearned 

restricted stock — — — — — 256 — — 256 
Issuance of stock in connection 

with ACN acquisition — — — — 930 2,000 — — 2,000 
Net loss — — — — — — (6,114) — (6,114) 
Balance at July 31,2005 — — _ _ 31,436 62,609 7,452 _ 70,061 
Exercise of stock options — — — — 221 11 — — 11 
Repurchase of common shares . . — _ _ _ (1,469) (2,204) — — (2,204) 
Issuance of stock — — — — 10 — — — — 
Repurchase of dissenter's rights 

stock — — _ _ (55) (106) — — (106) 
Issuance of restricted stock — — — — 435 — — — — 
Cancellation of restricted stock . . — — — — (16) — — — — 
Amortization of Unearned share 

based compensation — — — — — 386 — — 386 
Amortization of Unearned 

restricted stock — — — — — 153 — — 153 
Cancellation of stock in 

connection with ACN 
acquisition — — — — (930) (2,000) — — (2,000) 

Comprehensive income — — — — — — (2,239) 2,271 32 
Balance at July 31, 2006 — $ — — $ — 29,632 $58,849 $ 5,213 $2,271 $ 66,333 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
Fiscal Years Ended July 31, 

2006 2005 2004 
(In UMî mds) 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities 
Net loss $ (2,239) $ (6,114) $(21,720) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) 

operating activities: 
Depreciation 856 1,216 1,5!31 
Amortization 1,140 888 419 
Provision for doubtful accounts 2,813 2,305 2,217 
Stock-based compensation charge 539 256 668 
Deferred income tax provision — 74 2,698 
Impaument of Summit Energy investments — 5 9,569 
Termination of Summit Energy — — 1,904 
Minority interest share of loss of consolidated entity — — 140 
Loss on disposition of property and equipment — 165 — 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

Accounts receivable, net (5,620) 1,096 4,985 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 8,402 695 (5,681) 
Accounts payable 1,251 (4,952) 4,659 
Accrued liabilities and otiier (1,079) 805 (1,076) 

Net cash provided by (used m) operating activities 6,063 (3,561) 313 
Casli Flows From Investing Activities 
Purchase of property and equipment (4,714) (1,025) (1,079) 
Reimbursement from stale on renewable energy asset — 250 — 
Purchase of intangible assets (28) — — 
Business acquisition, net of cash required — (14,525) (43) 
(Purchase) and sale of short-term investments ^ 43,312 (10,033) 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (4,742) 28,012 (11,155) 
Cash Flows From Financing Activities 
Repurchase of common stock (2,310) (251) (1,159) 
Sale of common stock — 10 288 
Credit line commitment fee (530) — — 
Dividends paid on convertible preferred stock — — (181) 
Reflection of other convertible preferred stock — — 10 
Proceeds from exercises of stock options 11 54 27 
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash (8,895) (1,673) 14,968 

Net cash provided by (used m) financing activities (11,724) (1,860) 13,953 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (10,403) 22,591 3,111 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 33,344 10,753 7,642 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 22,941 $ 33,344 $ 10,753 

Cash paid for: 
Interest $ — $ — $ 4 
Income taxes $ — $ — $ 3,404 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(In thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts) 

1. Nature of Business 

Commerce Energy Group, Inc. ("Coinmerce Energy" or "Commerce") is a diversified independent energy 
marketer of electricity and natural gas. Commerce Energy provides retail electricity and natiu^ gas to its 
residential, commercial, mdustrial and institutional customers, and provides consulting and technology services 
to energy-related organizations. Commerce Energy is a holding company that operates through its wholly-owned 
operating subsidiaries: Commerce Energy Inc. (formerly Commonwealth Energy Corporation) and Skipping Stone 
Inc. ("Skipping Stone"). As used in this Report, the term the "Company" refers to Commerce Energy Group and its 
wholly-owned subsidiaries. 

Commerce Energy provides electricity to its customers in the variously deregulated Califomia, Pennsylvania, 
Michigan, New Jersey, Maryland and Texas electricity markets. Commerce is licensed by the Federal Energy 
Regulatory Commission, ("FERC") as a power marketer. In addition to the states in which the company currentiy 
operates, the Company is also licensed to supply retail electricity by applicable state agencies in New York, Ohio 
and Virginia. The Company also provides natural gas to customers in Califomia, Georgia, Maryland, New York, 
Ohio, and Pennsylvania. Skipping Stone provides energy-related consulting services and technologies to utilities, 
generators, pipelines, wholesale merchants and investment banks. 

Commerce Energy Group's predecessor, Commonwealth Energy Corporation ("Conunonwealth"), was 
formed in Califomia in August 1997. On July 6, 2004, Commonwealth reorganized into a holding company 
stmcture, whereby Commonwealth became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Commerce Energy and the stockholders 
of Commonwealth became stockholders of Commerce. As a result of the reorganization, each share of Common­
wealth common stock was exchanged for one share of Commerce common stock, and Commonwealth stock options 
became Commerce stock options. Immediately prior to consummation of the reorganization. Commonwealth 
transferred ownership of its subsidiaries to Commerce Energy. As a result of the transfer, these entities became 
subsidiaries of Commerce Energy. After the reorganization, on July 8, 2004, the Company's conunon stock began 
trading on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol EGR. 

2. Summary of Significant Accoimting Policies 

Basis of Consolidation 

The Company's consolidated financial statements include its two wholly-owned operating subsidiaries: 
Commerce Energy, Inc. and Skipping Stone Inc. All material inter-company balances and transactions have been 
eliminated in consolidation. 

In fiscal 2004, the Company's consolidated financial statements included the accounts of its controlled 
investment in Summit Energy Ventures, LLC ("Summit"), and its majority ownership in Power Efficiency 
Corporation ("PEC"). In April 2004, the Company terminated its relationship with Summit (with all assets 
distributed to its members), and its investment m PEC decreased to 39.9% and subsequentiy, to 14% and 15% at 
July 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Subsequentiy neither entity was consolidated (see Note II). 

Use of Estimates and Assumptions 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts and timing of revenue and expenses, the reported amounts and classification of assets 
and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates and assumptions are based on 
the Company's historical experience as well as management's future expectations. As a residt, actual resuUs could 
materially differ from management's estimates and assumptions. The Company's management believes that its 
most critical estimates herein relate to independent system operator costs, transportation and delivery costs, 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

allowance for doubtful accounts, unbilled receivables, inventory valuation, customer acquisition costs, accounting 
for derivative instmments and hedging activities, and loss contingencies. 

Reclassifications 

The Company has reclassified certain prior fiscal year amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements to be consistent with the current fiscal years presentation. The reclassifications included $43,300 and 
$33,200 in insured liquid debt instmments with interest reset dates of less than three months from cash and cash 
equivalents to short term investments for the years ended July 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, with a resulting 
impact on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the two years ended July 31, 2004 and 
2005. These investments were reclassified due to their nominally long term maturities of typically 20 to 30 years. 
They have been reflected as current investments, however, due to their highly liquid nature, their reset feature that 
tracks current market interest rates, and very low default rates. These securities were quickly and easily liquidated at 
carrying value with no gain or loss in principal in the third fiscal quarter of fiscal 2005, and the proceeds reinvested 
in highly rated commercial paper and diversified, short term money market fiinds. Subsequently, the Company has 
not held any such investments. 

Non-cash items 

In fiscal 2004, the Company recorded a non-cash provision for impairment of $7,135 and a non-cash loss on 
termination of Summit of $257. In tiie third quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company acquued Skipping Stone, Inc. for 
$3,100 of the Company's common stock. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company issued 65 shares of 
common stock and 40 shares of convertible preferred stock in a non-cash settlement, and, in connection with the 
reorganization, all outstanding Commonwealth Energy Corporation Series A convertible preferred stock, other 
convertible preferred slock and common stock was converted one-to-one into the Company's common stock in a 
non-cash transaction. 

In fiscal 2005, the Company issued $2,000 of its common stock (930 shares) in connection with the acquisition 
of certain assets from ACN Utility Services, Inc. This stock transaction was reversed in fiscal 2006 (see Note 3). 
Also in fiscal 2005, the Company retired $4,562 of property and equipment and the related $4,398 of accumulated 
depreciation with a net book value of $165. 

Revenue and Cost Recognition 

Energy sales are recognized when the electricity and natural gas are delivered to the Company's customers. 

Direct energy costs, which are recognized concurrently with related energy sales, include the commodity cost 
of purchased electricity and natural gas, transportation and transmission costs associated with energy delivery, fees 
incurred from various energy-related service providers and energy-related taxes that cannot be passed directiy 
through to the customer. Fees and charges from the Independent System Operators ("ISOs") and the Local 
Distribution Companies ("LDCs") are determined by the ISO or LDC based upon each day's system-wide activities. 
The Company estimates and accmes for these fees based on activity levels, preliminary settiements and other 
available information. Final determination and settlement of these charges may take from one to three months and 
they are adjusted when they become available. The Company's customers* billings may also include charges for the 
transmission and distribution of the commodity for which the utility is ultimately responsible and separately 
itemized taxes for which the customer is responsible. These amounts are excluded fi-om the Company's net revenue. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FEVANCUL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

The Company's net revenue is comprised of the following: 

Fiscal Years Ended July 31, 

2006 2005 2004 

Retail electricity sales $177,752 $188,316 $205,028 

Excess energy sales 7,627 40,061 5,595 

Total electricity sales 185,379 228,377 210,623 

Retail natural gas sales 61,701 25,476 ; ^ 

Net revenue $247,080 $253,853 $210,623 

Skipping Stone revenues, after inter-company eliminations, for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2006, 2005 and 
2(X)4 were $1,462, $1,927 and $803, respectively, representing less than 1% of total net revenue for each fiscal 
period. 

Sales commission expense payable based on customer billmgs is recogiuzed in the same period as revenue 
generated by such billings. Commission expense is recorded in selling and marketing expenses. 

Direct customer acquisition costs paid to third parties and directiy related to specific new customers are 
deferred and amortized over the life of the initial customer contract, typically one year. 

Major Customer and SuppUers 

No individual customer accounted for ten percent or more of the Company's consolidated net revenue in fiscal 
2006, 2005 or 2004. 

The Company utitizes a diversified selection of energy suppliers. In fiscal 2(X)6, two suppliers each accounted 
for 11% of direct energy cost. 

Operating Expenses 

SelUng and marketing expenses consist principally of costs incurred for sales and marketing personnel, 
commissions and customer acquisition costs paid to third parties and promotional and advertising activities. 
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and were $479, $26 and $326 for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, 
respectively. 

General and administrative expenses consist principally of costs incurred for all other corporate personnel, 
rent, utilities, telecommunications, insurance, legal fees, and other corporate costs including provisions made for 
uncollectible accounts receivable, the depreciation and amortization of both tangible and intangible assets, and 
stock-based compensation (see below for details regarding stock-based compensation charges). 

In fiscal 2004, the Company decided to classify certain expenses related to the reorganization of the Company 
into a Delaware holding company stmcture and initial public listing of Commerce's common stock on the American 
Stock Exchange ("reorganization and initial public listing expenses") in a separately identified category within the 
selling, general and administrative expense category. The Company has also classified certain non-operating 
litigation expenses related to capital-raising initiatives during the initial formation of the Company ("initial 
formation expenses") in a separately identified category within other income and expenses. 

Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share 

Loss per common share — Basic has been computed by dividing net loss available to common stockholders, 
after any preferred stock dividends, by the weighted average niunber of common shares outstanding during the 
fiscal year. Loss per common share — Diluted has been computed by giving additional effect in the denominator to 
the dilution that would have occurred under the treasiuy stock and if-converted methods, as applicable, had 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FEVANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

outstanding stock options, stock purchase warrants and convertible debt been exercised or converted into additional 
common shares. For the fiscal years ended 2006, 2005 and 2004, assumed exercises or conversions have been 
excluded in computing the diluted loss per share since there were net losses for the fiscal years and their inclusion 
would be anti-dilutive. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

Effective in the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payments ("SFAS 123R") which revises SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS 123R 
requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options and restricted stock, be 
measured at fair value and expensed in the consolidated statement of operations over the service period (generally 
the vesting period). The Company uses the Black-Scholes option valuation model to value stock options. As a result 
of the adoption of SFAS 123R, using the modified prospective application, the Company is required to record 
compensation expense for all awards granted after the date of adoption and for the unvested portion of previously 
granted awards that remain outstanding at the date of adoption. The Company recognized a pre-tax (tax effect 
minimal) charge associated with the expensing of stock options vested for the fiscal year ending July 31, 2006 of 
$386, which is included in general and administrative expenses. As of July 31, 2006, there was $281 of total 
unrecognized compensation cost related to the non-vested outstanding stock options, which is expected to be 
recognized over the period August 1, 2006 through December 1, 2008. 

Pro forma information regarding earnings (loss) per share is requued by SFAS No. 123 and has been 
determined as if the Company had accounted for its employee stock options under the fair value method of 
SFAS No. 123 for fiscal year 2005 and 2004. 

The Company did not have an active market for its common stock until July 8, 2004, on which date the 
Company's common stock was listed on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol "EGR." As a result, the 
value of the Company's stock-based awards granted to employees and outside directors in fiscal 2004 was estimated 
using the minimum value method, which does not consider stock price volatility. Stock-based awards granted in 
fiscal 2006 and 2005 have been valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Among other things, the 
Black-Scholes model considers the expected volatility of the Company's stock price, determined in accordance with 
SFAS No, 123, in arriving at an option valuation. Estimates and other assumptions necessaiy to apply the Black-
Scholes model may differ significantiy from assumptions used in calculating the value of options granted under the 
minimum value method. The estimated fair value for stock options granted during fiscal 2006,2005 and 2004 was 
an average of $1.65, $2.43 and $1.92, respectively. 

The fair value of options granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model 
based on the weighted-average assumptions in the table below. The assumption for the expected life is based on 
evaluations of historical and expected future exercise behavior. The risk-fiee interest rate is based on the US 
Treasury rates at the date of the grant with maturity dates approximately equal to the expected life at the grant date. 
The historical stock volatility of the Company's common stock is used as the basis for the volatility assumption. 

Fiscal Years Ended July 31, 
2006 2005 2004 

Weighted-average risk-free interest rate 4.9% 5.0% 4.9% 
Average expected life in years 4.9 6.0 6.0 
Expected dividends None None None 

Volatility 77.2% 82.5% — 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

If the fair values of the options granted during fiscal years 2005 and 2004 had been recognized as compensation 
expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the grant, stock-based compensation costs would have 
impacted our net loss and loss per common share as follows: 

Fiscal Years Ended 
July 31, 

20Q5 2004 

Net loss as reported $(6,114) $(21,720) 

Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in net loss, net of 
related tax effects 256 636 

Deduct: Total stock-based compensation expense determined under fau value 
based method for all awards, net of related tax effects (2,977) (1,222) 

Pro forma net loss $(8,835) $(22,306) 

Loss per share: 

Basic and diluted — as reported $ (0.20) $ (0.77) 

Basic and diluted — p r o forma $ (0.29) $ (0.79) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash equivalents consist primarily of investments in highly rated liquid debt instmments with maturities of 
three months or less. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with highly rated financial institutions, 
thereby minimizing any associated credit risks. 

Accounts Receivable 

The Company's accounts receivable consist of billed and unbilled receivables ft-om customers. The Company's 
customers are billed monthly at various dates throughout the month. Unbilled receivables represent the amount of 
electricity and natural gas delivered to customers as of the end of the period, but not yet billed. Unbilled receivables 
are estimated by the Company based on the number of units of electricity and natural gas delivered but not yet 
billed, muUiplied by the current customer average sales price per unit. 

Credit Risk and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtfiil accounts, which represents management's best estimate of 
probable losses inherent in the accounts receivable balance. Management determines the allowance based on known 
troubled accounts, historical experience, account aging and otiier currentiy available evidence (see Note 9). 

The Company's exposure to credit risk concentration is limited primarily to those local utilities that collect and 
remit receivables, on a daily basis, from the Company's individually insignificant and geographically dispersed 
customers within the states of Califomia, Pennsylvania, Michigan, Maryland and New Jersey. The Company 
regularly monitors the financial condition of each such local utility and currently believes that its susceptibility to 
any individuiilly significant write-offs as a result of concentrations of customer accounts receivable with those local 
utilities is remote. 

Inventory 

Inventory represents natural gas in storage and is stated at the lower of weighted average cost or market. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMEIVTS — (Continued) 

Deferred Income Taxes 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future income tax benefits or 
consequences, based on enacted laws, of temporary timing differences between tax and financial statement 
reporting. During fiscal year 2004, 2005 and 2006, the Company estabUshed valuation allowances to reserve its net 
deferred tax assets, less possible tax refunds, because management believes it is not certain that the Company will 
realize the tax benefits in the foreseeable future. 

Restricted Cash and Energy Deposits 

Cash and cash equivalents which the Company currently cannot access, as they are pledged as collateral for 
energy purchase obligations or to secure letters of credit for a variety of purposes, are reported as restricted. The 
Company also has energy deposits pledged as collateral for these purchase obligations. They are classified as 
current or long-term depending on the duration and nature of the deposit requirement. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Maintenance and repairs which do not extend the useful life of the 
related property or equipment are charged to operations as incurred. Depreciation of property and equipment has 
been computed using the straight-line method over estimated economic useful Uves of three to five years. 

Certain software development and implementation costs to install third party software on significant projects 
for intemal use, consisting of direct intemal labor costs and third-party system application development costs, are 
capitalized. These capitalized costs, once the application is placed in service, are amortized using the straight-line 
method over estimated economic lives of three to five years. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition cost over the net assets acquired. Skipping Stone was 
acquired in fiscal 2004 and resulted in $587 of goodwill. The acquisition in fiscal 2005 of certain assets of ACN 
Utilities, Inc. (''ACN") (see Note 3), resulted in the recording of $4,214 in goodwill, net of $2,000 in Commerce 
stock that was not eamed. 

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets", goodwill is no longer amortized 
but is subject to periodic impairment testing. For the goodwill related to the Skipping Stone and ACN acquisitions, 
the Company retained independent outside valuation specialists to value the initial intangible assets associated with 
the acquisitions. The resulting goodwill was reevaluated at the acquisition anniversary's year end and it was 
determined that no impairments have occurred. Goodwill related to PEC in fiscal 2004 was assessed for impairment 
on a quarterly basis, with the resulting reductions charged to expense. 

Other Intangible Assets 

Direct costs incurred in acquiring intangible assets have been capitalized. Intangible assets represent the 
Company's 1-800-Electric telephone number, rights to intemet domain names, a covenant not to compete and 
certain assets acquired as part of the Skipping Stone and ACN acqitisilions, including customer list, software and 
other intangibles. Each intangible asset is being or has been amortized over the shorter of its contractual or 
estunated economic useful life, which collectively range from two years to indefinite lives, in the case of operating 
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licenses. Aggregate amortization expense for these intangible assets was $1,112, $888 and $376 for fiscal 2006, 
2005 and 2004, respectively. Otiier intangible assets are as follows: 

Fiscal Years Ended July 31, 2006 
Useful IJfe Gross Carrying Accumulated 

(Years) Amount Amortization Net 

Customer lists 3-15 $2,000 $ 607 $1,393 

Software 2-5 1,810 1,214 596 

Licenses Indefinite 923 — 923 

Otiier intangibles. 1-20 1,828 950 878 

$6,561 $2,771 $3,790 

Customer lists 

Software 

Licenses Indefinite 

Other intangibles 

FiscalYears Ended July 31, 2005 

$6,624 $1,659 

Usefiil Life 
(Years) 

3-15 

2-5 

Indefinite 

1-20 

Gross Carrying 
Amount 

$2,000 

1,810 
900 

1,914 

Accumulated 
Amortization 

$ 244 

640 
— 

775 

Net 

$1,756 

1,170 

900 

1,139 

$4,965 

The future aggregate amortization expense for intangibles is as follows: 
Fiscal Year Ending July 31, 

2007 $ 754 

2008 501 

2009 280 

2010 204 

2011 and beyond 1,128 

$2,867 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

Management evaluates each of the Company's long-lived assets for impaument by comparing the related 
estimated future cash flows, on an undiscounted basis, to its net book value. If impairment is indicated, the net book 
value is reduced to an amount equal to the estimated future cash flows, on an appropriately discounted basis. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The Company's financial instmments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and 
accounts payable. The carrying amounts of these financial instmments are reflected in the accompanying 
consotidated balance sheets at cost considered by management to approximate tiieir fair values due to their very 
short-term nature. 

Segment Reporting 

The Company's chief operating decision makers work together to allocate resources and assess tiie perfor­
mance of the Company's business. These members of senior management currentiy manage the Company's 
business, assess its performance, and allocate its resources as the smgle operating segment of energy retaiUng. 
Although the Company acquired Skipping Stone in fiscal 2004, Skipping Stone revenue, net of inter-company 
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eliminations, accounted for less than 1% of total net revenue during fiscal 2006 and 2005, and geographic 
information is not material. 

Accounting for Derivatives Instruments and Hedging Activities 

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of market risks, principally from commodity prices. 
Management has established risk management poUcies and procedures designed to reduce the potentially adverse 
effects that the price volatitity of these markets may have on its operating results. The Company's risk management 
activities, including the use of derivative instmments such as forward physical delivery contracts and financial 
swaps, options and futures contracts, are subject to the management, direction and control of an intemal risk 
oversight committee. The Company maintains commodity price risk management strategies that use these 
derivative instmments, within approved risk tolerances, to minimize significant, unanticipated earnings fluctuations 
caused by commodity price volatility. 

Supplying electricity and natural gas to retail customers requires the Company to match customers' projected 
demand with long-term and short-term commodity purchases. The Company purchases substantially all of its power 
and natural gas utilizing forward physical delivery contracts. These physical delivery contracts are defined as 
commodity derivative contracts under SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instmments and Hedging 
Activities". Using the exemption available for qualifying contracts under SFAS No. 133, the Company applies the 
normal piurchase and normal sale accounting treatment to its forward physical delivery contracts. Accordingly, the 
Company records revenue generated Irom customer sales as energy is delivered to retail customers and the related 
energy under the forward physical delivery contracts is recorded as direct energy costs when received from 
suppliers. 

In January 2005, the Company sold two significant electricity forward physical detivery contracts (on a net 
cash settlement basis) back to the original supplier in connection with a strategic realignment of its customer 
portfolio in the Pennsylvania electricity market (PJM-ISO), which resulted in a gain of $7,200 in the second quarter 
of fiscal 2005, As a result of that sale, the normal purchase and normal sale exemption was not utilized for the 
Pennsylvania market (PJM-ISO) for the period of January, 2005 through August, 2006. 

For forward contracts that do not meet the qualifying criteria for normal purchase, normal sale accounting 
treatment, the Company elects cash flow hedge accounting, where appropriate. Under cash flow hedge accounting, 
the fair value of the contract is recorded as a current or long-term derivative asset or liability. Subsequent changes in 
the fair value of the derivative assets and liabiUties are recorded on a net basis in Other Comprehensive Income 
(Loss) and subsequentiy reclassified as direct energy cost in the statement of operations as the energy is deUvered, 

As of July 31, 2006, the fair market value of contracts designated as a cash flow hedge totaled $ 1,454 gain, of 
which $1,816 gain is included in "Energy and other prepaid expenses and current assets" and $362 loss is included 
in "Accmed LiabiUties" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Other Comprehensive Income of $2,271 includes the 
net gain noted above and a gain of $817 due to designated cash flow hedges. Cash flow hedge amounts reported in 
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) will be recognized in earnings as the related forecasted transactions are settied 
or become probable of not occurring. The Company expects all the gains currently recorded in OCI to be recognized 
in earnings during the next 12 months. There was no cash flow hedge ineffectiveness related to positions held at the 
end of die period. 

Certain financial derivative instmments (such as swaps, options and futures), designated as economic hedges 
or as speculative, do not qualify or meet the requirements for normal purchase, normal sale accounting treatment or 
cash flow hedge accounting and are recorded in operating income (loss) and as a current or long-term derivative 
asset or liability. The subsequent changes in the fair value of these contracts may result in operating income (loss) 
volatility as the fair value of the changes are recorded on a net basis in direct energy cost in the consolidated 
statement of operations for each fiscal period. As of July 31, 2006, the mark to market value of economic hedges, 
utilized primarily to hedge the Company's cost of natural gas, was a loss of $1,700, The mark-to-market loss 

F-14 



COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

includes the impact of open natural gas contracts which were entered into in December 2005 and accoimted for as 
mark-to-market as a result of ineffective hedging of underlying price exposure. The notional value of these 
derivatives was $(1,500). 

Recent Accounting Standards 

SFAS 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement of APB 20 and FASB Statement No. 3 
(SFAS 154\ applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principles and to changes required by an accounting 
pronouncement in instances where the pronouncement does not include specific transition provisions. APB 20 
previously required that most voluntary changes in accounting principle be recognized by including in net income 
of the period of the change the cumulative effect of changing to the new accounting principle, SFAS 154 requires 
retrospective application to prior periods' financial statements of changes in accounting principle, unless it is 
impracticable to do so. This statement is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2005. No such changes have been made by the Company in fiscal 2006. 

In Febmary 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 155, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 (SFAS 133), 
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, and No. 140 (SFAS 140), Accounting for Transfers 
and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities, SFAS 155 amends SFAS 133 to allow 
financial instmments that have embedded derivatives to be accounted for as a whole, if the holder elects to account 
for the whole instmment on a fair value basis, and provides additional guidance on the applicability of SFAS 133 
and SFAS 140 to certain financial instmments and subordinated concentrations of credit risk. SFAS 155 is effective 
for all hybrid financial instmments acquired or issued by the company on or after January 1,2007. The Company is 
currentiy evaluating the impact SFAS 155 will have on its consolidated financial statements, but does not expect that 
the impact will be material. 

In September 2(X)5, EITF Issue No. 04-13, Accounting for Purchases and Sales of Inventory with the Same 
Counterparty, was released. This consensus concludes that an entity is requbed to treat sales and purchases of 
inventory between the entity and the same counterparty as one transaction for purposes of applying APB Opinion 
No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions, as amended, when the transactions are entered into in 
contemplation of each other. In addition, non-monetary exchanges whereby an entity transfers finished goods 
inventory in exchange for receipt of raw materisils or work-in-process inventory within the same Une of business 
will be recognized at fair value if certain conditions pertaining to fair value determination are met. The consensuses 
will be applied to new arrangements entered into, or modifications or renewals of existing arrangements, in the first 
interim or annual reporting period beginning after March 15, 2006. 

3. Acquisition 

On Febmary 9,2005, the Company acquired certain assets of ACN Utility Services, Inc. ("ACN"), a subsidiary 
of American Communications Network, Inc. (the "Parent"), and its retail electricity and natural gas sales business. 
ACN sold retail electricity in Texas and Pennsylvania and sold retail natural gas m Califomia, Georgia, Maryland, 
New York, Ohio and Permsylvania. The aggregate purchase price was $14,500 in cash and 930 shares of the 
Company's conunon stock, valued at $2,0(X). In addition, as part of tiie initial purchase price, the Company was 
required to fund $2,542 of collateralized letters of credit on the closing date to guarantee our performance to various 
third parties. The common stock payment was contingent upon meeting certain sales requirements during the year 
following the acquisition date. These sales requirements were not met and the shares were cancelled in April 2006. 
As a result, both goodwill and common stock were reduced by $2,000. 

The assets acquired included approximately 80 natural gas and electricity residential and small commercial 
customers, natural gas inventory associated with utility and pipeUne storage and transportation agreements and 
natural gas and electricity supply, scheduling and capacity contracts, software and other infrastmcture. No cash or 
accounts receivables were acquired in the transaction, and none of ACN's liabiUties were assumed. The assets 
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purchased and the operating results generated from the acquisition have been mcluded in the Company's operations 
as of Febmary 1, 2005, the effective date of the acquisition. 

Immediately following the acquisition, the Company engaged the services of a professional appraiser to assist 
in determining the value of separately identifiable intangible assets acquh-ed in connection with the acquisition of 
ACN. The following table presents the results of the valuation: 

Category of intangible assets: 

Intangible assets subject to amortization; 

Customer list $ 860 

Software 750 

Total $1,610 

Intangible asset not subject to amortization: 

Licenses $ 900 

The intangible assets are included in "Other intangible assets" in the accompanying consoUdated balance sheet 
at July 31, 2006 and are being amortized over lives that range from three years to five years (for intangibles subject 
to amortization) and indefinite for licenses. 

The amount of goodwill created as a result of this transaction is summarized as follows: 

Purchase price $16,525 

Amount assigned to the net assets acquired 8,209 

Amount assigned to intangible assets 2,510 

Goodwill created (excluding $408 of acquisition costs) $ 5,806 

Goodwill was reduced by $2,000 subsequent to the acquisition as discussed above. 

4. Credit FacUity 

On June 8, 2006, Commerce Energy, as borrower, and the Company, as guarantor, entered into a Loan and 
Security Agreement, or the credit facility, with Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation (Western), as agent, for the 
lenders, or the Lenders, for up to $50 million. The credit facility provides for issuance of letters of credit and for 
revolving credit loans which we may use for working capital and general corporate purposes. The obligations 
incurred under the credit facility are secured by substantially all of our assets. The availability of letters of credit and 
loans under the credit facility is limited by a calculated boaowing base consisting of the majority of our cash, 
receivables and natural gas inventories. The credit facility is for a period of three years, and may be continued on a 
year-to-year basis thereafter. As of July 31, 2006, the Lenders have issued $17,6(X) in letters of credit in our favor, 
and there are no borrowings under the credit facility. Generally, outstanding borrowings under the credit facility are 
priced at a domestic bank rate plus 0.25% or, at our option, LIBOR plus 2.75%. We are also charged letter of credit 
fees based upon usage. The letter of credit fee is 1.75% per annum if excess availability, as defined in the credit 
facility, is less than $25,000, and 1.50% if greater. We also pay an unused Une fee equal to 0.375% of unutilized 
credit line. If the monthly average excess availability is less than $15,000, the credit facility requires that we 
maintain a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, as defined in the credit facility, of not less than 1.1 to 1. 

The credit facility contains covenants, subject to specific exceptions, restricting Commerce Energy, the 
Company and their subsidiaries to: (a) incur additional indebtedness; (b) grant certain liens; (c) dispose of certain 
assets; (d) make certain restricted payments; (e) enter into certain other agreements; and (f) make certain 
investments. The credit facility also restricts the Company's ability to pay cash dividends on its common stock 
and restricts Commerce Energy from making a cash dividend to us without the lenders' consent. We must also 
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maintain a minimum of $10,000 of cash collateral at all times and, with the exception of certain acquisitions, we 
may not make annual capital expenditures in excess of $3,500 without the consent of the Lenders. 

On September 20, 2006, the Company and the Lenders entered into a First Amendment to tiie Loan and 
Security Agreement and Waiver, (the "Amendment"), through which the Lenders waived prior or existing instances 
of non-compliance by the Company with covenants contained in the credit facility relating to maintenance of the 
fixed charge coverage ratio, maintenance of cash collateral, capital expenditures for the fiscal year ended July 31, 
2006 and the notification to the Lenders of the grant of certain liens to a natural gas supplier. Through the 
Amendment, the Lenders also agreed to certain prospective waivers of covenants m the credit facility to enable 
Commerce Energy to consiunmate the HESCO acquisition in compliance with the credit facility, including the 
requirement that all of Commerce Energy's assets be pledged under the credit faciUty, tiie prohibition against the 
Company agreeing to guarantee any other party's obligations, tiie need for Commerce to maintain the original levels 
of both Excess Availability and Eligible Cash Collateral ($ 10,000 at all times), each as defined in the credit facility, 
as of the date of the HESCO acquisition and the requurement that Commerce Energy provide at least 30 days prior 
written notice of the HESCO acquisition. 

On October 26,2006, the Company, Commerce Energy and the Lenders entered into a Second Amendment to 
the Loan and Security Agreement and Waiver (the "Second Amendment") through which the Lenders waived prior 
or existing instances of non-compliance by Commerce Energy with covenants contained in the credit facility 
relating to the maintenance of a minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio and a minimum amount of Excess 
Availability, each as defined in tiie credit facility. The Lenders also agreed in the Second Amendment (i) to defer 
prospective compliance with tiie Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio covenant and (ii) to reduce the minimum amount of 
Excess Availability that Commerce Energy will be requued to maintain for a period of time in the future. 

5. Market and Regulatory 

The Company currently serves electricity and gas customers in nine states, operatmg within the jurisdictional 
territory of twenty different local utilities. Although regulatory requirements are determined at the individual state, 
and administered and monitored by the Public UtiUty Coimnission, or PUC, of each state, operating mles and rate 
filings for each utility are unique. Accordingly, the Company generally treats each utility distribution territory as a 
distinct market. Among other things, tariff filings by local distribution companies, or LDCs, for changes in their 
allowed billing rate to customers in the markets in which the Company operates, significantiy impact the viability of 
the Company's sales and marketing plans, and its overall operating and financial results. 

Electricity 

Currentiy, the Company actively markets electricity in twelve LDC markets within the six states of Califomia, 
Pennsylvania, Michigan, Maryland, New Jersey and Texas. 

On April 1,1998, the Company began supplying customers in Califomia with electricity as an Electric Service 
Provider, or ESP. On September 20, 2001, tiie Califomia Public Utility Commission, or CPUC, issued a mling 
suspending the right of Direct Access, or DA, which allowed electricity customers to buy tiieir power from a 
supplier other than the electric utilities. This suspension, although permitting the Company to keep current direct 
access customers and to solicit direct access customers served by other ESPs, prohibits the Company from soliciting 
new non-DA customers indefinitely. 

Currently, several important issues are under review by the CPUC, including a Resource Adequacy Require­
ment and a Renewable Portfolio Standard. Additional costs to serve customers in Califomia are anticipated from 
these proceedings. However, the CPUC decisions will determine the distribution of those costs across all load 
serving entities and ultimately financial impact, if any, on the Company. 
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Proposition 80, an initiative on the November 8, 2005 Calffomia special election ballot, would have banned 
electricity customers from buying their power from a supplier other than the electric distribution utilities, except for 
those already doing so. This initiative was defeated by the state electorate. 

The current rate cap in Michigan on residential customers will be lifted as of January 1, 2006. A primary 
component of tiie rate increase is a shifting of rate responsibility away from commercial customers, whose rates are 
likely to decrease in January in spite of much higher wholesale energy costs. This may have a negative impact on the 
Company's ability to retain and acquire new commercial customers in the state. 

In Califomia, the FERC and other regulatory and judicial bodies continue to examine the behavior of market 
participants during the Califomia Energy Crisis of 2000 and 2001, and to recalculate what market clearing prices 
should have or might have been under alternative scenarios of behavior by market participants. In the event the 
historical costs of market operations were to be reallocated among market participants, the Company can not predict 
whether the results would be favorable or unfavorable, nor can the Company predict the amount of such 
adjustments. The payment or receipt of adjustments, if any, will likely be conducted between FERC, the California 
ISO and the Company's contracted scheduling coordinator for the period in question. Automated Power Exchange 
(APX). APX served as the direct interface with the now defunct Califomia Power Exchange for the sale and 
purchase of some volumes of power by the Company during 2000 and 2001. 

There are no current rate cases or filings in the states of Pennsylvania, New Jersey or Texas that are anticipated 
to impact the Company's financial results. 

Natural Gas 

Currentiy, the Company actively markets natural gas in eight LDC markets within the six states of Califomia, 
Georgia, Maryland, New York, Ohio and Pennsylvania. Due to recent and significant increases in the price of 
natural gas, a number of LDCs have filed or communicated expectations of filing for approval of rate increases to 
their customers. These filings are not anticipated to adversely impact the Company's financial results. 

The Company provides natural gas service to residential and small commercial customers in the Dominion 
East Ohio, or DEO, and the Columbia Gas of Ohio service areas. In December 2(K)4, DEO notified the PubUc 
Utilities Commission of Ohio, or PUCO, of its desire to exit the commodity market. Its stated goal is to become a 
distribution-only company by the end of 2006. Nearly 60% of DEO's customers currently participate in Customer 
Choice whereby they are already receiving the commodity portion of the service from a provider other than DEO. In 
April 2005, DEO filed with the PUCO to embark upon its plan. The ultimate outcome of this filing is unknown; 
however, it is not anticipated to adversely impact the Company's financial results. 

The Company provides natural gas service to residential and small commercial consumers in the Philadelphia 
Electric Company service area in Pennsylvania. In May 2004, the Pennsylvania PubUc Utility Commission, or PUC, 
undertook an evaluation of the competitiveness of natural gas supply services in the state. If the PUC determines the 
market is not sufficiently competitive, further actions will be considered. The Company is the only natural gas 
provider to residential customers in this market. The potential impact ofthis evaluation to the Company's operations 
is unknown at this time. 

6. Interest Income, Net 

Interest income, net of insignificant amount of interest expense, was $1,140, $890 and $549 in fiscal 2006, 
2005 and 2004, respectively. 
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7. Income Taxes 

The provision for (benefit from) income taxes consists of the following: 

Fiscal Years Ended July 31, 
2006 2005 2004 

Current income taxes; 

Federal $— $ 74 $(3,623) 

State _^ ; _ ^ 95 

Total ^ ^ _74 (3,528) 

Deferred income taxes: 

Federal — (74) 1,888 

State ^ ^ ^ 623 

Total ^ (74) 2,511 

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes $ ^ $ — $(1,017) 

A reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rates to the Company's effective income tax rates follows; 

Fiscal Years Ended July 31, 
2006 2005 2004 

Federal statutory mcome tax rate (35.0)% (35,0)% (35.0)% 

State income taxes, net of federal benefit — — 2.1 

Increase (decrease) in valuation aUowance 30.6 38.3 24.4 

Permanent item — offering costs — — 5.8 

Expiration of stock options — — — 

Tax-exempt mterest 6.2 (3.6) (0.7) 

Otiier (1.8) 0.3 (1.1) 

Effective income tax rate —% —% (4.5)% 
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Deferred income taxes were as follows; 

July 31, 
2006 

Deferred income tax assets 
Stock options $ 
Reserves and accmals 
Net operating loss carryforwards 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 
Capital losses 
Unrealized losses 
AMT tax credit 

Total deferred income tax assets 13,122 

Valuation allowance (9,578) 

Total deferred income tax assets, net 3,544 

Deferred tax liabilities: 
Depreciation and amortization (2,017) (378) 
State income taxes (946) (928) 
Acquired intangibles (581) (865) 

Total deferred income tax liabilities (3,544) (2,171) 

Net deferred income tax asset $ — $ — 

2006 

$ 586 
598 

7,901 
2,025 

730 
1,056 

226 

2005 

$ 344 
1,026 
4,686 
2,472 

730 
2,078 

226 

11,562 
(9,391) 

2,171 

A valuation allowance increase equal to the net deferred tax asset, less possible tax refunds, has been provided 
as management believes it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize the benefits of the remaining net 
deferred tax asset at July 31, 2006 The effective increase in the valuation allowance for the fiscal year 2(X)6 was 
$187. 

At July 31, 2006 the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $16,422 and $21,531 for 
federal and state income tax purposes, respectively, that begin to expire in years 2018 and 2008, respectively. Of 
these losses, $1,050 of the federal net operating loss carryforwards are subject to an annual limitation due to the 
"change of ownership" provision of the Tax Reform Act of 1986. As a result of this annual limitation, a portion of 
these carryforwards may expire before ultimately becoming available to reduce fiitiu'e income tax liabiUties. The 
Company has also incurred capital losses of $1,632 which are available to offset capital gains generated by the 
Company. These losses begin to expue in year 2009. 

8. Loss Per Common Share 

Loss per common share has been computed as follows: 

Fiscal Years Ended July 31, 
2006 2005 2004 

Numerator: 

Net loss $(2,239) $(6,114) $(21,720) 

Net loss — Basic and Diluted $(2,239) $ (6,114) $(21,720) 

Denominator: 

Weighted-average outstanding common shares — 

Basic and Diluted 30,419 30,946 28,338 
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For fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, tiiere were 7,744, 8,872 and 10,307, respectively, of common shares 
attributable to outstanding stock options were excluded from the calculation of diluted eamings per share because 
the effect of tiieir inclusion woitid have been anti-dUutive. For fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, assumed in-the-money 
stock option exercises have been excluded in computing the diluted loss per share as there was a net loss. Theu 
inclusion would reduce the loss per share and be anti-dilutive. If the assumed exercises had been used, fully diluted 
shares outstanding for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 would have been 30,594, 31,299 and 28,469, respectively. 

9. Accounts Receivable, Net 

Accounts receivable, net, is comprised of the following: 

July 31, 
2006 2005 

Billed $21,768 $22,016 

Unbilled 13,382 11,325 

35,150 33,341 

Less allowance for doubtful accounts (4,500) (5,498) 

Accounts receivable, net $30,650 $27,843 

The following schedules set forth the activity in the Company's allowance for doubtful accounts for tiie 
reported periods: 

Fiscal Years Ended July 31, 
2006 2005 2004 

Balance, beginning of year $ 5,498 $3,193 $ 2,981 

Provisions charged to operations 2,813 3,092 2,589 

Write-offs (3,811) (787) (2,377) 

Balance, end of year $4,500 $5,498 $ 3,193 

In fiscal 2004, the Company collected $2,234 in past due accounts receivable in the settlement of the PG&E 
bankmptcy claim that was recorded in net revenue as received. 

The Company has granted security interests in its Michigan and Texas accoimts receivable as security for 
payment of energy purchases. 

10. Restricted Cash and Energy Deposits 

The Company has cash and energy deposits related to outstanding letters of credit or cash deposited as 
collateral to secure performance under energy purchase contracts as follows; 

July 31, 
2006 2005 

Restricted cash mvestments pledged as collateral for letters of credit to secure 
the purchase of energy and operating performance $17,117 $ 8,222 

Energy deposits pledged as collateral to secure the purchase of energy 3,852 11,122 

Total restricted cash, cash equivalents and energy deposits $20,969 $19,344 

The Company had $24,053 and $7,827 in outstanding letters of credit at July 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 
(Note 4). 
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I I . Investments 

On April 30, 2004 the Company reached an agreement with its investment manager. Northwest Power 
Management ("NPM"), to terminate its Summit relationship. As a result of the transaction, the Company no longer 
retains an equity interest or contractual relationship with Summit, and the Company retained and directiy owned the 
investments in the three portfolio companies previously held by Summit. Under the terms of the termination 
agreement, the Company retains the entire interest in Encorp, Inc, and Turbocor B,V, previously held by Summit, 
and retains a portion of the interest in PEC that was previously held by Summit and not distributed to NPM in the 
settiement. The Company no longer consoUdates the financial results of PEC in its financial reports due to a 
reduction in its ownership percentage, from 75,8% to 39.9%, as part of the agreement. The table below displays the 
activity for these investment accounts for fiscal 2004 (there was no significant change in these accounts in fiscal 
2005 except for the sale of Turbocor as discussed below or in fiscal 2006): 

Investment 
Basis at 
July 31, 

In^'estee 2003 

Encorp $2,030 

Turbocor 3,332 

Subtotal 5,362 
PEC 2,752 

Total investments $8,114 

Capital 
Contribution/ 

(Losses) 

$ -
800 

800 
(1,324) 

$ (524) 

Provision for 
Impairment 

and 
l^rmination 

$(1,934) 

(4,132) 

(6,066) 

(1,428) 

$(7,494) 

Investment 
Basis at 
July 31, 

2004 

$96 

— 

96 

— 

$96 

Direct 
Ownership 

Percentage at 
July 31, 

2004 

2.3% 

9.3% 

39.9% 

During fiscal 2005 the Company had three investments in early-stage, energy related entities incurring 
operating losses, which are expected to continue, at least in the near term: Encorp, Inc. ("Encorp"), Turbocor B.V. 
("Turbocor") and Power Efficiency Corporation ("PEC"). At July 31, 2005, the Company sold its interest in 
Turbocor for $2,000 resulting in a gain of an equal amount. Each remaining company has limited working capital 
and as a result, continuing operations will be dependent upon their securing additional financing to meet their 
respective capital needs until positive cash flow is achieved. The Company has no obligation and currently no 
intention to invest additional funds into these companies. 

12. Property and Equipment, Net 

Property and equipment, net, is comprised of the following; 

July 31, 
2006 2005 

Information technology equipment, systems and software $ 4,965 $ 4,139 
Office furniture and equipment 1,056 1,039 

Renewable energy assets 249 249 
Leasehold improvements 141 141 

6,411 5,568 

Less; accumulated depreciation and amortization (4,417) (3,561) 

Property and equipment, net $ 1,994 $ 2,007 

Projects in progress (primarily technology systems and software) 3,872 — 

Total fixed assets $ 5,866 $ 2,007 

The Company retired no property and equipment in fiscal 2006. 
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13. Accrued Liabilities 

Current accmed liabiUties are comprised of the following; 

July 31, 
2006 2005 

Accmed litigation and legal expense $1,035 $1,053 

Energy taxes payable 688 774 

Accmed energy related fees 1,759 1,201 

Accmed compensation related expenses 665 1,900 

Accmed audit fees 543 369 

Other 1,177 1,649 

Total accmed liabilities $5,867 $6,946 

14. Stockholders' Equity 

Restricted Stock 

In fiscal 2006, the company granted 419 shares of restricted stock to its employees and directors. These 
restricted shares vest in accordance with the terms of various written agreements. The total compensation cost 
recognized in fiscal year 2006 for these stock-based compensation awards was $153. As of July 31, 2006, the total 
unrecognized compensation cost relating to non-vested restricted stock was $450 and will be recogiuzed over the 
period of August 1, 2006 tiirough August 1, 2009. 

In April 2004, pursuant to the terms of an employment agreement, the Company granted 150 shares of 
restricted common stock to its then Chief Financial Officer, which were to vest equally over the first three 
anniversary dates of employment, beginning April 1, 2005. The Company recorded $288 of deferred stock-based 
compensation as a result of the restricted stock grant. Total compensation cost recognized in fiscal year ended 
July 31, 2004 and 2005 for this stock-based employee compensation award was $32 and $256, respectively. The 
fiscal 2(X)5 expense reflects the acceleration of vesting under the terms of his contract (See Note 15). 

Common Stock 

All sales of Commonwealth's common stock were made through private placements prior to July 6, 2004. On 
July 6, 2004, Commonwealth reorganized into a holding company stmcture, whereby Commonwealth became a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Commerce Energy and the stockholders of Commonwealth became stockholders of 
Commerce. As a result of the reorganization, (a) each issued and outstanding share of common stock of 
Commonwealth was exchanged, subject to exercise of dissenters' rights by Commonwealth's stockholders, for 
a share of Common Stock, par value $0,001 per share, of Commerce Energy ("Conunon Stock") and a right to 
purchase (each, a "Right") one one-hundredth of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value 
$0,001 per share, of Commerce ("Junior Participating Preferred") and (b) Commerce assumed Commonwealth's 
1999 Equity Incentive Plan (the "Plan"), all outstanding obligations to issue common stock under the Plan and all 
outstanding stock options issued outside the Plan. The stockholders of Commerce hold the same relative percentage 
of Common Stock as they owned of Commonwealth common stock immediately prior to the reorganization, subject 
to the exercise of dissenters rights which were paid in fiscal 2005. 

In July 2004, as part of the reorganization, the Company repurchased 604 shares of conunon stock for $1,159 
from former stockholders of Commonwealth; under the exercise of Califomia law dissenter's rights. 

Prior to July 8, 2004, there was no established public trading market for any class of Commerce Energy's or 
Commonwealth's equity securities. On July 8, 2004, Common Stock began trading on the American Stock 
Exchange under the symbol "EGR." 
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Commerce Rights Plan 

The Board of Directors of Commerce has approved the adoption of a preferred share purchase rights plan dated 
July 1,2004. Each right entitles the registered holder to purchase from the Company one one-hundredth of a share of 
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value $0,001 per share, at a price of $20 per one one-hundredth of 
a preferred share, subject to adjustment. The description and terms of the rights are set forth in a rights agreement 
entered into between tiie Company and Computershare Tmst Company, as rights agent, dated July 1, 2004 (the 
"Rights Agreement"). Until a right is exercised, the holder thereof, as such, will have no rights as a stockholder of 
the Company by virtue of such right, including, without limitation, the right to vote or to receive dividends. 

Each one one-hundredth of a share of Series A Junior Participatmg Preferred Stock has designations and 
powers, preferences and rights, and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions which make its value approx­
imately equal to the value of one share of Common Stock. The Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock 
purchasable upon exercise of the rights wUl not be redeemable. The Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock 
rank junior to any other series of the Company's preferred stock. Each share of Series A Junior Participating 
Preferred Stock will be entitied to a minimum preferential quarterly dividend payment of $1.00 but will be entitied 
to an aggregate dividend of 100 times the dividend declared per share of Common Stock. In the event of liquidation, 
the holders of the Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock woitid be entitied to a minimum preferential 
liquidation payment of $20 per share (plus an amount equal to accmed but unpaid dividends), but would be entitled 
to receive an aggregate payment equal to 100 times the payment made per share of Conunon Stock. Each share of 
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock will have 100 votes, voting together with the Common Stock. These 
rights are protected by customary anti-dilution provisions. 

The rights will expue on July 1, 2014, unless they are earUer redeemed or exchanged by the Company, in each 
case, as described below. The exercise of rights for Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock is at all times 
subject to the availability of a sufiicient number of authorized but unissued Series A Junior Participating Preferred 
Stock. The rights are not exercisable until the distribution date, which will occur on the earlier of; 

(i) the date of a public announcement that a person, entity or group of affiliated or associated persons 
have acquired beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the outstanding Common Stock after the effective date 
of the reorganization, subject to certain exceptions set forth in the rights agreement; or 

(U) 10 business days (or such later date as may be determined by action of the Board of Directors prior to 
such time as any person or entity becomes the beneficial owner of 15% or more of the outstanding Common 
Stock) following the commencement of, or announcement of an intention to commence, a tender offer or 
exchange offer, the consummation of which would result in any person or entity becoming the beneficial owner 
of 15% or more of the outstanding Common Stock. 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, none of the provisions of die Rights Agreement will be triggered by 
Ian B. Carter's beneficial ownership of the Company's securities unless such ownership exceeds 30% of tiie 
outstanding Common Stock. 

Until the distribution date, or earlier redemption or expiration of the rights, (i) the rights will be evidenced by 
tiie stock certificates representing the Common Stock, (ii) no separate right certificates will be distributed and 
(iU) the rights will be transferable with and only with the Common Stock, (iv) Common Stock certificates will 
contain a notation incorporating the rights agreement by reference and (v) the surrender or transfer of any 
certificates for Common Stock, even without such notation or a copy of the summary of rights being attached 
thereto, will also constitute the transfer of the rights associated with the Common Stock represented by such 
certificate. As soon as practicable followmg the distribution date; separate certificates evidencing the rights will be 
mailed to holders of record of the Conunon Stock as of the close of business on the distribution date and such 
separate right certificates alone will evidence the rights. 
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The purchase price payable and the number of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock or other securities 
or other property issuable upon exercise of the rights are subject to adjustment from time to time to prevent dilution. 
With certain exceptions, no adjustment in the purchase price will be required until cumulative adjustments require 
an adjustment of at least 1% in such purchase price. No fractional shares will be issued and in lieu thereof, an 
adjustment in cash will be made based on the market price of the shares on the last trading day prior to the date of 
exercise. 

If any person or group of affiliated or associated persons becomes the beneficial owner of 15 % or more of the 
outstanding Common Stock, proper provision shall be made so that each holder of a right, other than rights 
beneficially owned by such acquiring person and its associates and affiliates (which wUl thereafter be void), will for 
a 60-day period (or such longer period as necessary to register the Company's seciuities) have the right to receive 
upon exercise that number of shares of Common Stock having a market value equal to two times the exercise price 
of the right (or, if such number of shares are not and cannot be authorized, the Company may issue cash, debt, other 
securities or a combination thereof in exchange for the rights). 

If the Company is acquired in a merger or other business combination transaction or 50% or more of its 
consolidated assets or earning power are sold, proper provision will be made so that each holder of a right will 
thereafter have the right to receive, upon the exercise thereof at the then current exercise price of the right, that 
number of shares of common stock of the acquiring company which at the time of such transaction have a market 
value equal to two times the exercise price of the right. 

At any time after a person or a group of affiliated or associated persons becomes the beneficial owner of 15% or 
more of the outstanding Common Stock and prior to the acquisition by such person or a group of affiliated or 
associated persons of 50% or more of the outstanding Common Stock, the Board of Directors of the Company may 
exchange the rights (other than rights owned by such person or a group of affiliated or associated persons which 
shall have become void), in whole or in part, at an exchange ratio of one share of Common Stock per right (or, at the 
election of the Company, the Company may issue cash, debt, stock or a combination thereof m exchange for the 
Rights), subject to adjustment. Finally, in the event of any merger, consolidation or other transaction in which 
Common Stock is exchanged; each share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock wiU be entitled to receive 
100 times the amount of consideration received per share of Common Stock. 

At any time prior to the earliest of (i) the day that a person or a group of affiliated or associated persons has 
become the beneficial owner of 15% or more of the outstanding Common Stock, or (ii) July 1,2014, the Board of 
Directors of the Company may redeem the rights in whole, but not in part, at a price of $0.(X) 1 per right. Immediately 
upon any redemption of the rights, the right to exercise the rights will terminate and the only right of the holders of 
rights will be to receive the redemption price. 

The terms of the Rights may be amended by the Board of Directors of the Company without the consent of the 
holders of the rights, except that from and after such time as the rights are distributed no such amendment may 
adversely affect the interest of the holders of the rights, excluding the interests of an acquiring person. 

Commonwealth Rights Plan 

In January 2002, Commonwealth adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan (the "Commonwealth Rights Plan"). In 
connection with the reorganization, all of the rights under the Commonwealth Rights Plan were acquired by 
Commerce Energy. 

15. Stock Options 

Stock options granted after December 1999 wiU expire in January 2007 through 2015. 

The Company's 1999 Equity Incentive Plan ("1999 Plan"), which was approved by the Company's stock­
holders, provides for the granting of up to an aggregate of 7,000 shares of Common Stock. In addition, the 
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Company's Board of Directors has from time to time made individual grants of warrants or options outside the 1999 
Plan, In January 2006, the Company's stockholders approved tiie 2006 Stock Incentive Plan ("SIP"), which 
provides for the issuance of no more than 1,453 shares of Common Stock. In connection with the adoption of the 
SIP, the Company has determined not to make any additional awards under the 1999 Plan. At July 31, 2006, the 
Company had 4,924 and 2,820 stock options unexercised and outstanding that were granted under the 1999 Plan and 
the SIP, respectively. 

Stock option activity is set forth below; 

Balance at July 31, 2003 

Options granted; 

Other(l) 

Options exercised 

Options cancelled 

Options expired 

Balance at July 31, 2004 10,307 

Options granted: 

Otiier(2) 

Options exercised 

Options cancelled 

Options expired 

Balance at July 31, 2005 

Options granted: 

Otiier(3) 

Options exercised 

Options forfeited 

Options expired 

Balance at July 31. 2006 

Number of 
Shares 

7,689 

3,981 
(102) 

(899) 

(362) 

10,307 

850 

(102) 

(1,881) 

(302) 

8,872 

570 

(221) 
(50) 

(1,427) 

7,744 

Options Ou 

Exercise Price 
Per Share 

$0.25-$3.75 

0.05 - 3.75 

0.05 - 2.75 

2.75 

1.00-3.75 

0.05 - 3.75 

1.92-3.50 

0.50-1.92 

1.92-2.50 

1.86-2.75 

0.05 - 3.75 

1.17-1.80 

0.05 

3.50 
1.00-2.08 

$1.00-$3.75 

tstanding 

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price 

$2.55 

1.86 

0.26 

2.75 
2.81 

2.26 

2.43 

1.92 

2.18 
2.18 

2.24 

1.65 

.05 

3.50 

1.91 

$2.32 

Weighted-
Average 

Fair Value 
of 

Common 
Stock 

$1.94 

$2.43 

$1.65 

(1) 447 options were granted with exercise prices less than, 2,934 options were granted with exercise prices equal 
to, and 600 options were granted with exercise prices greater than, the fair value of the Common Stock at 
respective dates of grant. 

(2) Options were granted with exercise prices greater than the fair value of the Common Stock at respective dates of 
grant. 

(3) 150 options were granted with exercise prices equal to, and 420 options were granted with exercise prices 
greater than, the fair value of the Common Stock at respective dates of grant. 
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Number of 
Shares 

Outstanding 

2,634 

413 

4,697 

7,744 

Remaining 
Contractual 
Life (Years) 

7.4 

8.4 

3.2 

4.9 

Shares 
Exercisable 

2,214 

413 

4,697 

7,324 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 

$1.82 

2.08 

2.63 

$2,32 
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The weighted average characteristics of stock options outstanding as of July 31, 2006 were as follows: 

Range of Exercise Prices 

$1.00-$1.92 

$2.08-$2.08 

$2.50-$3.75 

Total 

During July 2005, the Company accelerated the vesting of 1,300 out-of-the-money options to reduce expected 
future reported expense under the new FASB Statement No. 123R "Share-Based Payments". 

Stock Options Granted to the Company *s Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

On April 21,2005, tiie Company entered into a Confidential Settlement Agreement and General Release (the 
"Settlement Agreement") with director and former Chief Executive Officer, Ian B. Carter. The Settlement 
Agreement provides for payments to Mr. Carter totaling $3,000. In addition, Mr. Carter retains an option to 
purchase 2,500 shares of the Common Stock at $2.50 per share. With respect to the retained stock options, the 
Company has filed a Registration Statement on Form S-8 witii the Securities and Exchange Commission relating to 
the shares of Common Stock which underlie Mr. Carter's stock options. Under the Settiement Agreement, Mr. Carter 
and the Company agreed to mutual general releases of all claims that the parties may have against each otiier and 
Mr. Carter agreed to reUnquish any stock options he had been granted, or claimed to have been granted, in excess of 
the 2,500 options. 

16. Commitments and Contingencies 

Commitments 

Employment Contract Commitments 

In August 2005, the Company entered into an employment agreement with its then newly appointed Chief 
Executive Officer, Steven S. Boss. Mr. Boss will receive an annualized base salary of $412, with a target incentive 
bonus of 50% of base salary. Mr. Boss was granted an option to purchase 300 shares of tiie Company's common 
stock at an exercise price equal to $1.80 per share, with vesting as to 100 shares upon hire and as to 100 shares on 
each of the first two anniversaries thereafter. Mr. Boss was also granted 200 shares of restricted stock, which vest as 
to 50 shares on the first anniversary of hire and as to 50 shares upon the achievement of performance targets for 
fiscal years 2006,2007 and 2008, respectively. The agreement provides that if Mr. Boss is terminated without cause 
or if he resigns for good reason, Mr. Boss will be entitled to severance equal to 12 months of his then current base 
salary payable over a 12-raonth period, plus 12 months accelerated vesting of outstanding unvested stock options 
and restricted stock. In the event of a change of control of the Company, Mr. Boss may resign for good reason, as 
defined under the agreement, within 180 days after the change of control. 

In December 2005, the Company entered into an employment agreement with its Chief Financial Officer, 
Lawrence Clayton, Jr. Mr. Clayton will receive an annuaUzed base salary of $275, with Mr. Clayton being eligible to 
receive an incentive bonus if the Company reaches certain financial objectives. Mr. Clayton was granted an option 
to purchase 120 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price equal to $1.80 per share, with vesting as to 40 shares 
on each of the first three anniversaries after the date of grant. Mr. Clayton was also granted 45 shares of restricted 
stock, which vest as to 15 shares on each of tiie first three anniversaries after the date of grant. The agreement 
provides that, if Mr. Clayton is terminated witiiout cause or if he resigns for good reason, Mr. Clayton will be 
entitied to severance equal to 12 months of his then current base salary payable over a 6-month period beginning on 
the six-month anniversary of the termination date, plus 12 months accelerated vesting of outstanding unvested stock 
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options and restricted stock. In the event of a change of control of the Company, Mr. Clayton may resign for good 
reason, as defined under the agreement, within 180 days after the change of control. 

In May 2005, the Company entered into an at-will employment letter agreement (superseding a previous 
agreement entered into in Febmary 2005), with Thomas L. Uliy, our Senior Vice President of Sales and Marketing. 
The agreement provided for an annual base salary of $225 and a grant of options to purchase 100,000 shares of our 
common stock at an exercise price of $3.50 per share, vesting equally over four years. If the Company terminates 
Mr. Uhy without cause, he would be entitied to six months' salary. On October 19, 2006 the Company increased 
Mr. Ulry's annual base salary from $225,000 to $250,000 effective October 1,2006 and awarded Mr. Ulry a $25,000 
discretionary bonus. 

Purchase Commitments 

The Company has entered into a series of electricity supply contracts to purchase electricity covering 
approximately 78.2% of the customers' firm load servicing requirements for peak period electricity for fiscal 2007 
based on the Company's forecast. The following is a summary of the Company's commitments to purchase electric 
power by state as of July 31, 2006: 

Fiscal Years Ending July 31, 
2008 2007 Total 

California $ — $17,604 $17,604 

Pennsylvania and New Jersey — 9,086 9,086 

Texas 2,143 18,071 20,214 

Total $2,143 $44,761 $46,904 

For the Michigan market, the Company has entered into several forward energy supply contracts with a major 
electric power generator to purchase full-requuements, all services product to service the Company's customer 
load. These full requirement service contracts include energy and all scheduling costs. The Company's customers 
must use within a limited range of the forecasted load or the generator will supply the additional electricity at their 
current market price plus an additional charge for otiier services provided. If the Company falls below the allowed 
range of the forecast, the generator will seU the excess electricity at market and credit us with the proceeds, but will 
charge us a service fee for the unused electricity. 

As the price at which the Company can purchase electric power is fixed during the terms of the contracts. If the 
price at which the Company can competitively resell this power falls below the contract full-requirements purchase 
price, the Company would incur related losses. 

Operating Leases 

The Company leases its facilities as well as certain equipment under operating leases. Certain of these 
operating leases are non-cancelable and contain rent escalation clauses relating to any increases to real property 
taxes and maintenance costs. The Company incurred aggregate rent expense under operating leases of $1,255, 
$1,191, and $931 in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 
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The fumre aggregate minimum lease payments under operating lease agreements in existence at July 31,2006 
are as follows; 

Fiscal Year Ending July 31, 

2007 $1,088 

2008 954 

2009 and after . 184 

$2,226 

Employee Benefit Plan 

The Company has a 401(k) retirement plan in which any full time employee may participate. The Company 
contributes $0.50 for each dollar of employee contribution up to a maximum employer contribution of 3% of each 
participant's annual salary. The maximum employer contribution at 3% corresponds to an employee contribution of 
6% of annual salary. Such employer contributions totaled $220, $213 and $167 for the fiscal years ending July 31, 
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 

In January 2(X)6, the Board of Directors approved the Amended and Restated 2005 Employee Stock Purchase 
Plan (the "ESPP"). The Company implemented tiie ESPP for tiie montii of July 2006. The ESPP provides for 
eligible employees to purchase Common Stock through payroll deductions. The ESPP allows employees to elect to 
purchase Common Stock each month in an amount not to exceed an annual rate of accrual of $25 per calendar year 
in fair value of Common Stock at the lower of the first or last day's closing price for each month's offering period, 
less a discount of 15%. There are other restrictions and limitations and the ESPP is intended to comply with 
Section 423 of the Intemal Revenue Code, which allows employees to buy Common Stock at a discount on a tax-
favored basis. The Company purchases the required shares of stock in the open market and records expense for the 
difference between the amount contributed by the employees and its cost of the stock. 

2006 Stock Incentive Plan 

At the 2005 annual meeting of our stockholders, the Company's stockholders approved the 2006 Stock 
Incentive Plan (the "SIP"). The principal difference between the SIP and the 1999 Plan relates to the greater 
flexibility that the SIP provides with respect to the types of awards that can be granted. The 1999 Plan is basically 
limited to stock option and restricted stock grants, while the SIP allows grants pursuant to a variety of awards, 
including options, share appreciation rights, restricted shares, restricted share units, deferred share units and 
performance-based awards in the form of stock appreciation rights, deferred shares and performance units. Since 
the date of the 2005 annual meeting of our stockholders, no additional awards have been, or will be, made under the 
1999 Plan. The SIP provides that no more than 1,453,334 shares of the Company's common stock may be issued 
pursuant to Awards under the SIP. The Company has registered the shares of common stock under the SIP on a 
registration statement on Form S-8 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Awards under the SIP may 
be made to key employees and directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries whose participation in the SIP is 
determined to be in the best interests of the Company by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. 

Regulatory Proceedings 

The Company is a party to a number of Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") and Califomia ISO 
proceedings related to the Califomia Energy Crisis of 2000 and 2001. The FERC and other regulatory judicial 
bodies continue to examine the behavior of market participants during this energy crisis and may recalculate what 
market clearing prices should have or might have been under alternative scenarios of behavior by market 
participants. In the event the historical costs of market operations were to be reallocated among market participants, 
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the Company can not predict whether the results would be favorable or unfavorable for the Company, nor can it 
predict the amount of any such adjustments. 

Litigation 

The current status of previously reported legal proceedings involving the Company is as follows: 

On Febmary 24, 2(X)6, American Communications Network, or ACN, had deUvered to tiie Company an 
arbitration demand claim, alleging that Commerce Energy, Inc. was Uable for significant actual, consequential 
and punitive damages and restitution on a variety of causes of action including anticipatory breach of contract, 
unjust enrichment, tortuous interference with prospective economic advantage and prima facie tort with 
respect to alleged fiiture commissions arising after their termination of the Sales Agency Agreement effective 
Febmary 9, 2(X)6. ACN, Commerce Energy, Inc. and the Company entered into tiie Sales Agency Agreement 
in connection with the Company's purchase of certain assets of ACN and certain of its subsidiaries in Febmaiy 
2(X)5. This claim was delivered via mail to the Company but was not filed with the American Arbitration 
Association ("AAA"). 

On March 23, 2(X)6, the Company filed a Demand for Arbitration with the AAA in New York of tius 
dispute with ACN asserting claims for declaratory relief, material breach of contract and breach of the impUed 
covenant of good faith and fair dealing. This Demand for Arbitration seeks compensatory damages in an 
amount to be determined at the arbitration. On May 4,2(K)6, ACN filed with the AAA in New York its Demand 
for Arbitration of this dispute with Commerce Energy, Inc.. In its Demand, ACN alleges claims against 
Commerce Energy, Inc. for breach of contract and breach of implied duty of good faith and fair dealing, 
seeking damages and restitution in amounts to be determined at the hearing. The parties are currentiy in the 
process of selecting an Arbitration panel to hear this dispute. The parties also have agreed to mediate the merit 
of this dispute in addition to continuing the arbitration process. Although the Company cannot predict the 
ultimate outcome of this matter, it intends to pursue these claims vigorously in arbitration and currentiy 
beUeves that no loss accmal is warranted related to this matter. 

The Company currentiy, and from time to time may become, involved in litigation conceming claims 
arising out of the operations in the normal course of business. The Company is currentiy not involved in any 
legal proceedings that are expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on the 
Company's results of operations or financial position. 

17, Related Party IVansactions 

During fiscal 2004, the Company engaged Nexus Advisory to assist in the Company's financial reorganization. 
The Company paid Nexus Advisory $110 in fiscal 2004 for consulting services. In July 2004, David Barnes, the 
principal of Nexus Advisory, became the Company's Vice President of Finance and Investor Relations. The 
Company did no furtiier business with Nexus Advisory in fiscal 2005, and Mr, Barnes' employment with the 
Company terminated in December 2004. 

On April 1, 2004, tiie Company acquired Skipping Stone Inc., an energy consulting and technology firm. 
Skipping Stone was a privately held company that was principally owned by Peter T. Weigand. Mr. Weigand, who 
was the Chief Executive Officer of Skipping Stone prior to its acquisition by the Company, became the President of 
Commonwealth, Commerce Energy and Skipping Stone on April 1, 2004. From 2001 until its acquisition of 
Skipping Stone, Commonwealth engaged Skipping Stone to perform various consulting services. The consultmg 
services were performed by various employees and independent contractors of Skipping Stone, including Peter T. 
Weigand and Richard L. Boughmm, who was an independent contractor of Skipping Stone until March 28, 2004. 
On April 1, 2004, Mr. Boughmm became the Chief Financial Officer of Commonwealth and Commerce Energy. 
Consulting services performed by Skipping Stone for Commonwealth have included data collection and analysis of 
market size information, review of energy supply and finance agreements, development of business plans, work 
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plans and definitions of various strategic initiatives and representation of the Company in the implementation of 
such initiatives. The agreements to perform consulting services were terminable by either party at any time. At the 
time of the completion of the merger, the only on-going consulting services being performed by Skipping Stone for 
Commonwealth related to Commonwealth's preparations in connection with its upcoming required report on 
intemal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Common­
wealth paid Skipping Stone an aggregate of approximately $308 in consulting fees and expenses from March 2002 
tiirough the acquisition date. Through March 31, 2004, approximately 23% of Skippmg Stone's calendar 2004 
revenues had been derived from consulting fees paid by Commonwealth. 

The aggregate purchase price for all of the outstanding Skipping Stone securities, which consisted of common 
stock and vested options, was $3,100 and the assumption of $600 of debt. The purchase price was paid through the 
issuance of Commonwealth common stock, which was valued at $ 1.92 per share. Mr. Weigand received 1,088 shares 
of Commonwealth common stock in the transaction. In addition, other former holders of Skippmg Stone common 
stock received an aggregate of 526 shares of Commonwealth common stock in the transaction. 

The Company granted the former holders of Skipping Stone common stock "piggy-back" registration rights 
with respect to the 1,468 shares of common stock issued to them in the merger. Pursuant to a registration rights 
agreement dated as of April 1, 2004, the Company agreed to register such shares for resale under the Securities Act 
in any registration statement filed by Commonwealth with the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to 
an offering by Commonwealth for its own account (other than a registration statement on Form S-4 or S-8 or any 
successor thereto) or for the account of any Commonwealth stockholder. The Company will pay all of the expenses 
of such registration. The Company also agreed to indemnify and hold harmless each of the former holders of 
Skipping Stone common stock from and against any liabilities (including attomey fees) arising out of any untme 
statement of a material fact contained in any such registration statement, other than with respect to information 
provided by such stockholders for mclusion in the registration statement. The Company's obligation to register 
these shares wiU terminate only (i) when such shares have been disposed of pursuant to an effective Registration 
Statement; in the opinion of counsel to the Company; (ii) the entire amount of the shares may be sold in a single sale 
without any limitation as to volume pursuant to Rule 144 (or any successor provision then in effect) under the 
Securities Act; or (Ui) the shares are sold or distributed by a person not entitled to these registration rights. 

Each of the former holders of Skipping Stone common stock, including Mr. Weigand, agreed to place 20% of 
the Company shares issued to him in the merger in an escrow for a period of six months. The stockholder escrow 
shares were subject to forfeiture, at $ 1.92 per share, based upon a two part "tme up" calculation, which is defined in 
the merger agreement. The first part of the calculation is designed to cover a decline in the value of Skipping Stone's 
net equity, defined as the difference between the total assets minus the total liabilities, from December 31, 2003 to 
April 1,2004, the effective time of the merger. The second part of the calculation was intended to verify that as of six 
months from the effective time all assets were to have been collected, amortized or realized as cash and no other 
liabilities were to have been accmed or paid by Skipping Stone or Commonwealth after the effective time. The 
stockholder escrow shares continue to be held in escrow pending resolution of the "tme-up" calculation. 

In addition, each of the former holders of Skipping Stone common stock, including Mr. Weigand, agreed to 
place an additional 10% of the Commonwealth shares issued to him in the merger in an escrow for a period of 
eighteen months in the case of Mr. Weigand, and twelve months in the case of tiie other three former holders of 
Skipping Stone common stock. All the retention shares were released in connection with the settlement with 
Mr. Weigand in October 2005. 
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18. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited) 

The following is the Company's quarterly financial information for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004. 

Fiscal Year July 31 April 30 January 31 October 31 

Year ended July 31, 2006: 

Net revenue $247,080 $52,303 $57,755 $72,654 $64,368 

Direct energy costs 218,289 43,625 49,643 68,892 56,128 

Gross profit 28,791 8,678 8,112 3,762 8,240 

Net income (loss) (2,239) 651 1,002 (4,112) 220 

Net income (loss) per common share; 

Basic and diluted (0.07) 0.02 0.03 (0.13) 0,01 

Year ended July 31, 2005: 

Net revenue $253,853 $65,831 $68,478 $61,048 $58,496 

Direct energy costs 225,671 60,930 60,767 52,639 51,335 

Gross profit 28,182 4,901 7,711 8,409 7,161 

Net loss (6,114) (2,405) (1,319) (2,342) (48) 

Net loss per common share: 

Basic and diluted (0.20) (0.08) (0.04) (0.08) (0.00) 

Year ended July 31, 2004: 

Net revenue $210,623 $56,668 $48,521 $47,038 $58,396 

Direct energy costs 191,180 50,523 42,799 43,783 54,075 

Gross profit 19,443 6,145 5,722 3,255 4,321 

Net loss (21,720) (7,351) (5,594) (7,653) (1,122) 

Net loss per common share: 

Basic and diluted (0.77) (0.25) (0.20) (0.28) (0.04) 

19. Subsequent Events 

HESCO Asset Acquisition 

On September 20,2006, our wholly-owned subsidiary. Commerce Energy, Inc. ("Commerce"), entered into an 
Asset Purchase Agreement (the "Asset Purchase Agreement") with Houston Energy Services Company, L.L.C. 
("HESCO"), a Texas Umited UabiUty company, pursuant to which Commerce acquired certain assets of HESCO 
(the "HESCO Assets"), consisting of contracts with end-users for the sale of natural gas in Califomia, Florida, 
Nevada, Kentucky and Texas and related assets and liabilities (the "HESCO Acquisition"). 

Pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement, Commerce acquired the HESCO Assets for approximately 
$4 million in cash. The Asset Purchase Agreement contained customary representations and warranties and 
customary post-closing covenants, including indemnification obligations. 
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Corporate Profile 

Breaking Through the Ordinary, 
Commerce Energy Group charts course into new 

markets. 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc., operating through its principal operating 

subsidiary, Commerce Energy, Inc., is an independent energy provider of retail 

electric power and natural gas to customers in nine states, covering nineteen 

Utility markets. 

The company's market footprint includes a presence in several of the more 

progressive U.S. retail natural gas and electric markets. The company's national 

brand, Commerce Energy, now provides electricity to residential, commercial, 

industrial and institutional customers in eleven utility markets located m 

California, Texas, Pennsylvania, Michigan and New Jersey; and natural gas 

in eight utility markets in six states, including California, Georgia, Maryland, 

New York, Ohio and Pennsylvania. 

Commerce Energy Group is publicly traded on the American Stock Exchange 

and is headquartered in Orange County, California, with offices in Boston, 

Detroit and Houston. 

Forward-Looking Statements 
This annual report, including "Letter to the Shareholders", contains forwi 
of rhe federal securities laws. Forward-looking statements are based upon management s oenci aiK 
by, and information currently available to, management. Out actual results could differ materially from the results 
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of numerous factors, including the risks and uncertainties 
set forth under the caption, ''Factors That May Affect Future Results" in Management's Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results oi Operation located in the Annual Report on Form 10-K which is included as part 
ofthis annual report, and other factors identified from time to time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and, 
except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or 
circumstances after the date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurretice of unanticipated events. Ne 
factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for management to predict all such factors. 



Letter to the Shareholders: 

As a new year begins and as the new CEO of Commerce Energy Group, I want to share with you the 
excitement I feel in joining the company at this time of growth and challenge. During 2005, the company 
entered new markets and acquired new customers that will serve as a solid foundation for our growth in 2006 
and beyond. I strongly believe that Commerce Energy can establish itself as the energy provider of choice, to a 
significant segment of customers, both in our current markets and in new ones as they develop, thereby 
moving into a position of leadership in the energy industry. 

Commerce offers its customers the ability to control their energy costs with services not universally 
available through their local utility, including information systems that allow us to serve multiple meters 
efficiently and more cost-effectively than many of our competitors. At the end of fiscal 2005, we served 
approximately 140,000 electricity and natural gas customers in nine states and 17 utility service territories. Our 
strategic goals include leveraging our significant market presence and operational support capabilities for 
profitable growth in our existing market areas and expansion opportunities in new markets. 

In many of our existing markets, our profitable growth is dependent on the regulatory landscape dictated 
regionally by state Public Utility Commissions. This is mainly attributable to the fact that customer prices 
offered by our utility competitors often lag behind market prices for energy commodities. Given the 
unprecedented increase in energy commodity prices over the past year and a half, this lag in regulatory pricing 
has hindered our ability to offer a competitively priced product to our customers when compared to their 
utility options. We believe, however, that the volume of publicity in many of our markets around the need for 
immediate regulatory actions to address this sustained and significant under-recovery of commodity costs by 
the utihties will create scenarios in which we can offer our customers very competitive and, in most cases, 
attractive, lower price options and alternatives to their incumbent provider. This developing opportunity will 
allow us to build new and profitable product offerings and customer relationships in our targeted market areas. 

While we continue to focus on our service and product offerings to our residential customers, our sales 
initiatives are targeted toward small- to medium-sized commercial, industrial and institutional customers, 
which we see as the class of energy customer most under-served in the energy market arena. Larger energy 
consumers can afford intemal energy management specialists and are courted by large physical, asset-backed 
providers in a very competitive marketplace. Residential consumers, in turn, have advocacy groups for 
assistance. The customer groups in the middle are often over-looked by utilities and by our larger competitors, 
who, in many instances, do not possess the systems required to bill multiple meters. These customers can 
benefit from the flexible suite of energy products and services and personal attention our company offers. 

Progressive natural gas markets, such as Georgia and Ohio, are also a focus of our customer sales 
initiatives. We are actively selling in Texas, where a well-conceived electricity deregulation policy is in place. 
In Califomia, where the defeat of Proposition 80 has rekindled our efforts, we have strengthened our 
marketing focus and are diligently working with our existing customers and local industry groups toward 
restoring the competitive market model to a significantly larger group of interested customers. 



In 2006, we plan to utilize the considerable skills and talents of our employees to creatively control 
operational costs and grow our profitability while providing competitively priced energy supplies to our 
Customers. I am looking forward to making a significant contribution to the future of this company and its 
place in a business that I am passionate about. We appreciate your support and want you to know that each of 
us here at Commerce Energy Group is working for you, the shareholder, to build value and carry our company 
forward into this exciting new time before us. 

Sincerely, 

> ^ ^ 2 ^ t _ - ^ <^2*-7u-̂ _-

Steven S. Boss 
Chief Executive Officer 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 

December 15, 2005 
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You should carefully consider the risk factors described below, as well as the other information included 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K prior to making a decision to invest in our securities. The risks and 
uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing our company. Additional risks and uncertainties not 
presently known or that we currently believe to be less significant may also adversely affect us. Unless the 
context requires otherwise, references to "the Company," "Commerce," "we," "us," and "our" refer 
specifically to Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries. 

SPECUL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

On one or more occasions, we may make statements regarding our assumptions, projections, expectations, 
targets, intentions or beliefs about future events. All statements other than statements of historical facts 
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K relating to expectation of future financial performance, 
continued growth, changes in economic conditions or capital markets and changes in customer usage pattems 
and preferences, are forward-looking statements. 

Words or phrases such as "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "expects," "intends," "plans," 
"predicts," "projects," "targets," "will hkely result," "will continue," "may," "could" or similar expressions 
identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties which could 
cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially from those expressed. We caution that while we make 
such statements in good faith and we believe such statements are based on reasonable assumptions, including 
without limitation, management's examination of historical operating trends, data contained in records and 
other data available from third parties, we cannot assure you that our expectations will be realized. 

In addition to the factors and other matters discussed under the caption "Factors That May Affect Future 
Results" in Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
in this Annual Report on Form lO-K, some important factors that could cause actual results or outcomes for 
Commerce E n e i ^ Group, Inc. or our subsidiaries to differ materially from those discussed in forward-looking 
statements include: 

• regulatory changes in the states in which we operate that could adversely affect our operations; 

• our continued ability to obtain and maintain licenses from the states in which we operate; 

• changes in the restructuring of retail markets which could prevent us from selling electricity and 
natural gas on a competitive basis; 

• our dependence upon a limited number of third-party suppliers of electricity and natural gas; 

• our dependence upon a Umited number of local electric and natural gas utilities to transmit and 
distribute the electricity and natural gas we sell to our customers; 

• fluctuations in market prices for electricity and natural gas; 

• decisions by electricity and natural gas utilities not to raise their rates to reflect higher market cost of 
electricity and natural gas, thereby adversely affecting our competitiveness; 

• our ability to successfully integrate businesses we may acquire; 

• our ability to successfully compete in new electricity and natural gas markets that we enter, 

• our ability to obtain and retain credit necessary to support both current operations and future growth 
and profitability; 

• seasonal weather or force majeure events that adversely impact electricity and natural gas supply and 
infrastructure and which could prevent us from competitively servicing the demand requirements of 
our customers; and 

• our dependence upon independent system operators, regional transmission organizations, natural gas 
transmission companies, and local distribution companies to properly coordinate and manage their 
transmission grids and distribution networks, and to accurately and timely calculate and allocate the 
cost of services to market participants. 

Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and, except 
as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or 
circumstances after the date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated 
events. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for management to predict all such 
factors. 



PARTI 

Item 1. Business 

Overview 

Commerce Energy Group, Inc., or Commerce, is an independent energy provider of retail electric power 
and natural gas supply to residential, commercial, industrial and institutional customers in nine states, 
covering nineteen utility markets. We also provide consulting, technology and transaction data management 
services to energy-related businesses. Unless otherwise noted, as used herein, "the Company," "we," "us,'* and 
"our" means Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries. 

Commerce operates through the following wholly-owned subsidiaries: 

Commerce Energy, Inc. Commerce Energy, Inc., or Commerce Energy, formerly Commonwealth 
Energy doing business as "electricAmerica", is licensed by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 
(FERC) as a power marketer. We operate in fourteen deregulated electricity markets, providing electric 
power to residential, commercial, industrial and institutional customers in eleven of those markets. Addition­
ally, Commerce E n e i ^ supplies natural gas to residential and small commercial customers in eight 
deregulated gas markets. 

Skipping Stone Inc. Skipping Stone Inc., or Skipping Stone, provides energy-related consulting and 
technologies to utilities, electricity generators, natural gas pipelines, wholesale energy merchants, energy 
technology providers and financial institutions. During the last two fiscal years ended July 31, 2004 and 2005, 
Skipping Stone Inc. revenues accounted for less than 1% of our total net revenue. 

On February 9, 2005, we purchased from American Communications Network, Inc. and certain of its 
subsidiaries, which we refer to collectively as ACN, certain assets of ACN's retail electric power and natural 
gas sales business. We refer to this acquisition in this annual report on Form 10-K as the ACN Energy 
Transaction, and the assets acquired in the ACN Energy Transaction as the ACN Energy Assets. In the ACN 
Energy Transaction, we gained access to ACN's network for the sale of retail electric power in Texas and 
Pennsylvania and retail natural gas in Califomia, Ohio, Georgia, New York, Pennsylvania and Maiyland. 
Other assets acquired in the ACN Energy Transaction included equipment, gas inventory associated with 
utility and pipeline storage and transportation agreements; electricity supply, scheduling and capacity 
contracts; software and other infrastructure, plus approximately 80,000 natural gas and electricity residential 
and small commercial customers. We also hired certain employees of ACN and entered into a Sales Agency 
Agreement with ACN which allows us to utilize ACN's network of independent sales representatives to sell 
electricity and natural gas for us. As a result of the ACN Energy Transaction, we expanded our core business 
into six new markets, added to our core business the sale of natural gas, acquired a substantial number of new 
customers and acquired a sales force providing us with the opportunity to acquire customers in new markets, 
including residential, small businesses and other commercial accounts. 

Commerce Energy Group's predecessor. Commonwealth Energy Corporation, or Commonwealth, was 
formed in Califomia in August 1997. On July 6, 2004, Commonwealth reorganized into a holding company 
stmcture, whereby Commonwealth became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Commerce. Our fiscal year ends 
July 31. 

Commerce was incorporated in the State of Delaware on December 18, 2003. Our executive offices are 
located at 600 Anton Boulevard, Suite 2000, Costa Mesa, Califomia 92626. Our telephone number is 
(714) 259-2500. 

Industry Background 

Electricity 

Beginning in 1992, the U.S. electric utility industry began a process of deregulation, which primarily 
served to unbundle generation, transmission, distribution and ancillary services into separate components of a 
utility's service. In 1996, some states, and some of the utilities within those states, proceeded to allow their 
end-use customers direct access to marketers, enabling them to purchase electricity from an entity other than 
the local utility in a competitive retail market. These proceedings created new market participants known in 
Califomia as Electricity Service Providers, or ESPs, and in other states by this term or another similar term, of 



which Commerce Energy is one. Presently, twenty three states and the District of Columbia have either 
enacted enabling legislation or issued regulatory orders to proceed with retail direct access. 

As in other industries that have been deregulated, competition in the electric service mdustry is intended 
to provide consumers with a choice of multiple suppliers and is expected to promote product differentiation, 
lower costs and enhanced services. To obtain these benefits, customers in deregulated utility markets may 
choose to switch their electric supply service from their local utility to an alternative supplier or ESP. 

The electricity distribution infrastmcture in place prior to deregulation remains largely unchanged, with 
the primary difference being that parties other than the local utility can utilize the delivery infrastmcture by 
pa3dng usage fees. ESPs use this established electricity network for the delivery of energy to their customers. 

Electricity is a real-time commodity and cannot be stored. As soon as it is produced, it must be 
simultaneously delivered into the grid to meet the demand of end users. Most electricity grids and wholesale 
market clearing activities are managed by a third party entity known as an Independent System Operator, or 
ISO, or a Regional Transmission Organization, or RTO. The ISO or RTO is responsible for system reliability 
and ensures that physical electricity transactions between market participants are managed in such a way as to 
assure that proper electricity reserve margins are in place, grid capacity is maintained and supply and demand 
are in near perfect balance in real-time. 

We must effectively manage our purchased electricity supply and our customer demand to maintain 
profitability. We manage the load shaping activity required by the variable electricity usage pattems of our 
retail customers; thereby, resulting in our holding of long or short energy positions. A long position occurs 
when we have committed to purchase more electrichy than our customers need, and a short position occurs 
when our customers' needs exceed the amount of electricity we have committed to purchase. In both 
situations, we utihze the wholesale electricity spot market and ISO clearing markets to sell excess energy 
when we are long, and buy additional electricity when we are short. It would be impossible to completely 
hedge every delivery hour for all customers, therefore we will always have some exposure to price volatility in 
the wholesale market for electric power. 

Purchases and sales in the wholesale market are regulated by FERC, and we report on a regular basis to 
the U.S. Department of Energy. Weather, generation capacity, transmission, distribution and other market 
and regulatory issues also are significant factors in determining our wholesale procurement and sales strategies 
in each of the markets we serve, 

FERC has deregulated the wholesale electricity market by allowing power marketers and utihties who do 
not have market power to sell wholesale electric power at market rates (i.e., whatever rate the buyer and seller 
agree upon), as opposed to requiring that prices be cost-based (i.e., based on the supplier's cost of selling the 
wholesale power). 

FERC has further encouraged competition in the wholesale bulk power markets by promulgating open 
access transmission mles (Order No. 888) in 1996, which have led to the increasing commoditization of 
electricity markets. FERC's open access transmission mles require transmission providers under its jurisdic­
tion to allow eligible customers access to their transmission systems at cost-based rates. This has enabled 
purchasers of wholesale power to access a larger number of potential suppliers, thereby enhancing 
competition. 

FERC has continued to enhance competition by issuing Order No. 2000 on Regional Transmission 
Organizations (RTOs), which are entities that have ultimate control over the bulk transmission system in a 
particular geographic area. Wholesale electricity (or bulk power), once purchased and sold almost exclusively 
between traditional utilities under bilateral arrangements, is now traded by an array of different market 
participants on organized markets, including hourly, daily, and monthly spot markets, power exchanges, and 
fmancial markets, such as future and options markets. Competitive markets now exist in many regions of the 
country for energy, automatic generation control, spinning reserves, other categories of ancillary services, and 
capacity. Organizations such as the New York Mercantile Exchange (NYMEX) offer trading opportunities 
in electricity futures and options at various hubs across the country. The price of electricity is largely set by 
these competitive markets. Recently, the growth and evolution of wholesale electricity markets has been 
accelerated with the formation of RTOs. These RTOs are developing organized market stmctures for the 
purpose of providing a more efficient and robustly competitive wholesale marketplace for the benefit of 
consumers in the region in which they operate. 



Retail electric marketers procure power supphes for delivery to end-use customers from a variety of 
wholesale power producers or merchant generation companies, either through term bilateral contracts or on a 
spot basis. In addition, short-term daily or hourly supply requirements can be purchased or sold through the 
balancing markets operated by the ISO or RTO. The physical distribution of electricity to retail customers 
remains the responsibility of the local utility, which collects fees for use of its systems. Some states also allow 
the utility to provide additional services, such as reading meters, generating customer bills, collecting bills and 
taking requests for service changes or problems, while in other states the utility is not allowed or chooses not to 
perform these services. 

Natural Gas 

The natural gas industry had historically been a government regulated industry since the passage of the 
Natural Gas Act by the U.S. Congress in 1938. The industry began a process of deregulation in the early 
1980s which initially led to increased supplies of natural gas and lower prices. Competition in the market place 
also has led to innovation and created a dynamic industry. Advances in technology have enhanced the ability 
to find, extract and transport natural gas with greater efficiency and less cost. 

Natural gas is now a commodity and is traded on a daily spot market as well as on futures markets. The 
price of natural gas is determined by the market at various hubs located around the country. There are over 30 
major market hubs, or intersections of various pipeline systems, where natural gas purchases and sales occur. 
Thousands of contracts are bought and sold daily at these market centers and various market tools are utilized 
to set the price for natural gas on an hourly, daily, monthly and even longer basis. Prices may vary widely from 
hub to hub, reflecting regional market conditions. 

Although the purchase and sale, and hence the price, of natural gas is determined by niarket forces, the 
transportation of natural gas from the wellhead to the burner tip is still performed mostly by regulated 
pipelines which essentially act as common carriers. Any market participant desiring transportation services 
from such pipelines must be offered such services on an equal basis with other market participants. 

Retail natural gas providers procure natural gas supplies for delivery to end-use customers from a variety 
of wholesale natural gas suppliers, mostly at a relevant market hub, either through term bilateral contracts or 
on a spot basis. The physical distribution of natural gas to retml customers remains the responsibility of the 
local natural gas utility, which collects a fee for the use of its pipehne distribution system. 

Core Products and Services 

Our core business is the retail sale of electricity and natural gas to end-use customers. We also provide 
professional consulting and technology services to utilities, electricity generators, wholesale energy merchants, 
financial institutions and energy technology companies. 

Commerce Energy, Inc, 

We offer electricity and natural gas service to customers under month-to-month, one year, or longer-term 
service contracts. The positive difference between the sales price of energy to our customers and the sum of 
the wholesale cost of our energy supplies, transmission costs and ancillary services costs provides us vrith a 
gross profit margin. The electricity and natural gas we sell is generally metered and delivered to our customers 
by the local utilities. The local utilities may also provide billing and collection services for many of our 
customers on our behalf. 

We sell electricity and natural gas at contracted prices based on the real-time demand or usage of our 
customers. We buy electricity and natural gas in the wholesale market in time-specific, bulk or block 
quantities usually at fixed prices. We manage the differences between the actual sales demand of our 
customers and our bulk or block purchases by buying and selling any shortfall or excess in the spot market-
Independent System Operators, or ISOs, and Regional Transmission Organizations, or RTOs, perform real­
time load balancing for each of the electric grids in which we operate. Similariy, balancing is performed by the 
utilities or Local Distribution Companies, or LDCs, for each of the natural gas markets in which we operate. 
We are charged or credited by the ISOs and LDCs for balancing of our electricity and natural gas purchased 
and sold for our account. 



Skipping Stone Inc. 

Skipping Stone offers a number of related professional consulting services and technologies to energy 
companies, such as utilities, electricity generators, natural gas pipelines, wholesale energy merchants, energy 
technology providers and investment banks. Skipping Stone is focused on assisting clients with business 
process improvements, market research, training, Sarbanes-Oxley process level implementations, systems 
design and selection, and strategic and tactical planning for new market or merger activities. Additionally, the 
Company provides natural gas pipeline information to market participants and government customers through 
Skipping Stone's technology center using its capacitycenter.com service. 

Our Customers and Markets 

As of July 31, 2005, we were delivering electricity and natural gas supply to approximately 140,000 
customers in nine states. We are also licensed in four additional states where we may begin selhng at a future 
date. Our customer base consists of residential, commercial and institutional customers. Our business is not 
dependent upon any one customer or a few major customers. During fiscal 2003, 2004 and 2005, no one 
customer accounted for more than 10% of our net revenues. We are working to broaden the scope of the 
energy-related products and services to include energy efficiency offerings and additional outsourced services. 
Additionally, we are evaluating expansion of our core products and services into new deregulated markets and 
targeted customer classes. 

Electricity 

Currentiy, we actively market electricity in eleven LDC markets within five slates: Califomia, Penn­
sylvania, Michigan, New Jersey and Texas. There are over twenty other potential LDC markets that are open 
for direct access sales to end-use customers for electricity. We are evaluating each market to determine which 
are most advantageous to enter. We are also exploring opportunities to acquire existing portfolios of customers 
from other alternative suppliers in targeted markets. During Fiscal 2003, 2004 and 2005, sales of electricity 
contributed 100%, 100% and 90%, respectively, of total net revenues. 

Natural Gas 

In Febmary 2005, we expanded into the natural gas marketing business in connection with the ACN 
Energy Transaction. Currently, we actively market natural gas in eight LDC markets within six states: 
Califomia, Georgia, Maryland, New York, Ohio and Pennsylvania. We are evaluating offering natural gas to 
our retail electric customers in the markets we currently serve. All of these markets are open for direct access 
purchasing of natural gas from retail marketers. Our intent is to develop this business organically. In fiscal 
2005, sales of natural gas constituted approximately 10% of our total net revenues. 

Skipping Stone 

Skipping Stone is curtently engaged by over 50 clients under master agreements, with up to a dozen 
active engagements in any given month. CHents include utilities, wholesale energy merchants, natural gas 
pipeUne companies, electricity generators, energy producers and investment companies. 

We operate in one reportable business segment, energy retailing, in one geographic area, the United 
States. Net revenue attributable to Skipping Stone is less than 1% of total net revenues in fiscal 2004 and 
2005. Geographical information for Skipping Stone is not material. 

Sales and Marketing 

A variety of approaches are utilized in acquiring customers, including both inside and outside sales forces 
through direct and indirect means supported by traditional marketmg campaigns. Historically, a majority of 
our customers have been acquired through our contact center and inside sales team. 

Our contact center is responsible for procuring orders from small to medium-sized commercial 
customers. The majority of our customers are acquired through our inside sales team, or contact center, which 
handles inbound calls from customers and makes outbound calls to targeted customers. All customers 
acquired by the contact center agree to our terms of service through a third party voice log system, which 
simphfies the switching process for these customers and shortens the sales cycle. 

http://capacitycenter.com


Our outside sales team, Commercial and Industrial, or C&I Sales, is responsible for targeting larger 
commercial, industrial and institutional customers. Customers acquired by our C&I Sales enter into 
individualized written contracts. For this reason, the sales cycle is typically longer because the deal size is 
larger and requires customized proposals to meet the customer's needs. C&I Sales also works with third party 
energy consultants who procure energy supplies on behalf of commercial and industrial customers. 

As a result of the ACN Energy Transaction, we gained access to ACN's sales force through which we 
hope to expand sales of our energy products to a broader residential and small commercial customer base. 
ACN is considered to be an indirect customer acquisition channel for us, and provides a platform from which 
we expect to grow other indirect channel relationships. 

We also use our website, wwMf.commerceenergy.com, as a tool in acquiring customers. The website 
provides customers with electric and natural gas supply mformation in each territory that we serve, and directs 
customers to either send us automated inquiries or use our toll-free telephone number, 1-800-ELECTRIC®. 

Traditional marketing campaigns such as direct mail, billboards, trade show participation and targeted 
marketing approaches are all utilized to facilitate customer acquisition. We continually refine our marketing 
methodologies to target favorable customers based on changes in the electric and natural gas marketplace in a 
given geographic region, and in response to changes in state or federal regulation. 

Strategy 

Our retail energy sales depend upon our ability to identify and enter profitable energy markets, manage 
the cost of customer acquisition, and achieve sufficient customer scale to create a profitable operating cost 
stmcture. Currently, we intend to: 

• Selectively enter retail energy markets that have rate stmctures, market mles, consumer demographics, 
energy consumption pattems, access to favorable energy supply and risk management profiles that 
enable us to provide savings and/or product offering flexibility to our customers at an acceptable 
margin. 

• Capitahze on the brand recognition of Commerce Energy through our website at 
www.commerceenergy.com and through our inbound toll-free number, 1-800-ELECTRIC®. 

• Take advantage of the increasing consumer acceptance of online commerce, both directly through our 
Website and through traditional channels. 

• Develop strategic marketing alliances with established power suppliers to offer competitive electric 
products and services to targeted markets and customers. 

• Offer additional products and services to our customers, such as risk management pricing altematives, 
outsourced services, consulting services, and eventually, energy efficiency products and services. 

• Provide services, including procurement, energy management, customer service and billing, that assist 
cities and counties to establish community choice ^gregation programs to aggregate their customers 
into portfolios that can be supplied by non-utility providers. 

Energy Supply 

We buy electricity and natural gas in the wholesale market in time-specific block quantities, usually at 
fixed prices. We do not own electricity generation or transmission facilities (with the exception of small 
experimental renewable energy assets), natural gas producing properties or pipelines. All of the electricity and 
natural gas we sell to our customers is purchased from third-party suppliers under short-term and long-term 
contracts. Although we have open lines of credit with suppliers, contractual purchase terms with suppliers 
often require collateral to support our energy purchases. We currently meet any collateral requirements of our 
energy suppliers with our available cash. We do not have open lines of credit for direct unsecured borrowings 
or for letters of credit. 

We sell electricity and natural gas based on the actual energy usage of our customers under either 
contracted fixed prices or monthly variable pricing. We manage the volumetric difference between our 
purchases and the actual sales demand of our customers by buying and selling in the spot market. Independent 
System Operators, or ISOs, and Regional Transmission Organizations, or RTOs, perform real-time load 

http://wwMf.commerceenergy.com
http://www.commerceenergy.com


balancing for each of the electric grids in which we operate. Similarly, balancing is performed by the utilities 
or local distribution companies, or LDCs, for each of the natural gas markets in which we operate. We are 
subject to costs or fees charged by the ISOs or LDCs for electricity and natural gas balancing activities related 
to our account. 

Wholesale electricity and natural gas are readily available from various sources in our markets, except for the 
state of Michigan; however, we do not utihze a significant number of third party electricity or natural gas 
suppliers. In fiscal 2005, we had three electricity suppliers that accounted for 15%, 10% and 10% of our direct 
energy costs which includes the Michigan suppHer. In Michigan, we purchase all of our electricity supply from 
one supplier. Retail electricity sales to customers in Michigan accounted for 14% of our consolidated net revenues 
in fiscal 2005. Based upon current information from our suppUers, we do not anticipate any shortage of supply. 
However, in the event of a supply shortage, there can be no assurance that we would be able to timely secure an 
alternative supply of electricity or natural gas at prices comparable to our current long-term contracts, and the 
failure to replace a suppUer in a timely maimer at comparable prices could materially harm our operations. 

We employ risk management poUcies and procedures to control and monitor the risks associated with 
volatile commodity markets and to assure a balanced portfolio within defined risk tolerances. 

Competition 

Commerce Energy, Inc. 

In markets that are open to competitive choice of retail energy suppliers, there are generally three types of 
competitors: the incumbent utilities, utility affiliated retail marketers and small to mid-size independent retail 
energy companies. Competition is based primarily on price, product offerings and customer service. 

The competitive landscape differs in each utility service area, and within each targeted customer 
segment. For residential and small commercial customers in most service territories, the primary competitive 
challenges come from the incumbent utility and affiliated utility marketing companies. For the medium 
commercial customer, competitive challenges come from both the utility and its affiliated marketing 
company, as well as other mdependents. However, this segment is still the least targeted segment among our 
competition due to the difficulty in balancing cost of acquisition and margin objectives. The large commercial, 
institutional and industrial segments are very competitive in most markets with nearly all customers having 
already switched away from the utility to an alternate provider. National affiliated utility marketers, energy 
producers and other independent retail energy companies often compete for customers in this segment. 

The incumbent regulated utihties and the nationally branded utility affiliates typically benefit from the 
economies of scale derived from the strength of an asset-based balance sheet and vertically integrated business 
model that combines production, transmission and distribution assets. For the incumbent utility these 
advant^es are often off-set by the lack of flexibility to offer multiple product choices to their customers, while 
the nationally branded affiliates often stmggle with long-term focus and cultural adaptation to a non-regulated 
market environment. 

Increasing our market share depends on our abiUty to convince customers to switch to our service. The 
local utilities have the advantage of long-standing relationships with their customers and they have longer 
operating histories, greater financial and other resources and greater name recognition in theu- markets than 
we do. In addition, local utihties have been subject to many years of regulatory oversight and thus have a 
significant amount of experience regardmg the regulators' policy preferences, as well as a critical economic 
mterest in the outcome of proceedings conceming their revenues and terms and conditions of service. Local 
utilities may seek to decrease their tariffed retail rates to limit or to preclude the opportunities for competitive 
energy suppliers and otherwise seek to estabUsh rates, terms and conditions to the disadvantage of competitive 
energy suppUers. There is an emerging trend among some local utilities to exit the merchant function and 
actively encourage customers to leave their energy supply service. This is sometimes encouraged by the 
framework for deregulation within which the local utiUty operates. Recently, there have been several customer 
auctions held in which the local utility assigns its customers to winning retail marketer bidders. We have been 
successful m the customer auction process and plan to pursue more of these opportuiuties as they become 
available. 

Among the retail marketers and wholesale merchants, competition is most intense for the lai^er volume 
customers, such as large commercial and industrial accounts. Our primary target customer segments are small 



to medium commercial customers. We expect that the combination of our existing residential customer base 
and our continued growth wiU enhance our ability to successfully compete for larger commercial and 
institutional customers. 

Most customers who switch away from the local utility do so for economic benefit. Once switched, 
customer retention is based on continuing competitive pricing, reliability of supply and customer service. Our 
customer service record has enabled us to maintain a consistently high customer retention rate. 

Some of our competitors, including local utilities, have formed alliances and joint ventures in order to 
compete in the restmctured retail electricity and natural gas industries. Many customers of these local utiUties 
may decide to stay with their long-time energy provider if they have been satisfied with their service in the 
past. Therefore it may be difficult for us to compete against local utilities and their affiliates. 

In addition to competition from the local utiUties and their affiUates, we may face competition from a 
number of other energy service providers, and other energy industry participants who may develop businesses 
that will compete with us in both local and national markets. We also may face competition from other 
nationally branded providers of consumer products and services. Some of these competitors or potential 
competitors may be larger and better capitalized than we are. 

Skipping Stone 

We face competition in selling consulting and outsourced services from a large variety of companies. 
These competitors may be engaged in the energy business, as we are, or may he national and intemational 
management and information technology firms. 

Seasonality 

Our revenues are subject to fluctuations during the year due primarily to the impact of seasonal demand 
factors on customer sales and the related market prices of electricity and natural gas. Electricity sales volumes 
are historically higher in the summer months for cooUng purposes, followed by the winter months for heating 
and lighting purposes. Natural gas sales demand is higher in the winter heating season, with the lowest 
demand occurring during the summer. 

Governmental Regulation 

In states that have adopted deregulation, state Pubhc UtiUty Commissions, or PUCs, have authority to 
license and regulate certain activities of electric and natural gas retailers. Commerce Energy is subject to 
regulation by the PUC in each state in which we sell electricity and natural gas. We are currently licensed by 
the appUcable PUCs in ten states. These licenses permit us to sell electricity and natural gas to commercial, 
industrial, institutional and residential customers. The requirements for Ucensing and the level of regulation 
vary from state to state. 

We consider each utility service territory within which we operate to be a distinct market due to the 
unique characteristics of each, A discussion of regulations for our market service areas follows: 

Electricity 

Califomia. The 1996 Cahfomia Assembly Bill 1890 codified the restructuring of the California electric 
industry and provided for the right of Direct Access. Direct Access allowed electricity customers to buy their 
power from a suppUer other than the electric distribution utiUties beginning January 1, 1998, On April 1,1998, 
the Company began supplying customers m Califomia with electricity as an ESP. On September 20, 2001, the 
Cahfomia PUC issued a mling suspending electricity Direct Access. This mUng permits ESP's to keep their 
current customers and to solicit direct access customers served by other ESPs; however it prohibits us from 
signing up new non-direct access customers in Califomia for an undetermined period of time. 

Under legislative mandate to ensure all California electricity customers receive reliable service at just and 
reasonable rates, and to protect California's electricity grid, the Califomia PUC has been tasked with 
designing a new Resource Adequacy Requirement, or RAR. In September 2005 Assembly Bill 380, covering 
electrical restmcturing and resource adequacy was passed into law in Califomia. This bill requires the 
Cahfomia PUC, in consultation with the ISO, to estabUsh RARs for all load-serving entities. The bill requires 
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each load-serving entity to secure generating capacity adequate to meet its load requirements, including but 
not Umited to, peak demand and planning and operating reserves, deUverable to locations and at times as may 
be necessary to provide reliable electric service. The Califomia PUC is now engaged in this process. Because 
the bill requires each Load-Serving Entity, or LSE, including us, to be subject to the same requirements as the 
utility, all costs associated with meeting the requirement are recoverable from the customer. However, the 
abiUty to recover such charges wiU, in the case of LSEs, such as Commerce Energy, may be subject to market 
pricing and competitive issues. 

Proceedings and workshops have been ongoing to determine the procedural steps required to ensure a 
functioning regulatory program for RAR. The California PUC has implemented a RAR program applicable 
throughout the service territories of California's three largest Investor-Owned electric Utilities (lOUs). The 
lOUs as well as Electric Service Providers, or ESPs, and Community Choice Aggregators, or CCAs 
(collectively, Load-Serving Entities or LSEs) are required to demonstrate that they have acquired the 
capacity needed to serve their forecast retail customer load and a 15-17% reserve margin beginning in June 
2006. We continue to monitor these mlemaking proceedings. 

Proposition 80, an initiative on the November 8, 2005 California special election ballot, would ban 
electricity customers from buying their power from a supplier other than the electric distribution utilities, 
except for those already doing so. Although the Legislature in 2001 put a halt to the enrollment of new 
customers, that ban could be Ufted at any time. Proposition 80 would make the freeze permanent. 
Additionally, Proposition 80 would subject ESPs, such as the Company, to additional regulations and 
requirements not curtently applied to them. Should Proposition 80 become law, the Company could continue 
to serve the curtcnt customer base under the new regulations; however the possibility of enrolling new non-
direct access customers would be terminated. 

Pennsylvania. In 1996, the Electricity Generation Customer Choice and Competition Act was passed. 
The law allowed electric consumers to choose among competitive power suppliers beginning with one third of 
the State's consumers by January 1999, two thirds by January 2000, and all consumers by January 2001, The 
Company began serving customers in Pennsylvania in 1999. 

Curtcnt utility default rates are capped until 2010 as a resuh of the restmcturing related to the Electric 
Choice Law, As power prices rise significantly, it has become clear that the utiUty price cap is not realistic or 
representative of tme market power costs. Squeezed between a capped utiUty rate, high wholesale electricity 
costs and the high cost of servicing customers in Pennsylvania (due to the market mles and market stmcture), 
many companies, including Commerce Energy, have reduced the number of customers served in the state. 

There are no current rate cases or filings at the Pennsylvania PUC anticipated which would impact the 
Company's financial results. 

Michigan. The Michigan state legislature passed two acts, the Customer Choice Act and Electricity 
ReUabiUty Act, signed into law on June 3, 2000. Open access, or Choice, became available to all consumers of 
Michigan electric distribution utilities, beginning January 1, 2002. We began marketing in Michigan's Detroit 
Edison service territory in September 2002. 

Detroit Edison's Retail Access Service Tariff requires certain electric choice customers to connect a 
telephone Une to their electric meter in order for the meter to be read remotely by Detroit Edison, Detroit 
Edison is responsible for switching out meters, while the customer is responsible for supplying and maintaming 
the telephone line, which can be shared or dedicated. Bundled customers served under the traditional tariff 
have no meter or telemetry requirements. 

A 2005 Michigan PubUc Service Commission, or PSC, filing by Detroit Edison suggested changes to the 
metering and telemetry requirements for customers taking service from altemative suppUers, such as the 
Company. The PSC recommended that this issue be resolved in a collaborative process led by Detroit Edison. 
The Electric Choice Metering Collaborative, consisting of approximately 12 representatives from suppliers 
including the Company, met earlier this year. General agreement was reached on certain key points, but the 
suppliers have as yet been unable to reach agreement with Detroit Edison on aU points requiring resolution. 

Should these changes be approved by the Michigan PSC, most of our current and new customers would 
no longer be required to have telemetry. Detroit Edison believes this issue should be resolved and the new 



rules in place by January 2006. This change could increase the retention rate of our existing customers and 
improve our marketing abilities to new customers. 

The cunent rate cap on residential customers will be lifted as of January 1, 2006. As a result, residential 
customers will see a rate increase of 15-20%; however, a residential customer who elects Choice would see 
their bill increase approximately 20% due to a demand charge implemented by Detroit Edison only to Choice 
customers, A primary component of the rate increase is a shifting of rate responsibiUty away from commercial 
Customers, whose rates are likely to decrease in January in spite of much higher wholesale energy costs. This 
may have a negative impact on the Company's ability to retain and acquire new commercial customers in the 
state. 

New Jersey. Deregulation activities began in New Jersey in November 1999 when the Board of Public 
Utilities, or BPU, approved the implementation plan. The Company began marketing in New Jersey in the 
PubUc Service Electric and Gas service territory in December 2003. There are no current rate cases or filings 
regarding this territory that are anticipated to impact the Company's financial results. 

Texas. Texas deregulation began in 1999 with the passage of Senate BiU 7 by the Texas legislature. 
Beginning January 2002, Texas electricity consumers had the choice of picking their Retail Electricity 
Provider, or REP. With the ACN Energy Transaction, the Company began serving electric customers in the 
TXU and CenterPoint market areas of the Electric Reliability Council of Texas, or ERCOT. On May 16, 
2005, we expanded further into the Texas markets of American Electric Power, or AEP, and Texas New 
Mexico Power, or TNMP. There are no curtent rate cases or filings at the Texas PUC which are expected to 
impact our financial results. 

Natural Gas 

Beginning with the Natural Gas PoHcy Act of 1978, the U.S. Congress initiated a process that ended 
federal control over the price of natural gas at the wellhead. This ultimately set in motion a series of public 
policy changes by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) and state utility commissions that 
have resulted in consumer choice programs for aU natural gas users in certain states. 

Through the ACN Energy Transaction, we now serve natural gas customers in eight utility gas market 
areas in the following six states: 

California. We currently serve residential and small commercial customers in the Southem Cahfomia 
Gas and Pacific Gas & Electric gas markets. We are the only core aggregation transportation provider to 
residential customers in these market areas. There are no curtent rate cases or fiUngs pending before the 
Califomia PUC that are anticipated to impact our financial results. 

Georgia. In 1997, the Georgia General Assembly passed the Georgia Natural Gas Competition and 
Deregulation Act (Act). This comprehensive restmcturing reorganized the Georgia retail natural gas market 
and allowed natural gas marketers to serve retail consumers. The Georgia Public Service Commission, or the 
GA PSC, has implemented a comprehensive unbundling program in the state. Over 80 percent of the state's 
residential gas consumers are serviced by certified gas marketers. We received GA PSC approval to transition 
all residential and small commercial customers in the Atianta Gas Light Company gas market from ACN 
Energy to Commerce in July 2005. The abiUty to disconnect customers for non-payment of invoices is severely 
constrained by system design and human resource limitations in this market. This may affect the Company's 
ability to limit losses withm this market. No significant legislative or mlemaking events in this market place 
are on the horizon. 

Maryland. In 1997, natural gas choice was brought to Maryland consumers. We provide gas service to 
residential and small commercial customers in the Baltimore Gas & Electric market area. There are other gas 
marketers that serve these types of customers. In July of this year the Maryland PubUc Service Commission 
adopted enhanced customer protection rules which will be applied to the retail energy market. The approval of 
these mles will not impact financial results as the Company is currently compUant. 

New York. In 1996, New York began offering natural gas choice programs. We currently serve 
residential and small commercial customers in the KeySpan Energy DeUvery gas market. There are other gas 
marketers that serve these types of customers. In the fall of 2004, the New York Public Service Commission 
issued a policy statement requiring aU utilities to submit a plan outlining their program to enhance the Choice 
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program in the market place resulting in an increased competitive environment. Currently several of the 
utilities are holding collaborative meetings with all stakeholders to gather input and guidance on the design of 
each of their program proposals. We expect that these activities wiU improve the Company's ability to market 
in New York to new gas customers, 

Ohio. Natural gas choice programs began in 1997 in Ohio. We provide gas service to residential and 
smaU commercial customers in the Dommion East Ohio, or DEO, and Columbia Gas of Ohio service areas. In 
May of this year, DEO submitted a plan to the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio, or PUCO, to exit the 
merchant function as a natural gas suppUer and shed its remaining customer base through a process of 
auctions, Curtently that plan is under review by the PUCO and public hearings are expected to commence in 
December, 2005 to review and act on the submitted plan. We expect this proceeding could result in sigiuficant 
opportunity for us to expand our customer base. 

Pennsylvania. In 1988, smaU commercial natural gas consumers saw the start of choice in Pennsylvania. 
In 1997, the natural gas supply service in Permsylvania was fully opened to competition for all customer 
classes. The Natural Gas Choice and Competition Act specified that after 5 years (July 2004) the PUC was 
to initiate an investigation or other proceeding to evaluate the competitiveness of natural gas supply services in 
the state and report its findings to the General Assembly. The PUC launched its investigation in May 2004 
and held a special hearing on September 30, 2004. The PUC is expected to report its findings during the next 
legislative session. If it is determined that the market is not sufficiently competitive, further actions are to be 
considered, including legislation. Any impact to Commerce Energy can not be determined until such time as 
the report is made and recommendations, if any, are analyzed. PECO Energy Company, or PECO, has several 
gas rate tariff filings pending at the Pennsylvania PUC. If approved as filed, PECO gas customers would see a 
decrease of approximately 8% from the existing PECO price per Mcf and such tariff change could impact our 
ability to retain or attract new customers. 

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 

We are subject to regulation by various other federal, state and local govemmental agencies. Our electric 
purchases and sales are subject to the jurisdiction of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or FERC, 
under the Federal Power Act. We make sales of electricity pursuant to a Power Marketer certificate issued by 
FERC. While not generally regulating the rates, terms or conditions of electricity sales, FERC has the 
authority to institute proceedings to identify transactions involving rates that are not just and reasonable due to 
market manipulation and to reverse or unwind such transactions to ensure just and reasonable rates. 

The Energy Policy Act of 2005 

On August 8, 2005, tiie Energy PoUcy Act oi 2005, or EPA 2005, was signed into law. The scope of EPA 
2005 is broad, addressing fossil, nuclear and renewable energy, energy efficiency and tax credits and 
mcentives, across a range of energy producing and consuming sectors. Certain changes mandated by EPA 
2005 may have a direct or indirect effect on our business. In particular, provisions intended to enhance the 
reUability of electric transmission and delivery systems, further the transparency of electricity and natural gas 
markets, encourage the constmction of new electric transmission infrastmcture, and facilitate the importation 
of natural gas should increase the efficiency of the competitive wholesale natural gas and electricity markets in 
which we participate. Furthermore, effective Febmary 8, 2006, EPA 2005 replaces the Public Utility Holding 
Company Act of 1935, or PUHCA 1935, with tiie PubUc Utility Holding Company Act of 2005, or PUHCA 
2005. PUHCA 2005 involves much less extensive regulation than PUHCA 1935, but does include provisions 
mvolving FERC access to books and records of pubUc utiUty holding companies and their affiliates, as weU as 
certain oversight over affiliate transactions. In accordance with EPA 2005, FERC has initiated mlemaking 
(RM05-32-000) to address certain issues related to implementation of PUHCA 2005, including implement­
ing the Federal access to books and records. 

In the past, through a series of no action letters, the SEC has concluded that electric and gas marketers 
who did not own or operate electric generation, transmission or distribution faciUties or gas retail distribution 
faciUties were not electric utUities, and their parent companies were not public utility holding companies, 
under PUHCA 1935. Various commenters are participating in the FERC mlemaking proceedings and have 
urged FERC to confirm that such electric and gas marketers are not electric pubUc utiUties under PUHCA 
2005, and that their parent companies are not holding companies under PUHCA 2005, so they would not be 

11 



subject to the provisions of the new law. Comments were recently filed as part of the FERC mlemaking 
proceeding, which is now pending before FERC. 

Intellectual Property 

Intellectual property assets include our proprietary software and service products, our registered 
trademarks (electricAmerica®, Green Smart®, 1-800-Electric®, electric.com® and Utilihost, Inc.®), our 
1-800-EIectric telephone number and rights to our Intemet domain names {electric.com and electricAmer-
ica.com). We beheve that each of our intellectual property assets offers us strategic advantages in our 
operations. 

Our strategy for protection of our trademarks is to routinely file U.S. federal and foreign trademark 
applications for the various word names and logos used to market our services to licensees and the general 
public. The duration of the U.S. and foreign registered trademarks can typically be maintained indefinitely, 
provided proper fees are paid and trademarks are continually used or Ucensed by us. 

Employees 

As of July 31, 2005, we employed approximately 160 full-time employees, including 29 in administration, 
23 in marketing and sales, and 108 in operations. Our employees are not covered by a collective bargaining 
agreement or presently represented by a labor union. We have not experienced any work stoppages and 
consider our employee relations to be good. 

Available Information 

Our Intemet Address is www.commerceenergygroup.com. There we make available, free of charge, our 
annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form lO-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any 
amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with 
or fumish it to the SEC. Our SEC reports can be accessed through the investor relations section of our web 
site. The information found on our web site is not part of this or any other report we file or fumish to the SEC. 
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Item lA. Executive Officers of the Registrant. 

Information About Our Executive OfHcers 

The following table sets forth information regarding our executive officers, including their respective 
business experience during the last five years and age as of October 14,2005. Executive officers are elected by, 
and serve at the pleasure of, the Board of Directors. There are no arrangements or understandings pursuant to 
which any of the persons listed below was selected as an executive officer. 
Name and Position Age Principal Occupation and Other Information 

Steven S. Boss 
Chief Executive Officer and 
Director 

59 

Lawrence Clayton, Jr 52 
Interim Senior Vice President, 
Chief Financial Officer and 
Secretary 

Mr. Boss was appointed to the Board of Directors in July 22, 2005 
and appointed Chief Executive Officer of Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc. in August 2005. Since August 2005, Mr. Boss also has 
served as a director and President of Commerce Energy, Inc., a 
director and Chief Executive Officer of Skipping Stone Inc. and of 
Utilihost, Inc, Each of Commerce Energy, Inc., Skipping Stone 
Inc, and UtiUhost, Inc. are wholly-owned subsidiaries of 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc. From 2003 to August 2005, Mr. 
Boss was an attomey in private practice specializing in the 
representation of energy companies and commercial energy users. 
From 2000 to 2003, Mr. Boss served as president of Energy Buyers 
Network, LLC, an energy consulting firm that provided regulatory 
representation and stmctured direct access energy transactions for 
commercial energy users. From 1999 to 2000, he served as 
president of both Sierta Pacific Energy Company and Nevada 
Power Services, non-regulated energy services operating 
subsidiaries of Sierta Pacific Resources. Prior to that, Mr. Boss 
served in various legal and senior management positions in a 
number of energy companies and practiced law in private practice. 
From 1984 to 1992, Mr. Boss served as president and chief 
executive officer of Sunrise Energy Services, Inc., an independent 
natural gas marketing company with shares listed on the American 
and London Stock Exchanges. Mr. Boss received a Bachelor of 
Science in Aerospace Engineering from the University of Texas 
and a Juris Doctor from the University of Southem Califomia. He 
has been a member of the State Bar of Califomia since 1974. 

Mr. Clayton was appointed Interim Chief Fmancial Officer and 
Secretary of the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. in August 2005. 
Since August 2005, Mr. Clayton has served as a director and Chief 
Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary of Commerce Energy, 
Inc. and a director, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and 
Secretary of Skipping Stone Inc. and Utilihost, Inc. From March 
2004 to August 2005, Mr. Clayton was a principal of The Practice 
Advisory Group, a private management consulting oiganization. 
From 2003 to March 2004, he served as a private consultant for 
energy clients. From 2000 to 2002 Mr. Clayton served as Chief 
Financial Officer of EOTT Energy, a large independent gatherer 
and marketer of cmde oil. From 1994 to 2000, Mr. Clayton was the 
Chief Financial Officer of Aquila Energy, an energy merchant 
subsidiary of UtiliCorp United, Inc., which traded on the New 
York Stock Exchange. Mr. Clayton is a graduate of Rice 
University, where he eamed both an M.A. in Accounting and a 
B.A. in Managerial Studies and Economics, 
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Name and Position Age 

Eric G. Alam 43 
Senior Vice President of Sales 
and Marketing 

Thomas L. Ulry 41 
Senior Vice President of 
Operations 

Principal Occupation and Other Information 

Mr. Alam was appointed Senior Vice President of Sales and 
Marketing of Commerce Energy Group, Inc, in Febmary 2005. 
Prior to joining Commerce Energy Group, Inc, and since 1997, Mr. 
Alam was a Principal with Skipping Stone Inc. where he led 
various practice areas including Retail Markets, Wholesale Trading 
and Risk Management, Customer Acquisition and Tech Solutions. 
His professional experience also includes serving at the executive 
level at Penn Union Energy Services (Pennzoil), Enron 
Corporation, Tenneco, Inc. and EnTrade. Mr. Alam eamed a 
Bachelor of Science degree in Economics and Business 
Administration at Vanderbilt University. 

Mr. Ulry was appointed Senior Vice President of Operations of 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc. in Febmary 2005. From October 
2003 until he joined Commerce Energy Group, Mr. Ulry served as 
Global Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of ACN 
Energy, a division of ACN, Inc, that was acquired by us in 
Febmary 2005. From November 2001 to July 2003, Mr. Ulry 
served as Senior Vice President for Nicor Energy, L.L.C. Mr. Ulry 
was President and Chief Operating Officer of Energy.com 
Corporation from 1997 through October 2001. Mr. Ulry has also 
held positions with Access Energy Corporation, Unicorp Energy, 
Inc. and Utilicorp Energy Services/Broad Street OU & Gas. Mr. 
Ulry holds an Associates degree in Information Technology from 
Columbus Para-Professional Institute. 

Item 2- Properties. 

Our principal executive office is located in Costa Mesa, Califomia, This faciUty houses our administration 
and operations. We lease approximately 38,677 square feet of office space at these premises pursuant to a sub­
lease that expires on September 6, 2009. We also lease approximately 9,000 square feet of additional office 
space in Farmington HiUs, Michigan under a month to month lease, cancelable by either party with a 90 day 
written notice. In addition, Skipping Stone has offices in Boston, Massachusetts and Houston, Texas. The 
Boston office consists of approximately 3,200 square feet under a lease that expires in June 2010, and the 
Houston office consists of approximately 5,600 square feet under a lease that expires in Febmary 2007. 

We beUeve that our leased property is in good condition, is well maintained and is adequate for our 
curtent and immediately foreseeable operating needs. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings. 

We are currently, and from time to time may become, involved in Htigation conceming claims arising out 
of our operations in the normal course of business. We are currently not involved in any legal proceedings that 
are expected to have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or 
cash flows. 

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders. 

No matters were submitted to security holders in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005. 
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Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of 
Equity Securities. 

Market Information 

On July 8, 2004, our common stock began trading on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol 
"EGR." The following table sets forth, the high and low sales price per share of common stock for the periods 
indicated, as reported on the American Stock Exchange: 

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 2004 High Low 

Fourth Quarter (beginning July 8, 2004) $3.49 $1.25 

Fiscal Year Ending July 3J, 2005 High Low 

First Quarter $2.00 $1.20 

Second Quarter $2.10 $0.75 

Third Quarter $3.45 $1.91 

Fourth Quarter $2.21 $1.33 

As of October 14, 2005, the last reported sales price on the American Stock Exchange for our common 
stock was $1.49 per share. 

Holders 

As of October 14, 2005, there were 1,972 holders of record of our common stock. 

Dividend Policy 

We have not declared or paid a cash dividend on our common stock, and we do not anticipate paying any 
cash dividend for the foreseeable future. We presently intend to retain eamings to finance future opera-
tions,expansion and capital investment. 

Prior to July 2004, the Series A convertible preferred stock of Commonwealth Energy Corporation 
provided for cumulative dividends that accmed at a rate of 10% per annum. During fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2004, 
Commonwealth declared and paid cash dividends of $92,100 and $107,568, respectively, on the Series A 
convertible preferred stock. On July 6, 2004, immediately prior to the reorganization, all 609,000 outstanding 
shares of the Series A convertible preferred stock were converted to Commonwealth common stock by a vote 
of Commonwealth's Series A convertible preferted stockholders. Accordingly, as of July 31, 2004 and 2005, 
there were no shares of Commonwealth's Series A convertible preferted stock outstanding, and no accmed 
dividends on shares of Series A convertible preferred stock. 

Prior to July 2004, Commonwealth recognized 392,000 shares of "other convertible preferted stock" that 
accmed interest at rates of 12% to 14% per annum. During fiscal 2003, Commonwealth did not declare or pay 
cash dividends on the "other convertible preferred stock." In fiscal 2004, Commonwealth declared and paid 
cash dividends of $73,507 on its "other convertible preferted stock." Prior to the reorganization in July 2004, 
all of the shares of Other convertible preferred stock were converted to Commonwealth common stock at the 
election of the Other convertible preferted stockholders. Accordingly, as of July 31,2004 and 2005, there were 
no shares of Commonwealth's "other convertible preferted stock" outstanding or accmed dividends on shares 
of "other convertible preferred stock." 

Equity Compensation Plan Information 

Information conceming securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans is set 
forth in Park III, Item 12 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption. "Security Ownership of 
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management — Equity Compensation Plan Information," and that informa­
tion is incorporated herein by reference. 
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities 

As previously disclosed in our Curtent Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on Febmary 10, 2005, we issued 930,233 shares of our common stock to American Communica­
tions Network, Inc., in addition to cash consideration, as consideration for the purchase of assets in the ACN 
Energy Transaction. The shares of common stock were valued at $2.0 million, based upon the market price for 
our common stock as of Febmary 8, 2005, the date immediately prior to the closing date, and were placed in 
escrow to be released upon satisfaction of certain performance targets related to customer growth and earning 
of certain customer acquisition fees. If the targets are not achieved in fuU, any shares not released to ACN will 
be returned to us. The shares of common stock were issued pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Rule 506 of Regulation D thereunder, as a transaction not 
involving a pubUc offering. 

On October 8, 2005, we issued 1,000 shares of our comtnon stock to John JuUan, one of our former 
employees, pursuant to his exercise of a stock option agreement. The exercise price of the option was $0.05 per 
share. The shares of our common stock issued to Mr. Julian were issued pursuant to Section 4(2) of the 
Securities Act as a transaction not involving a pubUc offering. 
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data. 

The selected financial data in the following table sets forth (a) balance sheet data as of July 31, 2004 and 
2005, and statement of operations data for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 derived from 
our consoUdated financial statements audited by Emst & Young LLP, independent registered public 
accounting firm, which are included elsewhere in this filing, and (b) balance sheet data as of July 31, 2001, 
2002 and 2003, and statements of operations data for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2001 and 2002, derived 
from our consolidated financial statements audited by Emst & Young LLP, which are not included in this 
fiUng. The information below should be read in conjunction with "Item 7. Management's Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation" and "Item 8. Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data." 

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 

(Amounts in thousands except per share information) 

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data: 

Net revenue $183,264 $117,768 $165,526 $210,623 $253,853 

Direct energy costs 77,281 87,340 128,179 191,180 225,671 

Gross profit 105,983 30,428 37,347 19,443 28,182 

Operating expenses 24,919 20,247 22,732 33,313 35,585 

Income (loss) from operations 81,064 10,181 14,615 (13,870) (7,403) 

Initial formation litigation expenses (276) (1,671) (4,415) (1,562) (1,601) 

Recovery of (provision for) impairment on 
investments — — — (7,135) 2,000 

Loss on termination of Summit — — — (1,904) — 

Loss on equity investments — (160) (567) — — 

Minority interest share of loss — — 187 1,185 — 

Interest income, net 1,593 939 715 549 890 

Income (loss) before provision for (benefit 
from) income taxes 82,381 9,289 10,535 (22,737) (6,114) 

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 21,852 4,125 5,113 (1,017) ^ 

Net income (loss) $ 60,529 $ 5,164 $ 5,422 $(21,720) $ (6,114) 

Earnings (loss) per common share 

Basic $ 2.06 $ 0.19 $ 0.19 $ (0.77) $ (0.20) 

DUuted $ 1.77 $ 0.16 $ 0.18 $ (0.77) $ (0.20) 

Weighted-average shares outstanding: 

Basic 29,385 27,482 27,424 28,338 30,946 

Diluted 34,152 3\.,536 30,236 28,338 30,946 

As of July 31, 
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 

(Amounts in thousands) 

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data: 
Working capital $ 50,184 $ 58,841 $ 56,411 $ 58,105 $ 36,719 

Total assets 107,016 101,229 125,870 110,823 102,632 

Stockholders' equity 86,037 87,952 93,017 74,106 70,061 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation. 

We are a diversified independent energy marketer of electricity and natural gas to end user customers. 
We provide retail electricity and natural gas to residential, commercial, industrial and institutional customers 
in nine states. Our principal operating subsidiary, Commerce Energy, Inc., is licensed by the Federal Energy 
Regulatory Commission, or FERC, as a power marketer. In addition to the states in which we currently 
operate, we are also licensed to supply retail electricity in New York, Maryland, Ohio and licensed to supply 
retail electricity and natural gas in Virginia. 

We were founded in 1997 as a retail electricity marketer in CaUfomia and have grown to serve electricity 
and natural gas customers in nineteen utility markets in nine states. Growth has occurted by a combination of 
organic means and acquisitions. In the past eighteen months we acquired Skipping Stone Inc., or Skipping 
Stone, an energy consulting company, and purchased from American Communications Network, Inc. and 
certain of its subsidiaries, which we refer to collectively as ACN, certain assets of ACN's retail electric power 
and natural gas sales business. 

As of July 31, 2005, we deUvered electricity to approximately 80,000 customers in CaUfomia, Penn­
sylvania, Michigan, New Jersey and Texas; and natural gas to approximately 60,000 customers in Califomia, 
Georgia, Maryland, New York, Ohio and Pennsylvania. The potential growth of this business depends upon a 
number of factors, including the degree of deregulation in each state, our ability to acquire new customers and 
retain existing customers and our abiUty to acquire energy for our customers at competitive prices and on 
favorable credit terms. 

The electricity and natural gas we sell to our customers is purchased from third party suppUers under 
short-term and long-term contracts. We do not own electricity generation faciUties, natural gas producing 
properties or pipelines. The electricity and natural gas we sell is generally metered and delivered to our 
customers by the local utilities. The local utiUties also provide biUing and coUection services for many of our 
customers on our behalf Additionally, to facilitate load shaping and demand balancing for our customers, we 
buy and sell surplus electricity and natural gas from and to other market participants when necessary. We 
utilize third party facilities for the storage of our natural gas. 

Acquisitions 

ACN Energy Transaction 

On Febmary 9, 2005, we entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with American Communications 
Network, Inc., and certain of its subsidiaries, which we refer to as ACN. Under the Purchase Agreement, we 
acquired certain assets of ACN's retail electric power and natural gas sales business, and assumed specified 
liabilities. We refer to this acquisition in this Annual Report as the ACN Energy Transaction and the assets 
acquired in the ACN Energy Transaction as the ACN Energy Assets, ACN sold retail electric power in Texas 
and Pennsylvania and retail natural gas in CaUfomia, Ohio, Georgia, New York, Pennsylvania and Maryland. 
The assets of ACN included equipment, gas inventory associated with utility and pipeline storage and 
transportation agreements and electricity supply, scheduling and capacity contracts, software and other 
infrastmcture plus approximately 80,000 residential and small commercial customers. The assets purchased 
and the operating results generated from the ACN Energy Transaction have been included in our statement of 
operations as of Febmary 1, 2005, in accordance with the terms of the Purchase Agreement. 

In addition, we entered into a Sales Agency Agreement, pursuant to which we gained access to ACN*s 
network of independent sales representatives. Under the Sales Agency Agreement, we pay ACN a commission 
for customers acquired by their independent sales representatives and a per-customer acquisition fee for each 
customer acquired through the Sales Agency Agreement. Sales commissions are paid monthly in cash, while 
customer acquisition fees are paid by the issuance of our common stock to ACN, based on the fair market 
value of the common stock when a customer acquisition fee is due. 

The Sales Agency Agreement has an initial term of one year, and is subject to annual renewal unless 
terminated by either party upon at least 90 days prior written notice prior to the expiration of the initial term or 
any successive term. Should the parties extend the Sales Agency Agreement for successive annual or other 
mutually agreeable period(s) then, for such periods the customer acquisition fees will be paid by the issuance 
of additional shares of our common stock to ACN, based on the fair market value of the common stock when 
a customer acquisition fee is due. The number of shares of our common stock that can be issued to ACN 



under the Purchase Agreement and the Sales Agency Agreement (including any renewals thereof) Is capped 
at 14.9% of the outstanding shares of common stock as of the closing date, or approximately 4,544,394 shares. 

The aggregate purchase price was $14.5 million in cash and 930,233 shares of the Company common 
stock, valued at $2.0 million. The purchase was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting and 
resulted in $6.2 million of goodwill and $2.5 million of intangibles, including the contingent equity and other 
intangible assets. In addition, as part of the initial purchase price, we were required to fund $2.5 million of 
collateraUzed letters of credit on the closing date to guarantee our performance to various third parties. The 
common stock payment is contingent upon meeting certain sales requirements during the year following the 
acquisition date, and has been placed in an escrow account. Based on sales results to date, it appears that 
virtually none of the contingent consideration will be eamed and goodwill will be reduced by substantially all 
of the $2.0 milhon in Febmary 2006. 

Skipping Stone Inc. 

On April I, 2004, we acquired Skipping Stone Inc. which provides energy-related consulting and 
technologies to utiUties, electricity generators, natural gas pipelines, wholesale energy merchants, energy 
technology providers and financial institutions. The aggregate purchase price for all of the outstanding 
Skipping Stone securities, which consisted of common stock and vested options, was $3.1 million and the 
assumption of $600,000 of debt, subject to Umited restrictions and tme-up provisions. The purchase price was 
paid through the issuance of shares of our common stock valued at $1.92 per share. For the fiscal years ended 
July 31,2004 and 2005, Skipping Stone revenues (after elimination of inter-company transactions) accounted 
for less than 1% of total net revenue of Commerce. 

Investments 

We have investments in two energy technology companies: Encorp Inc, (formerly known as Envenergy, 
Inc.), or Encorp, a developer of software and hardware for energy and faciUty management that enables 
energy usage and cost information to be gathered and disseminated for the benefit of its customers, and Power 
Efficiency Corporation, or PEC, a company which markets its own brand of induction motor efficiency 
products that enhances motor performance and reduces energy consumption. These two investments and our 
investment in Turbocor B.V., or Turbocor (which was sold in July 2005), a manufacturer of energy efficient 
compressors for commercial heating, air conditioning, and refrigeration appUcation, were previously held by 
Summit Energy Ventures, LLC, or Summit, which we formed in July 2001. Effective May 1,2004, our equity 
interest and contractual relationship with Summit were terminated and we acquired the direct ownership in 
the three portfolio companies previously held by Summit. 

In fiscal 2004, we consolidated Summit and its majority interest in PEC into our financial results. As a 
result of terminating our relationship with Summit, we no longer consolidate Summit and PEC in our curtcnt 
fiscal year financial results because we retained a 39.9% interest in PEC. As of July 31, 2005, our ownership 
interest had been reduced to 15% as a resuh of equity-Unked financings by PEC in which we did not 
participate. We currently account for our investment in PEC under the equity method of accounting, however, 
because we have no investment basis in PEC, further losses are not being recognized in our consoUdated 
financial statements. 

On July 29, 2005, we sold our ownership interest in Turbocor for $2.0 milUon. As of July 31, 2005, we 
continue to hold a 1.9% interest in Encorp. 

Market and Regulatory 

We currently serve electricity and gas customers in nine states, operating within the jurisdictional 
territory of nineteen different local utilities. Among other things, tariff fiUngs by local distribution companies, 
or LDCs, for changes in their allowed billing rate to their customers in the markets in which we operate, 
significantly impact the viability of our sales and marketing plans and our overaU operating and financial 
results. Although regulatory requirements are determined at the individual state, and administered and 
monitored by the Public UtiUty Commission, or PUC, of each state, operating rales and rate filings for each 
utility are unique. Accordingly, we generally treat each utiUty distribution territory as a distinct market. 
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Electricity 

Currently, we actively market electricity in eleven LDC markets within the five states of CaUfomia, 
Pennsylvania, Michigan, New Jersey and Texas, 

On April 1, 1998, we began supplying customers in CaUfomia with electricity as an Electric Service 
Provider, or ESP. On September 20, 2001, the CaUfomia Public Utility Commission, or CPUC, issued a 
mUng suspending the right of Direct Access, which allowed electricity customers to buy their power from a 
supplier other than the electric utiUties. This suspension, although permitting us to keep curtent direct access 
customers and to solicit direct access customers served by other ESPs, prohibits us from soliciting new non-
direct access customers for an indefinite period of time. 

Currently, several important issues are under review by the CPUC, including a Resource Adequacy 
Requirement and a Renewable PortfoUo Standard. Additional costs to serve customers in CaUfomia are 
anticipated from these proceedings, however, the CPUC decisions wUl determine the distribution of costs 
across all load serving entities. We cannot curtentiy estimate the impact that these issues and anticipated 
additional costs may have on our future financial results. 

There are no current rate cases or fiUngs in the states of Pennsylvania, Michigan, New Jersey or Texas 
that are anticipated to impact our financial results. 

Natural Gas 

Curtently, we actively market natural gas in eight LDC markets within the six states of Califomia, 
Georgia, Maryland, New York, Ohio and Pennsylvania. Due to recent and significant increases in the price of 
natural gas, a number of LDCs have filed or communicated expectations of filing for approval of rate increases 
to their customers. Although the impact of these fiUngs cannot currently be estimated, they are not anticipated 
to adversely impact our financial results. 

We provide natural gas service to residential and small commercial customers in the Dominion East 
Ohio, or DEO, and the Columbia Gas of Ohio service areas. In December 2004, DEO notified the PubUc 
Utilities Commission of Ohio, or PUCO, of its desire to exit the commodity market. Its stated goal is to 
become a distribution-only company by the end of 2006. Nearly 60% of DEO's customers currently participate 
in Customer Choice whereby they are already receiving the commodity portion of the service from a provider 
other than DEO. In April 2005, DEO filed with the PUCO to embark upon its plan. The ultimate outcome of 
this filmg is unknown; however, it is not anticipated to adversely impact our financial results. 

We provide natural gas service to residential and small commercial consumers in the Philadelphia 
Electric Company service area in Pennsylvania. In May 2004, the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission, or 
PUC, undertook an evaluation of the competitiveness of natural gas supply services in the state. If the PUC 
determines the market is not sufficiently competitive, further actions wiU be considered. We are the otdy 
natural gas provider to residential customers in this market. The potential impact of this evaluation to our 
operations is unknown at this time. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

The following discussion and analysis of our fmancial condition and operating results are based on our 
consolidated financial statements. The preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K requires us to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabiUties, disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabiUties at the date of our financial statements, and the reported amount of revenue and expenses 
during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates and assumptions. In preparing our 
financial statements and accounting for the underlying transactions and balances, we apply our accounting 
poUcies as disclosed in our notes to the consolidated financial statements. The accounting policies discussed 
below are those that we consider to be critical to an understanding of our financial statements because their 
appUcation places the most significant demands on our abiUty to judge the effect of inherently uncertain 
matters on our financial results. For all of these policies, we caution that future events rarely develop exactly as 
forecast, and the best estimates routinely require adjustment. 

• Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities— We purchase substantially all of our 
power and natural gas under forward physical delivery contracts for supply to our retail customers, 
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These forward physical deUvery contracts are defined as commodity derivative contracts under 
Statement of Fmancial Accounting Standard, or SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instm­
ments and Hedging Activities". Using the exemption available for qualifying contracts under 
SFAS No. 133, we apply the normal purchase and normal sale accounting treatment to a majority of 
our forward physical deUvery contracts. Accordingly, we record revenue generated from customer sales 
as energy is delivered to our retail customers and the related energy cost under our forward physical 
deUvery contracts is recorded as direct energy costs when received from our suppUers. 

As a result of a sale on January 28, 2005 of two significant electricity forward physical delivery 
contracts (on a net cash settlement basis) back to the original supplier, the normal purchase and 
normal sale exemption is no longer avaUable for our Pennsylvania market (PJM-ISO). Accordingly, 
we designate forward physical deUvery contracts entered into for our Pennsylvania electricity market 
(PJM-ISO), and certain other forward fixed price purchases and fmancial derivatives as cash flow 
hedges, whereby mark to market accounting gains or losses are deferted and reported as a component 
of Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) until the time of physical deUvery and the fair value of the 
contracts is recorded as a current or long-term derivative asset or UabiUty. Subsequent changes in the 
fair value of the derivative assets and liabilities are recorded on a net basis in Other Comprehensive 
Income (Loss) and subsequently reclassified as direct energy cost in our consolidated statement of 
operations as the power is delivered. To the extent that the hedges are not effective, the ineffective 
portion of the changes in fair market value is recorded curtently in direct energy costs. We intend to 
continue to use financial derivative instmments (such as swaps, options and futures) as an effective 
way of assisting in managing our price risk in energy supply procurement. Additionally, we expect to 
utilize cash flow hedge accounting, where appropriate. 

We also utiUze other financial derivatives, primarily swaps, options and futures to hedge our 
commodity price risks. Certain derivative instmments, which are designated as economic hedges or as 
speculative, do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment and require curtent period mark to market 
accounting in accordance with SFAS No. 133, with fair market value being used to determine the 
related income or expense that is recorded each quarter in the statement of operations. As a result, the 
changes in fair value of derivatives that do not meet the requirements of normal purchase and normal 
sale accounting treatment or cash flow hedge accounting are recorded in operating income (loss) and 
as a current or long-term derivative asset or liability. The subsequent changes in the fair value of these 
contracts could result in operating income (loss) volatility as the fair value of the changes are recorded 
on a net basis in direct energy costs in our consoUdated statement of operations for each period. 

We determined that our documentation during fiscal 2005 was inadequate for the contracts that were 
designated for cash flow hedge accounting treatment pursuant to the provisions of SFAS No. 133, 
resulting in curtent period mark to market accounting for all of our electricity forward physical 
contracts and financial derivatives designated as cash flow hedges in fiscal 2005, 

Utility and independent system operator — Included in direct energy costs, along with the cost of 
energy that we purchase, are scheduUng costs. Independent System Operator, or ISO, fees, interstate 
pipeUne costs and utUity service charges. The actual charges and certain energy costs are not finaUzed 
until subsequent settlement processes are performed for all distribution system participants. Prior to 
the completion of settlements (which may take from one to several months), we estimate these costs 
based on historical trends and preUminary settlement information. The historical trends and preUmi-
nary information may differ from actual information resulting in the need to adjust previously 
estimated costs. 

Allowance for doubtful accounts — We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses 
resulting from non-payment of customer billmgs. If the fmancial conditions of our customers were to 
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be 
required. 

Net revenue and unbilled receivables — Our customers are billed monthly at various dates throughout 
the month. Unbilled receivables represent the estimated sale amount for power delivered to a customer 
at the end of a reporting period, but not yet biUed. Unbilled receivables from sales are estimated based 
upon the amount of power delivered, but not yet billed, multiplied by the average sales price per unit to 
our customers. 
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Inventory — Inventory consist of natural gas in storage as required by state regulatory bodies and 
contracted obligations under customer choice programs. Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or 
market. 

Legal matters — From time to time, we may be involved in litigation matters. We regularly evaluate 
our exposure to threatened or pending litigation and other business contingencies and accme for 
estimated losses on such matters in accordance with SFAS No. 5, "Accounting for Contingencies." As 
additional information about curtent or future litigation or other contingencies becomes available, 
management will assess whether such information wartants the recording of additional expense relatmg 
to our contingencies. Such additional expense could potentially have a material adverse impact on our 
results of operations and financial position. 

Results of Operations 

The following table summarizes 
thousands): 

the resuUs of our operations for fiscal 2003, 2004 and 2005 (dollars in 

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 

Retail electricity sales 

Natural gas sales 

Excess energy sales 

Green power credits 

Net revenue 

Direct energy costs 

Gross profit 

SeUing and marketing expenses 

General and administrative 
expenses 

Reorganization and initial 
public Usting expenses 

Income (loss) from operations $ 14,615 

2003 
Dollars % Revenue 

$153,430 
— 

6,496 

5,600 

165,526 
128,179 

37,347 

4,240 

18,492 

__ 

93% 
— 

4% 

3% 

100% 
77% 

23% 

3% 

11% 

_ 

2004 

Dollars % Revenue 

$205,028 

— 

5,595 
— 

210,623 

191,180 

19,443 

4,063 

25,857 

3,393 

97% 

— 

3% 

100% 

91% 

9% 
2% 

12% 

2% 

2005 
Dollars 

$188,316 

25,476 
40,061 

— 

253,853 
225,671 

28,182 
3,774 

31,811 

% Revenue 

74% 

10% 

16% 
— 

100% 

89% 

11% 

1% 

13% 

9% $(13,870) (7)% $ (7,403) (3)% 

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 2005 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 2004 

Operating results for the year ended July 31, 2005 reflect a loss from operations of $7.4 million compared 
to a loss of $13.9 million for the year ended July 31, 2004. The principal reasons for the decrease in the loss 
from operations were a $8.7 million increase in gross profit and a $3.4 milUon reduction in reorganization and 
initial pubhc listing expenses, partly offset by a $6.0 million increase in general and administrative expenses. 
Higher general and administrative expenses were due primarily to added overhead resulting from the addition 
of natural gas and electric customers in six new markets as a result of our acquisition of assets fi-om 
subsidiaries of American Communications Network, Inc. (the "ACN Energy Transaction") and higher 
severance cost related to former executive officers. 

Gross profit for fiscal 2005 increased to $28.2 milUon, a 45% increase compared to gross profit of 
$19.4 million in fiscal 2004. Higher gross profit reflects $7.3 million from the six months of contribution from 
the ACN Energy Assets and a second quarter gain of $7.2 million from repositioning of the customer portfoUo 
and the sale of electricity supply contracts in Pennsylvania. These gains were partly reduced by lower gross 
profit on sales in our traditional electricity markets in CaUfomia, Michigan and Pennsylvania. 

Our net loss for fiscal 2005 was $6.1 miUion, compared to a net loss of $21.7 milUon in fiscal 2004. In 
addition to the above reasons, in fiscal 2005 we recorded a gain of $2.0 miUion on the sale of our Turbocor 
investment compared to losses in 2004 of $7.1 miUion for impairment of investments previously held by 
Summit and $1.9 milUon for termination of our equity ownership in Summit. 
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Net revenue 

The following table summarizes net revenues for fiscal 2004 and 2005 (dollars in thousands): 

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 
2004 2005 

Dollars % Revenue Dollars % Revenue 

Retail Electricity Sales: 

Califomia $ 82,815 39% $ 78,155 31% 
Pennsylvania/New Jersey 85,456 41% 102,152 40% 

Michigan 41,303 20% 36,754 15% 
All Other States, principally Texas 1,049 — 11,316 4% 

Total Retail Electricity Sales 210,623 100% 228,377 90% 

Natural Gas Sales: 

Califomia — — 7,902 3% 

Ohio — — 10,782 4% 

Georgia — — 4,314 2% 

All Other States — ^ - 2,478 1% 

Total Natural Gas Sales — ^ 25,476 10% 

Net Revenue $210,623 100% $253,853 100% 

Net revenues for fiscal 2005 were $253.9 miUion, a 21% increase compared to net revenues of 
$210,6 million in fiscal 2004. The increase in net revenue was primarily attributable to the addition of the 
ACN Energy Assets and higher wholesale market prices for electricity. These net revenue increases were 
partly offset by the impact of lower sales volumes in the Company's traditional electricity markets in 
Califomia, Pennsylvania and Michigan. 

Retail electricity sales for fiscal 2005 were $228,4 million, an 8% increase from fiscal 2004. In fiscal 2005, 
we sold 2,631 milUon kWh, at an average retail price per kWh of $0,071, as compared to 2,977 milUon kWh 
sold at an average retail price per kWh of $0,068 in fiscal 2004. Califomia sales were 819 million kWh at an 
average price per kWh of $0,078 in fiscal 2(X)5, as compared to 993 million kWh sold at an average price per 
kWh of $0,077 in fiscal 2004. Pennsylvania and New Jersey sales were 1,137 million kWh at an average price 
per kWh of $0,067 in fiscal 2005, as compared to 1,275 million kWh at an average price of $0,066 in fiscal 
2004. Sales in Michigan decreased to 603 milUon kWh at an average price per kWh of $0,061 m fiscal 2(X)5, as 
compared to 709 million kWh at an average price per kWh of $0,058 in fiscal 2004, Sales volumes in 
Pennsylvania declined reflecting the return, beginning in April 2005, of certain residential and small 
commercial customers to the incumbent utility based upon competitive factors. Similarly, lower sales volumes 
in Michigan reflects the impact of regulatory changes causing nearly all of Michigan's large industrial 
customers to retum to the incumbent utility during the year. Sales in Texas, resulting from the acquisition of 
the ACN Energy Assets, were $9.4 million in fiscal 2005. 

We acquired our natural gas business in six markets in Febmary 2005. In fiscal 2005, natural gas sales 
were $25.5 million. We sold approximately 2,5 million dekatherms, or DTH, in fiscal 2005 at an average price 
of $10.26 per DTH. 

Excess energy sales increased to $40,1 milUon in fiscal 2005 compared to $5.6 million m fiscal 2004 
reflecting higher demand and supply balancing activities in our Califomia and Pennsylvania markets resulting 
primarily from increased volatility in the market price of electricity. Additionally, excess energy sales include 
$9.3 milUon realized on the sale of Pennsylvania electricity supply contracts back to the original supplier. 

We had approximately 80,000 retail electricity customers at July 31, 2005, a decrease of 21% from 
102,600 at July 31, 2004. This customer attrition in our retail electricity markets largely reflects the impact of 
increased sales prices to our customers resulting from higher wholesale electricity supply and transmission 
costs without cortcsponding price increases from incumbent utilities due to the lack of market responsive 
ratemaking and a lagging regulatory approval process. The majority of the decline in our retail electricity 
customers occurted in our Pennsylvania market whereby, beginning in April 2005, we returned approximately 
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21,000 residential and smaU commercial customers to the incumbent utility since we could no longer offer 
competitive service. Additionally, the decUne in our customer base is partly attributed to our focus on 
increasing our commercial and industrial base. We also had approximately 60,000 natural gas customers at 
July 31, 2005. 

Direct energy costs 

Direct energy costs, which are recognized concurrently with related energy sales, include the commodity 
cost of natural gas and electricity, electricity transmission costs from the ISOs, transportation costs from 
LDCs and pipelines, other fees and costs incurted from various energy-related service providers and energy-
related taxes that cannot be passed directly through to the customer. 

Direct energy costs for fiscal 2005 totaled $204.8 million and $20.9 miUion for electricity and natural gas, 
respectively. Electricity cost increased 8% from fiscal 2004 due primarily to the addition of $11.1 million of 
supply cost for the electric customers acqiured in the ACN Energy Transaction. Higher direct energy costs for 
electricity due to increases in average cost to $0,065 per kWh for fiscal 2005, as compared to $0,062 per kWh 
for fiscal 2004, were offset by lower kWh purchases in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. Direct energy costs 
for natural gas for fiscal 2005 averaged $8.42 per DTH. 

Selling and marketing expenses 

Selling and marketing expenses were $3.8 mUlion for fiscal 2005, a decrease of $0.3 miUion, from 
$4,1 million for fiscal 2004, Lower selling and marketing expenses for fiscal 2005 primarily resulted from 
reductions in the cost of our intemal marketing efforts partly offset by the additional sales and marketing costs 
related to the ACN Energy Transaction, 

General and administrative expenses 

General and administrative expenses were $31.8 milUon for fiscal 2005, an increase of $5.9 milUon, from 
$25.9 million for fiscal 2004. The increase in fiscal 2005 reflects $5.3 mUUon of added costs related to the 
acquired operations resulting from the acquisition of assets in the ACN Energy Transaction and $2.6 million 
in increased severance costs related to the settlement of the employment contracts of the former executive 
officers. These higher costs were partly offset by a decrease of $2.0 mUlion in costs related to our ownership of 
Summit and investment m PEC. 

Reorganization and initial public listing expenses 

We incurred costs of $3.4 milUon in fiscal 2004 related to our reorganization into a Delaware holding 
company stmcture and the initial pubUc Usting of our common stock on the American Stock Exchange. We 
incurred no such expenses in fiscal 2005, 

Recovery of (provision for) impairment on investments 

In fiscal 2004, we recorded a provision of $7.1 million for impairment on investments previously held by 
Summit. Such provision included $4.1 million related to our remaining investment in Turbocor and resulted in 
no investment basis in Turbocor as July 31, 2004. In July 2005, we sold our nominal stock holdings in its 
entirety for $2.0 million in cash. 

Initial formation litigation expenses 

In fiscal 2005, we incurred $1.6 milUon of initial formation Utigation costs related to Commonwealth 
Energy Corporation's formation, the same amount as fiscal year 2004. Initial formation Utigation expenses 
include legal and litigation costs associated with the initial capital raising. 

Loss on termination of Summit 

In fiscal 2004, we recorded a loss on the termination of our interest in Summit of $ 1.9 million. The loss 
included contractually owed management fees and transaction costs of $1.6 milUon and a reduction of our 
ownership interest from 75.9% to 39.9% in PEC to reflect settlement and the termination of our interest in 
Summit. We incurred no such expenses in fiscal 2005. 
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Minority interest share of loss 

Minority interest share of loss represents that portion of PEC's post-consoUdation losses that were 
allocated to the non-Summit investors based on their aggregate minority ownership interest in PEC. For fiscal 
2004, the minority interest share of loss was $1.2 miUion. We incurred no such losses in fiscal 2005. 

Interest income, net 

Our interest income, net was $0.9 miUion for fiscal 2005, an increase of $0.3 miUion from $0.6 milUon in 
fiscal 2004. The increase in mterest income was primarily due to higher market yields reaUzed on short-term 
investments. 

Income before Provisions for Income Taxes 

The loss before provision for income taxes was $6.1 milUon for fiscal 2005, a decrease of $16.6 miUion, 
compared to a loss of $22.7 mUUon for fiscal 2004. 

The Company curtently has no provision for income taxes for fiscal 2005 compared to a benefit from 
income taxes of $1.0 milUon for fiscal 2004. Our effective income tax rate was 0.0% for fiscal 2005, compared 
to an effective income tax benefit rate of 4.5% for fiscal 2004. The fiscal 2005 decrease in our effective income 
tax rate was attributable to an increase in the valuation allowance. 

Year Ended July 31, 2004 Compared to Year Ended July 31, 2003 

Net revenue for fiscal 2004 was $210.6 milUon, an increase of $45.1 milUon, or 27%, from $165.5 million 
in fiscal 2003. Gross profit of $19.4 million for fiscal 2004 declined $17.9 milUon, or 48%, from $37.3 million 
m fiscal 2003. 

Our operating results for the year ended July 31, 2004 included a loss from operations of $13.9 milUon 
compared to income from operations of $14.6 million for the year ended July 31, 2003, The operating loss in 
fiscal 2004 was primarily due to the higher cost of electricity per kWh. The higher cost of electricity per kWh 
was primarily caused by the substantial increase in natural gas prices, which is a significant influencing factor 
on electricity prices in the wholesale markets nationally. The higher costs related to serving our customers led 
to some customer attrition in Califomia and Pennsylvania in the latter part of the fiscal year. Also, in 
Califomia, demand was less than forecast and as a result, we sold our excess energy at lower prices then we 
paid, reducing gross margins. 

Net loss for fiscal 2004 was $21.7 mUUon compared to net income of $5.4 milUon in fiscal 2(K)3. In 
addition, to the above reasons, in fiscal 2004, we recorded a provision for impairment on investments of 
$7.1 mUhon for investments previously held by Summit and, subsequently, a loss of $1.9 million on the 
termination ol the Summit venture. 

Net revenue 

The increase of $45.1 miUion in net revenue for fiscal 2004, compared to the fiscal 2003, resulted 
primarily from increased energy sales of $28.6 million in Pennsylvania and New Jersey, and $25,4 milUon in 
Michigan. These increases were due to increasing the customer sales base in these markets in fiscal 2004 and 
were partly offset by a decrease of $9.9 milUon in energy sales in CaUfomia, primarily due to a decline in the 
price per kWh in fiscal 2004 and the absence of green power credits in fiscal 2004. Sales in Pennsylvania and 
New Jersey increased to 1,275 miUion kWh at an average price per kWh of $0,066 in the fiscal 2004, as 
compared to 856 million kWh at an average price per kWh of $0,062 in the fiscal 2003 reflectmg the 
acquisition towards the end of fiscal 2003 of commercial customers with higher average rates and a reduced 
number of residential customers in fiscal 2004. Sales in Michigan increased to 709 miUion kWh at an average 
price per kWh of $0,058 m fiscal 2004, as compared to 278 milUon kWh at an average price per kWh of $0,057 
in fiscal 2003 reflecting increased customer acquisition efforts by our sales operations, Califomia sales were 
993 million kWh at an average price per kWh of $0,077 in fiscal 2004, as compared to 1,076 mUlion kWh sold 
at an average price per kWh of $0,079 m fiscal 2003. 

The $5.6 milUon green power credits in fiscal 2003 represents the recovery from the reinstatement by the 
State of Califomia Public Purpose Program to provide incentives to suppliers of renewable power to reduce the 
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cost of such power to certain customers. This green power credit program was discontinued for periods after 
March 2003. 

We had approximately 102,000 retail customers at July 31,2004, a 14% decrease from 118,000 at July 31, 
2003. Customer attrition was 11% and 21% in CaUfomia and Pennsylvania, respectively, reflecting focus on 
increasing commercial and industrial customer base, which have higher average electricity usage and generally 
higher rates, while reducing the number of residential customers. The decUne in customer base also is partially 
attributed to increased energy costs to serve our customers. 

Direct energy costs 

Our direct energy costs increased to $191.2 milUon for fiscal 2(X)4, an increase of $63.0 miUion, or 49%, 
from $128.2 million for fiscal 2003. The significant increase in direct energy costs per retail kWh delivered 
occurred in all states, primarily due to the increase of natural gas costs which is a significant factor influencing 
electricity costs in our markets. The increase in our customer base was also a contributing factor to the 
absolute increase in direct energy costs. In Pennsylvania and New Jersey, the average cost per kWh was 
$0,064 for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2004, as compared to an average cost per kWh of $0,062 for fiscal 
2003. In Michigan, the average cost per kWh was $0,051 for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2004, as compared 
to an average cost per kWh of $0,049 for fiscal 2003. In Califomia, the average cost per kWh was $0,067 for 
fiscal 2004, as compared to an average cost per kWh of $0,051 for fiscal 2003. 

Selling and marketing expenses 

Our selling and markethag expenses were $4.1 million for fiscal 2004, a decrease of $0.1 mUUon, or 4%, 
from $4.2 miUion for fiscal 2003. Selling and marketing expenses for fiscal 2004 primarily represent marketing 
efforts associated with our expansion into the New Jersey market, including radio and newspaper advertising 
and further market research conducted on certain states under consideration for future expansion. 

General and administrative expenses 

Our general and administrative expenses were $25.9 million for fiscal 2004, an increase of $7.4 million, or 
40%, from $18.5 miUion for fiscal 2003. The increase in fiscal 2004 was primarily due from the consoUdation 
of PEC of $2.1 million through the third quarter of fiscal 2004; severance payments totaling $1.9 million 
related to the settlement of the employment agreements with two former executive officers; stock based 
compensation expense of $0.6 million for fully vested options that were granted in fiscal 2004 with an exercise 
price below fair market value on the grant date; relocation expenses of $0.5 mUUon for our new executive 
officers; additional bad debt expense of $0.7 million and insurance costs of $0.6 milUon. 

Reorganization and initial public listing expenses 

We incurted $3.4 million in fiscal 2004 of costs related to our reorganization mto a Delaware holding 
company stmcture and the initial pubUc Usting of our common stock on the American Stock Exchange. 
Management believes it is appropriate to classify these costs as separately identified operating expenses. These 
general and administrative expenses incurred in connection with the reorganization included legal of 
$1,5 milUon, insurance of $0.9 mUUon, consulting of $0.5 milUon, printing and reproduction fees of 
$0.4 milUon and accounting and auditing of $0.1 niiUion, 

Initial formation litigation expenses 

In fiscal 2004, we incurred $1.6 million of initial formation litigation costs related to our formation 
compared to $4.4 million of such costs incurred during fiscal 2003. Initial formation litigation expenses include 
legal and Utigation costs associated with the initial capital raising efforts by former employees and the legal 
compUcations arising from those matters. The fiscal 2003 expense includes $2.2 million which was accmed m 
connection with a lawsuit filed by several former employees, who were employed during 1998 and 1999, 
exclusively to raise capital for us from outside investors. In fiscal 2004, we settled this Utigation and the 
settlement resulted in a reduction of the accmal of $0.5 milUon after final settlement payments were made to 
the plaintiffs. 
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Provision for impairment on investments 

In fiscal 2004, we recorded a provision for impairment of $7.1 miUion on investments previously held by 
Summit to reflect our percentage ownership in the net equity reflected in the financial statements of each 
investment entity. The impairments reflected continuing operating losses, liquidity and future funding 
uncertainties on aU three investments. For Encorp, we recorded a $1.9 miUion provision for impairment with a 
remaining investment basis of $0.1 million in our consolidated financial statements. For Turbocor, we 
recorded a $4.1 million provision for impairment with no remaining investment basis Ln our consolidated 
financial statements. For PEC, we recorded a $1.1 milUon provision for impairment with no remaining 
investment basis after the provision for termination below to reflect our reduced investment ownership 
percentage in PEC shares. 

Loss on termination of our interest in Summit 

In fiscal 2004, we recorded a loss on the termination of our interest in Summit of $1.9 milUon. The loss 
included contractually owed management fees and transaction costs of $1.6 million and a reduction of our 
ownership interest from 75.9% to 39.9% in PEC to reflect settlement and the termination of our interest in 
Summit. See Note 9 of Notes to consoUdated financial statements. 

Loss on equity investments 

In fiscal 2003, we incurted a $0.6 miUion aggregate loss on equity investments which reflected our 
proportionate recognition of losses under the equity method of accounting relating to PEC and, to a lesser 
extent, Turbocor. By the end of fiscal 2003, Summit acquired a majority ownership position in PEC, thereby 
causing consolidation of PEC into our consoUdated financial statements for the fiscal year ended July 31, 
2003. The consolidation continued through April 30, 2004, when the termination agreement with Summit 
reduced our ownership percentage to 39.9%. By the end of our fiscal year ended July 31, 2003, Sumirut's 
ownership interest in Turbocor had been reduced to a level at which we no longer exercised significant 
influence. As a result, commencing in fiscal 2004, we accounted for Turbocor under the cost method of 
accounting. 

Minority interest share of loss 

Minority interest share of loss represents that portion of PEC's post-consolidation losses that were 
allocated to the non-Summit investors based on their aggregate minority ownership interest in PEC. For the 
fiscal year ended July 31, 2004 and 2003, the minority interest share of loss was $1.2 million and $0.2 miUion, 
respectively. 

Interest income, net 

Our interest income, net was $0.5 milUon for fiscal 2004, a decrease of $0.2 miUion, or 23%, from 
$0.7 million in fiscal 2003. The decrease in interest income was primarily due to lower market yields realized 
on short-term investments. 

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 

The benefit from income taxes was $1.0 mUlion for fiscal 2004, compared to the provision for income 
taxes of $5.1 mUlion for fiscal 2003. In fiscal 2004, the benefit from income taxes was comprised of a write­
down of deferred tax assets for $2.5 miUion offset by operating loss carrybacks of $3.5 milUon. Our effective 
income tax benefit rate was 4.5% for fiscal 2004, compared to an effective income tax rate of 48.5% for fiscal 
2003. The decrease in the effective tax rate was primarily due to the increase in the valuation aUowance for 
deferted tax assets. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

As of July 31, 2005, cash and cash equivalents decreased to $33.3 milUon compared with $54.1 miUion at 
July 31, 2004. This decrease of $20.8 million was partly offset by increases of $10,1 milUon at July 31, 2005 in 
restricted cash, cash equivalents and deposits. Restricted cash and cash equivalents at July 31, 2005 was 
$8.2 million, compared to $4,0 million at July 31, 2004, while cash deposits totaled $11.3 mUlion at July 31, 
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2005, compared to $5.4 milUon at July 31, 2004. These changes reflect the impact of cash used in the ACN 
Energy Transaction and increased energy supplier credit requirements. 

Our principal sources of liquidity to fund ongoing operations were cash provided by operations and 
existing cash and cash equivalents. Cash used in operating activities for fiscal 2005 was $3.6 mUUon, compared 
to cash provided by operations of $0.3 mUUon in the prior year. For fiscal 2005, cash usage was caused 
primarily by decreases m accounts payable of $5.0 million. 

Cash used in investing activities was $15.3 milUon in fiscal 2005, as compared to $1.1 milUon in fiscal 
2004. Cash used in investments was primarily for the purchase of assets in the ACN Energy Transaction in 
fiscal 2005. 

Cash used in financing activities during fiscal 2005 was $1.9 milUon, as compared to cash provided by 
financing activities of $14.0 miUion during fiscal 2004, In fiscal 2005, restricted cash and cash equivalents 
increased by $4.2 milUon which was primarily due to increased energy suppUer credit requirements in New 
Jersey and Pennsylvania. 

We do not have open lines of credit for direct unsecured bortowings or letters of credit. Credit terms from 
our suppliers often require us to post collateral against our energy purchases and against our mark to market 
exposure with certain of our suppUers. We curtently finance these collateral obligations with our available 
cash. As of July 31, 2005, we had $8.2 milUon in restricted cash and cash equivalents to secure letters of credit 
requhed by our suppliers and $11.3 million in deposits pledged as collateral to our energy suppUers in 
connection with energy purchase agreements. 

Based upon our curtent plans, level of operations and business conditions, we believe that our cash and 
cash equivalents, and cash generated from operations will be sufficient to meet our capital requirements and 
working capital needs for the foreseeable future. However, there can be no assurance that we wiU not be 
required to seek other financing in the future or that such financing, if required, wUl be available on terms 
satisfactory to us. 

Planned capital expenditures 

Our planned capital expenditures for the fiscal 2006 are approximately $2,5 million and are largely 
comprised of information system upgrades. These expenditures are expected to be pro rata throughout the year 
and funded out of working capital. 

Off-Balance sheet arrangements 

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements and have no transactions involving unconsolidated, Umited 
purpose entities. 

Contractual obligations 

As of July 31, 2005, we have commitments of $63.3 milUon for electricity purchase contracts in the 
normal course of business. These contracts are with various suppUers and extend through December 2006. In 
addition, at July 31, 2005, we have commitments of $1.1 rrulUon for natural gas purchase contracts, which are 
primarily transportation and capacity contracts, through October 2006. 

Our most significant operating lease pertains to our corporate office facilities. All of our other operatii^ 
leases pertain to various equipment and technology. Certain of these operating leases are non-cancelable and 
contain clauses that pass through increases in buUding operating expenses. We incurted aggregate rent 
expense under operating leases of $0.74 miUion, $0.93 miUion and $1.2 mUlion durmg fiscal 2003, 2004 and 
2005, respectively. 
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The following table shows our contractual commitments as of July 31, 2005 (dollars in thousands); 

Payments Due by Period 

Contractual Obligations 

Electricity & Gas purchase contracts... 
Operating leases 

Total 

Total 

. $64,437 
2,849 

. $67,286 

Less than 
1 Year 

$51,870 
983 

$52,853 

1-3 Years 

$12,567 
1,866 

$14,433 

3-5 Years 

$ -
_ 

$ -

More than 
5 Yeara 

$ -
_ 

$ -

Seasonal Influences 

Demand for electricity and natural gas are continually influenced by both seasonal and abnormal weather 
pattems. To the extent that one or more of our markets experiences a period of unexpected weather, we may 
be required to either attempt to procure additional energy to service our customers or to sell surplus energy in 
the open market. 

Factors That May Affect Future Results 

If competitive restructuring of the retail energy market is delayed or does not result in viable competitive 
market rules, our business will be adversely affected. 

The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or FERC, has maintained a strong commitment to the 
deregulation of wholesale electricity markets. The new provisions of EPA 2005 should serve to further 
enhance the reliability of the electric transmission grid which our electric marketing operations depend on for 
delivery of power to our customers. This movement at the federal level has in part helped spur deregulation 
measures in the states at the retaU level. Twenty-three states and the District of Columbia have either enacted 
enabUng legislation or issued a regulatory order to implement retail access. In 18 of these states, retail access is 
either curtentiy available to some or all customers, or wiU soon be avaUable. However, in many of these 
markets the market mles adopted have not resulted in energy service providers being able to compete 
successfully with the local utilities and customer svritching rates have been low. Our business model depends 
on other favorable markets opening under viable competitive mles in a timely manner. In any particular 
market, there are a number of mles that will ultimately determine the attractiveness of any market. Markets 
that we enter may have both favorable and unfavorable mles. If the trend towards competitive restmcturing of 
retail energy markets does not continue or is delayed or reversed, our business prospects and financial 
condition could be materially adversely impaired. 

Retail energy market restmcturing has been and wiU continue to be a compUcated regulatory process, 
with competing interests advanced not only by relevant state and federal utility regulators, but also by state 
legislators, federal legislators, local utilities, consumer advocacy groups and other market participants. As a 
result, the extent to which there are legitimate competitive opportunities for altemative energy suppliers in a 
given jurisdiction may vary widely and we cannot be assured that regulatory stmctures vrill offer us 
competitive opportunities to sell energy to consumers on a profitable basis. The regulatory process could be 
negatively impacted by a number of factors, including intermptions of service and significant or rapid price 
increases. The legislative and regulatory processes in some states take prolonged periods of time. In a number 
of jurisdictions, it may be many years from the date legislation is enacted untU the retail markets are tmly 
open for competition. 

Other aspects of EPA 2005, such as the repeal of PUHCA 1935 and replacing it with PUHCA 2005, also 
may impact our business to the extent FERC does not continue the SEC's precedent of not regulating electric 
and gas marketers under PUHCA. A mlemaking implementing PUHCA 2(X)5 is curtently pending before 
FERC. If marketers and their parent companies and affiliates are to be regulated under PUHCA 2005, FERC 
may have access to their books and records and has oversight of their affiliate transactions. Various parties 
participating in FERC mlemaking have urged FERC not to so regulate marketers and other entities that do 
not own or operate gas or electric facilities. 

In addition, although most retail energy market restmcturing has been conducted at the state and local 
levels, bills have been proposed in Congress in the past that would preempt state law conceming the 
restmcturing of the retail energy markets. Although none of these initiatives has been successful, we cannot 
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assure stockholders that federal legislation wiU not be passed in the future that could materially adversely 
affect our business. 

We face many uncertainties that may cause substantial operating losses and we cannot assure 
stockholders that we can achieve and maintain profitability. 

We intend to increase our operating expenses to develop and expand our business, including brand 
development, marketing and other promotional activities and the continued development of our billing, 
customer care and power procurement infrastmcture. Our ability to operate profitably will depend on, among 
other things: 

• our ability to attract and to retain a critical mass of customers at a reasonable cost; 

• our ability to continue to develop and maintain intemal corporate organization and systems; 

• the continued competitive restmcturing of retail energy markets with viable competitive market 
mles; 

• our ability to effectively manage our energy procurement and shaping requirements, and to sell our 
energy at a sufficient profit margin; and 

• our ability to obtain and retain necessary credit necessary to support future growth and 
profitability. 

We may have difficulty obtaining a sufficient number of customers. 

We anticipate that we wiU incur significant costs as we enter new markets and pursue customers by 
utilizing a variety of marketing methods. In order for us to recover these expenses, we must attract and retain a 
large number of customers to our service. 

We may experience difficulty attracting customers because many customers may be reluctant to switch to 
a new supplier for a commodity as critical to their weU-being as electricity and natural gas. A major focus of 
our marketing efforts will be to convince customers that we are a reliable provider with sufficient resources to 
meet our commitments. If our marketing strategy is not successful, our busmess, results of operations and 
financial condition could be materially adversely affected. 

We depend upon internally developed, and, in the future will rely on vendor-developed, systems and 
processes to provide several critical functions for our business, and the loss of these functions could 
materially adversely impact our business. 

We have developed our own systems and processes to operate our back-office functions, including 
customer enrollment, metering, forecasting, settiement and billing. We are curtently in the process of 
replacing a number of our intemally developed legacy software systems with vendor-developed systems. 
Problems that arise with the performance of such back-office functions could result in increased expenditures, 
delays in the launch of our commercial operations into new markets, or unfavorable customer experiences that 
could materially adversely affect our business strategy. Any intermption of these services could also be 
disruptive to our business. As we transition from our own systems to new vendor-developed systems, we may 
incur duplicative expenses for a period of time and we may experience installation and integration issues with 
the new systems or delays in the implementation of the new systems. If we experience some or aU of these new 
system implementation risks, we may not be able to estabUsh a sufficient operating history for Sarbanes-Oxley 
404 Attestation requirements, which we expect we must meet by no later than fiscal year ending July 31, 2007. 

Substantial fluctuations in electricity and natural gas prices or the cost of transmitting and distributing 
electricity and natural gas could have a material adverse affect on us. 

To provide electricity and natural gas to our customers, we must, from time to time, purchase the energy 
commodity in the short-term or spot wholesale energy markets, which can be highly volatUe. In particular, the 
wholesale electricity market can experience large price fluctuations during peak load periods. Furthermore, to 
the extent that we enter into contracts with customers that require us to provide electricity and natural gas at a 
fixed price over an extended period of time, and to the extent that we have not purchased the commodity to 
cover those commitments, we may incur losses caused by rising wholesale prices. Periods of rising prices may 
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reduce our abiUty to compete with local utilities because their regulated rates may not immediately increase to 
reflect these increased costs. Energy Service Providers like us take on the risk of purchasing power for an 
uncertain load and if the load does not materialize as forecast, it leaves us in a long position that would be 
resold into the wholesale electricity and natural gas market. Sales of this surplus electricity could be at prices 
below our cost. Long positions of natural gas must be stored in inventory and are subject to the lower of cost or 
market valuations that can produce unrealized losses. Conversely, if unanticipated load appears that may 
result in an insufficient supply of electricity or natural gas, we would need to purchase the additional supply. 
These purchases could be at prices that are higher than our sales price to our customers. Either situation could 
create losses for us if we are exposed to the price volatiUty of the wholesale spot markets. Any of these 
contingencies could substantially increase our costs of operation. Such factors could have a material adverse 
effect on our financial condition. 

We are dependent on local utilities for distribution of electricity and natural gas to our customers over 
their distribution networks. If these local utilities are unable to properly operate their distribution networks, or 
if the operation of their distribution networks is intermpted for periods of time, we could be unable to deliver 
electricity or natural gas to our customers during those intermptions. This would results in lost revenue to us, 
which could adversely impact the results of our operations. 

We do not utilize bank lines of credit at this time and may have limited access to additional credit from 
banks and commodity suppliers. 

As of July 31, 2005, we believe that we have adequate cash and liquidity and supplier lines of credit to 
sustain our business operations in the near term. To expand our business in the future, we will likely pursue 
external financing from banks, other financial institutions and commodity suppliers. In connection with 
financing arrangements, we may choose to pledge our accounts receivable and commodity inventory or 
commodity contracts as collateral to support the extension of credit. Additionally, we have issued and will 
continue to issue parent company guarantees of subsidiary obligations for commercial credit in connection 
with the arrangements for unsecured credit from commodity suppliers. 

If the wholesale price of electricity decreases, we may be required to post letters of credit for margin to 
secure our obligations under our long term energy contracts. 

As the price of the electricity we purchase under long-term contracts is fixed over the term of the 
contracts, if the market price of wholesale electricity decreases below the contract price, the power generator 
may require us to post margin in the form of a letter of credit, or other collateral, to protect themselves against 
our potential default on the contract. If we are required to post such security, a portion of our cash would 
become restricted, which could adversely affect our liquidity. 

Some suppliers of electricity have been experiencing deteriorating credit quality. 

We continue to monitor the credit quaUty of our energy suppUers to attempt to reduce the impact of any 
potential counterparty default. As of July 31, 2005, the majority of our counterparties are rated investment 
grade or above by the major rating agencies. These ratings are subject to change at any time with no advance 
warning. A deterioration in the credit quality of our energy suppliers could have an adverse impact on our 
sources of electricity purchases. 

We are required to rely on utilities with whom we compete to perform some functions for our customers. 

Under the regulatory stmctures adopted in most jurisdictions, we are required to enter into agreements 
with local utilities for use of the local distribution systems, and for the creation and operation of functional 
interfaces necessary for us to serve our customers. Any delay in these negotiations or our inability to enter into 
reasonable agreements with those utiUties could delay or negatively impact our ability to serve customers in 
those jurisdictions. This could have a material negative impact on our business, results of operations and 
financial condition. 

We are dependent on local utilities for maintenance of the infrastmcture through which electricity and 
natural gas is delivered to our customers. We are limited in our ability to control the level of service the 
UtUities provide to our customers. Any infrastmcture failure that intermpts or impairs deUvery of electricity or 
natural gas to our customers could have a negative effect on the satisfaction of our customers with our service, 
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which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Regulations in many markets require that the 
services of reading our customers' energy meters and the bilUng and collection process be retained by the local 
utiUty. The local utiUty's systems and procedures may Umit or slow down our abiUty to add customers. 

We are required to rely on utilities with whom we compete to provide us accurate and timely data. 

In some states, we are required to rely on the local utility to provide us with our customers' energy usage 
data and to pay us for our customers' usage based on what the local utility collects from our customers. We 
may be limited in our ability or imable to confirm the accuracy of the information provided by the local utility. 
In addition, we are unable to control when we receive customer payments from the local utiUty. If we do not 
receive payments from the local utility on a timely basis, our working capital may be impaired. In the event we 
do not receive timely or accurate usage data, our ability to generate timely and accurate bills to our customers 
will be adversely affected which, in turn, will impact the abUity of our customers to pay biUs in a timely 
manner. 

We are subject to federal and state regulations in our electricity and natural gas marketing business and 
the rules and regulations of regional Independent System Operators, or ISOs, in our electricity business. 

The mles under which we operate are imposed upon us by federal and state regulators, the regional ISOs 
and interstate pipelines. The mles are subject to change, challenge and revision, including revision after the 
fact. 

In Califomia, the FERC and other regulatory and judicial bodies continue to examine the behavior of 
market participants during the Califomia Energy Crisis of 2000 and 2001, and to recalculate what market 
clearing prices should have or might have been under altemative scenarios of behavior by market participants. 
In the event the historical costs of market operations were to be reallocated among market participants, we 
cannot predict whether the results would be favorable or unfavorable for us nor can we predict the amount of 
such adjustments. The payment or receipt of adjustments, if any, will Ukely be conducted between FERC, the 
CaUfomia ISO and our contracted scheduUng coordinator for the period in question. Automated Power 
Exchange, or APX. APX served as the direct interface with the now defunct Califomia Power Exchange for 
the sale and purchase of some volumes of power by the Company during 2000 and 2001, 

In Pennsylvania, beginning in December 2004, the ISO estabUshed a Seams EUmination Charge 
Adjustment, or SECA, to compensate transmission owners for the change in the Regional Through and Out 
Rates, or RTOR, which eliminated some transmission charges and revenues from the ISO system operations. 
The impact on us, if any, is uncertain at this time. Compensatory payments to transmission owners are Ukely, 
but the recovery mechanism from customers, utiUties or other load serving entities, such as us, is uncertain. 
We can not predict the amount of these adjustments, if any, that it might be charged at this time. 

In some markets, we are required to bear credit risk and billing responsibility for our customers. 

In some markets, we are responsible for the billing and collection functions for our customers. In these 
markets, we may he limited in our abiUty to terminate service to customers who are delinquent in payment. 
Even if we terminate service to customers who fail to pay their utility bill in a timely manner, we may remain 
Uable to our suppliers of electricity or natural gas for the cost of the electricity or natural gas and to the local 
UtiUties for services related to the transmission and distribution of electricity or natural gas to those customers. 
The failure of our customers to pay their bills in a timely manner or our failure to maintain adequate billing 
and collection programs could materially adversely affect our business. 

Our revenues and results of operations are subject to market risks that are beyond our control. 

We sell electricity and natural gas that we purchase from third-party power generation companies and 
natural gas producers to our retail customers on a contractual or monthly basis. We are not guaranteed any 
rate of retum through regulated rates, and our revenues and results of operations are likely to depend, in large 
part, upon prevaiUng market prices for electricity and natural gas in our regional markets. These market prices 
may fluctuate substantially over relatively short periods of time. These factors could have an adverse impact 
on our revenues and results of operations. 
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Volatility in market prices for electricity and natural gas results from multiple factors, including: 

• weather conditions, including hydrological conditions such as precipitation, snow pack and stream 
flow; 

• seasonaUty; 

• unexpected changes in customer usage; 

• transmission or transportation constraints or inefficiencies; 

• planned and unplanned plant or transmission line outages; 

• demand for electricity; 

• natural gas, cmde oil and refined products, and coal supply availability to generators from whom 
we purchase electricity; natural disasters, wars, embargoes and other catastrophic events; and 

• federal, state and foreign energy and environmental regulation and legislation. 

We may experience difficulty in successfully integrating and managing acquired businesses and in 
realizing anticipated economic, operational and other benefits in a timely manner 

We recently completed an acquisition of assets in connection with the ACN Energy Transaction. The 
ultimate success of this acquisition wiU depend, in part, on our ability to realize the anticipated synergies, cost 
savings and growth opportunities from integrating the assets and the relationships acquired in the ACN 
Energy Transaction into our existing businesses. 

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report 
our financial results or prevent fraud. As a result, current and potential stockholders could lose 
confidence in our financial reporting, which would harm our business and the trading price of our stock. 

Effective intemal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and effectively prevent 
fraud. If we cannot provide reUable financial reports or prevent fraud, our operating results could be harmed. 
We have in the past discovered, and may in the future discover, areas of our intemal controls that need 
improvement. For example, in January 2005, we sold electricity commodity supply contracts related to a 
strategic realignment of our customer portfolio in the Pennsylvania electricity market and the discontinuation 
of service to certain classes of residential and small commercial customers. As a result of timing issues related 
to reaUgning the portfolio and inaccurately forecasting the resulting required electricity supply, we had 
transitional electricity supply obUgations which could have been served more cost effectively vrith the original 
supply contract rather than with the curtent market cost of the replacement power. In the execution of this 
portfoUo realignment, we observed deficiencies in our internal controls relating to monitoring the operational 
progress of the reaUgnment. These intemal control deficiencies constituted reportable conditions, and 
collectively, a material weakness that caused us to restate our second quarter reported results. In connection 
with the preparation of our consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2005, we 
determined that (a) certain electricity forward physical contracts and financial derivatives designated as cash 
flow hedges lacked adequate documentation of our method of measurement and testing of hedge effectiveness 
to meet the cash flow hedge requirements of SFAS No. 133 and (b) a forward physical contract and several 
financial derivative contracts had been inappropriately accounted for as exempt from hedge accounting under 
SFAS No. 133. These ertors in the proper appUcation of the provisions of SFAS No. 133 required us to 
restate our previously reported results for each of the first three quarters in fiscal 2005 and led us to conclude 
and report the existence of a material weakness in our intemal controls over financial reporting. We purchase 
substantially all of our power and natural gas under forward physical delivery contracts, which are defined as 
commodity derivative contracts under SFAS No. 133. We also utilize other financial derivatives, primarily 
swaps, options and futures, to hedge our price risks. Accordingly, proper accounting for these contracts is very 
important to our overall abUity to report timely and accurate financial results. 

We have devoted significant resources to remediate and improve our intemal controls. Although we 
believe that these efforts have strengthened our intemal controls and addressed the concems that gave rise to 
the reportable conditions and material weaknesses in fiscal 2004 and 2005, we are continuing to work to 
improve our intemal controls, particularly in the area of energy accounting. We cannot be certain that these 
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measures wiU ensure that we implement and maintain adequate controls over our financial processes and 
reporting in the future. Any failure to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties 
encountered in their implementation, could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting 
obligations. Inferior intemal controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial 
information, which could have a negative effect on the trading price of our stock. 

Investor confidence and share value may be adversely impacted if our independent auditors are unable to 
provide us with the attestation of the adequacy of our internal controls over financial reporting as of 
July 31, 2006 or July 31, 2007, as applicable, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002. 

As directed by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Securities and Exchange Commission 
adopted mles requiring pubUc companies to include a report of management on our intemal controls over 
financial reporting in our Annual Reports on Fomi 10-K that contains an assessment by management of the 
effectiveness of our intemal controls over financial reporting. In addition, our independent auditors must attest 
to and report on management's assessment of the effectiveness of our intemal controls over financial reporting. 
This requirement may first apply to our Annual Report on Form lO-K for the fiscal year ending July 31, 2006 
if the aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates is $75 milUon 
or more as of the last business day of January 2006. If not, such requirement will first apply to our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending July 31, 2007. How companies should be implementir^ these 
new requirements, mcluding intemal control reforms, if any, to comply with Section 404's requirements, and 
how independent auditors will apply these new requirements and test companies' intemal controls, are subject 
to uncertainty. Although we are diUgently and vigorously reviewing our intemal controls over financial 
reporting in order to ensure compliance with the new Section 404 requirements, if our independent auditors 
are not satisfied with our intemal controls over financial reporting or the level at which these controls are 
documented, designed, operated or reviewed, or if the independent auditors interpret the requirements, mles or 
regulations differently than we do, then they may decline to attest to management's assessment or may issue a 
report that is qualified. This could result in an adverse reaction in the fmancial marketplace due to a loss of 
investor confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, which ultimately could negatively impact the 
market price of our shares. 

We have initiated a company-wide review of our intemal controls over financial reporting as part of the 
process of preparing for compUance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and as a complement 
to our existing overall program of intemal controls over financial reporting. As a result of this on-going review, 
we have made numerous improvements to the design and effectiveness of our intemal controls over financial 
reporting through the period ended July 31, 2005. We anticipate that improvements wiU continue to be made. 

Recent Accounting Standards 

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), "Share-Based Payment" 
(SFAS No. 123R). SFAS No. 123R requires measurement of all employee stock-based compensation awards 
using a fair-value method and the recording of such expense in the consolidated financial statements. In 
addition, the adoption of SFAS No. 123R wiU require additional accounting related to the income tax effects 
and disclosure regarding the cash flow effects resultmg from share-based payment artangements. In January 
2005, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued Staff Accounting Bulle­
tin No, 107, which provides supplemental implementation guidance for SFAS No. 123R, SFAS No. 123R is 
effective for our first quarter of fiscal 2006. 

We have selected the Black-Scholes option-pricing model as the most appropriate fair-value method for 
our awards and will recognize compensation cost on a straight-line basis over our awards' vesting periods. We 
expect that the adoption of SFAS No. 123R will result in an expense for fiscal 2006 of approximately 
$200,000 for options issued as of July 31, 2005. However, uncertamties, including our future stock-based 
compensation strategy, stock price volatiUty, estimated forfeitures and employee stock option exercise 
behavior, make it difficult to determine whether the stock-based compensation expense that we wiU incur in 
future periods wUl be simUar to the SFAS No. 123 pro forma expense disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated 
financial statements. The amount of stock-based compensation expense to be incurted in future periods was 
reduced by our acceleration of 1,300,001 unvested and "out-of-the-money" stock options in fiscal 2005. 
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk, 

Our activities expose us to a variety of market risks principally from the change in and volatiUty of 
commodity prices. We have established risk management poUcies and procedures designed to manage these 
risks with a strong focus on the retail nature of our business and to reduce the potentially adverse effects these 
risks may have on our operating results. Our Board of Directors and the Audit Committee of the Board 
oversee the risk management program, including the approval of risk management policies and procedures. 
This program is predicated on a strong risk management focus combined with the establishment of an 
effective system of intemal controls. We have a Risk Oversight Committee, or ROC, that is responsible for 
establishing risk management poUcies, reviewing procedures for the identification, assessment, measurement 
and management of risks, and the monitoring and reporting of risk exposures. The ROC is comprised of all 
key members of senior management and is chaired by the Vice President of Risk Management. 

Commodity Risk Management 

Commodity price and volume risk arise from the potential for changes in the price of, and transportation 
costs for, electricity and natural gas, the volatility of commodity prices, and usage fluctuations due to changes 
in weather and/or customer usage patterns, A number of factors associated with the stmcture and operation of 
the energy markets significantiy influence the level and volatility of prices for energy commodities and related 
derivative products. These factors include seasonal daUy and hourly changes in demand, extreme peak 
demands due to weather conditions, available supply resources, transportation availability and reliability within 
and between geographic regions, procedures used to maintain the integrity of the physical electricity system 
during extreme conditions, and changes in the nature and extent of federal and state regulations. These factors 
can affect energy commodity and derivative prices in different ways and to different degrees. 

Suppljdng electricity and natural gas to our retail customers requires us to match the projected demand of 
our customers vrith contractual purchase commitments from our suppUers at fixed or indexed prices. We 
primarily use forward physical energy purchases and derivative instmments to minimize significant, unantici­
pated eamings fluctuations caused by commodity price volatiUty. Derivative instmments are used to limit the 
unfavorable effect that price increases will have on electricity and natural gas purchases, effectively fixing the 
future purchase price of electricity or natural gas for the appUcable forecasted usage and protecting the 
Company from significant price volatility. Derivative instmments measured at fair market value are recorded 
on the balance sheet as an asset or liability. Changes in fair market value are recognized curtently in eamings 
if specific hedge accounting criteria are met. With most electricity and natural gas customers, we have the 
abiUty to change prices with short notice; and, therefore, the impact on gross profits from increases in energy 
prices is not material for these customers. However, sharp and sustained price increases could result in 
customer attrition without corresponding price increases by local utUities and other competitors. Approxi­
mately 2% of the Company's electricity customers are subject to multi-month fixed priced unhedged contracts 
and, accordingly a $10 per megawatt hour increase in the cost of purchased power could result in an estimated 
$300,000 decrease in gross profit for fiscal 2006. A similar relative increase in the price of natural gas would 
have no impact on gross profit for fiscal 2006 as the Company does not have any significant unhedged fixed 
price term obligations in natural gas. 

WhUe some of the contracts we use to manage risk represent commodities or instmments for which prices 
are available from extemal sources, other commodities and certain contracts are not actively traded and are 
valued using other pricing sources and modeling techniques to determine expected future market prices, 
contract quantities, or both. We use our best estimates to determine the fair value of commodity and 
derivative contracts we hold and sell. These estimates consider various factors including closing exchange and 
over-the-counter price quotations, time value, volatiUty factors and credit exposure. We do not engage in 
trading activities in the wholesale energy market other than to manage our direct energy cost in an attempt to 
improve the profit margin associated with the requirements of our retail customers. 

Credit Risk 

The Company's primary credit risks are exposure to our retail customers counterparty credit risk based on 
the credit terms extended to the Company. Given the high credit quality of the majority of the Company's 
energy suppUers, credit risk resulting from failure of our suppliers to deliver or perform on their contracted 
energy commitments is not considered significant. 
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Retail credit risk results from potential customer default on their contractual obhgations. Retail credit 
risk is managed through established credit policies which actively requires screening of customer credit prior 
to contracting with a customer, potentially requiring deposits from customers and actively discontinuing 
business with customers that do not pay as contractually obUgated. Retail credit quality is dependent on the 
economy and the abUity of our customers to manage through unfavorable economic cycles and other market 
changes. If the business environment were to be negatively affected by changes in economic or other market 
conditions, our retail credit risk may be adversely impacted. 

Counterparty credit risks result primarily from credit extended to us for our purchases of energy from our 
suppliers. Favorable credit terms from our suppliers make it easier to procure wholesale energy to service our 
customers; however, adverse market conditions or poor financial performance by us may result in a reduction 
or elimination of available unsecured counterparty credit lines. Additionally, we have significant amounts of 
energy commitments to our contracted term customers that we have hedged forward, often for several months. 
A significant decrease in energy prices could adversely impact our cash collateral requirements. 

Interest Rate Risk 

Since we had no short or long-term debt outstanding at July 31, 2005, our only exposure to interest rate 
risks is Umited to our investment of excess cash balances in interest-bearing instmments. We generally invest 
cash equivalents in short-term credit instmments consisting primarily of high credit quaUty, short-term money 
market funds and insured, remarketable govemment agency securities with interest rate reset maturities of 
90 days or less. We do not expect any material loss from our investments and we believe that our potential 
interest rate exposure is not material. As our practice has been, and currently continues to be, to only invest in 
high-quaUty debt instmments with maturities or remarketing dates of 90 days or less, we currently are not 
materially susceptible to interest rate risks. 

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. 

The financial statement information, mcluding the report of independent auditors, required by this Item 8 
is set forth on pages F-1 to F-32 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is hereby incorporated into this 
Item 8 by reference. The Quarterly Financial Information required by this Item 8 is set forth on pages F-31 
and F-32 (Note 17 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K 
and is hereby incorporated into this Item 8 by reference. 

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 

None. 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 

(a) Restatement of the Quarterly Periods in Fiscal 2005 

In connection with the preparation of our consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended 
July 31, 2005, we determined that certain electricity forward physical contracts and financial derivatives 
designated as cash flow hedges lacked adequate documentation of our method of measurement and testing of 
hedge effectiveness to meet the cash flow hedge requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended 
(SFAS No. 133). Additionally, we determined that a forward physical contract and several financial 
derivative contracts had been inappropriately accounted for as normal purchase and normal sale contracts and 
thereby erroneously accounted for as exempt from hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133. 

Without adequate documentation, the Company was not eligible to apply cash flow hedge accounting 
during fiscal 2005. Additionally, the derivative contracts that had been inappropriately accounted for as 
exempt from hedge accounting must be marked to market. Mark to market gains or losses on these derivatives 
are required to be reflected in the statement of operations for each period rather than deferred as a component 
of other comprehensive income (loss) until physical delivery. 

As a result, management determined that the failure to properly document and account for certain of its 
electricity forward physical contracts and financial derivatives in accordance with the requirements of 
SFAS No. 133 represented a material weakness in our intemal control over fmancial reporting. 
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On October 25, 2005, management recommended to the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors that 
previously reported financial results for each of the quarterly periods ended October 31, 2004, January 31, 
2005 and April 30, 2005, be restated to reflect proper accounting treatment for these forward physical 
contracts and financial derivatives in accordance with SFAS No. 133 and that the quarterly financial 
statements for the periods ended October 31, 2004, January 31, 2005 and April 30, 2005 should no longer be 
relied upon. The Audit Committee agreed with management's assessment and recommendation and on 
October 26, 2005 recommended the same action to the Board of Directors which on the same day determined 
that previously reported quarterly results for fiscal 2005 should be restated to reflect the appropriate 
accountmg for these derivatives. As a result, we are restating our quarterly results for each of the first three 
quarters in the fiscal year ended July 31, 2005. 

(b) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of our 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules I3a-15(e) and 15d-l5(e) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Aimual 
Report (July 31, 2005). Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required 
to be disclosed in reports filed and submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and 
reported withm the time periods specified under SEC mles and forms and that such information is 
accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Interim Chief 
Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Solely as a result of the material 
weakness described above, they have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective 
asof July 31, 2005. 

(c) Remediation of Material Weakness in Intemal Control 

We have taken the following cortective actions which we beUeve will remediate the material weakness in 
our intemal control over financial reporting with respect to the application of SFAS No. 133 for our energy 
supply activities. The remedial actions included the institution of (a) improved traiiUng, education and 
accounting policies and procedures designed to ensure that all relevant personnel involved in the our utiUzation 
of derivative transactions understand and apply cash flow hedge accounting in compliance with SFAS No. 133 
and (b) additional senior management oversight procedures designed to ensure such compliance. We expect 
that this process of remediation will be completed by the end of the first quarter of fiscal 2006. 

(d) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

There were no material changes in our intemal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter 
of fiscal 2005 that has materially affected or is reasonably Ukely to materially affect, our intemal control over 
financial reporting. We believe that the change to our intemal controls and procedures designed to address the 
deficiency referenced above, the implementation of which commenced during the first quarter of fiscal 2006, 
has materially affected our intemal control over financial reporting. 

Item 9B. Other Information. 

On May 31, 2005, we entered into an at-will employment letter agreement with Thomas L. Ulry, our 
Senior Vice President of Operations. A summary of the letter agreement is set forth in Item 11, Executive 
Compensation, under the caption "Employment Agreements," and is hereby incorporated by reference herein. 
On October 28, 2005, we received a letter from Mr. Ulry confirming his understanding that the May 31, 2005 
employment letter agreement superceded the prior employment letter agreement dated February 28, 2005. 
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PART III 

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant. 

Information About Our Directors 

The Company's Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws provide for a "classified" Board of Directors. 
The number of authorized directors is curtently seven. Curtently, there are two Class I directors, whose terms 
expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held after the completion of fiscal 2007; three Class II 
directors, whose terms expires at the Company's upcoming annual meeting of stockholders to be held after the 
completion of fiscal 2005; and two Class III directors, whose terms expire at the annual meeting of 
stockholders to be held after the completion of fiscal 2006. The following table sets forth information 
regarding our directors, including their age as of October 14, 2005, and busmess experience during the past 
five years. Each of our directors has served continuously as one of our directors since the date indicated in the 
biography below. 

Principal Occupation and Other Information Name and Position Age 

Class I Directors 

Steven S. Boss 59 Mr. Boss was appointed to the Board of Directors 
in July 2005 and Chief Executive Officer of 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc. in August 2005. 
Since August 2004, Mr. Boss also served as a 
director and President of Commerce Energy, Inc., 
a director and Chief Executive Officer of Skipping 
Stone Inc. and Utilihost, Inc. From 2003 to 
August 2005, Mr. Boss was an attomey in private 
practice speciaUzing in the representation of 
energy companies and commercial energy users. 
From 2000 to 2003, Mr. Boss served as president 
of Energy Buyers Network, LLC, an energy 
consulting firm that provided regulatory 
representation and stmctured direct access energy 
transactions for commercial energy users. From 
1999 to 2000, he served as president of both Sierra 
Pacific Energy Company and Nevada Power 
Services, non-regulated energy services operating 
subsidiaries of Sierta Pacific Resources, Prior to 
that, Mr, Boss served in various legal and senior 
management positions in a number of energy 
companies and practiced law in private practice. 
From 1984 to 1992, Mr, Boss served as president 
and chief executive officer of Sunrise Energy 
Services, Inc., an independent natural gas 
marketing company with shares listed on the 
American and London Stock Exchanges. Mr. Boss 
received a Bachelor of Science in Aerospace 
Engineering from the University of Texas and a 
Juris Doctor from the University of Southem 
Califomia. He has been a member of the State Bar 
of CaUfomia since 1974. 
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Name and Position 

Gary J. Hessenauer 

Age Principal Occupation and Other Information 

51 Mr. Hessenauer has served as a director of 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc. since August 29, 
2005. Mr. Hessenauer is a member of the 
compensation Committee and serves as the Chair 
of the Strategic Opportunities Committee of the 
Board. Since 2003, Mr. Hessenauer has been an 
investor and advisor to early stage companies. 
From 2002 to 2003, Mr. Hessenauer served as 
President and Chief Executive Officer of Sixth 
Dimension, an energy technology company that 
developed solutions for real-time monitoring and 
control of dispersed energy assets. From 2000 to 
2001, he served as Senior Vice President of 
Sempra Energy Solutions, a retail energy services 
provider that also provided non-regulated energy 
marketing and trading services. Sempra Energy 
Solutions was a subsidiary of Sempra Energy, a 
large distributor of natural gas and electricity that 
is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, Prior 
to that, he served in management positions with a 
number of pubUc and private companies. These 
positions included Vice President, Marketmg and 
Sales for the retail energy services subsidiary of 
Edison Intemational from 1996 to 1997 and 
Corporate Area General Manager of multiple 
business unit development operations for the 
General Electric Company from 1988 to 1994 and 
Regional Sales Manager for General Electric 
Company's Electrical Distribution and Control 
business unit from 1984 to 1987. Mr. Hessenauer 
holds a B.S. Degree in Mechanical Engineering 
from the United States Naval Academy and 
completed Stanford University's executive 
business program. 

39 



Name and Position 

Class I I Directors 

Mark S. Juergensen 

Age 

45 

Peter T. Weigand 49 

Principal Occupation and Other Informatjon 

Mr. Juergensen has served as a director of 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc. since its inception 
in December 2003. Mr. Juergensen is a member of 
the Audit, Compensation, Nominating and 
Corporate Governance and Strategic 
Opportunities Committees of the Board. He also 
has served as a director of Commerce Energy, Inc. 
from May 2003 to August 2005 and a director of 
Skipping Stone Inc. and UtiUhost, Inc. since 
August 2005. Mr. Juergensen has served as Vice 
President of Sales and Marketing for Predict 
Power, an e n e i ^ solution software company he 
co-founded, since May 2000. Mr. Juergensen also 
is a director of SterUng Energy Intemational, Inc., 
a private management service company in the 
power generation industry, and an investor and 
advisor to various early-stage technology and 
energy companies. From Febmary 1995 to June 
2000, he served in multiple leadership positions, 
including as a Commercial Manager, for Solar 
Turbines, Caterpillar's gas turbine division. From 
Febmary 1992 to Febmary 1995, he served as 
Director of Management Services for Sterling 
Energy Intemational, a power generation 
management consulting firm he co-founded. 
Mr. Juergensen received a Bachelor of Science 
degree in Electrical engineering from the 
University of Southem CaUfomia. 

Mr, Weigand has served as a director of 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc. since July 2004, a 
director of Commerce Energy, Inc. and Utilihost, 
Inc. from April 2004 through August 2005 and a 
director of Skipping Stone Inc. from its inception 
through August 2005. Mr. Weigand served as 
President of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. from 
July 2004 through October 2005; President of 
Commerce Energy, Inc. from April 2004 through 
August 2005; and from 1996 through August 2005 
served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
of Skipping Stone Inc., an energy consulting and 
technology firm he founded which is now a 
subsidiary of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Prior 
to forming Skipping Stone, Mr. Weigand held 
senior management positions at several energy 
marketing companies. Mr. Weigand holds a 
Bachelor of Business Administration from Wichita 
State University. 
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Name and Position 

Charles E. Bayless 62 

Class I I I Directors 

Ian B. Carter 

Age Principal Occupation and Other Information 

Mr. Bayless has served as a director of Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc. since July 2004. Mr. Bayless is 
a member of the Audit, Compensation, 
Nominating and Corporate Govemance and 
Strategic Opportunities Committees of the Board. 
Mr, Bayless served as Chairman of Illinova and 
Illinois Power from August 1998 untU his 
retirement in December 1999. Mr. Bayless also 
held the position of Chief Executive Officer of 
Illinova and President of Illinois Power from July 
1998 until September 1999. Prior to that, he was 
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 
of Tucson Electric Power. Mr. Bayless served as a 
Director of IlHnova fiom 1998 until the closing of 
the merger with Dynegy Inc. in Febmary 2000, 
and has since served as a director of Dynegy Inc. 
Mr. Bayless received his Bachelor of Science 
degree in Electrical Engineering from West 
Virginia Institute of Technology. He eamed a 
Master of Science degree in Electrical 
Engineering with a focus in Power Engineering, 
and in 1972 received his Law Degree, both from 
West Virginia University, Mr. Bayless also holds 
an MBA degree from the Graduate School of 
Business Administration at the University of 
Michigan. 

67 Mr. Carter has served as a director of Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc. since its inception in 2003. 
Mr. Carter was the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of Commerce and Commerce Energy, 
Inc. (formerly Commonwealth) from January 
2000 through May 2005. Mr. Carter was the Chief 
Executive Officer of Commerce and 
Commonwealth from January 2000 through 
November 2004, and was the President from 
March 2003 through March 2004. During the four 
month period preceding January 2000, he acted as 
Interim President of Commonwealth. Mr. Carter 
has served as a director of Commonwealth since 
1999. From October 1988 to August 1999, 
Mr. Carter operated his own businesses, including 
a mortgage banking firm and a merchant banking 
firm. Prior to that, Mr. Carter served as an 
investment speciaUst for ColdweU Banker 
Commercial Brokerage and worked as a Systems 
Engineer and Salesman with IBM. Mr. Carter also 
served in the United States Army serving in 
Vietnam, Europe and the Pentagon. Mr. Carter 
received his Bachelor of Science degree in 
Engineering from the United States Military 
Academy at West Point, New York, and his 
Masters in Business Administration m finance 
from the University of Southem Califomia. 
Mr. Carter is curtently retired. 
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Name and Position Age Principal Occupation and Other Information 

Robert C. Perkins 66 Mr. Perkins has been the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 
since May 2005, Mr. Perkins has served as a 
director of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. since 
December 2003 and as a director of Commerce 
Energy, Inc. (formerly Commonwealth) since 
1999. Mr, Perkms is a member of the Audit, 
Compensation and Strategic Opportunities 
Committees of the Board. Mr. Perkins has served 
as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of 
Hospital Management Services, a provider of 
financial and management consulting services to 
hospitals and similar institutions, since June 1969. 
Mr. Perkins received his Bachelor of Science 
degree in accounting from Bob Jones University. 

There are no artangements or other understandings pursuant to which any of the persons Usted in the 
table above was selected as a director or nominee. 

Information with Respect to Our Executive OfHcers 

Information regarding our executive officers is included in Item lA of Part I of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K under the caption "Executive Officers of the Registrant," and is hereby incorporated herein by 
reference. 

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance 

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors and executive officers, and persons who 
beneficially own more than 10% of a registered class of our equity securities to file with the SEC initial reports 
of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of our common stock and other equity securities. Officers, 
directors and beneficial owners of more than 10% of our common stock are required by SEC regulations to 
fumish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file. 

To our knowledge, based solely on review of the copies of such reports furnished to us and written 
representations that no other reports were required during fiscal 2005, and except as disclosed in the following 
paragraph, our officers, directors and beneficial owners of more than 10% of our common stock compUed with 
all Section 16(a) filing requirements during fiscal 2005. 

The following persons made late filings of reports under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act that related 
to transactions that occurred during fiscal 2005: (a) Craig G. Goodman, one of our former directors, filed a 
late Form 4 in connection with two purchases of our common stock in October 2004; (b) Robert C. Perkins, 
one of our directors, filed a late Form 4 in connection with two purchases of our common stock in January 
2005; (c) Peter T. Weigand, one of our directors, filed a late Form 4 in connection with the purchase of our 
common stock in January 2005; and (d) Thomas L. Ulry, our Senior Vice President of Operations, filed a late 
Form 4 in connection with a grant of an employee stock option in March 2005. 

Code of Ethics 

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our directors, officers and 
employees including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer 
and all of our other officers and employees. In the event that we make any amendment to, or grant any waiver 
of, a provision of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that appUes to our principal executive officer, 
principal financial officer or principal accounting officer, we intend to disclose such amendment or waiver by 
including such information as an exhibit in future filings. 
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Audit Committee and Audit Committee Financial Expert 

Charles E. Bayless, Mark S. Juergensen and Robert C. Perkins are the members of our Audit 
Committee. Our Board of Directors has determined that each member of the Audit Committee is 
"independent" as defined under the mles of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the American 
Stock Exchange. Furthermore, the Board of Directors has determined that Mr, Perkins, the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee, is an "audit committee financial expert" as defined under the mles of the SEC. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation 

Compensation of Executive Officers 

We are required by the SEC to disclose compensation paid by us during the last three fiscal years to 
(a) any person who served as our principal executive officer during fiscal 2005; (b) our four most highly 
compensated executive officers, other than the principal executive officer, who were serving as executive 
officers at the end of fiscal 2005; and (c) up to two additional individuals for whom such disclosure would 
have been provided under clause (b) above but for the fact that the individual was not serving as an executive 
officer at the end of fiscal 2005; provided, however, that no disclosure need be provided for any executive 
officer, other than the principal executive officer, whose total annual salary and bonus does not exceed 
$1(X),000. Accordingly, we are disclosing information regarding compensation paid by us during the last three 
fiscal years to (a) Ian B. Carter (our former Chief Executive Officer) and Peter T. Weigand (our former 
President), both of whom served as our principal executive officer during fiscal 2005; (b) Richard L. 
Boughmm (our former Chief Financial Officer) and Eric G, Alam (our Senior Vice President of Sales and 
Marketing), the two most highly-compensated executive officers, other than the principal executive officer, 
who were serving as executive officers at the end of fiscal 2005 and whose salary and bonus exceeded 
$100,000; and (c) John A. Barthrop (our former Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary), for 
whom disclosure would be required as one of our most highly-compensated executive officers, but for the fact 
that he was not serving as an executive officer of the Company at the end of fiscal 2(X)5. All of these officers 
are referted to in this Annual Report as the "Named Executive Officers." 

Summary Compensation Table 

The following table sets forth for each of the past three fiscal years, all compensation received for services 
rendered in all capacities by the Named Executive Officers. 

Name and Principal Position 

Ian B. Carter(3) 
Former Chief Executive 
Officer, and Chairman of 
the Board 

Peter T. Weigand(6) 
Former President 

Richard L. Boughrum(7) . . 
Former Chief Financial 
Officer Senior Vice 
President and Secretary 

John A. Barthrop(9) 
Former General Counsel. 
Senior Vice President 
and Secretary 

EricG. Alam(ll) 
Sr. Vice President of 
Sales & Marketing 

Fiscal 
Year 

2005 
2004 
2003 

2005 
2004 

2005 
2004 

2005 
2004 
2003 

2005 

Annual Compensati 

Salaiy 

$397,263 
$467,404 
$402,062 

$400,000 
$130,769 

$350,000 
$114,423 

$134,211 
$233,124 
$202,527 

$188,836 

Bonus(l) 

$ 87,500 
$100,000 

I 

— 

$ 72,000 
$ 55,500 

»n 
Other Annual 

Compensation (2) 

— 

— 

— 

— 

Long Term Compensation 
Payouts 

Awards Securities 
Restricted Underlying 

Stock Options/ 
Award(s) SARs 

— 

— 

$288,000(8) 

— 

/ F / i 

600,000 

600,000 

500,000 

125,000 

LTIP 
Payout 

— 

I 

— 

— 

All Other 
Compensation 

$3,092,845(4) 
$ 167,000(5) 

— 

$ 258,057(10) 

$ 86,880(5) 
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(Footnotes related to the table from the preceding page.) 

(1) Bonus compensation is determined pursuant to employment agreements and/or by the Compensation 
Committee and is generally based upon performance measured on a fiscal year basis. 

(2) The aggregate amount of perquisites and other benefits paid did not exceed the lesser of $50,000 or 10% 
of the total annual salary and bonus of any of the named executive officers for the periods covered. 

(3) Mr. Carter served as the Company's Chief Executive Officer untU January 31, 2005, Mr. Carter was on 
paid administrative leave from November 11, 2004 through January 31, 2005. 

(4) All other compensation for fiscal 2005 consisted of: (a) a $3,0(X),000 payment pursuant to Mr, Carter's 
settiement agreement, (b) $2,845.40 for COBRA coverage for Mr. Carter, and (3) $90,000 paid to 
Mr. Carter's attorneys in connection with his settlement agreement. 

(5) Represents the positive difference between the valuation of our common stock as of the date stock 
options were exercised by Mr. Carter and the exercise price of the options. 

(6) Mr. Weigand jomed the Company on April 1, 2004. Mr. Weigand served as the Company's President 
until October 8, 2005. 

(7) Mr. Boughmm joined the Company on April I, 2004. Mr. Boughmm served as the Company's Senior 
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer untU October 8, 2005. 

(8) Represents the value on the date of grant of 150,000 shares of restricted stock granted to Mr. Boughmm, 
based upon an estimated valuation of $1.92 per share of common stock as of the date the restricted stock 
was granted. There was no market value for the common stock prior to our pubUc Usting on the AMEX 
in July 2004. This valuation was made by our Board of Directors for accounting and fmancial reporting 
purposes and does not reflect actual transactions. In October 2005, as a result of the termination of 
Mr. Boughmm's employment without cause, aU 150,000 shares of restricted stock became fully vested. 

(9) Mr. Barthrop served as the Company's Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary until his 
retirement in January 2005. 

(10) AU other compensation for fiscal 2005 consisted of: (a) a severance payment of $240,000 pursuant to 
the terms of Mr. Barthrop's employment agreement; and (b) $18,057 for COBRA coverage for 
Mr. Barthrop. 

(11) Mr. Alam was appointed as an executive officer of the Company m Febmary 2005. 

Stock Option Grants. 

No stock options were granted to any of the Named Executive Officers during fiscal 2005. 
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Option Exercises/Fiscal Year End Value. 

The following table shows stock option exercises and the value of unexercised stock options held by the 
Named Executive Officers during fiscal 2005. 

Aggregated Option/SAR Exercises in Last Fiscal Year 
and FY-End Option/SAR Values 

Name 

Ian B. Carter 
Peter T. Weigand 
Richard L. Boughmm .. 
John A. Barthrop 
Eric G. Alam 

Shares Acquired 
on Exercise 

( # ) 

— 
— 
— 
— 

Value 
Realized 

($) 
$ 
— 
— 
— 
— 

Nnmber of Securities 
Underlying Unexercised 

Options/SARs at 
Fiscal Year-End (#) 

Exercisable Unex»visable 

2,500,000 — 
600,000 — 
500,000 — 
625,000 — 
133,333 — 

Value of Unexercised 
In-tlie-Money 

Options/SARs at Fiscal 
Year-End ($)(2) 

Exercisable Unexercisable 

$ -
— — 
— — 
— — 
— — 

Emplo3went Agreements 

Ian B. Carter. We entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Carter on January 1, 2000. 
Mr. Carter's employment agreement was amended on November 1, 2000 and March 15, 2004. The 
agreement, as amended, provided for Mr. Carter's employment with the Company through January 31, 2005. 
On November 11, 2004, a Special Committee of the Board of Directors placed Mr, Carter, Chairman of the 
Board and Chief Executive Officer of Commerce and Commonwealth, on paid administrative leave, which 
continued through the remainder of the term of Mr. Carter's employment agreement ending on January 31, 
2005. 

On April 22, 2005, the Company and its principal operating subsidiary. Commerce Energy, Inc, entered 
into a settlement agreement and release with Mr. Carter, The settlement agreement provided for payments to 
Mr. Carter totaling $3.0 milUon and the payment of two months of COBRA coverage for Mr. Carter. In 
addition, Mr. Carter retained an option to purchase 2.5 million shares of the Company's common stock at 
$2.50 per share. Under the settlement agreement, Mr. Carter and the Company agreed to mutual general 
releases of all claims that the parties may have against each other and Mr, Carter agreed to reUnquish any 
stock options he has been granted, or claims to have been granted, in excess of the 2.5 miUion options, 

Peter T. Weigand. We entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Weigand on AprU 1, 2004. The 
agreement provided for an initial three year term and is automatically extended for successive one year 
periods. On August 4, 2005, our Board of Directors decided to terminate without cause the employment of 
Mr. Weigand. In accordance with the terms of his employment agreement, the termination of Mr. Weigand's 
employment became effective on October 8, 2005. On October 8, 2005, Mr. Weigand entered into an 
Agreement Not to Engage in Prohibited Activities, under which he agreed not to directiy or indirectly engage 
as an owner, employee, consultant or agent of any retail commodity marketing entity or entity that markets 
energy efficient products or back office services for a period of six months foUowing his termination. Pursuant 
to the terms of his employment agreement, entering into the Agreement Not to Engage in Prohibited 
Activities entitles Mr. Weigand to receive severance payments equal to his base salary, $400,000 annually, for 
the remaining term of his employment agreement {i.e., until April 1, 2007). 

Richard L. Boughrum. We entered into an employment agreement vidth Mr. Boughmm on AprU i, 
2004. The agreement provided for an initial three year term and is automaticaUy extended for successive one 
year periods. On August 4, 2005, our Board of Directors decided to terminate without cause the employment 
of Mr. Boughmm. In accordance with the terms of his employment agreement, the termination of 
Mr. Boughmm's employment became effective on October 8, 2005. On October 8, 2005, Mr. Boughmm 
entered into an Agreement Not to Engage in Prohibited Activities, under which he agreed not to directly or 
indirectly engage as an owner, employee, consultant or agent of any retail commodity marketing entity or 
entity that markets energy efficient products or back office services for a period of six months following his 
termination. Pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement, entering into the Agreement Not to Engage 

45 



in Prohibited Activities enthles Mr. Boughmm to receive severance payments equal to his base salary, 
$350,000 annually, for the remaining term of his employment agreement (i.e., until April 1, 2007). In 
addition, all 150,000 shares of Mr. Boughmm's restricted stock grants immediately vested. 

John A. Barthrop. Mr. Barthrop served as our Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary. 
We entered into to an employment agreement with Mr. Barthrop on November 1, 2000. Mr. Barthrop's 
employment agreement was amended on March 31, 2004. The agreement, as amended, provided for 
Mr. Barthrop's employment through December 31, 2004. Under the terms of his employment agreement, as 
amended, Mr. Barthrop received a severance payment in an amount equal to $240,000, his annual base salary 
as of the date of the termination of his employment. 

Steven S. Boss. On August 1, 2005, Commerce entered into an employment agreement with Steven S. 
Boss as Commerce's newly elected Chief Executive Officer. Pursuant to the employment agreement, on 
August 1, 2005, the Company also entered into a stock option agreement, a restricted stock agreement and an 
indemnification agreement with Mr. Boss. On August I, 2005, the Board of Directors of the Company 
designated Mr. Boss as the principal executive officer for purposes of aU fiUngs with the SEC under the 
Securities Act and the Exchange Act. 

Pursuant to the employment agreement, Mr. Boss wiU receive an annualized base salary of $412,000, with 
a target incentive bonus of 50% of base salary, Mr. Boss was granted an option to purchase 300,000 shares of 
our common stock at an exercise price equal to $1.80 per share, with vesting as to 100,000 shares upon hire 
and as to 100,000 shares on each of the first two anniversaries thereafter. Mr. Boss was also granted 
200,000 shares of restricted stock, which vest as to 50,000 shares on the first anniversary of hire and as to 
50,000 shares upon the achievement of performance targets for fiscal years 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. 
The employment agreement has no specific term and is subject to termination by either the Company or 
Mr. Boss without cause upon 60 days written notice. 

The employment agreement provides that if Mr. Boss is terminated without cause or if he resigns for good 
reason, Mr. Boss will be entitled to severance equal to 12 months of his then-curtent base salary payable over a 
12-month period, plus 12 months accelerated vesting of outstanding unvested stock options and restricted 
stock. In the event of a change of control of the Company, Mr. Boss may resign for good reason within 
180 days after the change of control. 

Under the employment agreement, Mr. Boss agreed not to soUcit the Company's employees, customers, 
clients or suppUers during the term of his employment and for a period of one year after any period in which 
severance payments are received, and not to compete with the Company during the term of his employment 
and any period in which severance payments are received. Finally, in accordance with the employment 
agreement, we indenmified Mr. Boss pursuant to our standard form of indemnification agreement, 

Lawrence Clayton, Jr. On August 1, 2005, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with 
Lawrence Clayton, Jr,, whom the Company appointed as interim Chief Financial Officer and Secretary and 
designated him the principal financial officer for purposes of all filmgs with the SEC under the Securities Act 
and the Exchange Act on August 4,2005. The consulting agreement provides that Mr. Clayton wUl serve as an 
independent contractor and wUl provide finance, accounting and financial oversight services to the Company. 
Under the consulting agreement, Mr. Clayton wiU be paid $200 per hour (with a maximum of $1,500 per day 
and $7,500 per week). The consulting agreement had an initial term through September 30, 2005, subject to 
extension upon mutual agreement. On September 29, 2005, the term of the consulting agreement was 
extended untU November 30, 2005 on the same terms and conditions. 

Thomas L. Ulry. On March I, 2005, we entered into an at-wUl employment letter agreement dated 
February 28, 2005 with Tom Ulry, our Senior Vice President of Operations. The agreement provided for an 
annual base salary of $190,000, subject to adjustment based upon the results of a independent compensation 
study commissioned by the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors, an annual discretionary 
bonus, as determined by the Compensation Committee, a grant of options to purchase 100,000 shares of our 
common stock at an exercise price of $3.50 per share, vesting equaUy over four years, a relocation bonus of 
$100,000 and reimbursement of actual relocation expenses not to exceed $40,000. The agreement also 
provided for other standard employee benefits including medical, dental and insurance benefits and the right 
to participate in our 401 (k) Plan, Finally, the agreement provided for a severance benefit of one year's annual 
base salary if we terminated Mr. Ulry without cause prior to March 2, 2006. On May 31, 2005, we entered into 
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a second at-wiU employment letter agreement with Mr. Ulry which superceded the Febmary 28, 2005 letter 
agreement. Pursuant to the May 31,2005 agreement, Mr. Ulry's annual base salary was increased to $225,000, 
the $100,000 relocation bonus was deleted and the severance benefit was amended to state that if we 
terminated Mr. Ulry without cause during the first year after May 31, 2(X)5, Mr. Ulry would be entitled to one 
year's annual base salary, and if we terminated him without cause at any time thereafter, an amount equal to 
his monthly salary for up to six months or until he finds other employment, whichever is first to occur. All 
other terms set forth in the Febmary 28, 2(X)5 at-wiU employment letter agreement remained the same. 

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation 

Executive compensation is determined by a Compensation Committee elected by our Board of Directors. 
The Compensatioii Committee is curtently comprised of Robert C. Perkins, Charles E. Bayless and Mark S. 
Juergensen. None of the curtent Compensation Committee members are or has been an officer or employee of 
the Company. None of our executive officers serve as members of the Board of Duectors or compensation 
committee of any entity that has one or more executive officers who serve on our Board of Directors or the 
Compensation Committee. 

Compensation of Directors 

Directors who also are our employees are not paid any fees or remuneration, as such, for their service on 
the Board of Directors or on any Board committee. In December 2004, the Board approved the following 
compensation poUcies with respect to the Company's non-employee directors. These poUcies were adopted by 
the Board, and may be changed from time-to-time by the Board. 

Cash Compensation. Each non-employee director is paid a quarterly retainer in the amount of $8,000, a 
fee of $1,000 for each Board meeting which the Board member attends in person and a fee of $750 for each 
Board meeting which the Board member attends telephonically. Directors who served on Board committees 
(other than the chairman of such committee) are paid $750 for each committee meeting the Board member 
attends in person and a fee of $500 for each Committee meeting which the Board member attends 
telephonically. Committee chairpersons are paid $1,000 for each committee meeting the chairperson attends, 
whether in person or telephonically. In addition, each non-employee director who resides outside Southem 
Califomia is entitled to receive reimbursement for reasonable travel expenses in accordance with our travel 
expense poUcy, with respect to each Board or Board committee meeting that such non-employee director 
attends in person. 

Stock Options. Each non-employee director who first becomes a member of the Board of Directors will 
be granted an option to purchase 50,000 shares of our Common Stock foUowing their appointment or election 
to the Board of Directors, with the following terms and conditions: (a) the options shall be subject to all terms 
and conditions of the 1999 Plan or any successor plan; (b) the options shall vest quarterly at a rate of 
12,500 shares on each three-month anniversary of the date of grant, with any unvested shares being forfeited if 
the Board member's service is terminated; (c) the options shall have a term of 10 years from the date of grant; 
(d) any vested options may be exercised, during the time the Board member is serving as a director or after 
such person ceases to be a director, prior to the expiration of the term of the option; and (e) the exercise price 
shall be the greater of the fair market value or the cash value of our Common Stock on the date of grant. In 
addition, each non-employee member of the Board of Directors will be granted an option to 
purchase 50,000 shares of our Common Stock pursuant to the 1999 Plan or any successor plan, effective as of 
the close of business on the date of each annual meeting of stockholders at which such non-employee director 
is re-elected as a non-employee director or coutmues m office as an incumbent director, with the foUowing 
terms and conditions: (a) the options shaU be subject to all terms and conditions of the 1999 Plan or any 
successor plan; (b) the options shaU vest quarterly at a rate of 12,500 shares on each three month aimiversary 
of the date of grant, with any unvested shares being forfeited if the Board member's service is terminated; 
(c) the options shaU have a term of 10 years from the date of grant; (d) any vested options may be exercised, 
during the time the Board member is serving as a director or after such person ceases to be a director, prior to 
the expiration of the term of the option; and (e) the exercise price shall be the greater of the fair market value 
or the cash value of our Common Stock on the date of grant. 

Each non-employee director is also eligible to receive awards under our 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, 
which we refer to as the Plan, a discretionary stock option plan. Except as described above, no stock options 
were issued to our directors for services under the Plan during fiscal 2005. 
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management. 

The information with respect to each person specified is as supplied or confirmed by such person, based 
upon statements filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or based upon our actual knowledge. 

Beneficial Ownership Table 

The foUowing table sets forth certain information about the beneficial ownership of our common stock as 
of October 14, 2005 by: 

• each person known by us to own beneficially more than 5% of the voting power of our outstanding 
common stock; 

• each of our curtent directors; 

• our chief executive officer and the other officers named in the Summary Compensation Table set forth 
under the caption "Compensation of Executive Officers" (we refer to these officers as the "Named 
Executive Officers"); and 

• all of our curtcnt directors and executive officers as a group. 

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the mles of the SEC based upon voting or 
investment power over the securities. 

Shares and share percentages beneficially owned are based upon the number of shares of common stock 
outstanding on October 14, 2005, together with options, warrants or other convertible securities that are 
exercisable for such respective securities within 60 days of October 14, 2005 for each stockholder. Under the 
mles of the SEC, beneficial ownership includes shares over which the named stockholder exercises voting 
and/or investment power. Shares of common stock subject to options, wartants or other convertible securities 
that are curtently exercisable or wiU become exercisable within 60 days of October 14, 2005 are deemed 
outstanding for computing the respective percentage ownership of the person holding the option, wartant or 
other convertible security, but are not deemed outstanding for purposes of computing the respective 
percentage ownership of any other person. Unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes below, we believe that 
the persons and entities named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares 
beneficially owned, subject to applicable community property laws. The inclusion of shares in the table does 
not constitute an admission that the named stockholder is a direct or indirect beneficial owner of the shares. 

Common Stock 
Amount and Nature of 

Beneficial Ownership(l) 
Nnmber of 

Shares Right to Percent of 
Name Owned (2) Acquire (3) Ciass(l)(2)(3) 
Principal Stockholders: 

Ian B, Carter 250,000 2,500,000 8.1% 
Directors and Named Executive Officers: 

Ian B. Carter 250,000 2,500,000 8.1% 
Charies E. Bayless 75,000 * 
Robert C. Perkins 205,000 437,500 2.0% 
Mark S, Juergensen — 125,000 * 
Steven S. Boss — 100,000 * 
Gary J. Hessenauer — — — 
John A. Barthrop — 625,000 1.9% 
Peter T. Weigand 1,088,679 600,000 5.3% 
Richard L. Boughmm 300,000 500,000 2.5% 
Eric G. Alam 174,926 133,333 1.0% 

All Directors and Executive Officers as a group 
(II persons) 2,018,605 5,095,833 19.5% 

* Indicates beneficial ownership of less than 1% of the issued and outstanding class of securities. 

(1) Subject to appUcable community property and similar statutes. 
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(2) Includes shares beneficiaUy owned, whether directly or indirectly, individually or together with associates. 

(3) Represents shares of our common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options or upon conversion of 
other convertible securities held by such persons that are exercisable within 60 days of October 14, 2005. 

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plan 

The Commonwealth 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, or the Plan, has been approved by our stockholders. We 
do not have any equity compensation plans other than the Commonwealth 1999 Equity Incentive Plan 
approved by our stockholders, with the exception of one-time grants of wartants or options made by the our 
Board of Directors from time to time. 

The following table sets forth information regarding the number of shares of our common stock that may 
be issued pursuant to our equity compensation plans or arrangements as of the end of fiscal 2005. 

(a) (b) (c) 

Plan Category 

Equity compensation plans 
approved by security holders 

Equity compensation plans not 
approved by security holders 

Total 

Number of Securities 
to be Issued Upon 

Exercise of 
Outstanding Options, 
Warrants and Rights 

6,052,499(1) 

2,820,000(3) 

8,872,499 

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price of 

Outstanding Options, 
Warrants and Rights 

$2.16 

$2.43 

$2.24 

Number of Securities 
Remaining Available for 
Future Issuance Under 

Equity Compensation Plans 
(Excluding Securities 

Reflected in Column (a)) 

947,401(2) 

947,401 

(1) Represents shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to outstanding options granted under the 
Commonwealth 1999 Equity Incentive Plan. 

(2) Represents shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to options available for future grant 
under the Commonwealth 1999 Equity Incentive Plan. 

(3) Represents stock options granted by our Board of Directors to various employees, directors and 
consultants pursuant to stand-alone agreements. 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

We purchase natural gas from several suppliers, including Cook Inlet Energy Supply LLC, or Cook Inlet. 
Gregory L. Craig is the Chief Executive Officer and a substantial shareholder of Cook Inlet, and served as a 
director of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. from November 2004 to August 2005. For the six months ended 
July 31, 2005, we purchased approximately $9.2 million of natural gas from Cook Inlet, accounting for 
approximately 5% of our total direct energy costs. Our natural gas retaiUng business was acquired in the ACN 
Energy Transaction in Febmary 2005, and the supply artangement between Cook Inlet and ACN pursuant to 
which we purchased natural gas from Cook Inlet existed at the time of the ACN Energy Transaction. We 
believe the purchases were on terms comparable to those available from unaffiUated suppliers. 

On April 1, 2004, we acquired Skipping Stone Inc., an energy consulting and technology firm. Skipping 
Stone was a privately held company that was principally owned by Peter T. Weigand, our former President 
and a director of the Company. In connection with the acquisition of Skipping Stone Inc., each of the former 
holders of Skipping Stone common stock, including Mr. Weigand and Eric G. Alam, agreed to place 20% of 
the Commonwealth shares issued to him in the merger in an escrow for a period of six months. The 
stockholder escrow shares were subject to forfeiture, at $1.92 per share, based upon a "tme up" calculation, 
defined in the merger agreement. The stockholder escrow shares continue to be held in escrow pending 
resolution of the "tme-up" calculation. 

In addition, each of the former holders of Skipping Stone common stock, including Mr. Weigand and 
Mr. Alam, agreed to place an additional 10% of the Commonwealth shares issued to him in the merger in an 
escrow for a period of 18 months, in the case of Mr. Weigand, and 12 months, in the case of the other three 
former holders including Mr. Alam. The retention escrow shares were subject to forfeiture in the event that 
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such person voluntarily resigns his employment with the Company during the escrow period. The retention 
escrow shares of Mr. Weigand continue to be held in escrow pending resolution of the "tme-up" calculation. 

A summary of the Employment Agreements for Steven S. Boss, Chief Executive Officer of Commerce, 
and Thomas L. Ulry, Senior Vice President of Operations for Commerce, and a summary of the Consulting 
Agreement for Lawrence Clayton, Jr., Interim Chief Financial Officer of Commerce, are set forth in Item 11, 
Executive Compensation, under the caption "Employment Agreements," 

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services. 

The following table sets forth the fees biUed and paid to Emst & Young LLP, our independent registered 
pubUc accounting firm for each of the last two fiscal years. 

Fiscal Year 
2004 2005 

Audit Fees $489,420 $583,920 

Audit-Related Fees 22,472 197,304 

Tax Fees 172,446 46,685 

AU Other Fees ^ — 

$684,338 $827,909 

Audit Fees: This category includes the audit of our annual consolidated financial statements, the review 
of financial statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and services that are normally provided 
by the independent registered public accounting firm in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or 
engagements for those fiscal years, including the filing of our Form S-4 in fiscal 2004. 

Audit Related Fees: This category consists of assurance and related services provided by Emst & Young 
LLP that were reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial statements and 
which are not reported above under "Audit Fees." 

Tax Fees. This category consists of professional services rendered by Emst & Young LLP for tax 
services, including tax compliance, tax advice and tax plarming. 

All Other Fees. This category consists of fees for other advisory services. 

The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors has estabUshed a practice that requires the Committee 
to pre-approve any audit or permitted non-audit services to be provided to us by our independent registered 
public accounting firm, Emst & Young LLP, in advance of such services being provided to us. 

Under the SEC mles, subject to certain de minimis criteria, pre-approval is required for all professional 
services rendered by our principal accountant. We are in compliance with these SEC mles. 
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PART IV 

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules. 

(a) (I) Index to Consolidated Financial Statements: 

Report of Emst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm F-1 

Consolidated statements of operations for the three years in the period ended July 31, 2005 F-2 

Consolidated balance sheets at July 31, 2004 and 2005 F-3 

ConsoUdated statements of stockholders' equity for the three years in the period ended July 31, 2005 F-4 

Consolidated statements of cash flows for the three years in the period ended July 31, 2005 F-5 

Notes to consolidated financial statements F-6 

(a) (2) Financial Statement Schedules 

AU schedules are omitted because they are not appUcable or the required information is presented in the 
consoUdated financial statements or the notes thereto. 

(b) Exhibits. The exhibits Usted below are hereby filed with the SEC as part of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. We wUl fumish a copy of any exhibit upon request, but a reasonable fee wiU be charged to cover 
our expense in furnishing such exhibit. 
Exhibit Description 

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, by and among American Energy Group, Inc., CEC 
Acquisition Corp. and Commonwealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on 
July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 2.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form 8-A 
and incorporated herein by reference. 

2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated March 29, 2004 by and among Commonwealth Energy 
Corporation, Skipping Stone Acquisition Corporation, Skipping Stone Inc. and the holders of 
Skipping Stone Inc. common stock previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as 
Exhibit 2.2 to Amendment No, 3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on 
Form S-4 and incorporated herein by reference. 

2.3 Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of Febmary 9, 2005 by and among Commonwealth Energy 
Corporation, ACN Utility Services, Inc., ACN Energy, Inc., ACN Power, Inc. and, as to certain 
sections thereof only. Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and American Communications Network, Inc., 
previously filed with the Commission on Febmary 10, 2005 as Exhibit 2.1 to Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed and incorporated herein by reference, 

2.4 Transition Services Agreement dated as of Febmary 9, 2005 by and between American Communica­
tions Network, Inc. and Commonwealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission 
on Febmary 10, 2005 as Exhibit 2.2 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K 
and incorporated herein by reference, 

2.5 Sales Agency Agreement dated as of Febmary 9, 2005 by and among Commonwealth Energy 
Corporation, Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and American Communications Network, Inc., previ­
ously filed with the Commission on Febmary 10, 2005 as Exhibit 2.3 to Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

2.6 Escrow Agreement dated as of Febmary 9, 2005 by and among Commonwealth Energy Corporation, 
ACN UtiUty Services, Inc., ACN Energy, Inc., ACN Power, Inc., Commerce Energy Group, Inc., 
American Communications Network, Inc. and Computershare Tmst Company, Inc., previously filed 
with the Commission on Febmary 10, 2005 as Exhibit 2.4 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s 
Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously 
filed with the Commission on July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 3.3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s 
Registration Statement on Form 8-A and incorporated herein by reference. 

3.2 Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc. dated July 1, 2004, previously filed with the Commission on July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 3.4 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form 8-A and incorporated herein by 
reference. 
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Exhibit 

3.3 

4.1 

4.2 

Description 

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the 
Commission on July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 3.6 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration 
Statement on Form 8-A and incorporated herein by reference. 

Rights Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2004, entered into between Commerce Eneigy Group, Inc. and 
Computershare Tmst Company, as rights agent, previously filed with the Commission on July 6,2004 
as Exhibit 10.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form 8-A and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

Form of Rights Certificate, previously filed with the Commission on July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 10.2 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form 8-A and incorporated herein by 
reference. 

Material Contracts Relating to Management Compensation Plans or Arrangements 

lO.l 

10.2 

10.3 

10.4 

10.5 

10.6 

10.7 

10.8 

10.9 

10.10 

10.11 

Employment Agreement dated January 1, 2000, between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and 
Ian B. Carter, as modified by an Addendum to Employment Agreement dated as of November 1, 
2000, previously filed with the Commission on August 9, 2001 as Exhibit 10.12 to Commonwealth 
Energy Corporation's Registration Statement on Form 10 and incorporated herein by reference. 

Consent and Waiver Agreement dated March 12, 2004 between Commonwealth Energy Corporation 
and Ian B. Carter, previously filed with the Commission on March 16, 2004 as Exhibit lO.l to 
Commonwealth Energy Corporation's Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q for the period ended 
January 31, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference. 

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement dated March 16, 2004 between Commonwealth 
Energy Corporation and Ian B. Carter, previously filed with the Commission on March 16, 2004 as 
Exhibit 10.2 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period 
ended January 31, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference. 
Employment Agreement dated November 1, 2000, between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and 
John A. Barthrop, previously filed with the Commission on November 14, 2001 as Exhibit 10.15 to 
Amendment No. 1 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation's Registration Statement on Form 10/A 
and incorporated herein by reference. 

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2004 between Commonwealth Energy 
Corporation and John A. Barthrop, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as 
Exhibit 10,5 to Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group's Registration Statement on 
Form S-4 and incorporated herein by reference. 
Executive Employment Agreement dated April 1, 2004 between Commonwealth Energy Corpora­
tion, Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Peter Weigand, previously filed with the Commission on 
April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 10.6 to Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group's Registrant's 
Statement on Form S-4 and incorporated herein by reference. 

Executive Employment Agreement dated April 1, 2004 between Commonwealth Energy Corpora­
tion, Commerce Eneigy Group, Inc. and Richard L. Boughmm, previously filed vrith the Commission 
on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 10.7 to Amendment No, 3 to Commerce Energy Group's Registrant's 
Statement on Form S-4 and incorporated herein by reference. 

Commonwealth Energy Corporation 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, previously filed with the Commis­
sion on October 8, 2003 as Exhibit 4.1 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation's Registration 
Statement on Form S-8 and incorporated herein by reference. 
Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to Commonwealth Energy Corporation 1999 Equity 
Incentive Plan, previously filed with the Commission on November 15, 2004 as Exhibit 10.9 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K and incoiporated herein by reference. 

Confidential Severance Agreement and General Release between Richard L. Paulsen and Common­
wealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 10,1 to 
Commonwealth Energy Corporation's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended 
April 30, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference. 

Confidential Severance Agreement and General Release dated as of Febmary 21, 2004 between 
James L. Oliver and Commonwealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on 
March 16, 2004 as Exhibit 10.3 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation's Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended January 31, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference. 
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Exhibit Description 

10.12 Settiement Agreement and Release dated as of August 29, 2003 between Robert C. Perkins and 
Commonwealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on November 15, 2004 as 
Exhibit 10.12 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Fomi 10-K and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

10.13 Stock Option Agreement dated as of August 29, 2003 between Robert C. Perkins and Common­
wealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on November 15, 2004 as 
Exhibit 10.13 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

10.14 Stock Option Agreement dated as of August 29, 2003 between Robert C. Perkins and Common­
wealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on November 15, 2004 as 
Exhibit 10.14 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

10-15 Stock Option Agreement dated as of July 8, 1999 between Ian B. Carter and Commonwealth Energy 
Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on November 15, 2004 as Exhibit 10.15 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.16 Indemnification Agreement dated as of January 1, 2000 between Commonwealth Energy Corporation 
and Ian B. Carter, with Schedule attached thereto of other substantially identical Indemnification 
Agreements, which differ only in the respects set forth in such Schedule, previously filed with the 
Commission on November 15, 2004 as Exhibit 10.16 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.17 Indemnification Agreement dated as of July 1, 2004 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Ian 
Carter, with Schedule attached thereto of other substantially identical Indemnification Agreements, 
which differ only in the respects set forth in such Schedule, previously filed with the Commission on 
November 15, 2004 as Exhibit 10.17 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.18 Confidential Settlement Agreement and General Release dated as of April 21, 2005 by and among 
Ian B. Carter, Commerce Energy, Inc. and Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the 
Commission on April 22, 2005 as Exhibit 10.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Curtent Report on 
Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.19 Executive Employment Agreement dated August I, 2005 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc, 
and Steven S. Boss, previously filed with the Commission on August 2, 2005 as Exhibit lO.l to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc's Curtent Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.20 Stock Option Agreement dated August 1, 2005 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Steven 
S. Boss, previously filed with the Commission on August 2, 2005 as Exhibit 10.2 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc.'s Curtcnt Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.21 Restricted Stock Agreement dated August 1, 2005 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and 
Steven S, Boss, previously filed with the Commission on August 2, 2005 as Exhibit 10.3 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10*22 Indemnification Agreement dated August I, 2005 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc, and 
Steven S. Boss, previously filed with the Commission on August 2, 2005 as Exhibit 10.4 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Curtent Report on Form 8-K and mcorporated herein by reference. 

10.23 Agreement for Consulting Services dated as of August 1, 2005 between Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc, and Lawrence Clayton, Jr., previously filed vrith the Commission on August 2, 2005 as 
Exhibit 10.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report filed on Form 8-K and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

10.24 Extension of Agreement for Consulting Services between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and 
Lawrence Clayton, Jr. dated as of September 29, 2005, previously filed with the Commission on 
September 30, 2005 as Exhibit 10.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K 
and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.25 Agreement Not to Engage in Prohibited Activities dated as of October 8, 2005 by and among Peter 
Weigand, Commerce Energy, Inc. and Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously fUed with the 
Commission on October 13, 2005 as Exhibit 10.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report 
on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.26 Non-Employee Director Compensation PoUcy, previously filed with the Commission on December 8, 
2004 as Exhibit 10.2 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc's Current Report on Form 8-K and 
incorporated herein by reference. 
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Exhibit Description 

10.27 Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 2005 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, previously filed with the 
Commission on January 19, 2005 as Exhibit 10.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Curtent Report 
on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.28 Summary of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Management Bonus Program for 2005, previously filed 
with the Commission on March 1, 2005 as Exhibit 10.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc's Current 
Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.29 Employment Offer Letter Agreement between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Thomas Ulry 
dated Febmary 28, 2005, previously filed with the Commission on March 7, 2005 as Exhibit 99.1 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.30 Employment Offer Letter Agreement between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Thomas Ulry 
dated May 31, 2005. 

10.31 Letter from Thomas Ulry to Commerce Energy Group, Inc. dated October 28, 2005 regard the 
May 31, 2005 Employment Offer Letter Agreement. 

10.32 Confidential Settlement Agreement and General Release dated as of April 21, 2005 by and among 
Ian B, Carter, Commerce Energy, Inc, and Commerce Energy Group, Inc, previously filed with the 
Commission on April 22, 2005 as Exhibit lO.l to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Curtent Report on 
Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.33 Stock Option Agreement dated April 29, 2005 by and between Ian B. Carter and Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc. 

10.34 Agreement Not to Engage in Prohibited Activities dated as of October 8,2005 by and among Richard 
L, Boughmm, Commerce Energy, Inc, and Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the 
Commission on October 13, 2005 as Exhibit 10.2 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report 
on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

Other Material Contracts 

10.35 

10.36 

10.37 

10.38 

10.39 

10.40 

10.41 

Skipping Stone Stockholder Escrow Agreement by and among Commonwealth Energy Corporation, 
Skipping Stone Inc. and the holders of Skipping Stone Inc. common stock, previously filed vrith the 
Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 2.3 to Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s 
Registration Statement on Form S-4 and incorporated herein by reference. 

Retention Escrow Agreement by and among Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Skipping Stone 
Inc., Peter Weigand, Greg Lander, Eric Alam and Bmno Kvetinskas, previously filed with the 
Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 2.4 to Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s 
Registration Statement on Form S-4 and incorporated herein by reference. 
Registration Rights Agreement by and among Commonwealth Energy Corporation and the holders of 
Skipping Stone, Inc. common stock dated March 29, 2004, previously filed with the Commission on 
April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 2.5 to Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration 
Statement on Form S-4 and incorporated herein by reference. 
Agreement Not To Compete by and among Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc. and Peter Weigand dated April 1, 2004, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 
2004 as Exhibit 2.6 to Amendment No. 3 Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on 
Form S-4 and incorporated herein by reference. 

Limited Liability Company Agreement of Summit Energy Ventures, LLC, as amended by the First 
Amendment to the Limited Liability Company Agreement of Summit Energy Ventures, LLC, dated 
August 2001, previously filed with the Commission on November 14, 2001 as Exhibit 10.6 to 
Amendment No. 1 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation's Registration Statement on Form 10/A 
and incorporated herein by reference. 
Second Amendment to the Limited Liability Company Agreement of Summit Energy Ventures, 
LLC, previously filed with the Commission on April 3, 2002 as Exhibit 10.19 to Amendment No. 2 to 
Commonwealth Energy Corporation's Registration Statement on Form 10/A and incorporated herein 
by reference. 
Consent to Sublease and Sublease Agreement dated May 28, 2004 between E*Trade Consumer 
Finance Corporation and Commonwealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission 
on November 15, 2004 as Exhibit 10.25 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference. 
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10.42 Restmcturing and Termination of Membership Agreement dated as of April 30, 2004 by and among 
Summit Energy Ventures, LLC, Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Steven Strasser and Northwest 
Power Management, Inc, previously filed with the Commission on June 14, 2004 as Exhibit 10.5 to 
Commonwealth Energy Corporation's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended 
April 30, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.43 Confirmation of Transaction between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and DTE Eneigy Trading, 
Inc. dated July 25, 2002, previously filed with the Commission on March 17, 2004 as Exhibit 10.23 to 
Amendment No. 1 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation's Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 
2002 and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.44 Exelon Generation Company, LLC Confirmation Agreement dated July 22, 2003, previously filed 
with the Commission on March 17, 2004, as Exhibit 10.20 to Amendment No. 1 to Commonwealth 
Energy Corporation's Form lO-K/A for the year ended July 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by 
reference. 

10.45 Exelon Generation Company, LLC Confirmation Agreement dated July 22, 2003, previously filed 
with the Commission on March 17, 2004 as Exhibit 10.21 to Amendment No. 1 to Commonwealth 
Energy Corporation's Form 10-K/A for the year ended July 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by 
reference. 

10.46 Confirmation of Transaction between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and DTE Trading, Inc. 
dated March 24, 2003, previously filed with the Commission on March 17, 2004 as Exhibit 10.22 to 
Amendment No. 1 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation's Form 10-K/A for the year ended 
July 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.47 Confirmation of Transaction between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and DTE Trading, Inc, 
dated July 24, 2003, previously filed with the Commission on March 17, 2004 as Exhibit 10.23 to 
Amendment No. 1 to Commonwealth E n e i ^ Corporation's Form 10-K/Afor the year ended July 31, 
2003 and incorporated herein by reference, 

10.48 Revised Security Agreement dated October 27, 2004 by and between Commonwealth Energy 
Corporation and DTE Energy Trading, previously filed with the Commission on November 15, 2004 
as Exhibit 10.32 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

10.49 Revised Operating Agreement dated October 27, 2004 between DTE Energy Trading, Inc. and 
Commonwealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on November 15, 2004 as 
Exhibit 10.33 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

10.50 Settlement Agreement and Mutual General Release dated December 23, 2004 by and between 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc, Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Ian Carter, Robert Perkins, 
Brad Gates, Joseph P. Saline, Patricia E. Saline and Joseph Ogundiji, previously filed with the 
Commission on December 27, 2004 as Exhibit lO.l to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Curtent 
Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

14.1 Commerce Energy Group, Inc, Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, previously filed with the 
Commission on November 15, 2005 as Exhibit 14.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc's Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference, 

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant. 

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young, LLP, independent registered pubUc accounting firm. 

31.1 Principal Executive Officer Certification required by Rule I3a-I4(a) under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934. 

31.2 Principal Financial Officer Certification required by Rule I3a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934. 

32.1 Principal Executive Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.S,C, Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

32.2 Principal Financial Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the 
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

By: /s/ STEVEN S, BOSS 

Steven S. Boss 
Chief Executive Officer 

Dated: October 31, 2005 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below 
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Signature 

/s/ STEVEN S. BOSS 
Steven S. Boss 

/s/ LAWRENCE CLAYTON, JR. 
Lawrence Clayton, Jr. 

/s/ KENNETH L. ROBINSON 
Kenneth L. Robinson 

Is/ CHARLES E. BAYLESS 
Charles E. Bayless 

/s/ IAN B. CARTER 
Ian B, Carter 

/s / GARY J. HESSENAUER 
Gary J. Hessenauer 

/s/ MARK S. JUERGENSEN 
Mark S. Juergensen 

/s/ ROBERT C. PERKINS 
Robert C. Perkins 

/s/ PETER T. WEIGAND 

Title 

Chief Executive Officer and a 
Director (Principal Executive 

Officer) 

Interim Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer) Vice 

President, Finance and 

Corporate Controller (Principal 
Accounting Officer) 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Chairman of the Board and a 
Director 

Director 

Date 

October 31, 2005 

October 31, 2005 

October 31, 2005 

October 31, 2005 

October 31, 2005 

October 31, 2005 

October 31, 2005 

October 31, 2005 

October 31, 2005 

Peter T. Weigand 
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, 
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBUC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying consoUdated balance sheets of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 
(formerly Commonwealth Energy Corporation) as of July 31, 2004 and 2005, and the related consoUdated 
statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
July 31, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibiUty of the Company's management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these fmancial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to 
perform an audit of the Company's intemal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration 
of intemal control over financial reporting as a basis for designmg audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's intemal 
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, 
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. We beUeve that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairiy, in all material respects, the 
consoUdated financial position of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. at July 31, 2004 and 2005, and the 
consoUdated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended July 31, 
2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accountmg principles. 

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP 

Orange County, Califomia 
October 25, 2005 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 

2003 2004 2005 
(In thousands, except per share amounts) 

Net revenue $165,526 $210,623 $253,853 

Direct energy costs 128,179 191,180 225,671 

Gross profit 37,347 19,443 28,182 

SelUng and marketing expenses 4,240 4,063 3,774 

General and administrative expenses 18,492 25,857 31,811 

Reorganization and irutial public Usting expenses ^ 3,393 — 

Income (loss) from operations 14,615 (13,870) (7,403) 

Other income and expenses: 

Initial formation litigation expenses (4,415) (1,562) (1,601) 

Recovery of (provision for) impairment on investments — (7,135) 2,000 

Loss on termination of Summit — (1.904) — 

Loss on equity investments (567) — — 

Minority interest share of loss 187 1,185 — 

Interest income, net 715 549 890 

Total other income and expenses (4,080) (8,867) 1,289 

Income (loss) before provision for (benefit from) income taxes . . . . 10,535 (22,737) (6,114) 

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 5,113 (1,017) — 

Net mcome (loss) $ 5,422 $(21,720) $ (6,114) 

Earrungs (loss) per common share: 

Basic $ 0,19 $ (0.77) $ (0.20) 

Diluted $ 0.18 $ (0,77) $ (0.20) 

Shares used in computing eamings (loss) per common share: 
Basic 27,424 28,338 30,946 

Diluted 30,236 28,338 30,946 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

CONSOUDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
July 31. 

2004 2005 
(In thousands, except per 

share amounts) 

ASSETS 

Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 54,065 $ 33,344 

Accounts receivable, net 31,119 27,843 

Income taxes refund receivables 4,423 — 

Deferted income tax assets 74 — 

Inventory — 4,561 

Prepaid expenses and other curtent assets 5,141 3,542 

Total curtent assets 94,822 69,290 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 4,008 8,222 

Deposits , , 5,445 11,347 

Investments 96 91 

Property and equipment, net 2,613 2,007 

Goodwill 587 6,801 

Other intangible assets 3,252 4,874 

Total assets $110,823 $102,632 

LIABIUTIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Curtent liabilities: 

Accounts payable $ 30,576 $ 25,625 

Accmed liabUities 6,141 6,946 

Total curtcnt UabUities 36,717 32,571 

Commitments and contingencies — — 

Stockholders' equity: 

Common stock— 150,000 shares authorized with $0,001 par value and 30,519 

and 31,436 shares issued and outstandmg in fiscal 2004 and 2005, respectively 60,796 62,609 

Unearned restricted stock compensation (256) — 

Retained eamings 13,566 7,452 

Total stockholders' equity 74,106 70,061 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $110,823 $102,632 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consoUdated financial statements. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

CONSOUDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Commonwealth Enei^ Coqioration Commerce Energy Group, Inc 

Series A Other Unearned 
Commonwealth Convertible Conreriible Commerce Restricted 
Common Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Common Stock ^\w!k Retained 

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Compensation Eamii^ 
(In thousands) 

Balance at July 31, 2002 27,334 $ 57,148 775 $ 820 — $ — — $ — $ — $ 29,984 : 
Exercise of stock options 483 15 — — — — — — — — 
Canceiiation of common shares . . (6) (14) — — — — — — — — 

Income tax benefits arising from 
exercise of stock options — 363 — — — — — — — — 

Reversal of income tax benefit 
due to expiration of slock 
options — (659) — — — — — — — — 

Cumulative unpaid dividends on 
convertible preferred stock . . . . — — — 55 — 42 — — — (97) 

Payment of dividends on Series A 
convertible preferred stock . . . . — — — (92) — — — — — — 

Reflection of — Other convertible 
preferred stock — — — — 352 113 — — — — 

Cancellation of Series A 
convertible preferred stock (166) — (16^) (83) — — — — — — 

Net income and comprehensive 
income — --- — — — — — — — 5,422 

Balance at July 31, 2003 27,645 56,853 609 700 352 155 — — — 35,309 

Exercise of stock options 102 2 7 — — — — — — — — 
Issuance of stock in connection 

with Skipping Stone acquisition 1,614 3,100 — — — — — — — — 
Issuance of stock 219 344 — — 40 10 — — — — 
Compensation charge related to 

settlement of disputes — 636 — — — — — — — — 
Repurchase of dissenter's rights 

stock (604) (1,159) — — — — — — — — 
Issuance of restricted stock 150 288 — — — — — — (288) — 
Amortization of unearned 

restricted stock — — — — — — — — 32 — 
Cumulative unpaid dividends on 

convertible preferred stock . . . . — — — 17 — 6 — — — (23) 
Payment of dividends on preferred 

stock — _- — (108) — (73) — — — — 
Conversion of preferred stock into 

common stock 1,393 707 (609) (609) (392) (98) — _ _ — 
Conversion of Commonwealth 

Energy Corporation common 
stock into (Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc. common stock . . . . (30,519) (60.796) — — — — 30,519 60,796 — — 

Net loss and comprehensive loss — — — — -^ — — ^ — (21,720) 

Balanceat July 31. 2004 — — — — - _ _ 30,519 60,796 (256) 13,566 

Exercise of stock options — — — — — — 102 54 — — 
Repurchase of common shares . . . — — — — — — (120) (251) — — 

Issuance of stock — — — — — — 5 10 — — 
Amortization of unearned 

restricted stock — — — — — — — — 256 
Issuance of stock in connection 

with ACNU acquisition — — — — — — 930 2,000 — — 
Net loss and comprehensive loss — — — — — — 3 — — (6,114) 

Balanceat July 31, 2005 ^ $ — ^ $ — — $ — 31,436 $62,609 $ — $ 7.452 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consoHdated financial statements. 

Total 

87,952 
15 
(14) 

363 

(659) 

(92) 

113 

(83) 

5,422 

93,017 

27 

3,100 

354 

636 

(1,159) 

32 

(181) 

(21,720) 

74,106 

54 

(251) 

10 

— 256 

2,000 
(6.114) 

$ 70.061 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 
2003 2004 2005 

(In thousands) 
Cash Flows From Operating Activities 
Net income (loss) $ 5,422 $(21,720) $ (6,114) 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by 

(used in) operating activities: 
Depreciation 1,461 1,531 1,216 
Amortization 238 419 888 
Provision for doubtful accounts 1,709 2,217 2,305 
Stock-based compensation charge — 668 256 
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options 363 — — 
Reversal of income tax benefit due to expiration of stock options . . . (659) — — 
Deferted income tax provision 1,384 2,698 74 
Impairment of Summit Energy investments — 9,569 5 
Termination of Summit Energy — 1,904 — 
Gain/loss on equity investments 9 — — 
Minority interest share of loss of consolidated entity 603 140 — 
Loss on disposition of property and equipment — — 165 
Changes in operating assets and liabihties: 

Accounts receivable, net (18,231) 4,985 1,096 
Prepaid expenses and other assets (4,368) (5,681) 695 
Accounts payable 14,872 4,659 (4,952) 
Accrued liabilities and other 2,820 (1,076) 805 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 5,623 313 (3,561) 
Cash Flows From Investing Activities 
Purchase of property and equipment (438) (1,079) (1,025) 
Reimbursement from state on renewable energy asset — — 250 
Purchase of intangible assets (126) — — 
Business acquisition, net of cash required — (43) (14,525) 
Acquisition of majority ownership in PEC, net of cash (580) — — 
Summit Energy investments (344) ™- ^Z 

Net cash used in investing activities (1,488) (1,122) (15,300) 
Cash Flows From Financing Activities 
Repurchase of common stock (14) (1,159) (251) 
Sale of common stock — 288 10 
Repurchase or cancellation of Series A convertible preferted stock (83) — — 
Dividends paid on convertible preferred stock (92) (181) — 
Reflection of Other convertible preferted stock 113 10 — 
Proceeds from exercises of stock options 15 27 54 
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash and cash equivalents (6,195) 14,968 (1,673) 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (6,256) 13,953 (1,860) 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,121) 13,144 (20,721) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 43,042 40,921 54,065 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 40,921 $ 54,065 $ 33,344 

Cash paid for: 
Interest $ 18 $ 4 $ — 
Income taxes $ 3,405 $ 3,404 $ — 

The accompanjdng notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCUL STATEMENTS 
(In thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts) 

1. Nature of Business 

Commerce Energy Group, Inc. ("Commerce Energy" or "Commerce") is a diversified independent 
energy marketer of electricity and natural gas. Commerce Energy provides retail electricity and natural gas to 
its residential, commercial, industrial and institutional customers, and provides consuhing and technology 
services to energy-related businesses. Commerce Energy is a holding company that operates through its 
wholly-owned operating subsidiaries: Commerce Energy Inc. (formerly Commonwealth Energy Corporation) 
and Skipping Stone Inc. (''Skipping Stone"). As used in this Report, the term "the Company" refers to 
Commerce Energy Group and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. 

Commerce Energy provides electricity to its customers in the deregulated Califomia, Pennsylvania, 
Michigan, New Jersey and Texas electricity markets. Commerce is hcensed by the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission, ("FERC") as a power marketer. In addition to the states in which the company currently 
operates, the Company is also hcensed to supply retail electricity by applicable state agencies in New York, 
Maryland, Ohio and Virginia. The Company also provides natural gas to customers in Califomia, Georgia, 
Maryland, New York, Ohio, and Pennsylvania. Skipping Stone provides energy-related consulting services and 
technologies to utilities, generators, pipehnes, wholesale merchants and investment banks. 

Commerce Energy Group's predecessor, Commonwealth Energy Corporation ("Commonwealth"), was 
formed in Califomia in August 1997. On July 6, 2004, Commonwealth reorganized into a holding company 
stmcture, whereby Commonwealth became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Commerce Energy and the 
stockholders of Commonwealth became stockholders of Commerce. As a result of the reorganization, each 
share of Commonwealth common stock was exchanged for one share of Commerce common stock, and 
Commonwealth stock options became Commerce stock options. Immediately prior to consummation of the 
reorganization, Commonwealth transferted ownership of its subsidiaries to Commerce Eneigy. As a result of 
the transfer, these entities became subsidiaries of Commerce Energy. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Consolidation 

The Company's consolidated financial statements include its two wholly-owned operating subsidiaries: 
Commerce Energy Inc. and Skipping Stone, Inc. All material inter-company balances and transactions have 
been eUminated in consolidation. 

In fiscal 2003, the Company's consohdated financial statements included the accounts of its controlled 
investment in Summit Energy Ventures, LLC ("Summit"), and its majority ownership m Power Efficiency 
Corporation ("PEC"). In fiscal 2004, the Company terminated its relationship with Summit (with all assets 
distributed to its members), and its investment in PEC decreased to 39.9% and subsequently, to 15% at 
July 31, 2005. As of July 31, 2004 and 2005, neither entity was consolidated (See Note 10). 

Use of Estimates and Assumptions 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts and timing of revenue and expenses, the reported amounts and classification 
of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and habilities. These estimates and assumptions 
are based on the Company's historical experience as well as management's future expectations. As a result, 
actual results could differ from management's estimates and assumptions. The Company's management 
believes that its most critical estimates herein relate to independent system operator costs, transportation and 
deliveiy costs, allowance for doubtful accounts, unbilled receivables, inventory valuation and loss 
contingencies. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

Reclassifications 

The Company has reclassified certain prior fiscal year amounts in the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements to be consistent with the curtent fiscal year's presentation. 

Non-cash items 

In fiscal 2004, the Company recorded a non-cash provision for impairment of $7,135 and a non-cash loss 
on termination of Summit of $257. In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company acquired Skipping Stone, 
Inc. for the Company's common stock of $3,1(X) in a non-cash transaction. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, 
the Company issued 65 shares of common stock and 40 shares of other convertible preferted stock on a non­
cash settlement and in connection to the reorganization, all outstanding Commonwealth Energy Corporation 
Series. A convertible preferred stock, other convertible preferted stock and common stock was converted one 
of one into the Company's common stock as a non-cash transaction. 

In fiscal 2005, the Company issued $2,000 of its common stock (930 shares) in connection with an 
acquisition (see Note 3). 

In fiscal 2005, the Company retired $4,562 of property and equipment and related $4,398 of accumulated 
depreciation with a net hook value of $165. 

Revenue and Cost Recognition 

Energy sales are recognized when the electricity and natural gas are delivered to the Company's 
customers. Green power credits were recognized in fiscal 2(X)3 upon the fulfillment by the Company of all 
related obligations. 

Direct energy costs, which are recognized concurtently with related energy sales, include the commodity 
cost of purchased electricity and natural gas, transportation and transmission costs associated with energy 
delivered to customers, fees incurred from various energy-related service providers and energy-related taxes 
that cannot be passed directly through to the customer. Fees and charges from the Independent System 
Operators ("ISOs") and the Local Distribution Companies ("LDCs") are determmed by the ISO or LDC 
based upon for each day's activities. The Company estimates and accmes for these fees based on activity 
levels, preHminary settlements and other related information. The Company's bills to customers may also 
include charges for the transmission and distribution of the commodity for which the utility is ultimately 
responsible. These amounts are excluded from the Company's net revenue. 

The Company's net revenue is comprised of the foUowing: 

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 
2003 2004 2005 

Retail electricity sales $153,430 $205,028 $188,316 

Excess energy sales 6,496 5,595 40,061 

Green power credits 5,600 ^ ^ 

Total electricity sales 165,526 210,623 228,377 

Retail natural gas sales -— —- 25,476 

Net revenue $165,526 $210,623 $253,853 

Skipping Stone revenues, after inter-company eliminations, for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2004 and 
2005 were $803 and $1,927, respectively, representing less than 1% of total net revenue for each fiscal period. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCLiL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

Green power credits represented payments under a State of Califomia Public Purpose Program, to 
provide incentives to suppliers of renewable power to reduce the cost of such power to certain customers. This 
program was discontinued after March 2003. 

Sales commission expense payable based on customer bilhngs is recognized in the same period as revenue 
generated by such billings. Commission expense is recorded in selling and marketing expenses. 

Major Customer and Suppliers 

No individual customer accounted for ten percent or more of the Company's consolidated net revenue in 
fiscal 2003, 2004 or 2005. 

The Company does not utilize a significant number of energy suppliers. In fiscal 2005, three suppliers 
accounted for 15%, 10%, and 10% of direct energy cost. 

Operating Expenses 

Selhng and marketing expenses consist principally of costs incurted for sales and marketing personnel and 
promotional and advertising activities. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and were $92, $326 and $26 
for fiscal 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. 

General and administrative expenses consist principally of costs incurred for all other corporate personnel, 
rent, utilities, telecommunications, insurance, legal fees, and other corporate costs including provisions made 
for uncollectible accounts receivable, the depreciation and amortization of tangible and intangible assets, and 
stock-based compensation (see below for details regarding stock-based compensation charges). 

In fiscal 2004, the Company decided to reclassify certain expenses related to the reorganization of the 
Company into a Delaware holding company stmcture and initial public fisting of Commerce's common stock 
on the American Stock Exchange ("reorganization and initial public hsting expenses") to a separately 
identified category within selling, general and administrative expense category. The Company has also 
reclassified certain non-operating litigation expenses related to capital-raising mitiatives of prior management 
during the initial formation of the Company ("initial formation expenses") from general and administrative 
expenses to other income and expenses. 

Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share 

Earnings (loss) per common share — Basic has been computed by dividing net income (loss) available 
to common stockholders, after any preferted stock dividends, by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the fiscal year. Eamings (loss) per common share — Diluted has been computed by 
giving additional effect in the denominator to the dilution that would have occurred under the treasury stock 
and if-converted methods, as appUcable, had outstanding stock options, stock purchase wartants and 
convertible debt been exercised or converted into additional common shares. For the fiscal years ended 2004 
and 2005, assumed exercises or conversions have been excluded in computing the diluted loss per share since 
there were net losses for the fiscal years and their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. 

Stock Option-Based Compensation 

As allowed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No, 123 ("SFAS No. 123"), 
"Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation", the Company has elected to retain the compensation measure­
ment principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" 
("APB No. 25"), and its related interpretations for stock options issued to employees and outside directors. 
Under APB No. 25, compensation cost is recognized at the measurement date for the amount, if any, that the 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS— (Continued) 

fair value of the Company's common stock exceeds the option exercise price. The measurement date is the 
date at which both the number of options and the exercise price for each option are known. 

In Pecember 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") amended the transition and 
disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 through the issuance of SFAS No. 148 ("SFAS No. 148"), 
"Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure". SFAS No. 148 amends the 
existing disclosures to make more frequent and prominent disclosure of stock-based compensation expense 
beginning with financial statements for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. The Company has 
adopted the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148, 

Pro forma information regarding eamings (loss) per share is required by SFAS No. 123 and has been 
determmed as if the Company had accounted for its employee stock options under the fair value method of 
SFAS No. 123. 

The Company did not have an active market for its common stock until July 8, 2004, on which date the 
Company's common stock was listed on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol "EGR." As a result, 
the value of the Company's stock-based awards granted to employees and outside directors in fiscal 2003 and 
2004 was estimated using the minimum value method, which does not consider stock price volatility. Stock-
based awards granted in fiscal 2005 have been valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Among 
other things, the Black-Scholes model considers the expected volatility of the Company's stock price, 
determined in accordance with SFAS No. 123, in arriving at an option valuation. Estimates and other 
assumptions necessary to apply the Black-Scholes model may differ significantly from assumptions used in 
calculating the value of options granted under the minimum value method. The estimated fair values for stock 
options granted during fiscal 2003 and 2004 were $1.86 and $1.92, respectively. The market price at July 31, 
2005 was $1.49. 

The fair value of stock-based awards granted in fiscal years 2003, 2004 and 2005 were estimated using the 
following weighted-average assumptions: 

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 
2003 2004 2005 

Weighted-average risk-free interest rate 4.0% 4.9% 5.0% 

Average expected life in years 4.7 6.0 6.0 

Expected dividends None None None 
Volatility — — 0.8252 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

If the fair values of the options granted during a fiscal year had been recognized as compensation expense 
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the grant, stock-based compensation costs would have 
impacted our net income (loss) and eamings (loss) per common share as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 
2003 2004 2005 

Net income (loss) as reported $5,422 $(21,720) $(6,ll4) 

Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in 
net income (loss), net of related tax effects — 636 256 

Deduct: Total stock-based compensation expense determined 
under fair value based method for all awards, net of related 
tax effects (382) (1,222) (2,977) 

Pro forma net income (loss) $5,040 $(22,306) $(8,835) 

Eamings (loss) per share: 

Basic —as reported $ 0.19 $ (0.77) $ (0,20) 

Basic —pro fonna $ 0.18 $ (0,79) $ (0.29) 

Diluted — as reported $ 0.18 $ (0.77) $ (0.20) 

Diluted — pro fonna $ 0.17 $ (0.79) $ (0.29) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash equivalents consist primarily of investments in highly rated and/or insured liquid debt instmments 
with maturities or interest reset dates of three months or less. The Company maintams its cash and cash 
equivalents with highly rated financial institutions, thereby minimizing any associated credit risks. 

Accounts Receivable 

The Company's accounts receivable consist of billed and unbilled receivables from customers. The 
Company's customers are billed monthly at various dates throughout the month. Unbilled receivables 
represent the amount of electric power and natural gas delivered to customers as of the end of the period, but 
not yet billed. Unbilled receivables from sales are estimated by the Company to be the number of units of 
electricity and natural gas delivered but not yet billed, multiplied by the current customer average sales price 
per unit. 

Credit Risk and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

The Company's exposure to credit risk concentration is limited to those local utihties that collect and 
remit receivables, on a daily basis, from the Company's individually insignificant and geographically dispersed 
customers within the states of Califomia, Pennsylvania, Michigan and New Jersey. The Company regularly 
monitors the financial condition of each such local utility and currently behoves that its susceptibility to any 
indi\ddually significant write-offs as a result of concentrations of customer accounts receivable with those local 
utilities is remote. 

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts, which represents management's best 
estimate of probable losses inherent in the accounts receivable balance. Management determines the 
aUowance based on known troubled accounts, historical experience, account aging and other currently 
available evidence (see Note 8). 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

Inventory 

Inventory represents natural gas in storage and is stated at the lower of weighted average cost or market. 

Deferred Income Taxes 

Deferted income tax assets and habihties are recognized for the expected future income tax benefits or 
consequences, based on enacted laws, of temporary timing differences between tax and financial statement 
reporting. During fiscal year 2004 and continuing in fiscal 2005, the Company estabUshed a valuation 
aUowances to reserve its net deferted tax assets, less possible tax refunds, because management beUeves h is 
not certain that the Company vdll realize the tax benefits in the foreseeable future. 

Restricted Cask, Cash Equivalents and Energy Deposits 

Cash and cash eqtuvalents which the Company curtently cannot access, as they are pledged as coUateral 
for electricity commodity purchase obligations or to secure letters of credit for a variety of purposes, are 
reported as restricted. The Company also has energy deposits pledged as collateral for electricity commodity 
purchase obligations. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Maintenance and repairs which do not extend the useful Ufe 
of the related property or equipment are charged to operations as incurted. Depreciation of property and 
equipment has been computed using the straight-line method over estimated economic useful Uves of three to 
five years. 

Certain software development and implementation costs to install third party software incurted on 
significant projects for intemal use, primarily consisting of direct intemal labor costs and third-party system 
application development costs incurted, are capitalized. These capitalized costs, once the appUcation is placed 
in service, are amortized using the straight-hne method over estimated economic useful lives of three to five 
years. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition cost over the net assets acquired. Skipping Stone was 
acquired in fiscal 2004 and resulted in $587 of goodwill. The acquisition in fiscal 2005 of certain assets of 
ACN UtiUties, Inc, ("ACNU") (see Note 3), resuhed in the recordmg of $6,214 m goodwiU. 

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, "GoodwiU and Other Intangible Assets", goodwiU is no longer 
amortized but is subject to periodic impairment tests. For the goodwiU related to the Skipping Stone and 
ACNU acquisitions, the Company retained independent outside valuation specialists to value the intangible 
assets associated with the acquisition. The resulting goodwill was reevaluated at year end and it was 
determined that no impairment had occurred. GoodwiU related to PEC was assessed for impairment on a 
quarterly basis, with the resulting reductions charged to expense in results of opemtions. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP. INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FESANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

Other Intangible Assets 

Direct costs incurted in acquiring intangible assets have been capitalized. Intangible assets represent the 
Company's 1-800-Electric telephone number, rights to intemet domain names, a covenant not to compete and 
certain assets acquired as part of the Skipping Stone and ACNU acquisitions, including customer list, 
software and other intangibles. Each intangible asset is being or has been amortized over the shorter of its 
contractual or estimated economic useful Ufe, which coUectively range from two years to indefinite Uves, in the 
case of operating licenses. Aggregate amortization expense for these intangible assets was $238, $376 and $888 
for fiscal 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. Other mtangible assets are as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 2005 

Customer lists 

Software 

Licenses (mdefinite life) 
Other intangibles 

Gross Carrying 
Amount 

$2,000 
1,810 

900 
1,823 

$6,533 

Accumulated 
Amortization 

$ 244 
640 
— 

775 

$1,659 

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 
Gross Carrying 

Amount 

$1,140 
1,060 
1,823 

$4,023 

Accumulated 
Amortization 

$ 25 
141 
605 

$771 

Net 

$1,756 
1,170 

900 
1,048 

$4,874 

2004 

Net 

$1,115 
919 

1,218 

$3,252 

Customer l is ts . . . 

Software 

Other intangibles 

The future aggregate amortization expense for intangibles is as follows: 
Fiscal Year Ending July 31, 

2006 $1,107 

2007 753 

2008 500 
2009 279 
2010 and beyond 1,335 

$3,974 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

Management evaluates each of the Company's long-lived assets for impairment by comparing the related 
estimated future cash flows, on an undiscounted basis, to its net book value. If impairment is indicated, the net 
book value is reduced to an amount equal to the estimated future cash flows, on an appropriately discounted 
basis. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The Company's financial instmments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable 
and accounts payable. The carrying amounts of these financial instmments are reflected in the accompanying 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

consolidated balance sheets at amounts considered by management to approximate their fair values due to 
their very short-term nature. 

Segment Reporting 

The Company's chief operating decision makers work together to aUocate resources and assess the 
performance of the Company's business. These members of senior management currently manage the 
Company's business, assess its performance, and allocate its resources as the single operating segment of 
energy retailing. Although the Company acquired Skipping Stone in fiscal 2004, Skipping Stone revenue, net 
of inter-company eliminations, accounts for less than 1% of total net revenue at July 31, 2(X)4 and 2005, and 
geographic information is not material. 

Accounting for Derivatives Instruments and Hedging Activities 

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of market risks, principally from commodity prices. 
Management has established risk management poUcies and procedures designed to reduce the potentially 
adverse effiects that the price volatility of these markets may have on its operating results. The Company's risk 
management activities, including the use of derivative instmments such as forward physical deUvery contracts 
and financial swaps, options and futures contracts, are subject to the management, direction and control of an 
intemal risk oversight committee. The Company maintains commodity price risk management strategies that 
use these derivative instmments, within approved risk tolerances, to minimize significant, unanticipated 
earnings fluctuations caused by commodity price volatiUty. 

Supplying electricity and natural gas to retail customers requires the Company to match customers' 
projected demand with long-term and short-term commodity purchases. The Company purchases substan­
tially all of its power and natural gas utilizing forward physical deUvery contracts. These physical delivery 
contracts are defined as commodity derivative contracts under SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative 
Instmments and Hedging Activities". Using the exemption available for qualifying contracts under SFAS 
No. 133, the Company applies the normal purchase and normal sale accounting treatment to its forward 
physical delivery contracts. Accordingly, the Company records revenue generated from customer sales as 
energy is delivered to retail customers and the related energy under the forward physical dehvery contracts is 
recorded as direct energy costs when received from suppliers. 

In January 2005, the Company sold two significant electricity forward physical delivery contracts (on a 
net cash settlement basis) back to the original supplier in connection with a strategic realignment of its 
customer portfoUo in the Pennsylvania electricity market (PJM-ISO), which resulted m a gain of $7.2 milUon 
in the second quarter of fiscal 2005. As a result of that sale, the normal purchase and normal sale exemption is 
no longer available for the Pennsylvania market (PJM-ISO). 

For forward contracts that do not meet the qualifying criteria for normal pitrchase, normal sale 
accounting treatment, the Company elects cash flow hedge accounting, where appropriate. Under cash flow 
hedge accounting, the fau- value of the contract is recorded as a current or long-term derivative asset or 
UabiUty. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the derivative assets and liabilities are recorded on a net basis 
in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) and subsequently reclassified as direct energy cost in the statement 
of operations as the energy is delivered. 

Certain financial derivative instmments (such as swaps, options and futures), designated as economic 
hedges or as speculative, do not qualify or meet the requirements for nonnal purchase, normal sale accounting 
treatment or cash flow hedge accounting and are recorded in operating income (loss) and as a curtent or long-
term derivative asset or liability. The subsequent changes in the fair value of these contracts may result in 
operating income (loss) volatility as the fair value of the changes are recorded on a net basis in direct energy 
cost in the consolidated statement of operations for each fiscal period. As of July 31,2005, the mark to market 
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NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

value of economic hedges, utilized primarily to hedge the Company's cost of electricity in Pennsylvania, was a 
loss of $.7 milUon. The notional value of these derivatives was $11.2 milUon. 

Recent Accounting Standards 

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), "Share-Based Payment" 
(SFAS No. 123R). SFAS No. 123R requires measurement of aU employee stock-based compensation awards 
using a fair-value method and the recording of such expense in the consolidated financial statements. In 
addition, the adoption of SFAS No. 123R wiU require additional accounting related to the income tax effects 
and disclosure regarding the cash flow effects resulting from share-based payment artangements. In January 
2005, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued Staff Accounting Bulle­
tin No. 107, which provides supplemental implementation guidance for SFAS No. 123R. SFAS No. 123R is 
effective for our first quarter of fiscal 2006. 

The Company has selected the Black-Scholes option-pricing model as the most appropriate fair-value 
method for its awards and will recognize compensation cost on a straight-line basis over the awards' vesting 
periods. The Company expects that the adoption of SFAS No. 123R will result in an expense of approximately 
$200 for fiscal 2006 for options issued as of July 31, 2005. However, uncert^nties, including the Company's 
future stock-based compensation strategy, stock price volatility, estimated forfeitures and employee stock 
option exercise behavior, make it difficult to determine whether the stock-based compensation expense that 
the Company wiU incur in future periods will be similar to the SFAS No. 123 pro forma expense disclosed in 
Note 2. In addition, the amount of stock-based compensation expense to be incurred in future periods will be 
reduced by the Company's acceleration of 1,300 unvested and "out-of-the-money" stock options in fiscal 2005 
as disclosed in Note 14, 

3. Acquisition 

On Febmary 9, 2005, the Company acquired certain assets of ACN UtiUty Services, Inc. ("ACNU"), a 
subsidiary of American Communications Network, Inc. (the "Parent"), and its retail electricity and natural 
gas sales business, ACNU sells retail electricity in Texas and Pennsylvania and sells retail natural gas in 
California, Georgia, Maryland, New York, Ohio and Pennsylvania. The aggregate purchase price was 
$14.5 million in cash and 930 shares of the Company's common stock, valued at $2.0 miUion. In addition, as 
part of the initial purchase price, the Company was required to fund $2,542 of coUateralized letters of credit on 
the closing date to guarantee our performance to various third parties. The common stock payment is 
contingent upon meeting certain sales requirements during the year following the acquisition date, and has 
been placed in an escrow account. Based on sales results to date, it appears that virtually none of the 
contingent consideration will be earned and goodwill will be reduced by substantially aU of the $2.0 miUion in 
Febmary 2006. 

The assets acqiured include approximately 80,000 natural gas and electricity residential and small 
commercial customers, natural gas inventory associated with utility and pipeUne storage and transportation 
agreements and natural gas and electricity supply, scheduling and capacity contracts, software and other 
infrastmctures. No cash or accounts receivables were acquired in the transaction and none of ACNU's legal 
liabilities were assumed. The assets purchased and the operating results generated from the acquisition have 
been included in the Company's operations as of Febmary 1, 2005, the effective date of the acqiusition. 
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The following table presents the unaudited, pro forma consolidated results of operations for the fiscal 
years ended July 31, 2004 and 2005 as if the acquisition of ACNU had occurted at the beginning of fiscal 
2004. These pro forma results arc not necessarily indicative of (a) the results of operations that would have 
occurred had ACNU actually been acquired at the beginning of fiscal 2(X)4, and (b) future results of 
operations. 

Fiscal Years Ended 
July 31, 

2004 2005 

Net revenues $296,106 $293,184 
Loss before benefit from mcome taxes (22,754) (5,625) 
Net loss (21,737) (5,625) 
Loss per share: 

Basic and diluted (0.74) (0.18) 

The following table presents the unaudited assets (no UabUities were acquired) acquired from ACNU as 
of the date of acquisition: 

Natural gas inventory $3,578 
Equipment 78 
Other assets 2,011 
Replacement of letter of credit facility 2,542 

Net assets acquired $8,209 

Immediately following the acquisition, the Company engaged the services of a professional appraiser to 
assist in determining the value of separately identifiable intangible assets acquired in connection with the 
acquisition of ACNU. The following table presents the results of the valuation: 

Category of intangible assets: 
Intangible assets subject to amortization: 

Customer hst $ 860 
Software 750 

Total $1,610 

Intangible asset not subject to amortization: 
Licenses $ 900 

The intangible assets are included in "Other intangible assets" in the accompanying consoUdated balance 
sheet at July 31, 2005 and arc being amortized over Uves that range from three years to five years (for 
intangibles subject to amortization and indefinite for Licenses). 

The amount of goodwill created as a result of this transaction is summarized as foUows: 

Purchase price $16,525 
Amount assigned to the net assets acquired 8,209 
Amount assigned to mtangible assets 2,510 

Goodwill created (excluding $408 of acquisition costs) $ 5,806 
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4. Market and Regulatory 

The Company currently serves electricity and gas customers in nine states, operating within the 
jurisdictional territory of nmeteen different local utiUties. Although regulatory requirements are determined at 
the individual state, and administered and monitored by the PubUc Utility Commission, or PUC, of each state, 
operating mles and rate fiUngs for each utility are unique. Accordingly, the Company generaUy treats each 
utility distribution territory as a distinct market. Among other things, tariff filings by local distribution 
companies, or LDCs, for changes in their allowed billing rate to their customers in the markets in which the 
Company operates, significantly impact the viabiUty of the Company's sales and marketing plans, and it's 
overall operating and financial results. 

Electricity 

Curtentiy, the Company actively markets electricity in eleven LDC markets within the five states of 
Califomia, Pennsylvania, Michigan, New Jersey and Texas. 

On April 1, 1998, the Company began supplying customers in Califomia with electricity as an Electric 
Service Provider, or ESP. On September 20, 2001, the CaUfomia PubUc Utility Commission, or CPUC, 
issued a mhng suspending the right of Direct Access, or DA, which aUowed electricity customers to buy their 
power from a supplier other than the electric utilities. This suspension, although permitting the Company to 
keep curtent tUrect access customers and to solicit direct access customers served by other ESPs, prohibits the 
Company from soUciting new non-DA customers for an indefinite period of time. 

Currently, several important issues are under review by the CPUC, including a Resource Adequacy 
Requirement and a Renewable PortfoUo Standard. Additional costs to serve customers in Califomia are 
anticipated from these proceedings, however, the CPUC decisions will determine the distribution of those 
costs across all load serving entities and ultimately our financial impact. 

Proposition 80, an initiative on the November 8, 2(X)5 Califomia special election ballot, would ban 
electricity customers from buying their power from a supplier other than the electric distribution utilities, 
except for those all ready doing so. 

The current rate cap in Michigan on residential customers wUl be lifted as of January 1, 2006. A primary 
component of the rate increase is a shifting of rate responsibUity away from commercial customers, whose 
rates are Ukely to decrease in January in spite of much higher wholesale energy costs. This may have a 
negative impact on the Company's abUity to retain and acquire new commercial customers m the state. 

In Califomia, the FERC and other regulatory and judicial bodies continue to examine the behavior of 
market participants during the Califomia Energy Crisis of 2(X)0 and 2001, and to recalculate what market 
clearing prices should have or might have been under altemative scenarios of behavior by market participants. 
In the event the historical costs of market operations were to be reallocated among market participants, the 
Company can not predict whether the results would be favorable or unfavorable, nor can the Company predict 
the amount of such adjustments. The payment or receipt of adjustments, if any, wiU Hkely be conducted 
between FERC, the Califomia ISO and the Company's contracted scheduUng coordinator for the period in 
question, Automated Power Exchange (APX). APX served as the direct interface with the now defunct 
CaUfomia Power Exchange for the sale and purchase of some volumes of power by the Company during 2000 
and 2001. 

There are no current rate cases or fiUngs in the states of Pennsylvania, New Jersey or Texas that are 
anticipated to impact the Company's financial results. 
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Natural Gas 

Curtently, the Company actively markets natural gas in eight LDC markets within the six states of 
Califomia, Georgia, Maryland, New York, Ohio and Pennsylvania. Due to recent and significant increases in 
the price of natural gas, a number of LDCs have filed or communicated expectations of fiUng for approval of 
rate increases to their customers. Although the impact of these filings cannot currently be estimated, they are 
not anticipated to adversely impact the Company's financial results. 

The Company provides natural gas service to residential and small commercial customers in the 
Dominion East Ohio, or DEO, and the Columbia Gas of Ohio service areas. In December 2004, DEO notified 
the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio, or PUCO, of its desire to exit the commodity market. It's stated goal 
is to become a distribution-only company by the end of 2006. Nearly 60% of DEO's customers currently 
participate in Customer Choice whereby they are already receiving the commodity portion of the service from 
a provider other than DEO. In April 2005, DEO filed with the PUCO to embark upon its plan. The ultimate 
outcome of this filing is unknown; however, it is not anticipated to adversely impact the Company's financial 
results. 

The Company provides natural gas service to residential and small commercial consumers in the 
Philadelphia Electric Company service area in Pennsylvania. In May 2004, the Pennsylvania PubUc Utility 
Commission, or PUC, undertook an evaluation of the competitiveness of natural gas supply services in the 
state. If the PUC determines the market is not sufficiently competitive, further actions wiU be considered. The 
Company is the only natural gas provider to residential customers in this market. The potential impact of this 
evaluation to the Company's operations is unknown at this time. 

5. Interest Income, Net 

Interest income, net, is comprised of the following: 
Fiscal Year Ended 

July 31, 
2003 j004 2005 

Interest income $733 $554 $890 

Interest expense (18) (5) — 

Interest income, net $715 $549 $890 
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6. Income Taxes 

The provision for (benefit from) income taxes consists of the following: 

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 
2003 2004 2005 

Curtent income taxes: 

Federal $2,900 $(3,623) $ 74 

State 829 95 _ ^ 

Total 3,729 (3,528) 74 

Deferted income taxes: 

Federal $1,155 $ 1,888 $(74) 

State 229 623 — 

Total 1,384 2,511 (74) 

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes $5,113 $(1,017) $ — 

A reconcihation of the federal statutory income tax rates to the Company's effective income tax rates 
follows; 

Fiscal Year Ended 
July 31, 

2003 2004 2005 

Federal statutory income tax rate 35.0% (35.0)% (35.0)% 

State income taxes, net of federal benefit 6.4 2.1 — 

Increase (decrease) in valuation allowance (1.7) 24.4 38.3 

Permanent item — offering costs — 5.8 — 
Expiration of stock options 8.3 — — 

Tax-exempt interest (0.6) (0.7) (3.6) 

Other _ U ( l . l ) 0.3 

Effective income tax rate 48.5% (4.5)% —% 
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Deferted income taxes were as follows: 
July 31, 

2004 2005 

Deferted income tax assets: 

Stock options $ 677 $ 344 
Reserves and accmals 938 1,026 
Net operating loss carryforwards 1,368 4,686 

Allowance for doubtful accounts 1,436 2,472 

Capital losses 424 730 
Unreahzed losses 4,291 2,078 

AMT tax credit — 226 

Total deferted income tax assets 9,134 11,562 

Less valuation allowance (6,691) (9,391) 

Total deferted income tax assets, net 2,443 2,171 

Deferred tax UabiUties: 

Depreciation and amortization (596) (378) 

State income taxes (664) (928) 

Acquired intangibles (1,109) (865) 

Total deferted income tax liabilities (2,369) (2,171) 

Net deferted income tax asset $ 74 $ ^ 

A valuation allowance increase equal to the net deferted tax asset has been provided as management 
beUeves it is more Ukely than not that the Company wUl not reaUze the benefits of the remaining net deferted 
tax asset at July 31, 2005. The increase in the valuation allowance for the fiscal year 2005 was $2,700. 

At July 31, 2005, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $9,259 and $14,450 
for federal and state income tax purposes, respectively, that begin to expire in years 2018 and 2008, 
respectively. Of these losses, $1,306 of the federal net operating loss carryforwards are subject to an annual 
Umitation due to the "change of ownership" provision of the Tax Reform Act of 1986. In addition the 
Company's 2005 and future net operating losses may also be subject to the "change of ownership" provision of 
the Tax Reform Act of 1986. As a result of this annual Umitation, a portion of these carryforwards may expire 
before ultimately becoming available to reduce future income tax liabilities. The company has also incurred 
capital losses of $1,632 which are available to offset capital gains generated by the company. These losses 
begin to expire in year 2009. 
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7. Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share 

Eamings (loss) per common share have been computed as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 
2003 2004 2005 

Numeraton 

Net income (loss) $ 5,422 $(21,720) $(6,ll4) 

Less: Preferred stock di\ddends (97) ^ ^ 

Income (loss) appUcable to common stock — Basic 5,325 (21,720) (6,114) 

Income impact from assumed conversion of preferred stock . . . . 97 ^z IZ 

Net income (loss) — Diluted $ 5,422 $(21,720) $(6,114) 

Denominator: 

Weighted-average outstanding common shares — Basic 27,424 28,338 30,946 

Incremental common shares from assumed conversions: 

Stock options 1,499 — — 

Series A convertible preferted stock 609 — — 

Other convertible preferted stock 704 ^ — 

Adjusted weighted-average common shares — Diluted 30,236 28,338 30,946 

For fiscal 2003, 2004 and 2005, 6,860, 9,779 and 8,464, respectively, of common shares attributable to 
outstanding stock options and wartants were excluded from the calculation of diluted eamings per share 
because the effect of their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. For fiscal 2004 and 2005, assumed in-the-money 
stock option exercises have been excluded in computing the diluted loss per share as there was a net loss. Their 
inclusion would reduce the loss per share and be anti-dilutive. If the assumed exercises had been used, fuUy 
diluted shares outstanding for fiscal 2004 and 2005 would have been 28,469 and 31,299, respectively. 

8. Accounts Receivable, Net 

Accounts receivable, net, is comprised of the following: 
July 31, 

2004 2005 

Billed $21,777 $22,016 

Unbilled 12,535 11,325 

34,312 33,341 

Less allowance for doubtful accounts (3,193) (5,498) 

Accounts receivable, net $31,119 $27,843 
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The following schedules set forth the activity in the Company's allowance for doubtful accounts for the 
reported periods: 

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 
2003 2004 2005 

Balance, beginning of year $ 2,538 $ 2,981 $3,193 

Provisions charged to operations 1,709 2,589 3,092 

Write-offs (1,266) (2,377) (787) 

Balance, end of year $ 2,981 $ 3,193 $5,498 

In fiscal 2004, the Company collected $2,234 in past due accounts receivable in the settlement of the 
PG&E bankmptcy claim that was recorded in net revenue as received. 

The Company has granted security interests in its Michigan and Texas accounts receivable as security for 
payment of energy purchases. 

9. Restricted Cash, Cash Equivalents and Energy Deposits 

The Company has cash, cash equivalents and deposits related to outstanding letters of credit or cash 
deposited as collateral to secure performance under energy purchase contracts as follows: 

July 31, 
2004 2005 

Short-term investments pledged as collateral for letters of credit to secure the 
purchase of energy and operating performance $4,(X)8 S 8,222 

Energy deposits pledged as collateral to secure the purchase of energy 5,085 11,122 

Total restricted cash, cash equivalents and energy deposits $9,093 $19,344 

The Company had $3,745 and $7,827 in outstanding letters of credit at July 31, 2004 and 2005, 
respectively. 

10. Investments 

During fiscal 2005 the Company had three investments in early-stage, energy related entities incurring 
operating losses, which are expected to continue, at least in the near term: Encorp, Inc. ("Encorp"), Turbocor 
B.V. ("Turbocor") and Power Efficiency Corporation ("PEC"). At July 31, 2005, the Company sold its 
interest in Turbocor for $2,000 resulting in a gain of an equal amount. Each remaining company has limited 
working capital and as a result, continuing operations will be dependent upon their securing additional 
financing to meet their respective capital needs untU positive cash flow is achieved. The Company has no 
obligation and currently no intention to invest additional funds into these companies. 
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On April 30, 2004 the Company reached an agreement with its investment manager. Northwest Power 
Management ("NPM") to terminate its Summit relationship. As a result of the transaction, the Company no 
longer retains an equity interest or contractual relationship with Summit, and the Company retains and 
directiy owns the investments in the three portfoUo companies previously held by Summit. Under the terms of 
the termination agreement, the Company retains the entire interest in Encorp and Turbocorp prewously held 
by Summit, and retains a portion of the interest in PEC that was previously held by Summit and not 
distributed to NPM in the settlement. The Company no longer consolidates the financial results of PEC in its 
financial reports due to a reduction in its ownership percentage, from 75.8% to 39.9%, as part of the 
agreement. The table below (Usplays the activity for these investment accounts for fiscal 2004 (there was no 
significant change in these accounts in fiscal 2005 except for the sale of Turbocor as discussed above): 

Capital 
Contribution/ 

(Losses) 

Provision for 
Impairment 

and 
Distribution 

Investment 

July 31, 2004 

Direct 
Own»8hip 

Percentage at 
July 31, 2004 

$2,030 
3,332 

5,362 
2,752 

$8,114 

$ -
800 

800 
(1,324) 

$ (524) 

$(1,934) 
(4,432) 

(6,066) 
(1,428) 

$(7,494) 

$ 

$ 

96 

96 

96 

2,3% 
9.3% 

39.9% 

Investment 
Basis at 

Investee July 31, 2003 

Encorp 
Turbocor 

Subtotal 
PEC 

Total investments 

The three investments are all early stage entities incurring operating losses, which are expected to 
continue, at least in the near term. They each have very Umited working capital and as a result, continuing 
operations will be dependent upon their securing additional financing to meet their immediate capital needs. 
The Company has no obligation, and curtently no intention of investing additional funds into these companies. 
In fiscal 2004, to reflect the impairment of these investments, the Company recorded provisions for 
impairment of $7,135 to reflect its percentage ownership in the net equity of each of these companies and a 
loss of $1,904 to reflect the settlement of the termination of Summit. 

11. Property and Equipment, Net 

Property and equipment, net, is comprised of the following: 
July 31, 

2004^ 2005 

Information technology equipment, systems and software $ 7,131 $ 4,139 
Office fumiture and equipment 1,468 1,039 
Renewable energy assets 499 249 
Leasehold improvements 25^ 141 

9,355 5,568 
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (6,742) (3,561) 

Property and equipment, net $ 2,61j $ 2,007 

The Company retired $4,562 of property and equipment vrith $4,398 of related accumulated depreciation 
in fiscal 2005. 
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12. Accrued Uabilities 

Current accmed liabiUties are comprised of the following: 
July 31, 

2004 2005 

Accmed litigation and legal expense $1,682 $1,053 
Energy taxes payable 1,688 774 
Accmed energy related fees 580 1,201 
Accmed compensation related expenses 691 1,900 
Accmed audit fees 275 369 
Other 1,225 1,649 

Total accmed liabilities $6,141 $6,946 

13. Stockholders' Equity 

Restricted Stock 

In April 2004, pursuant to the terms of an employment agreement, the Company granted 150 shares of 
restricted common stock to its Chief Financial Officer which were to vest equally over the first three 
anniversary dates of employment, beginning April 1, 2005, The Company recorded $288 of deferted stock-
based compensation as a result of the restricted stock grant. Total compensation cost recognized in fiscal year 
ended July 31, 2004 and 2005 for this stock-based employee compensation award was $32 and $256, 
respectively. The fiscal 2005 expense reflects the acceleration of vesting under the terms of his contract (See 
Note 15). 

Common Stock 

All sales of Commonwealth's common stock were made through private placements prior to July 6, 2(X)4. 
On July 6, 2004, Commonwealth reorganized into a holding company stmcture, whereby Commonwealth 
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Commerce Energy and the stockholders of Commonwealth became 
stockholders of Commerce. As a result of the reorganization, (a) each issued and outstanding share of 
common stock of Commonwealth was exchanged, subject to exercise of dissenters' rights by the Common­
wealth's stockholders, for a share of Common Stock, par value $0,001 per share, of Commerce Energy 
("Commerce Common Stock") and a right to purchase (each, a "Right") one one-hundredth of a share of 
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value $0,001 per share, of Commerce ("Junior Participat­
mg Preferred") and (b) Commerce assumed the Commonwealth's 1999 Equity Incentive Plan (the "Plan"), 
all outstanding obligations to issue common stock under the Plan and all outstanding stock options issued 
outside the Plan. The stockholders of Commerce hold the same relative percentage of Commerce common 
stock as they owned of Commonwealth common stock immediately prior to the reorganization, subject to the 
exercise of dissenters rights which were paid in fiscal 2005. 

In July 2(X)4, as part of the reorganization, the Company repurchased 604 shares of common stock for 
$1,159 from former stockholders of Commonwealth, under the exercise of CaUfomia law dissenter's rights. 

Prior to July 8, 2004, there was no established pubUc trading market for any class of Commerce Energy's 
or Commonwealth's equity securities. On July 8, 2004, Commerce's common stock began trading on the 
American Stock Exchange under the symbol "EGR." 

F-23 



COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS— (Continued) 

Commerce Rights Plan 

The Board of Directors of Commerce has approved the adoption of a preferred share purchase rights plan 
dated July 1,2004. Each right entitles the registered holder to purchase from the Company one one-hundredth 
of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferted Stock, par value $0,001 per share, at a price of $20 per 
one one-hundredth of a preferted share, subject to adjustment. The description and terms of the rights are set 
forth in a rights agreement entered into between the Company and Computershare Tmst Company, as rights 
agent, dated July 1, 2004 (the "Rights Agreement"). Until a right is exercised, the holder thereof, as such, 
wiU have no rights as a stockholder of the Company by virtue of such right, includmg, without Umitation, the 
right to vote or to receive dividends. 

Each one one-hundredth of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferted Stock has designations and 
powers, preferences and rights, and the qualifications, Umhations and restrictions which make its value 
approximately equal to the value of one share of Common Stock. The Series A Junior Participating Preferted 
Stock purchasable upon exercise of the rights wiU not be redeemable. The Series A Junior Participating 
Preferted Stock rank junior to any other series of the Company's preferred stock. Each share of Series A 
Junior Participating Preferred Stock will be entitled to a minimum preferential quarterly dividend payment of 
$1.00, but will be entitled to an aggregate dividend of 100 times the dividend declared per share of Common 
Stock. In the event of liquidation, the holders of the Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock would be 
entitled to a minimum preferential liquidation payment of $20 per share (plus an amount equal to accmed but 
unpaid dividends), but would be entitled to receive an aggregate payment equal to 100 times the payment 
made per share of Common Stock. Each share of Series A Junior Participating Preferted Stock will have 
100 votes, voting together with the Common Stock. These rights are protected by customary anti-dilution 
provisions. 

The rights wUl expire on July 1, 2014, unless they are earlier redeemed or exchanged by the Company, in 
each case, as described below. The exercise of rights for Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock is at all 
times subject to the availabUity of a sufficient number of authorized but unissued Series A Junior 
Participating Preferted Stock. The rights are not exercisable until the distribution date, which will occur on 
the eariier of: 

(i) the date of a pubUc announcement that a person, entity or group of affiliated or associated 
persons have acquired beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the outstanding Common Stock after the 
effective date of the reorganization, subject to certain exceptions set forth in the rights agreement; or 

(ii) 10 business days (or such later date as may be determined by action of the Board of Directors 
prior to such time as any person or entity becomes the beneficial owner of 15% or more of the outstanding 
Common Stock) following the commencement of, or announcement of an intention to commence, a 
tender offer or exchange offer, the consummation of which would result in any person or entity becoming 
the beneficial owner of 15% or more of the outstanding Common Stock. 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, none of the provisions of the Rights Agreement wiU be 
triggered by Ian B. Carter's beneficial ownership of the Company's securities unless such ownership exceeds 
30% of the outstanding Common Stock. 

UntU the distribution date, or eariier redemption or expiration of the rights, (i) the rights wiU be 
evidenced by the stock certificates representing the Common Stock, (U) no separate right certificates will be 
distributed and (iii) the rights will be transferable with and only with the Common Stock, (iv) Common 
Stock certificates will contain a notation incorporating the rights agreement by reference and (v) the 
surrender or transfer of any certificates for Common Stock, even without such notation or a copy of the 
summary of rights being attached thereto, wiU also constitute the transfer of the rights associated with the 
common stock represented by such certificate. As soon as practicable following the distribution date, separate 

F-24 



COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

certificates evidencing the rights wiU be mailed to holders of record of the Common Stock as of the close of 
business on the distribution date and such separate right certificates alone wiU evidence the rights. 

The purchase price payable, and the number of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock or other 
securities or other property issuable upon exercise of the rights are subject to adjustment from time to time to 
prevent dUution. With certmn exceptions, no adjustment in the purchase price will be required until 
cumulative adjustments require an adjustment of at least 1% in such purchase price. No fractional shares wiU 
be issued and in lieu thereof, an adjustment in cash will be made based on the market price of the shares on 
the last trading day prior to the date of exercise. 

In the event that any person or group of affiliated or associated persons becomes the beneficial owner of 
15% or more of the outstanding Common Stock, proper provision shaU be made so that each holder of a right, 
other than rights beneficially owned by such acquiring person and its associates and affiliates (which will 
thereafter be void), wiU for a 60-day period (or such longer period as necessary to register the Company's 
securities) have the right to receive upon exercise that number of shares of Common Stock having a market 
value equal to two times the exercise price of the right (or, if such number of shares are not and cannot be 
authorized, the Company may issue cash, debt, other securities or a combination thereof in exchange for the 
rights). 

In the event that the Company is acquired in a merger or other business combination transaction or 50% 
or more of its consolidated assets or earning power are sold, proper provision wiU be made so that each holder 
of a right will thereafter have the right to receive, upon the exercise thereof at the then current exercise price 
of the right, that number of shares of common stock of the acquiring company which at the time of such 
transaction have a market value equal to two times the exercise price of the right. 

At any time after a person or a group of affiUated or associated persons becomes the beneficial owner of 
15% or more of the outstanding Common Stock and prior to the acquisition by such person or a group of 
affiliated or associated persons of 50% or more of the outstanding Common Stock, the Board of Directors of 
the Company may exchange the rights (other than rights owned by such person or a group of affiliated or 
associated persons which shaU have become void), in whole or in part, at an exchange ratio of one share of 
Common Stock per right (or, at the election of the Company, the Company may issue cash, debt, stock or a 
combination thereof in exchange for the Rights), subject to adjustment. Finally, in the event of any merger, 
consolidation or other transaction in which Common Stock is exchanged, each share of Series A Junior 
Participating Preferted Stock will be entitled to receive 100 times the amount of consideration received per 
share of Common Stock. 

At any time prior to the earliest of (i) the day that a person or a group of affiUated or associated persons 
has become the beneficial owner of 15% or more of the outstanding Common Stock, or (U) July 1, 2014, the 
Board of Directors of the Company may redeem the rights in whole, but not in part, at a price of $0,001 per 
right. Immediately upon any redemption of the rights, the right to exercise the rights will terminate and the 
only right of the holders of rights will be to receive the redemption price. 

The terms of the Rights may be amended by the Board of Directors of the Company without the consent 
of the holders of the rights, except that from and after such time as the rights are distributed no such 
amendment may adversely affect the interest of the holders of the rights, excluding the interests of an 
acquiring person. 

Commonwealth Rights Plan 

In January 2002, Commonwealth adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan (the "Commonwealth Rights 
Plan"). In connection with the reorganization, all of the rights under the Commonwealth Rights Plan were 
acquired by Commerce Energy. 
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14. Stock Options 

Stock options granted after December 1999 wiU expire m December 2004 through 2010. As of July 31, 
2005, 8,872 stock options remained unexercised and outstanding. 

The Company's 1999 Equity Incentive Plan ("Plan"), which was approved by the Company's stockhold­
ers, provides for the granting of up to an aggregate of 7,0CK) common shares. In addition, the Company's Board 
of Directors has from time to time made individual grants of warrants or options outside the Plan. At July 31, 
2005, the Company had 6,052 and 2,820 stock options unexercised and outstanding that were granted under 
and outside the Plan, respectively. 

Stock option activity is set forth below: 

Number of 
Shares 

Balance at July 31, 2002 10,490 

Options granted: 

Employee performance-based 300 

Other employees(i) 325 

Options exercised (482) 

Options cancelled (403) 

Options expired (2,541) 

Balance at July 31, 2003 7,689 
Options granted: 

Other(2) 3,981 

Options exercised (102) 

Options cancelled (899) 

Options expired (362) 

Balance at July 31, 2004 10,307 
Options granted: 

Other(3) 850 
Options exercised (102) 
Options cancelled (1,881) 

Options expired (302) 

Balance at July 31, 2005 8,872 

Options Outstanding 

Exercise Price 
Per Share 

$0.01 -

1,86-

0.01 -

2.50-

0.01 -

0,25-

0,05-

0.05-

1,00-

0,05-

1.92-

0,50-
1,92-

1,86-

$0,05 -

$3.75 

2.50 

3.05 

1.00 

2.75 

1.00 

3.75 

3.75 

2.75 

2.75 

3.75 

3.75 

3.50 

1.92 

2.50 
2.75 

$3.75 

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price 

$1.82 

2.50 

1.93 

0,03 

2,50 

0,22 

2.55 

1.86 

0.26 

2.75 

2.81 

2.26 

2,43 
1.92 

2.18 

2.18 

$2,24 

Weighted-
Average 

Fair Value 
of 

Common 
Stock 

$2.50 

$1.86 

$1.94 

$2.43 

(1) options with exercise prices equal to the fair value of the Company's common stock at respective dates of 
grant. 

(2) Options of 447 were granted with exercise prices less than, options of 2,934 were granted with exercise 
prices equal to, and options of 600 were granted with exercise prices greater than, the fair value of the 
Company's common stock at respective dates of grant. 

(3) Options were granted with exercise prices greater than the fair value of the Company's common stock at 
respective dates of grant. 
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Number of 
Shares 

Outstanding 

221 
3,404 
5,247 

8,872 

Average 
Remaining 
Contractual 
Life (Years) 

0,6 
8,3 
4.7 

6.0 

Shares 
Exercisahte 

221 
3,354 
5,072 

8,647 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 

$0.05 
1.86 
2.59 

$2.24 
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The weighted average characteristics of stock options outstanding as of July 31, 2005 were as foUows: 

Range of Exerdse Priras 

$0.05 - $0.50 

$0.51 - $1.92 

$1.93 -$3.75 

Total 

During July 2005, the Company accelerated the vesting of 1,300 out-of-the-money options to reduce 
expected future reported expense under the new FASB Statement No. 123R "Share-Based Payments". 

Stock Options Granted to the Company's Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. 

On April 21, 2005, the Company entered into a Confidential Settlement Agreement and General Release 
(the "Settlement Agreement") with director and former Chief Executive Officer, Ian B. Carter. The 
Settlement Agreement provides for payments to Mr. Carter totaling $3.0 milUon, In addition, Mr. Carter 
retains an option to purchase 2.5 million shares of the Company's common stock at $2.50 per share. With 
respect to the retained stock options, the Company has filed an appropriate registration statement vtdth the 
Secvirities and Exchange Commission relating to the shares of common stock of the Company which underlie 
Mr. Carter's stock option. Under the Settlement Agreement, Mr. Carter and the Company agreed to mutual 
general releases of all clmms that the parties may have against each other and Mr. Carter agreed to reUnquish 
any stock options he had been granted, or claimed to have been granted, in excess of the 2.5 milUon options. 

15. Commitments and Contingencies 

Commitments 

Employment Contract Commitments 

The Company entered into an employment agreement v̂ dth Mr. Weigand on April 1, 2004 to serve as 
President of the Company. The agreement provided for an initial three year term and automatically extended 
for successive one year periods. On August 4, 2005, the Company's board of tUrectors decided to terminate, 
without cause, the employment of Mr. Weigand. In accordance with the terms of his employment agreement, 
the termination of Mr. Weigand's employment became effective on October 8, 2005. At that time, 
Mr. Weigand entered into an Agreement Not to Engage in Prohibited Activities, under which he agreed not to 
directly or indirectly engage as an owner, employee, consultant or agent of any retaU commodity marketing 
entity or entity that markets energy efficient products or back office services for a period of six months 
following his termination. Pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement, entering into the Agreement 
Not to Engage in Prohibited Activities entitles Mr, Weigand to receive severance payments equal to his base 
salary ($400 armually) for the remaining term of his employment agreement (through April 1, 2001). 

The Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Boughmm on April 1, 2004 to serve as 
Chief Financial Officer of the Company. The agreement provided for an initial three year term and 
automatically extended for successive one year periods. On August 4, 2005, the Company's board of directors 
decided to terminate without cause the employment of Mr. Boughmm. In accordance with the terms of his 
employment agreement, the termination of Mr. Boughmm's employment became effective on October 8, 
2(K)5. At that time, Mr. Boughmm entered into an Agreement Not to Engage in Prohibited Activities, under 
which he agreed not to directly or indirectly engage as an owner, employee, consultant or agent of any retail 
commodity marketing entity or entity that markets eneigy efficient products or back office services for a 
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period of six months following his termination. Pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement, entering 
into the Agreement Not to Engage in Prohibited Activities entitles Mr. Boughmm to receive severance 
payments equal to his base salary ($350 annually) for the remaining term of his employment agreement 
(through April I, 2007). In addition, aU of Mr. Boughmm's restricted stock grants immediately vested. 

The contractual obligations owed to Mr. Weigand and Mr. Boughmm have been accmed in fiscal 2005 
and totaled $1,500. 

In August 2005, the Company entered into an employment agreement with it's newly appointed Chief 
Executive Officer, Mr. Steven S. Boss. Mr. Boss wUl receive an annualized base salary of $412, with a target 
incentive bonus of 50% of base salary. Mr. Boss was granted an option to purchase 300 shares of the 
Company's common stock at an exercise price equal to $1.80 per share, with vesting as to 100 shares upon hire 
and as to 100 shares on each of the first two anniversaries thereafter. Mr. Boss was also granted 200 shares of 
restricted stock, which vest as to 50 shares on the first anniversary of hire and as to 50 shares upon the 
achievement of performance targets for fiscal years 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. The agreement provides 
that if Mr. Boss is terminated without cause or if he resigns for good reason, Mr. Boss will be entitled to 
severance equal to twelve (12) months of his then current base salary payable over a 12-month period, plus 
12 months accelerated vesting of outstanding unvested stock options and restricted stock. In the event ofa 
change of control of the Company, Mr. Boss may resign for good reason within 180 days after the change of 
control. 

Purchase Commitments 

The Company has entered into a series of electricity supply contracts to purchase electricity covering 
approximately 64.5% of the customers' firm load servicing requirements for peak period electricity for fiscal 
2006 based on the Company's forecast. The following is a summary of the Company's commitments to 
purchase electric power by state as of July 31, 2(X)5: 

Fiscal Years Ending July 31, 
2006 2007 Total 

California $36,005 $12,468 $48,473 

Pennsylvania and New Jersey 10,645 — 10,645 

Total $46,650 $12,468 $59,118 

For the Michigan market, the Company has entered into several forward energy supply contracts with a 
major electric power generator to purchase a full-requirements, aU services product to service the Company's 
customer load. These full requirement service contracts include energy and aU scheduling costs. The 
Company's customers must use within a Umited range of the forecasted load or the generator wiU supply the 
additional electricity at their current market price plus an additional charge for other services provided. If the 
Company falls below the allowed range of the forecast, the generator wiU sell the excess electricity at market 
and credit us with the proceeds, but wiU charge us a service fee for the unused electricity. 

As the price at which the Company can purchase electric power is fixed during the terms of the contracts. 
If the price at which the Company can competitively resell this power falls below the contract full-
requirements purchase price, the Company would incur operating losses. 

Operating Leases 

The Company leases its facilities as well as certain equipment under operating leases. Certain of these 
operating leases are non-cancelable and contain rent escalation clauses relating to any increases to real 
property taxes and maintenance costs. The Company incurred aggregate rent expense under operating leases 
of $742, $931, and $1,191 in fiscal 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. 
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The future aggregate minimum lease payments under operating lease agreements in existence at July 31, 
2005 are as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ending July 31, 

2006 $ 983 

2007 901 

2008 879 

2009 86 

2010 ;:::: 

$2,849 

Employee Benefit Plan 

The Company has a 401 (k) retirement plan in which any full time employee may participate. The 
Company contributes $0.50 for each dollar of employee contribution up to a maximum employer contribution 
of 3% of each participant's annual salary. The maximum employer contribution at 3% cortesponds to an 
employee contribution of 6% of annual salaiy. Such contribution totaled $92, $144 and $190 for the years 
ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. 

Regulatory Proceedings 

The Company is a party to a number of Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") and 
Califomia ISO proceedings related to the Califomia Energy Crisis of 2000 and 2001. The FERC and other 
regulatory judicial bodies continue to examine the behavior of market participants during this energy crisis and 
may recalculate what market clearing prices should have or might have been under altemative scenarios of 
behavior by market participants. In the event the historical costs of market operations were to be reallocated 
among market participants, the Company can not predict whether the results would be favorable or 
unfavorable for the Company, nor can it predict the amount of any such adjustments. 

Litigation 

Since the date of the 10-K for period ending July 31, 2004, previously reported legal proceedings have 
been resolved as follows: 

On January 21, 2005, the court granted the Company's motion to dismiss in Colrtain, et al. v. 
Commonwealth Energy Corporation, et al, (Case number CV03-8560-FMC (RNBx)) for lack of 
prosecution. 

On December 23, 2004, the Company entered into a full and comprehensive Settlement Agreement and 
Mutual General Release (the "Settlement Agreement") with stockholder and former director of Common­
wealth Energy Corporation, Joseph P. Saline, and stockholder Joseph Ogundiji. The Settlement Agreement 
effectively ended all legal actions between the parties that began in 2001, including Orange Court Superior 
Court case numbers 01CC10657, 01CC09285, 03CC03409, 04CC05038. The Settlement Agreement ac­
knowledges and validates Mr. SaUne's shares of common stock in the Company and provides for a $ 1.2 million 
settlement payment to Mr. Saline. The Settiement Agreement also provides Mr. Ogundiji with a pa5anent of 
$222,4(X) in settlement of aU his claims and for canceUng all of his 120 shares of common stock. In addition, 
Mr. Saline and Mr. Ogundiji agreed that for the next two years they would submit any future diputes to 
mediation before commencing litigation or before they take any steps to contact the Company's stockholders 
for any reason related to bringing a proxy contest. 
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On Febmaiy 18, 2005, the court stmck the defendant's answers and dismissed their counter-claim in 
Commonwealth Energy Corporation v. Wayne Mosley, et al. (Case number CV03-00402-NM (RNBx)) for 
failure to prosecute and failure to comply with orders of the court. 

We are currently, and from time to time may become, involved in litigation conceming claims arising out 
of our operations in the normal course of business. We are curtently not involved in any legal proceedings that 
are expected, individuaUy or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of 
operations or financial position. 

16. Related Party Transactions 

During fiscal 2004, the Company engaged Nexus Advisory to assist in the Company's financial 
reorganization. The Company paid Nexus Advisory $110 in fiscal 2004 for consulting services. In July 2004, 
David Bames, the principal of Nexus Advisory, became the Company's Vice President of Finance and 
Investor Relations. The Company did no further business with Nexus Advisory in fiscal 2005 and Mr. Bames' 
employment with the Company terminated in December 2004, 

In prior fiscal years, the Company utiUzed Technical Service Group, Inc., doing business as Symcas-TSG 
("Symcas") on a limited basis for its IT maintenance. During fiscal 2004, Linda Guckert, the Company's 
Vice President of Information Technology, terminated her relationship with Symcas and the Company paid 
Symcas $577 in fiscal 2003 and less than $10 in fiscal 2004 and 2005. 

On April 1, 2004, the Company acquired Skipping Stone Inc., an energy consulting and technology firm. 
Skipping Stone was a privately held company that was principally owned by Peter T. Weigand. Mr. Weigand, 
who was the Chief Executive Officer of Skipping Stone prior to its acquisition by the Company, became the 
President of Commonwealth, Commerce Energy and Skipping Stone on April I, 2004. Prior to its acqiusition 
of Skipping Stone, since 2(X)1, Commonwealth has engaged Skipping Stone to perform various consulting 
services. The consulting services were performed by various employees and independent contractors of 
Skipping Stone, including Peter T. Weigand and Richard L. Boughmm, who was an independent contractor of 
Skipping Stone until March 28, 2004. On April 1, 2004, Mr. Boughmm became the Chief Financial Officer of 
Commonwealth and Commerce Energy. Consulting services performed by Skipping Stone for Commonwealth 
have included data coUection and analysis of market size information, review of energy supply and finance 
agreements, development of business plans, work plans and definitions of various strategic initiatives and 
representation of the Company in the implementation of such initiatives. The agreements to perform 
consulting services were terminable by either party at any time. At the time of the completion of the merger, 
the only on-going consulting services being performed by Skipping Stone for Commonwealth relate to 
Commonwealth's preparations in connection with its upcoming required report on intemal control over 
financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Commonwealth has paid 
Skipping Stone an aggregate of approximately $308 in consulting fees and expenses from March 2002 through 
the acquisition date. Through March 31, 2004, approximately 23% of Skipping Stone's calendar 2004 revenues 
had been derived from consulting fees paid by Commonwealth. 

The aggregate purchase price for all of the outstanding Skipping Stone securities, which consists of 
common stock and vested options, was $3.1 miUion and the assumption of $0.6 milUon of debt. The purchase 
price was paid through the issuance of Commonwealth common stock, which was valued at $1.92 per share. 
Mr. Weigand received 1,088 shares of Commonwealth common stock in the transaction. In addition, other 
former holders of Skipping Stone common stock received an aggregate of 526 shares of Commonwealth 
common stock in the transaction. 

The Company granted the former holders of Skipping Stone common stock "piggy-back" registration 
rights with respect to the 1,468 shares of common stock issued to them in the merger. Pursuant to a 
registration rights agreement dated as of April 1, 2004, the Company agreed to register such shares for resale 
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under the Securities Act in any registration statement filed by Commonwealth with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission with respect to an offering by Commonwealth for its own account (other than a 
registration statement on Form S-4 or S-8 or any successor thereto) or for the account of any Commonwealth 
stockholder. The Company wUl pay all of the expenses of such registration. The Company also agreed to 
indemnify and hold harmless each of the former holders of Skipping Stone common stock from and against 
any Uabilities (including attorney fees) arising out of any untme statement of a material fact contained in any 
such registration statement, other than with respect to information provided by such stockholders for inclusion 
in the registration statement. The Company's obligation to register these shares will terminate only when such 
shares have been disposed of pursuant to an effective Registration Statement; in the opinion of counsel to 
Commonwealth, the entire amount of the shares may be sold in a single sale without any Umitation as to 
volume pursuant to Rule 144 (or any successor provision then in effect) under the Securities Act; or the 
shares are sold or distributed by a person not entitled to these registration rights. 

Each of the former holders of Skipping Stone common stock, including Mr, Weigand, has agreed to place 
20% of the Commonwealth shares issued to him in the merger in an escrow for a period of six months. The 
stockholder escrow shares are subject to forfeiture, at $1.92 per share, based upon a two part "tme up" 
calculation, which is defined in the merger agreement. The first part of the calculation is designed to cover a 
decUne in the value of Skipping Stone's net equity, defined as the difference between the total assets minus 
the total UabUities, from December 31, 2003 to April 1, 2004, the effective time of the merger. The second 
part of the calculation wiU verify that as of six months from the effective time all assets have been collected, 
amortized or realized as cash and no other Uabilities have been accmed or paid by Skipping Stone or 
Commonwealth after the effective time. The stockholder escrow shares continue to be held in escrow pending 
resolution of the "tme-up" calculation. 

In addition, each of the former holders of Skippmg Stone common stock, including Mr. Weigand, has 
agreed to place an additional 10% of the Commonwealth shares issued to him in the merger in an escrow for a 
period of eighteen months in the case of Mr. Weigand, and twelve months in the case of the other three former 
holders of Skipping Stone common stock. The rctention escrow shares of Mr. Weigand continue to be held in 
escrow pending resolution of the "tme-up" calculation. The retention escrow shares are subject to forfeiture in 
the event that such person voluntarily resigns his employment with Commonwealth, Commerce Energy or any 
of their affiUates after the reorganization during the escrow period (but not upon death, disabiUty or certain 
changes in control not approved by the board). In connection with the merger, Mr. Weigand also entered into 
an Agreement Not to Compete for twelve months after he is no longer employed by Commonwealth, 
Commerce or any of their affiUates, except under the circumstance of a change in control not approved by 
Board of Commonwealth or Commerce. 

The Company purchases natural gas from several suppliers, including Cook Inlet Energy Supply LLC 
("Cook Inlet")- Gregory L. Craig is the Chief Executive Officer and a substantial shareholder of Cook Inlet, 
and was appointed to the Company's Board of Directors as a Class 1 Director in November 2(X)4 through 
August 2005, when Mr. Craig resigned from the Board. For the six months ended July 31, 2005, the Company 
purchased $9.2 million of natural gas from Cook Inlet, 5% of the Company's total direct energy costs. The 
Company believes the purchases were on terms comparable to those available from unaffiliated suppliers. The 
Company's natural gas retailing business was acquired in Febmary 2005, and the supply arrangement with 
Cook Inlet existed at the time of acquisition. 

17. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited) 

The majority of the Company's commodity supply contracts are accounted for pursuant to the normal 
purchase, normal sale accounting treatment prescribed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instmments and Hedging Activities, as amended, or SFAS No. 133, 
whereby contracted energy costs are recorded at the time of physical delivery. During fiscal 2005, the 
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Company accounted for certain of its electricity supply contracts (all electricity supply contracts for its 
Pennsylvania market entered into after January 28, 2005) and certain other financial derivatives as cash flow 
hedges, whereby mark to market accounting gains or losses were deferred and reported as a component of 
other comprehensive income (loss) untU the time of physical delivery. 

In connection with the preparation of the Company's consoUdated financial statements for the fiscal year 
ended July 31, 2005 management determined that derivatives previously designated as cash flow hedges 
lacked the adequate documentation of the method for measurement and testing of hedge effectiveness 
required to qualify as cash flow hedges under SFAS No, 133. Additionally, we determined that certain 
derivatives contracts had been inappropriately accounted for as normal purchase, normal sale contracts and 
thereby erroneously accounted for as exempt from the mark to market accounting provisions of 
SFAS No. 133. Mark to market gains or losses on derivatives previously designated as cash flow hedges and 
on contracts inaccurately exempted as normal purchase, normal sale contracts required adjustment in the 
income statement for each period, rather than deferral as a component of other comprehensive income (loss) 
until physical delivery. The Company has restated its results for each of the quarterly periods ended 
October 31, 2004, January 31, 2005 and April 30, 2005, the effects of which are summarized below and were 
to increase (decrease) direct energy costs in the first, second and third quarterly periods in fiscal 2005 by 
$1,071, ($1,613) and ($328), respectively. The effect of the restatement on the Company's consolidated 
balance sheet at the end of each quarter is immaterial and the restatement had no effect on our cash flows. 
The fiscal 2004 quarterly financial information is shown as reported for comparative purposes only and was not 
impacted by the restatement. 

The following is the Company's quarterly financial information: 

October 31 January 31 April 30 July 31 Fiscal Year 
Reported Restated Reported Restated Reported Restated 

Year ended July 31 , 2005: 

Net revenue $58,496 $58,496 $61,048 $61,048 $68,478 $68,478 $65,831 $253,853 

Direct energy costs 52,406 51,335 51,026 52,639 60,439 60,767 60,930 225,671 

Gross profit 6,090 7,161 10,022 8,409 8,039 7,711 4,901 28,182 

Net loss (1,120) (48) (729) (2,342) (993) (1,319) (2,405) (6,114) 

Net loss per common share: 

Basic and diluted (0.04) (0.00) (0.02) (0.08) (0.03) (0.04) (0.08) (0.20) 

Octpber 31 January 31 April 30 July 31 Fiscal Year 

Year ended July 31, 2004: 

Net revenue $58,396 $47,038 $48,521 $56,668 $210,623 

Direct energy costs 54,075 43,783 42,799 50,523 191,180 

Gross profit 4,321 3,255 5,722 6,145 19,443 

Ne t loss (1,122) (7,653) (5,594) (7,351) (21,720) 

Net loss per common share: 

Basic and diluted (0.04) (0.28) (0.20) (0.25) (0.77) 
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Exhibit C-4 
Financial Arrangements 

Commerce Energy, Inc. doing business as Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 

Applicant has no financial arrangements with regard to conducting CRES activity within 
the state of Ohio. 



Exhibit C-5 
Forecasted Financial Statements 

Commerce Energy, Inc. doing business as Commerce E n e i ^ of Ohio, Inc. 

The applicant has no forecasted financial statements for possible CRES operation at this 
time. 



Exhibit C-6 
Credit Rating 

Exhibit C-7 
Credit Report 

Commerce Energy, Inc. doing business as Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 

The Dunn & Bradstreet reports pertaining to Commerce Energy, Inc. and Commerce 
Energy Group are attached. 
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D&B Business Information Report 
Copyright 2007 Dun & Bradstreet - Provided under contract for the exclusive use of subscriber 264734337L 

ATTN: SEseobar Report Printed: FEB 07 2007 
I n Date 

BUSINESS SUMMARY 

COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 
600 A n t o n B lvd Ste 2000 
Costa Mesa, CA 9 2 6 2 6 

Thfs Is a headquarters location. 
Branch{es} or division(s) exist. 

D-U-N-S Number: 15-389-3024 

Web sSte: 

Telephone: 

Fax: 

Chief executive: 

Stock symbol : 

Year star ted: 

Employs: 

Financial 
statement dalA: 

Sales F: 

Net wor th F: 

History: 

Financing; 

Financial 
condit ion: 
SIC: 

www.commerceenergygroup.com 

714 259-2500 

714 259-7501 

SlEVEN S BOSS, CEO 

EGR 

2003 

176 (UNDETifRMINED hera) 

OCT 31 2006 

$247,080,000 

$64,253,000 

CLEAR 

SECURED 

GOOD 

4911 
4922 

D&B Rating: 5A2 

Financial s t rength: 5A is $50 mil l ion and 
over. 

Composite credit 2 is good, 
appraisal: 

DftB PAYDEX®: 

12-Month DftB PAYDEX: 7 8 
When weighted by dollar amount, payments to 
suppliers average 3 days beyond terms. 

Based on trade collected over last 12 months. 

Une of business: Provides retail electricity and natural 
gas 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

DftB Rating: 5A2 

Financial st rength: 5A indicates $50 mill ion and over. 

Composite credit appraisal: 2 Is good. 

This credit rating was assigned because of D&B's assessment of the company's financial ratios and Its cash fiow. For 
more Information, see the D&B Rating Key. 

Below is an overview of the company's rating history since 07/31/04: 

D&B Rating Date Applied 
5A2 01/24/05 
ER3 07/31/04 

The Summary Analysis section reflects information in D&B's file as of February 5, 2007. 
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CUSTOMER SERVICE 

If you have questions about this report, please call our Customer Resource Center at 1.800.234.3667 from anywhere 
within the U.S. If you are outside the U.S. contact your local D&B ofUce. 

*** Additional Decision Support Available *** 

Additional D&B products, monitoring services and specialized investigations are available to help you evaluate this 
company or its industry. Call Dun & Bradstreet's Customer Resource Center at 1.800.234.3867 from anywhere within 
the U.S. or visit our website at www.dnb.com. 

HISTORY 

The following Information was reported 01/09/2007: 

OfficerCs): STEVEN S BOSS, CEO+ 
ROBERT C PERKINS, CHB+ 
WWRENCE ClAVrON JR, SR VP-CFO-SEC 
THOMAS L ULRY, SR VP SALES & MKTG 
R NICK aOLL, VP-CHIEF RISK OFFICER 

DIRECTOR(S}: The officers identified by (+} and Charies E Bayless, Marie S Juergensen, Gary J Hessenau^ and 
Dennis R Leibel. 

Business started 2003. 

The company was fncorporated in the State of Delaware on December 18, 2003. 

The company's common stock is traded on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol "EGR". As of October 16, 
2006, there were 1,813 shareholders of record. As of December 6, 2006, those shareholders identified by the 
company as beneficially owning 5% or more of the outstanding shares were: Daniel Zeff (11.0%) and Ian B Carter 
(8.4%). As of the same date, officers and directors as a group beneficially owned 6.5% of the outstanding shares. 

Events. 

On September 20, 2006, the company acquired HESCO assets consisting of contracts with end-use customers. 

On February 9, 2005, the company acquired certain assets of ACN Utility Services, Inc., or ACNU, a subsidiary of 
American Communications Network, Inc. 

STEVEN S BOSS. Director since Jul 2005. He was appointed CEO of the company in August 2005. Since August 2005, 
he also has served as a director attd President of the company's principal operating subsidiary. Commerce Energy, 
Inc., and as a director and CEO of the company's other operating subsidiary. Skipping Stone Inc. From 2003 to 
August 2005, he was an attorney In private practice and from 2000 to 2003, he served as President of Energy Buyers 
Network, LLC. 

ROBERT C PERKINS. Director since Dec 2003. He has been the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the company 
since May 2005. He also served as a director of Commonwealth Energy Corporation, the predecessor corporation to 
the company, from 1999 to January 2006. 

LAWRENCE CLAYTON JR. He was appointed Interim CFO and Secretary of the company in August 2005 and In 
December 2005 was appointed Senior Vice President, CFO and Secretary of the corporation. Since January 2006, he 
has served as a director and CFO, Treasurer and Secretary of Commerce Energy, Inc., and of Skipping Stone Inc. 
From March 2004 to August 2005, he was a principal of The Practice Advisory Group. 

THOMAS L ULRY. He Joined the company in February 2005 as Senior Vice President, Sales and Operations and 
currentiy serves as Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing. From October 2003 until he Joined the company, he 
served as Global Vice President and COO of ACN Energy. From November 2001 to July 2003, he served as Senior Vice 
President for Nicor Energy, LLC. 

R NICK aOLL He was appointed Vice President, Chief Risk Officer of the company in October 2006. He has served as 
Vice President, Risk Management for Commerce Energy Inc., since July 2004. From April 2002 to 2004, he served as 
Director of Risk Management at TXU Corporation. From November 2001 to 2002, he served as Internal Business 
Consultant at TXU Corporation. 
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DENNIS R LEIBEL. Director since Dec 2005. He served as a founding partner of Esquire Associates LLC, a financial 
consulting business since 1998. 

GARY J HESSENAUER. Director since Aug 2005. Since 2003, he has been an Investor and advisor to early stage 
companies. 

CHARLES E BAYLESS, Director since Jul 2004. He has been the President of the West Virginia University Instftute of 
Technology since April 2005. 

MARK S JUERGENSEN. Director since Dec 2003. He has served as Vice President of Sales and Marketing for Predict 
Power, an energy solution software company he co-founded, since May 2000. 

CORPORATE FAMILY 

Click below to buy a Business Information Report on that family member. 
For an expanded, more current corporate family view, use D&B's Global Family Linkage product. 

Subsidiaries (US): 
Commerce &iergy Inc Costa Mesa, CA DUNS # 17-634-3341 

OPERATIONS 

01/09/2007 

Description: 

Employees: 

Facilities: 

l-ocation: 

Branches; 

Sulisidlaries: 

The company through its wholly owned subsidiaries, provides retail electricity and natural gas. 

Terms: Net 30 days. Sells to residential, commercial, industrial, and Institutional customers. 
Territory : United States. 

Electricity sales volumes are higher in the summer months followed by the winter months. Natural 
gas sales volumes are higher In the winter, with the lowest demand occurring during the summer. 

176 which includes officer(s). UNDETERMINED employed here. 

Leases 39,000 sq. ft. in a building. 

Suburban business section on main street. 

This business has multiple branches, detailed branch Information is available In Dun & Bradstreet's 
linkage or family tree products. 

This business has multiple subsidiaries, detailed subsidiary information Is available in Dun & 
Bradstreet's linkage or family tree products. 

SIC & NAICS 

SIC: 
Based on infdrmation in our file, I^B has assigned this 
company an extended 8-digIt SIC. D&B*s use of 8-dlgit 
SICs enables us to be more specific to a compan/s 
operations than if we use the standard 4-digit code. 

The 4-dlgit SIC numbers link to the description on the 
Occupational Safety & Health Administration (OSIHA) 
Web site. Links open In a new browser window. 

NAICS: 
221119 Other Electric Power Generation 
486210 Pipeline Transportation of Natural Gas 

49110000 Electric services 
49220000 Natural gas transmission 

DftB PAYDEX 
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D&B Business Information Report: COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. Page 4 of 6 

The D&B PAYDEX is a unique, dollar weighted indicator of payment perfornnance based on up to 11 payment 
experiences as reported to D&B by trade references. 

3-Montb DftB PAYDEX: 7 9 
When weighted by dollar amount, payments to 
suppliers average 2 days beyond terms. 

12-Month DftB PAYDEX: 7 8 
When weighted by dollar amount, payments to 
suppliers average 3 days beyond terms. 

Based on trade collected over last 3 months. Based on trade collected over last 12 months. 

When dollar amounts are not considered, then 
approximately 83% of the company's payments are 
within tern>s. 

PAYMENT SUMMARY 

The Payment Summary section reflects payment information in D&B's file as of the date ofthis report. 

Below is an overview of the company's dollar-weighted payments, segmented by its suppliers' primary Industries: 

Total Total Dollar Largest High Within 
Rcv'd Amts Credit Terms 

Days Slow 
<31 31-60 61-00 90> 

Top industries: 
Nonclassified 
Whoi office supplies 
Whol computers/softwr 
Who! nondurable goods 
Newspaper-print/pubi 
Misc general govt 

Other payment categories: 
Cash experiences 
Payment record unknown 
Unfavorable comments 

Placed for collections: 
withi:>&B 
other 
Total in D&B's file 

1 
0 
0 

0 
0 
11 

10,250 

4,000 

75,000 

7,500 

2,500 

750 

10,000 

0 
0 

0 
N/A 

110,000 

7,500 

2,500 

75,000 

7,500 

2,500 

750 

10,000 

0 
0 

75,000 

100 
87 
100 
100 

-

100 

13 

100 

The highest Now Owes on file Is $50,000 

The highest Past Due on file Is $1,000 

D&B receives over 600 million payment experiences each year. We enter these new andupdated experiences into 
D&B Reports as this information isrecelved. 

PAYMEi^ DETAILS 

Detailed Payment History 

Date Reported Paying Record High Credit Now Owes Past Due Selling Terms Last Sale 
(mm/yy) ($) {$) ($) Within 

(months) 
01/07 Ppt 
12/06 Ppt 

Ppt 

75,000 

7,500 

2,500 

50,000 

0 
0 

0 
0 
0 

t mo 
1 mo 

6-12 mos 
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11/06 

09/06 

07/06 

03/06 

12/05 

Slow 80 
(005) 

Ppt-SIow 60 

Ppt 

(008) 

Satisfectory. 

Ppt 

Ppt 

Ppt 

2,500 
10,000 

1,000 

2,500 

750 

500 

7,500 

250 

0 
10,000 

1,000 

1;000 

0 

0 

0 

0 
0 

1,000 

0 

0 

0 

0 

N15 
Cash account 

N30 

6-12 mos 
1 mo 

1 mo 

1 mo 

1 mo 

6-12 mos 

6-12 mos 

5-12 mos 

Payments Detail Key: red - 30 or more days beyond terms 
Payment experiences reflect how bills are met in relation to the terms granted. In some Instances payment beyond 
teriTis can be the result of disputes over merchandise, skipped Invoices etc. 

Each experience shown Is from a separate supplier. Updated trade experiences replace those previously reported. 

FINANCE 

01/09/2007 

Three-year statement comparative: 

Current Assets 

Current Liabs 

Current Ratio 

Working Capital 

Other Assets 

Net Worth 

Sales 

Net Profit (Loss) 

Fiscal 
Consolidated 

Jul 3 1 2005 

69,290,000 
32,571,000 

2.13 
36,719,000 
33,342,000 
70,061,000 

253,853,000 
(6,114,000) 

Consolidated 
Jul 3 1 2006 

64,996,000 
32,743,000 

1.99 
32,253,000 
34,080,000 
66,333,000 

247,080,000 
(2,239,000) 

In te r im 
Consolidated 
Oct 3 1 2006 

57,485,000 
31,836,000 

1.81 
25M9.000 
36,604,000 
64,253,000 

In te r im Consolidated statement dated OCT 312006 : 

Assets 

Cash 8,086,000 

Accts Rec 37,524,000 

Inventory 7,267,000 

Prepaid Expenses & Other Current 4,608,000 

Curr Assets $57,485,000 

Hxt& Equip 7,047,000 

Restricted Cash & Cash Equivalent 16,755,000 

Deposits 2,358,000 

Goodwill 4,801,000 

Other Intangible Assets 7,643,000 

Total Assets $96,089,000 

Liabilit ies 

Accts Pay 

Accruals 

Curr Llabs 

COMMON STOCK 
ACCUM OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 

LOSS 
RETAINED EARNINGS 

Total 

23,578,000 

8,258,000 

$31^36 ,000 

58,982,000 

(326,000) 

5,597,000 

$96,089,000 

From AUG 01 2006 to OCT 31 2006 sales $70,507,000; cost of goods sold $60,451,000. Gross profit $10,056,000; 
operating expenses $10,084,000. Operating Income $(28,000); other income $412,000. Net income $384,000. 

Statement obtained from Securities And Exchange Commission. Prepared from books without audit. 

Accounts receivable shown net less $4,901,000 allowance. 
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Explanations 
The net worth of this company includes intangibles. 

The report was updated using Information the company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commisston. 

KEY BUSINESS RATIOS 

Statement date: OCT 31 2006 
Based on this number of establishments: 56 

Firm 
Return of Sales: 
Current Ratio: 
Assets/Sales: 
Total Liability / Net Worth: 

UN :s Unavailable 

0.5 
1.8 
UN 
UN 

Indust ry Median 
Return of Sales: 
Current Ratio: 
Assets / Sales: 
Total Uability / Net Worth; 

6.4 
1.2 
256.9 
192.6 

BANKING 

12/06 Account(s) averages low 5 figures. Account open 1-3 years. 

PUBLIC FILINGS 

The following Public Filing data Is for informatton purposes only and is not the official record. Certified copies can only 
be obtained from the official source. 

UCC HLINGS 

Collateral: 

Type: 
Sec party; 

Debtor: 
Filing number: 
Piled w i t h : 

Date f i led: 
Latest I n fo Received: 

Negotiable instruments Including proceeds and products - inventory including 
proceeds and products - Account(5) Including proceeds and products - Assets 
including proceeds and products - and OTHERS 
Original 
WACHOVIA CAPITAL FINANCE CORPORATION (WESTERN), AS AGENT, 
PASADENA CA 
COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 
61677210 
SECRETARY OF STATE/UCC DIVISION, DOVER, DE 

OS/17/2006 
06/16/2006 

The public record items contained In tNs report may have been paid, terminated, vacated or released prior to the 
date this report was printed. 

Copyright 2007 Dun & Bradstreet - Provided under contract for the exclusive use of subscriber 264734337L 
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Exhibit c -8 
Bankruptcy Information 

Commerce Energy, Inc. doing business as Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 

The applicant has not filed any form of bankruptcy, reorganization or protection from 
creditors. 



Exhibit c -9 
Merger Information 

Commerce Energy, Inc. doing business as Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 

Applicant completed no mergers in the past two years. Included herein is a copy of the 
Ohio Business License and Certificate of Good Standing. 



llliMIHIilllililll 
DATE: DOCUMENT ID OESCRIPTION 
Q&2M7aO& 200517102302 FOFIEIGN/AMENDMENT (FAM) 

i=IUNG 
50.00 

EXPED PENALTY 
100.00 .00 

CERT 
.00 

COPY 
.00 

RecdpC 
This Eft not a MIL Please do not remit payment. 

COMMONWEALTH ENERGY CORPORATION 
600 ANTON BLVD.. STE. 2000 
CAROL SMART 
COSTA MESA, CA 9^29 

STATE OF OHIO 
C E R T I F I C A T E 

Ohio Secretary of State, J. K^meth Blackwdl 

1195068 

It is hereby certiSed that (lie Sec3:etaxy of Stale of Ohio lias c a s t ^ 

COMMERCE ENERGY OF OHIO, INC. (COMMERCE ENERGY, INC) 

and, that said bosiziess lecords show die filing and recordizig o£ 

£)ociixnmt(s) 

FOREIGN/AMENDMENT 

DocuineatNo(s); 

200517102302 

United States of America 
State of Ohio 

Office of dte Sccnearyof Smca 

Witness my hand and die seal of 
the Secretary of State at Colmnbas, 
Ohio diis 20dL day of June, A.D. 
2005. yf 

Ohio Secretaiy of State 



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
STATE OF OfflO 

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE 

/, J. Kenneth Blachvell, do hereby certify that I am the duly elected, qualified and present 

acting Secretary of State for the State of Ohio, and as such have custody of the records of 

Ohio and Foreign corporations; that said records show COMMERCE ENERGY, INC, a 

California Corporation, having qualified to do business within the State of Ohio on 

November 27, 2000, under License No. 1195068, under the Assumed Name COMMERCE 

ENERGY OF OHIO, INC. (, is currently in GOOD STANDING upon the records ofthis 

office. 

Witness my hand and the seal of the 
Secretary of State at Columbus, Ohio 
this 1st day of July, A.D. 2005. 

Ohio Secretary of State 

Validttion Number 200S1S201076 



Exhibit D - 1 
Operations 

Commerce Energy, Inc. dou^ business as Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 

Commerce Energy, Inc. (CEI) d/b/a Commerce Energy of Ohio will operate as a 
Competitive Retail Electric Service Provider. C!EI will assume the responsibility for the 
sale and provision of retail electric generation service to retail customers. C ^ will hold 
title to the electric power provided prior to delivery to retail customers. 

CEI will utilize its knowledge and expertise gained from operations in its other 
deregulated markets to handle all of its scheduling, EDI, billing, setdement and ancillary 
prodict needs. CEI will manage these intemally by performing aU the scheduling of 
retail power for transmission and delivery as well as all other services used to arrange for 
the purchase and delivery of electricity taretail customers. CEI cunendy has intemal 
systems capable of sending and receiving EDI transactions to meet the needs of 
interfacing with other parties in the Ohio maricetplace such as the iiKumbent utility 
transmission and distribution conopanies and the state's system operator. 

CEI has experience contracting with customers, providing contracted services, supplying 
billing data and responding to customer inquiries and complaints in the above referenced 
markets. CEI plans to continue to fulfill these services for its future customers in Ohio in 
accordance with Commission rules pursuant to Section 4928.10 of the Revised Code. 



Exhibit D-2 
Operations Experience 

Commerce Energy, Inc. doing business as Coinmerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 

Steven S. Boss- Chief Executive Officer 
Mr. Boss joined the company as a member of the Board of Directors in July 2005 and 
later became the Chief Executive Officer in August 2005. Mr. Boss has significant 
operating experience in the retail energy industry. From 2000 to 2003, Mr. Boss served as 
president of Energy Buyers Network, LLC, an energy consulting firm that provided 
regulatory representation and structured direct access energy transactions for commercial 
energy users. From 1999 to 2000, he served as president of both Sierra Pacific Energy 
Company and Nevada Power Services, non-regulated energy services operating 
subsidiaries of Sierra Pacific Resources. Prior to that, Mr. Boss served in various legal 
and senior management positions in a number of energy companies and practiced law in 
private practice. Of particular note, from 1984 to 1992, Mr. Boss served as president and 
chief executive officer of Sunrise Energy Services, Inc., at the time, one of the largest 
independent natural gas marketing companies in the commercial market sector in the 
United States, which had its shares listed on the American and London Stock Exchanges. 
Mr. Boss received a Bachelor of Science in Aerospace Engineering from the University 
of Texas, a Juris Doctor from the University of Southem Califomia and has been a 
member of the Califomia State Bar since 1974. 

Lawrence Clayton, Jr. - Chief Financial Officer 
Mr. Clayton has managerial experience in the electric and natural gas markets. He served 
as a private consultant for energy clients as a principal of The Practice Advisory since 
March 2004. Previously, Mr. Clayton served as Chief Financial Officer of EOTT 
Energy, a large independent gatherer and marketer of crude oil. Prior to that Mr. Clayton 
was the Chief Financial Officer of Aquila Energy, an energy merchant subsidiary of 
UtiliCorp United, Inc., which traded on the New York Stock Exchange. 
Mr. Clayton is a graduate of Rice University, where he eamed both an M. A. degree in 
Accounting and a B.A. degree in Managerial Studies and Economics. 

Thomas Ulry - Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing 
Mr. Ulry has more than 17 years of energy industry experience in both fast paced start-up 
companies and mature business environments. His professional career includes extensive 
experience in executive level operations positions with an emphasis in the Energy sector. 
Mr. Ulry previously worked as Chief Operating Officer of ACN Energy, Previously, Mr. 
Ulry served as Senior Vice President for Nicor Energy, L.L.C. While at Nicor Energy, his 
responsibilities included managing the profit and loss center for the company's consumer 
business unit generating an excess of $165 million in revenue, and expanding sales 
channels, which resulted in a 90% increase of new customers. Prior to his tenure at Nicor 
Energy, Mr. Ulry held the position of President and Chief Operating Officer for 
Energy.com Corporation, successfully launching the company with an e-commerce store 
specializing in energy related products. Mr. Ulry holds an Associates Degree in 
Information Technology. 

http://Energy.com


Nick Cioll - Vice President Risk Management 
Mr. Cioll is responsible for implementing and running all aspects of risk management for 
Commerce Energy including leading risk control, risk analytics, hedging oversight, load 
forecasting, contracts and credit. Mr. Cioll has a 16 year career as an executive in 
finance, risk management, and operations and has 11 years experience directly in the 
electricity business at Commerce Energy, TXU, Entergy, and Automated Power 
Exchange. He has been an executive with three Fortune 200 Companies, TXU, Freeport 
McMoRan and Kaiser Aluminum, where he was Director of Risk Management for TXU, 
CFO and head of finance for two Freeport affiliates, and Director and VP of Global 
Commodities Management at Kaiser and Freeport, respectively. Mr. Cioll was also 
Senior VP of Operations at RateXchange, the leading bandwidth exchange. He has an 
undergraduate degree in Economics, an MBA in Finance, and a CPA. 

Robert Gunnin - Vice President Energy Supply 
Mr. Gunnin's joined Commerce Energy in 2003. He has a total of 28 years of experience 
in the energy business. Mr. Gunnin's overall responsibility at Conmierce Energy is for 
energy supply in all markets. This includes the long term strategic purchases as well as 
the day by day shaping decisions. He is also the Manager of Scheduling and 
Procurement, CAISO Scheduler and PJM Scheduler. 

Prior to joining Commerce Energy Mr. Gunnin worked at DTE Energy Trading as the 
Director of Generation Trading (Ann Arbor, MI). There he was responsible for 
integrating the utility generation fleet and the utility staff into the trading/merchant side 
of the business. 

Mr. Gunnin has also worked for ICF Consulting as the Vice President of Risk 
Management, MIECO, Inc. as the Vice President and he worked for San Diego Gas & 
Electric as the Manager of Energy Risk Management. He also worked in the trading and 
supply section for the following companies; Energy Pacific, Banque Paribas, Chicago 
Research & Trading, BP North America, Tosco Corp. 

Mr. Gunnin is a member of NYMEX, the Petroleum Advisory Committee, the Options 
Advisory Committee, the Chicago Board of Trade, the Petroleum Advisory Committee, 
the Chicago Mercantile Exchange and the Petroleum Advisory Committee. Mr. Gunnin 
has a degree in Accounting from the University of Southem Califomia in Accounting and 
a MBA from Pepperdine University. 



Exhibit D-3 
Key Technical Personnel 

Commerce Energy, Inc. doing business as Commerce Energy of Oliio, Inc. 

Name Title Contact Information 
Thomas Ulry Sr. Vice President, Sales and Marketing tulrv @coinmerceenergY.com 

Phone: 714-481-6650 

Nick Cioll Vice President, Risk Management ncioll @ commerceenergv.com 
Phone: 714-259-2564 

Tony Cusati Mid-West Market Mgr., Regulatory Affairs tcusati @commerceenergy.com 
Phone: 703-444-2307 

Rob Gunnin Vice President, Energy Supply rgunnin @ commerceenergy.com 
Phone: 714-259-2502 

http://coinmerceenergY.com
http://commerceenergv.com
http://commerceenergy.com
http://commerceenergy.com


Exhibit D-4 
FERC Power Marketer License 

Commerce Energy, Inc. doing business as Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 

Applicant's Federal Energy Commission docket number is ER 97-4253-000. 


